

# Oscillateurs couplés, désordre et synchronisation Eric Luçon

# ▶ To cite this version:

Eric Luçon. Oscillateurs couplés, désordre et synchronisation. Probabilités [math.PR]. Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris VI, 2012. Français. NNT: . tel-00709998

# HAL Id: tel-00709998 https://theses.hal.science/tel-00709998

Submitted on 19 Jun2012

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



# École Doctorale de Sciences Mathématiques de Paris Centre

# THÈSE DE DOCTORAT

présentée pour obtenir le grade de

Docteur de l'Université Paris VI - Pierre et Marie Curie

Discipline : Mathématiques

présentée par

# Eric Luçon

Oscillateurs couplés, Désordre et Synchronisation

dirigée par Giambattista GIACOMIN et Lorenzo ZAMBOTTI

# Rapporteurs

M. Frank <b>DEN HOLLANDER</b>	Universiteit Leiden
M. Paolo <b>DAI PRA</b>	Università degli Studi di Padova

Soutenue publiquement le 19 juin 2012 devant le jury composé de :

M. Paolo	Dai Pra	Università di Padova	Rapporteur
M. Giambattista	GIACOMIN	Université Paris VII	Directeur
M. Benjamin	JOURDAIN	ENPC	Examinateur
M <sup>me</sup> Sylvie	Méléard	Ecole Polytechnique	Examinatrice
M. Benoît	PERTHAME	Université Paris VI	Examinateur
M. Lorenzo	ZAMBOTTI	Université Paris VI	Directeur

2

Laboratoire de Probabilités et Modèles Aléatoires Boite courrier 188 4, place Jussieu 75252 Paris cedex 05 École doctorale Paris centre Case 188 4 place Jussieu 75 252 Paris cedex 05 À la mémoire de mon grand-père, Roger Burban.

"parce que Babylone n'est autre chose qu'un infini jeu de hasard", J.-L. Borges - Fictions

"J'étais très mauvais en sciences", Eugène Ionesco - L'impromptu de l'Alma.

# Remerciements

Je tiens à exprimer ma profonde gratitude envers mes directeurs de thèse Giambattista Giacomin et Lorenzo Zambotti pour leurs nombreux conseils, leur aide tant matérielle que mathématique, leur enthousiasme et leurs encouragements tout au long de mes trois années de thèse. Je leur sais gré de la grande liberté qu'ils m'ont accordée tout autant que de leur patience, leur indulgence et l'attention particulière envers mon travail. Je mesure la chance d'avoir pu profiter de leurs conseils et intuitions, intuitions qui se sont toujours avérées exactes, des mois de travail plus tard. Mon seul regret aura été de ne pas avoir profité du fait d'avoir deux directeurs transalpins pour me mettre à la pratique de l'italien, mais ce n'est sans doute que partie remise.

I am also deeply grateful to Pr. Dai Pra and Pr. den Hollander for having kindly accepted to read my manuscript. Their seminal work on the Kuramoto model has been a great inspiration to me.

Je remercie également vivement Benjamin Jourdain, Sylvie Méléard et Benoît Perthame pour avoir accepté de faire partie du jury de ma thèse.

Mon travail n'aurait pas été le même sans les nombreuses discussions que j'ai eu la chance d'avoir avec des personnes que je tiens ici à remercier : Christophe Poquet tout d'abord, avec qui travailler fut un réel plaisir (qui, je l'espère, se renouvellera), mais aussi Khashayar Pakdaman et Xavier Pellegrin ; le groupe de travail du jeudi matin à l'institut Jacques Monod et les discussions qui s'ensuivirent m'ont été très profitables.

J'ai eu la chance de bénéficier au cours de ces trois ans de l'excellente atmosphère de travail qui règne au Laboratoire de Probabilités et Modèles Aléatoires ; je tiens à remercier tous les membres du LPMA, et tout spécialement Josette Saman, Isabelle Mariage, Maria Pochot, Valérie Juvé, Jacques Portes, Philippe Macé ainsi que Corentin Lacombe pour leur disponibilité et leur redoutable efficacité. Je crois aussi pouvoir parler au nom de mes camarades thésards pour remercier tout particulièrement Michèle Thieullen, Amaury Lambert et Marc Yor pour la gentillesse et l'attention constantes qu'ils portent aux doctorants du laboratoire.

J'adresse aussi mes profonds remerciements à Martin Hairer, pour son accueil chaleureux lors de mon séjour au département de mathématiques de Warwick, qui a été très enrichissant pour moi.

J'ai eu un réel plaisir à effectuer mon monitorat au sein de l'équipe pédagogique de l'UFR de mathématiques de Paris 7 : en particulier, je remercie vivement Ramez Labib-Sami, René Cori et René Guitart ainsi que l'ensemble des enseignants et moniteurs avec qui j'ai eu la chance de travailler. Un remerciement tout particulier va à Raphaël Carroy qui a eu la grande gentillesse de me remplacer pendant mon séjour à Warwick.

Ce moment est aussi pour moi l'occasion d'exprimer ma reconnaissance envers les professeurs qui m'ont enseigné les mathématiques et qui sont pour beaucoup dans mon parcours universitaire. Je suis tout particulièrement redevable envers Jean-Louis Liters, professeur de mathématiques en classes préparatoires au Lycée Clemenceau de Nantes, qui a su faire partager, à moi et à beaucoup d'autres, son goût pour la rigueur et le raisonnement ainsi que son admiration pour Julien Gracq et Jules Vallès. Mon goût pour les probabilités et l'analyse doit énormément à l'enthousiasme communicatif de mes professeurs de Rennes, Arnaud Debussche, Michel Pierre, Florent Malrieu, Philippe Briand, Jean-Baptiste Bardet, Benoît Cadre, Grégory Vial, Florian Méhats ainsi que Philippe Carmona.

Je salue chaleureusement tous les membres de l'association *Science Ouverte*, lycéens et tuteurs, que j'ai côtoyés durant ces trois ans. Les séances de tutorat ont été mon bol d'air hebdomadaire durant ma thèse. Mes remerciements vont en particulier vers Hélène Montfeuillard, Julien Rastegar, Yasmine El Jaï, Cyril Demarche, Christian Saint-Gilles et surtout François Gaudel; au risque de heurter sa modestie, tant de dévouement et de gentillesse de sa part envers les élèves ne peuvent que susciter l'admiration.

Bien entendu, je ne peux que mentionner l'ensemble des doctorants du LPMA que j'ai eu l'immense plaisir de côtoyer quotidiennement pendant ces trois ans. Ce sont avant tout les occupants, anciens et nouveaux, du feu bureau 3D1 à Chevaleret puis du bureau 1626-201 à Jussieu : Raoul, qui cache mal sous des dehors d'ironie savamment étudiée de grandes qualités humaines, Mathieu, la caution morale, toujours prêt à rendre service, Cécile, la gentillesse-sur-deux-jambes, Nikos, l'hellène-marxiste-chevelu, Stavros, l'hellènepresque-chevelu, Joachim, spécialiste ès-numération en base exotique (entre autres choses), Noufel, le financier le plus classe du monde, Sylvain, l'autre financier le plus classe du monde (ex-æquo avec le précédent), Max, Camille, David, Abass, Adrien, mais aussi les autres : Clément, dont les talents dans le domaine de la conception d'affiches de séminaire et de la maîtrise du logiciel *Paint* sont largement sous-estimés, Karim, grand amateur (avec le précédent) de cinématographies facultatives, Cyril, inventeur méconnu de l'arithmétique des narines, ainsi que dans le désordre, Xan, Alexandre, Antoine, Leif, Pascal, Bastien, Guillaume, Reda, Julien, Pierre, Oriane, Ennio, Sophie, Lakshithe, Emmanuel, Killian, Joaquim, Florian, Nelo, Jean-Baptiste, Jean-Paul. Une pensée à Lise-Marie, Carl et Thibault, pour les bons moments partagés à Ker-Lann.

Je n'oublie certainement pas la joyeuse bande formée de Romain R., Ségolène, Fanny, Romain G., Xavier, Violaine, Pierre, Pauline, Adrien, Lucile, Christelle, Corentin, Avin, Naïs, Solenne, Julie, Thomas, Thibault, Morgan. Des remerciements épistolaires vont à Tessa, à qui je dois quelques-unes de mes plus belles lectures. Tous, vous avez accompagné, de près ou de loin, les bons (et les moins bons) moments de ma thèse.

Je remercie mes parents et ma famille pour leurs encouragements, ainsi que Claire pour sa bonne humeur et son soutien quotidiens.

## Oscillateurs couplés, désordre et synchronisation.

## Résumé

Dans cette thèse, nous étudions le modèle de synchronisation de Kuramoto et plus généralement des systèmes de diffusions interagissant en champ moyen, en présence d'un aléa supplémentaire appelé désordre. La motivation principale en est l'étude du comportement du système en grande population, pour une réalisation fixée du désordre (modèle quenched).

Ce document, outre l'introduction, comporte quatre chapitres. Le premier s'intéresse à la convergence de la mesure empirique du système d'oscillateurs vers une mesure déterministe solution d'un système d'équations aux dérivées partielles non linéaires couplées (équation de McKean-Vlasov). Cette convergence est prouvée indirectement via un principe de grandes déviations dans le cas averaged et directement dans le cas quenched, sous des hypothèses plus faibles sur le désordre.

Le deuxième chapitre est issu d'un travail en commun avec Giambattista Giacomin et Christophe Poquet et concerne la régularité des solutions de l'EDP limite ainsi que la stabilité de ses solutions stationnaires synchronisées dans le cas d'un désordre faible.

Les deux derniers chapitres étudient l'influence du désordre sur une population d'oscillateurs de taille finie et illustrent des problématiques observées dans la littérature physique. Nous prouvons dans le troisième chapitre un théorème central limite quenched associé à la loi des grands nombres précédente : on montre que le processus de fluctuations quenched converge, en un sens faible, vers la solution d'une EDPS linéaire. Le dernier chapitre étudie le comportement en temps long de cette EDPS, illustrant le fait que les fluctuations dans le modèle de Kuramoto ne sont pas auto-moyennantes.

#### Mots-clefs

Synchronisation, modèle de Kuramoto, processus de diffusion interagissants, mécanique statistique, systèmes désordonnés, systèmes hors-équilibre, grandes déviations, EDP non linéaires, équations aux dérivées partielles stochastiques.

## Coupled oscillators, disorder and synchronization.

### Abstract

In this thesis, we study the synchronization Kuramoto model and more generally systems of mean-field interacting diffusions on the circle, in the presence of another source of randomness, called disorder. The main motivation of this work is to study the largepopulation behavior of the system, for a fixed realization of the disorder (quenched model).

This document contains, after the introduction, four chapters. The first one addresses the convergence of the empirical measure of the system of oscillators to a deterministic measure that solves a system of coupled, nonlinear partial differential equations (McKean-Vlasov equation). This convergence is indirectly proved through a large deviation principle in the averaged case and through a direct proof in the quenched case, under weaker assumptions on the disorder.

The second chapter is part of a joint work with Giambattista Giacomin and Christophe Poquet and concerns the regularity of solutions of the limiting PDE as well as the stability of its nontrivial synchronized solution in the case of weak disorder.

The last two chapters tackle the issue of the influence of the disorder on finite-size populations of rotators and illustrate problematics already observed in physical literature. We prove in the third chapter a central limit theorem associated to the previous law of large numbers: the quenched fluctuation process is shown to converge, in a weak sense, to the solution of a linear SPDE. We study in the last chapter the large-time behavior of this solution, illustrating the fact that fluctuations in the Kuramoto model are not self-averaging.

#### Keywords

Synchronization, Kuramoto model, interacting diffusion processes, statistical mechanics, disordered systems, non-equilibrium systems, large deviations, nonlinear PDE, stochastic partial differential equation.

# Contents

1	Intro	duction	11
	1 (	Content of the thesis	12
	2 .	A short story of the Kuramoto model	13
	3	Large deviations and convergences of the empirical measures	20
	4	Stability of synchronization in the continuous model	23
	5	Quenched fluctuations of the empirical measure	27
	6	Non self-averaging phenomenon at the scale of fluctuations	31
<b>2</b>	Conv	vergences of the empirical measure	37
	1	Introduction	37
	2	Setting and notations	39
	3.	Averaged large deviation principle of the empirical measure	45
	4	Quenched convergence of the empirical flow	63
	5	Uniqueness in McKean-Vlasov equation	67
3	Regu	larity and stability properties	71
	1	Introduction	72
	2	Settings and main results	73
	3	Regularity and stationarity in McKean-Vlasov evolution	90
	4	Stability of synchronization in the symmetric case	98
<b>4</b>	Quer	ched fluctuations of the empirical measure	111
	1	Introduction and motivations	112
	2	Notations and main results	113
	3	Proof of the fluctuation result	117
	4	Proofs for the fluctuations of the order parameters	131
	5	Proof of Proposition 4.14	134
<b>5</b>	Non	self-averaging fluctuations in the sine-model	137
	1	Introduction	138
	2	Main definitions and results	140
	3	On the existence of a Jordan block for $L$	144
	4	Global spectral properties of operator $L$	148
	5	Non self-averaging phenomenon for the fluctuation process	160

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

### Contents

1	Content of the thesis 12		
<b>2</b>	$\mathbf{A} \mathbf{s} \mathbf{h}$	nort story of the Kuramoto model	13
	2.1	The model and generalizations	13
	2.2	The non-disordered case	17
	2.3	Our model	18
3	Larg	ge deviations and convergences of the empirical measures .	<b>20</b>
	3.1	Uniqueness in McKean-Vlasov equation	20
	3.2	Averaged large deviation principle:	20
	3.3	Quenched convergence of the empirical flow $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	22
<b>4</b>	$\mathbf{Stab}$	ility of synchronization in the continuous model	<b>23</b>
	4.1	Regularity of the McKean-Vlasov semigroup	23
	4.2	Phase transition in synchronization	24
	4.3	Stability of synchronization	25
<b>5</b>	Que	nched fluctuations of the empirical measure	<b>27</b>
	5.1	Motivations	27
	5.2	Previous results	28
6	Non	self-averaging phenomenon at the scale of fluctuations	<b>31</b>
	6.1	Non self-averaging for the limit fluctuation process $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	31
	6.2	Main hypothesis	32
	6.3	Existence of a Jordan block	33
	6.4	Spectral properties of $L$ and position of the spectrum $\ldots \ldots$	33
	6.5	Long time evolution of fluctuations SPDE	34
	6.6	Perspectives	35

### 1 Content of the thesis

This PhD thesis focuses on the study of the Kuramoto model, firstly introduced in the 70's by Yoshiki Kuramoto ([53]) in order to capture the main mechanisms responsible for the phenomenon of *synchronization* in biological or physical systems. The Kuramoto model has been extensively studied since, mostly in the physical literature. The main advantage of this model, which is a particular case of mean-field interacting particles in random media, is its simplicity and tractability. However many interesting questions remain unanswered.

A great part of this work, although motivated by the Kuramoto model, is also applicable for more general models of diffusions in random media. Hence, most of the results presented here will be stated in this general framework. We shall focus on the microscopic system as well as on its large size limit, the main underlying issue being about the influence of the disorder on the behavior of the system as the number of particles increases. More particularly, the main motivation for this work is to try to answer to the following question:

Does the Kuramoto model behave similarly when one averages with respect to every possibilities of the disorder (*averaged model*) or when one fixes a typical realization of the disorder (*quenched model*)?

The main material of this work consists in three articles, each of them accounting for one chapter of the thesis:

- The first article [55], published in *Electronic Journal of Probability*, studies the issue of the convergence and fluctuations of the empirical measure in a quenched set-up. In particular, it gives an explicit formulation of the fluctuation process in the limit of large number of particles, as a solution to an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck equation in infinite dimension. It corresponds mostly to Chapter 4 (the question of the law of large numbers may also be found in Chapter 2),
- The second [41] (submitted to *Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations*) is a joint work with Giambattista Giacomin and Christophe Poquet. It addresses mostly the question of both linear and nonlinear stability of synchronization in the continuous version of the Kuramoto model, at least in the case where the disorder is small, along with a number of explicit estimates on the size of the disorder. It is the object of Chapter 3.
- The third [56] (submitted to *Journal of Functional Analysis*) concerns the analysis of the long-time behavior of the fluctuation process found in Chapter 4. The main conclusion is that, at the scale of fluctuations, self-averaging no longer holds: for finite size systems, the fluctuations of the disorder compete with the fluctuations of the particles and make the macroscopic system rotate. This is treated in Chapter 5.

This introduction has two main purposes. The first part gives a brief presentation of the physical background of the Kuramoto synchronization model. Although motivated by the Kuramoto model as it was originally defined <sup>[1]</sup>, this work also applies to more general models of diffusions in random environment. After a brief review of the existing literature on the subject, we introduce the objects of interest that will be studied here, that is the empirical measures of the rotators.

In connection with the Kuramoto model, the notion of synchronization in the limit of large number of particles and its stability will be addressed in this work and will be

<sup>[1].</sup> that is with a sine interaction, see (1.1).

related to the nontrivial stationary solutions of a class of nonlinear and nonlocal partial differential equations, the McKean-Vlasov equations.

The second part of this introduction is devoted to a precise statement of the results of the four chapters of this thesis.

## 2 A short story of the Kuramoto model

The phenomenon of synchronization is omnipresent in physical as well as in biological contexts. Even though it is nearly impossible to properly account for the literature and the models proposed for this phenomenon, we can at least cite several major examples where synchronization plays a significant role: collective behavior of populations of insects (crickets/circadas chirping, fireflies flashing) [18, 69, 94], neuronal networks and epileptic seizures <sup>[2]</sup>, audience clapping [66], arrays of lasers [52], circadian rhythms [92], pacemaker heart cells [61], etc.

All of those phenomena concern large families of coupled oscillators that present a coherent collective behavior. While a precise description of each of the different instances in which synchronization emerges demands specific, possibly very complex, models, the Kuramoto model has emerged as capturing some of the fundamental aspects of synchronization.

We refer to [2, 83] and references therein for further aspects of synchronization and the role of Kuramoto description in those models.

#### 2.1 The model and generalizations

#### 2.1.1 Synchronization of heterogeneous oscillators

The model we study here is the Kuramoto model *including white noise forces* (see [2, § III.]). The principle is the following: we consider a large family of oscillators (or rotators) living in the one dimensional sphere  $\mathbf{S} := \mathbf{R}/2\pi \mathbf{Z}$ , within a mean-field interaction (see Figure 1.1). This interaction is perturbed by thermal noise, represented by a family of independent and identically distributed Brownian motions.

Moreover, we make the assumption that the rotators are similar but not necessarily identical. Thus, the model captures the fact that each rotator has a tendency to obey to its own natural frequency which may differ from one rotator to another. Those frequencies are chosen at random and independently for each rotator; hence, this supplementary source of randomness will be considered as a *disorder*.

More precisely, we consider for all  $N \ge 1$ , the solutions  $(\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N)$  to the following system of coupled stochastic differential equations:

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N, \ \theta_{i,t} = \xi_i - \frac{K}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \int_0^t \sin(\theta_{i,s} - \theta_{j,s}) \,\mathrm{d}s + \omega_i t + \sigma B_{i,t}, \quad (t \in [0,T]) \quad (1.1)$$

where

- 1. T > 0 is a finite (but arbitrary) time horizon,
- 2.  $(B_i)_{i=1,...,N}$  is a sequence of N standard independent Brownian motions (which stands for the thermal noise in the system),
- 3.  $\sigma > 0$  is the intensity of the thermal noise,

<sup>[2].</sup> We refer in particular here to the thesis of G. Wainrib [93] for a discussion on the link between Kuramoto model and neuronal models.



Figure 1.1: A configuration of the Kuramoto model for N = 6.

- 4.  $(\omega_i)_{i=1,...,N}$  is a family of independent identically distributed real random variables of law  $\mu$ . In what follows, we will refer to  $\mu$  as the law of the disorder. Each  $\omega_i$ represents the intrinsic frequency for the oscillator  $\theta_i$ ,
- 5. K > 0 is the coupling strength.

**Remark 1.1.** Since we will not be concerned in this work with the issue of the behavior of the system as  $\sigma \searrow 0$ , we will assume, with no loss of generality, that  $\sigma := 1$  in the following.

Since the  $\theta_i$  are meant to be angles in  $[0, 2\pi)$  (describing the position of each rotator on the circle **S**) we will rather consider ( $\theta_i \mod 2\pi$ ) (and with a small abuse of notations,  $\theta_i$  and ( $\theta_i \mod 2\pi$ ) will be most of the time identified). We suppose in addition that the rotators are initially independently and identically distributed according to some law  $\gamma(d\theta)$  on **S**:

$$(\xi_i)_{i \ge 1} \sim \gamma^{\otimes \mathbf{N}} \tag{1.2}$$

This, with evolution (1.1), defines a proper diffusion on  $\mathbf{S}^{N}$ .

**Remark 1.2.** Note that the first two terms of the right hand side (r.h.s.) of (1.1) are antagonist: the mean-field interaction term  $-\frac{K}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\sin(\cdot-\cdot)$  tends to make the oscillators rotate together, whereas the term of disorder  $\omega_j t$  tends to force each oscillator to obey to its own frequency. The intuition for this model (which can be made rigorous at least in simple instances, see Chapter 3) is that it exhibits a phase transition: if K is lower than a critical value  $K_c$ , the interaction is not strong enough to ensure synchronization; on the contrary, if  $K \ge K_c$ , the rotators  $\theta_j$  will tend to synchronize.

#### 2.1.2 Averaged model vs Quenched model

We stress the fact that there are in this model *two* sources of randomness:

- 1. The randomness that chooses once and for all the initial frequencies  $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N)$  at the beginning of the experiment,
- 2. The randomness that comes from the Brownian motions (thermal noise).

In particular, we will denote as  $\mathbb{P}$  the law of the sequence of the disorder and as  $\mathbf{P} := W^{\otimes \mathbf{N}}$  the law of the sequence of i.i.d. Brownian motions. The corresponding expectations will be denoted as  $\mathbb{E}$  and  $\mathbf{E}$  respectively. The Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbf{S}$  will be denoted as  $\lambda$ .

Since the aim of the thesis is to study the influence of the randomness coming from the disorder on the behavior of (1.1), we will sometimes write  $\theta_j^{(\omega)}$  in place of  $\theta_j$ , so as to specify the dependence of the rotators on the initial choice of the disorder. Here, the notation ( $\omega$ ) stands for the *whole sequence of frequencies*,

$$(\omega) := (\omega_i)_{i \ge 1},\tag{1.3}$$

whereas we will use the notation  $\underline{\omega}$  for the finite sequence of N frequencies

$$\underline{\omega} := (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_N). \tag{1.4}$$

Analogous notations will be used for a finite sequence of rotators  $\underline{\theta} := (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N)$ . Hence, using the terminology of *disordered models*, one can consider the behavior of the system (1.1) in at least two ways:

- 1. The *averaged* Kuramoto model: the behavior of the rotators is here considered under the *joint law* of both Brownian motions and disorder; in other words, in this model we average with respect to every typical choice of the disorder.
- 2. The quenched Kuramoto model: here, one fixes a typical choice of the sequence  $(\omega)$  and considers the law of the rotators under the law of the Brownian motions only.

Of course, as far as the biological modeling is concerned, the quenched model is more interesting and this aspect will be the main point of interest in the thesis.

In the more general set-up of disordered models [16], the question of the difference between the quenched behavior and the averaged one is crucial and has received much interest in recent years. Reviewing the vast literature on this subject is hopeless, but one could cite at least the case of the disordered Ising model, pinning models [40], random walks in random environment [96], or random polymers [31].

#### 2.1.3 Symmetries in the Kuramoto model

From (1.1), it is straightforward to notice that the Kuramoto model presents the following symmetries:

- Rotation invariance: for fixed ( $\omega$ ), if  $\left(\theta_{i}^{(\omega)}\right)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  satisfies (1.1), then for any constant  $\theta_{0} \in \mathbf{S}, \left(\theta_{i}^{(\omega)} + \theta_{0}\right)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  also satisfies (1.1).
- Even symmetry: if one fixes a sequence of disorder ( $\omega$ ), then the law of any solution  $\left(\theta_{i}^{(\omega)}\right)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  to (1.1) under the law of the Brownian motions is the same as the law of  $\left(-\theta_{i}^{(-\omega)}\right)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$ .

Note that all theses symmetries find their counterpart in the continuous model (see Remark 1.8, p. 24). In that sense, the reader will not be surprised to encounter in various places of this work functions that share analogous symmetries (in particular functions  $(\theta, \omega) \in \mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R} \mapsto f(\theta, \omega)$  such that  $f(\theta, \omega) = f(-\theta, -\omega)$ )<sup>[3]</sup>.

Furthermore, an important remark is that one can always assume that the distribution of the disorder  $\mu$  (which is a probability on **R**) is centered

$$\mathbb{E}(\omega) := \int_{\mathbf{R}} \omega \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) = 0.$$

In fact, if this is not the case, we can map the model (1.1) to a model with  $\mathbb{E}(\omega) = 0$  by putting ourselves on the frame that rotates with speed  $\mathbb{E}(\omega)$ , that is if we consider the Kuramoto diffusion (1.1) with a drift  $(\theta_{i,t} - \mathbb{E}(\omega)t)_{i=1,\dots,N}$ .

#### 2.1.4 Generalizations of the Kuramoto model

Numerous generalizations of the Kuramoto model have been proposed and discussed, mostly in the physical literature. It is not possible to review the entirety of the existing articles and we refer to [2] for a global review on the subject.

**Previous works:** Several works concern the Kuramoto model (1.1) in the case  $\sigma = 0$  (as well as in the limit as  $\sigma \searrow 0$ ). In particular, the questions of partial synchronization vs. synchronization in the  $N \to \infty$ -limit for the case  $\sigma = 0$  are discussed in [84, 85] as well as in [6] on the basis on numerical simulations. The question of the stability of the incoherent stationary solution is discussed in [87].

In the case where  $\sigma > 0$ , among the physical literature that exists on the subject, it is worth to mention reference [86] where the question of the stability (as  $N \to \infty$ ) of the incoherent solution is addressed, in the case of a unimodal distribution of the disorder. The dynamical properties of the more complex case of multi-modal distributions is discussed in [13, 1, 14].

One generalization of the Kuramoto model is to see what happens beyond the meanfield case, that is when we add geometry to the system so that the interaction strength K actually depends on the position of the oscillators. This has been also addressed in the physical literature, see [84, 85, 77] for example.

Another way to go beyond the mean-field case is to introduce time-delays in the interaction. We refer to [65, 95, 21] on this subject.

The Kuramoto model, as it is stated in (1.1), has been the subject of several works in the mathematical literature: one should in particular mention the article of Dai Pra and den Hollander [27], who studied averaged large deviations and central limit theorems for this model, as well as the PhD Thesis of Francesca Collet [23] (see also [24]) which tackles the issue of critical fluctuations for the disordered Kuramoto model.

We mention the article of Bertini, Giacomin, Pakdaman [9] as well as [42] which concern the dynamics of the Kuramoto model, in the case where there is no disorder. Another model of synchronization on a lattice in the presence of an additional potential is studied in [7, 8].

<sup>[3].</sup> See e.g. Remark 1.8 or Lemma 5.12, p. 145.

The active rotators model: An interesting extension of the Kuramoto model is the *active rotators model* (see e.g. [81, 78]). This model concerns similar interacting rotators in the presence of an additional potential U:

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N, \ \theta_{i,t} = \xi_i - \frac{K}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \int_0^t \left( \sin(\theta_{i,s} - \theta_{j,s}) + U(\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i) \right) \, \mathrm{d}s + B_{i,t}, \quad (t \in [0,T])$$
(1.5)

where the potential U is supposed regular and bounded. The dynamical properties for this model tend to be fairly more complicated than the model studied here. In this extent, a recent result [43] tackles the issue of stability of synchronization for the active rotators, in absence of disorder.

#### 2.2 The non-disordered case

Before going into the details of our model, we focus in this paragraph on the case where the disorder is absent, that is  $\mu = \delta_0$ . This case has been studied in details by Bertini, Giacomin and Pakdaman in [9]. In this case, (1.1) becomes:

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N, \ \theta_{i,t} = \xi_i - \frac{K}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \int_0^t \sin(\theta_{i,s} - \theta_{j,s}) \,\mathrm{d}s + B_{i,t}, \quad (t \in [0,T]).$$
(1.6)

#### 2.2.1 Mean-field interacting diffusions

Here, one can see (1.6) as a particular case of systems of interacting diffusions, which interact through their empirical measure

$$t \mapsto \nu_{N,t} := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \delta_{\theta_{j,t}}.$$
(1.7)

Such models of weakly interacting diffusions have extensively been studied in their general formulation

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N, \ \theta_{i,t} = \xi_i + \int_0^t b[\theta_{i,s}, \nu_{N,s}] \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t \sigma[\theta_{i,s}, \nu_{N,s}] \,\mathrm{d}B_{i,s}, \quad (t \in [0,T]), \quad (1.8)$$

where  $b[\cdot, \cdot]$  and  $\sigma[\cdot, \cdot]$  are smooth coefficients. A vast literature exists on the subject, we refer in particular to the works of Gärtner [38], Oeslchläger [67], McKean [59] and Sznitman [89]. More precisely, such models of particles are deeply linked with problematics coming from propagation of chaos properties ([48, 88]) or Euler scheme approximations for partial differential equations (e.g. [15, 57, 90, 91]).

In particular, it is now well known (see e.g. [38, 67, 49]) that, under mild hypothesis on the coefficients b and  $\sigma$ , the empirical measure  $\nu_N$  (1.7) converges weakly (as a process) to a deterministic measure-valued process  $t \mapsto \nu_t$  that is absolutely continuous w.r.t. Lebesgue measure and whose density  $t \mapsto q_t$  is a classical solution to the McKean-Vlasov equation (where a is the square of  $\sigma$ ):

$$\partial_t q_t(\theta) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 \left( a[\theta, \nu_t] q_t(\theta) \right) - \partial_\theta \left( q_t(\theta) b[\theta, \nu_t] \right), \quad (t \in (0, T]).$$
(1.9)

Many works have gone beyond this law of large numbers and have studied the corresponding central limit theorem (see e.g. [88, 49, 80, 36]).

#### 2.2.2 The case of the sine-model

The case of the Kuramoto model is a particular case of § 2.2.1 for

$$b[\theta, m] := -K \int_{\mathbf{S}} \sin(\theta - \theta') m(d\theta')$$
, and  $\sigma[\theta, m] := 1$ .

The system (1.6) presents the major advantage of being reversible. Indeed, it is easily seen that the system (1.6) is reversible under the Gibbs measure

$$\mu_{N,K}(d\underline{\theta}) := \frac{1}{Z_{N,K}} \exp\left(-2KH_N(\underline{\theta})\right) d\underline{\theta}, \qquad (1.10)$$

where  $Z_{N,K}$  is the normalization constant and the Hamiltonian  $H_N$  is given by

$$H_N(\underline{\theta}) := -\frac{1}{2N} \sum_{j=1}^N \sum_{i=1}^N \cos\left(\theta_j - \theta_i\right).$$
(1.11)

The measure  $\mu_{K,N}$  is the Gibbs measure of a classical statistical mechanics model: the mean field spin XY model with single spin state space **S**, i.e. mean field plane rotators.

Moreover, it is proved in [9, Prop. 1.2], that (1.6) is more or less the only case <sup>[4]</sup> where this system is reversible. In particular, if the distribution of the disorder is non-degenerate, the system (1.1) is not reversible and we come into the domain of non-equilibrium statistical mechanics.

As far as the system (1.6) is concerned, the McKean-Vlasov equation (1.9) reduces to (recall that  $\sigma = 1$ )

$$\partial_t q_t(\theta) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 q_t(\theta) - \partial_\theta \Big( q_t(\theta) (J * q_t(\theta)) \Big), \tag{1.12}$$

where  $J(\theta) = -K \sin(\theta)$  and \* is the convolution. An important observation is that (1.12) is of gradient flow type, (e.g. [68] and references therein). These properties have been exploited in [9] in order to extract a number of properties of (1.12) and notably the linear stability of synchronization in the non-disordered case. Those results will be crucial for our work and we will refer to them when required.

Note also that a recent work [42] addresses the question of the global dynamics between incoherent and synchronized solutions in the non-disordered case.

#### 2.3 Our model

Although we will have constantly in mind the disordered Kuramoto model defined in (1.1), a number of results presented in the thesis are also valid for models more general than (1.1). To be precise, we consider the following system of stochastic differential equations:

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N, \ \theta_{i,t} = \xi_i + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \int_0^t b(\theta_{i,s}, \theta_{j,s}, \omega_i, \omega_j) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t c(\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i) \, \mathrm{d}s + B_{i,t}, \ (t \in [0,T]),$$
(1.13)

where b and c are regular coefficients. One should see (1.13) as a disordered version of (1.8), and the rotators  $\theta_i$  as diffusions in **S** in a random environment.

<sup>[4].</sup> among the class of mean-field models with disorder, where the sine interaction is replaced by a general function  $h(\cdot)$ ; see [9, Prop. 1.2] for a precise statement.

**Remark 1.3** (The *sine-model*). In the particular case where

$$b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') = K \sin(\theta' - \theta) \text{ and } c(\theta, \omega) = \omega,$$
 (1.14)

we retrieve the original Kuramoto model (1.1). By opposition to the general case (1.13), the case (1.1) with a sine interaction will be referred to as *the sine-model*.

#### 2.3.1 The empirical measure and flow

As in the non-disordered case § 2.2.1, it appears that the relevant object for the study of the  $N \to \infty$  limit of (1.13) is the empirical measure of the oscillators  $\underline{\theta} := (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N)$ .

The empirical measure  $L_N$ : if one chooses an time horizon T > 0 (fixed but arbitrary), one can consider each diffusion  $\theta_i$  ( $1 \le i \le N$ ) as a random element in the space  $C([0, T], \mathbf{S})$ of continuous functions from [0, T] to  $\mathbf{S}$ . For any choice of the disorder  $\underline{\omega} := (\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N)$ , one may consider the empirical measure on both oscillators and disorder (also referred to in [27] as *double-layer empirical measure*).

**Definition 1.4** (Empirical measure). For a fixed choice of rotators  $\underline{\theta} = (\theta_1, \dots, \theta_N)$  and disorder  $(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_N)$ , we define the empirical measure

$$L_N := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \delta_{(\theta_j, \omega_j)}, \qquad (1.15)$$

where  $\delta_{(\theta,\omega)}$  is the Dirac measure in  $(\theta,\omega) \in \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}$ .

Thus,  $L_N$  is a random element in the set  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R})$  of probability measures on  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}$ . When necessary, the notations  $L_N^{(\omega)}$  and  $L_N[\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}]$  will also be used in order to specify the random dependence of  $L_N$  in the sequence of disorder  $(\omega) := (\omega_i)_{i \geq 1}$ or in the oscillators  $\underline{\theta}$ .

The empirical flow  $\nu_N$ : Another relevant object for the study of the large N limit of the system is the empirical flow derived from the empirical measure  $L_N$  through the continuous map  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}) \mapsto (Q_t)_{t \in [0,T]} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  where for all  $t \in [0,T], Q_t \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  is the marginal of Q at time t:

$$Q_t(A \times B) := Q((\theta, \omega), \theta_t \in A, \omega \in B).$$

The image of the empirical measure  $L_N$  is then given by the following definition

**Definition 1.5** (Empirical flow). For a fixed choice of rotators  $\underline{\theta} = (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N)$  and disorder  $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N)$ , we define the empirical flow as the family of probabilities on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$   $(\nu_{N,t})_{t \in [0,T], N \ge 1}$ :

$$\forall t \in [0,T], \ \nu_{N,t} := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \delta_{(\theta_{j,t},\omega_j)},$$
(1.16)

where  $\delta_{(\theta,\omega)}$  is the Dirac measure in  $(\theta,\omega) \in \mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ .

Here,  $\nu_N$  will be considered as a random process in  $\mathcal{C}([0, T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  when  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  is endowed with the topology of weak convergence. Again, we will make use when required of the notation  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  so as to insist on the fact that  $\nu_N$  effectively depends on the random choice of the sequence of disorder  $(\omega) = (\omega_i)_{i \geq 1}$ .

# 3 Large deviations and convergences of the empirical measures

The purpose of Chapter 2 is to establish rigorously a law of large numbers for the empirical measures  $L_N$  and  $\nu_N$  (analogous to the convergence discussed in the non-disordered case § 2.2.1) and to make explicit the corresponding limit as a solution to a McKean-Vlasov evolution, similar to the one found in (1.9).

More concretely, we are concerned here with the issue of the convergence as  $N \to \infty$  of the random objects  $L_N$  and  $\nu_N$  defined in (1.15) and (1.16) respectively, to a deterministic time-dependent measure  $(\nu_t(d\theta, d\omega))_{t \in [0,T]}$ , weak solution of the deterministic nonlinear partial differential McKean-Vlasov equation:

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi \,\mathrm{d}\nu_t = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\gamma + \int_0^t \,\mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\varphi'' + \varphi'(b[\cdot,\cdot,\nu_s]+c)\right) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_s, \tag{1.17}$$

for every  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto \varphi(\theta, \omega)$  continuous bounded on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ , twice differentiable w.r.t. the first variable  $\theta$ , with bounded derivatives and where

$$b[\theta, \omega, m] = \int b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') \,\mathrm{d}m(\theta', \omega').$$

Note here that the notation  $\varphi'$  stands for the derivative of  $\varphi$  w.r.t. the first variable  $\theta$ . This convergence has been heuristically obtained in the physical literature, see [2] and references therein. To our knowledge, the first rigorous proof of this convergence has been given by Dai Pra and den Hollander in [27], in the case where the interaction is governed by an Hamiltonian. The main restriction in [27] is that it only concerns the case where the disorder remains bounded. The techniques involved in [27] come from large deviation theory in the *averaged model*. In particular, [27] does not tackle the issue of the *quenched* convergence of the empirical measures.

The purpose of Chapter 2 is threefold:

#### **3.1** Uniqueness in McKean-Vlasov equation (1.17)

The first important result of Chapter 2 concerns the plausible limit of the empirical measures defined in (1.17). Proposition 2.20 in Chapter 2 effectively proves that there is uniqueness of any possible solution to the weak formulation of McKean-Vlasov equation (1.17). This can be done by generalizing a work by Oelschläger [67] who proved similar uniqueness for McKean-Vlasov equation, for interacting diffusions without disorder.

Since we know that any possible limit point of  $L_N$  or  $\nu_N$  is in fact unique, we are now left with proving the existence of convergent subsequences for both  $(L_N)_{N \ge 1}$  and  $(\nu_N)_{N \ge 1}$ . We follow here two strategies:

#### 3.2 Averaged large deviation principle:

The first part of Chapter 2 concerns a generalization of the result of Dai Pra and den Hollander to the case where the disorder is no longer bounded. Namely, we prove a large deviation principle for the empirical measure  $L_N$  in the case where the interaction is given by a random Hamiltonian under the assumption that the distribution of the disorder  $\mu$ admits exponential moments.

#### 3.2.1 Main hypothesis

We give ourselves two functions  $(u, \omega, \omega') \mapsto f(u, \omega, \omega')$  and  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto g(\theta, \omega)$  such that

- f is of class  $C^2$  w.r.t. its first variable u and is bounded (uniformly in  $\omega, \omega'$ ) on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}^2$  as well as its derivatives,
- for all  $u \in \mathbf{S}$ ,  $(\omega, \omega') \in \mathbf{R}^2$ ,  $f(u, \omega, \omega') = f(-u, \omega', \omega)$ ,

- g is of class  $C^2$  w.r.t. its first variable  $\theta$  such that  $\partial_{\theta}^2 g$  is uniformly bounded in  $(\theta, \omega)$ . We suppose now that the coefficients b and c in (1.13) have the following form:

$$b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') = -\partial_u f(\theta' - \theta, \omega, \omega')$$
$$c(\theta, \omega) = -\partial_\theta g(\theta, \omega).$$

This situation corresponds exactly to the case where the interaction (1.13) is governed by a random Hamiltonian:

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N, \quad \mathrm{d}\theta_{i,t} = -\partial_{\theta_i} H_N(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}) \,\mathrm{d}t + \,\mathrm{d}B_{i,t},$$

where

$$H_N(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}) := \frac{1}{2N} \sum_{i,j=1}^N f(\theta_j - \theta_i, \omega_i, \omega_j) + \sum_{i=1}^N g(\theta_i, \omega_i).$$

**Remark 1.6.** Note that, contrarily to [27], we do not suppose any uniform boundedness in  $\omega$  for g and  $\partial_{\theta}g$ , since we have in mind the *sine-model* where  $g(\theta, \omega) = -\theta\omega$ .

Additionally, we make the following hypothesis on the distribution of the disorder:

$$\forall t > 0, \ \int_{\mathbf{R}} e^{t|\omega|} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) < \infty.$$

#### **3.2.2** Averaged convergence of $L_N$

Under these hypotheses, the first main result of Chapter 2 is an averaged large deviation principle for the empirical measure  $L_N$ :

**Theorem** (see Theorem 2.11). The law of the empirical measure  $L_N$  under the joint law of oscillators and disorder, satisfies a strong large deviation principle in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R})$ , at speed N, for the topology of weak convergence, governed by a good rate function  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{G}(Q)$ , whose zeros  $Q^*(d\theta, d\omega)$  satisfy the weak McKean-Vlasov equation (1.17). In particular,  $L_N$  converges weakly to the unique solution  $\nu$  to (1.17).

The proof of Theorem 2.11 uses similar arguments to the ones used in [27], in particular standard techniques from large deviation theory, including Varadhan's lemma and Sanov's theorem, which are recalled at the beginning of Chapter 2. The major difference with [27] is that we do not suppose that disorder remains bounded. In particular, bounding the disorder entails some technical complications and requires the use of techniques derived from the notion of *exponential approximations* of measures, developed in [29, p. 131].

Once again, we stress the fact that this is an *averaged* result, in the sense that the convergence of  $L_N$  is understood with respect to the joint law of Brownian motions and disorder. It is nonetheless possible to derive from the previous theorem a *quenched* convergence result using Borel-Cantelli techniques. We refer to Proposition 2.13 for a precise statement.

#### 3.3 Quenched convergence of the empirical flow

More importantly than the fact that the previous result is stated in the framework of the *averaged model*, the hypothesis made about the law of the disorder is quite restrictive (existence of exponential moments of  $\mu$ ). One could hope to prove a more direct convergence result which would be true in the *quenched* model as well as under less restrictive assumptions on the law of the disorder. Note also that the following result gets rid of the assumption that the interaction is governed by an Hamiltonian.

The rest of Chapter 2 is dedicated to the statement of a direct proof of convergence of the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  defined in (1.16); we insist on the fact that the convergence is here considered when the sequence of disorder is fixed (quenched model).

#### 3.3.1 Main hypothesis

Let us consider (1.13) in the case where the coefficients b and c satisfy the following hypotheses:

- $-(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') \mapsto b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega')$  is bounded, Lipschitz-continuous,
- $-(\theta,\omega) \mapsto c(\theta,\omega)$  is Lipschitz-continuous w.r.t. its first variable, but not necessarily bounded<sup>[5]</sup>,
- $-\omega \mapsto \sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}} |c(\theta, \omega)|$  is continuous.

The Lipschitz bounds for b and c are supposed to be uniform in  $\omega$ .

The disorder  $(\omega)$  is assumed to be a sequence of identically distributed random variables (but not necessarily independent), such that the law of each  $\omega_i$  is  $\mu$ . We suppose also that for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence  $(\omega)$ ,

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\sup_{\theta\in\mathbf{S}}|c(\theta,\omega_i)|\to_{N\to\infty}\int\sup_{\theta\in\mathbf{S}}|c(\theta,\omega)|\,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega)<\infty.$$

We suppose also a convergence of the initial empirical measure, for the topology of weak convergence:

For 
$$\mathbb{P}-a.e.$$
 ( $\omega$ ),  $\nu_{N,0}^{(\omega)} \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} \nu_0$ , in law, in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ .

#### 3.3.2 Quenched convergence of the empirical flow

Under the previous hypotheses, we prove in Chapter 2 the following result

**Theorem** (see Theorem 2.16). For  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence  $(\omega)$ , the random variable  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  defined in (1.16) is tight in the space  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  of càdlàg functions in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ , and each accumulation point  $\nu$  is the solution of the weak McKean-Vlasov equation (1.17). Moreover, under the same hypotheses, the law of  $\nu_N$  under the joint law of the oscillators and disorder (averaged model) is also tight in the same space and its accumulations points are also solutions to (1.17).

In particular, we have both quenched and averaged convergence of  $(\nu_N)_{N \ge 1}$  towards the unique solution  $\nu$  to (1.17).

<sup>[5].</sup> recall the *sine-model*, where  $c(\theta, \omega) = \omega$ .

#### 3.3.3 Self-averaging phenomenon

This result illustrates in particular the *self-averaging* character of the diffusion (1.13) which we study here. Due to the mean-field character of the system, its large N-limit (at least at the scale of the law of large numbers) is deterministic and independent of any initial choice of the disorder ( $\omega$ ).

A similar question for the dependence in the disorder at the scale of the central limit theorem associated to this convergence seems much harder to treat and will be the main subject of discussion of Sections 5 and 6.

### 4 Stability of synchronization in the continuous model

The main conclusion of Chapter 2 is that McKean-Vlasov evolution (1.17) is the proper object for the study the large N-limit of the system (1.13).

The purpose of Chapter 3 is to study more precisely this nonlinear equation and to make the link between the phenomenon of synchronization and the existence of nontrivial solutions to (1.17) in the case of the *sine-model*.

The main material of Chapter 3 is taken from a joint work [41] with Giambattista Giacomin and Christophe Poquet.

#### 4.1 Regularity of the McKean-Vlasov semigroup

The first result of Chapter 3 concerns regularity properties of evolution (1.17) and in particular the regularizing character of its semigroup.

- In that sense, in addition to the assumptions made in § 3.3, we suppose that
- for all  $\omega, \omega', (\theta, \theta') \mapsto b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega')$  is of class  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  with bounded derivatives,
- for all  $\omega$ ,  $\theta \mapsto c(\theta, \omega)$  is of class  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$ , with derivatives uniformly bounded on every  $\mathbf{S} \times [-M, M]$ , for all M > 0.

More precisely, the following proposition states that that for any measure-valued initial condition, the solution  $t \mapsto \nu_t$  of (1.17) is in fact regular in time and space and that its density  $q_t(\theta, \omega)$  (w.r.t. to the Lebesgue measure) is the strong solution of a system of coupled nonlinear and nonlocal partial differential equations which will be referred to as the strong formulation of McKean-Vlasov evolution:

**Proposition** (see Proposition 3.1). For every initial condition  $\nu_0(d\theta, d\omega) = \nu_0^{\omega}(d\theta)\mu(d\omega)$ on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ , for all T > 0, the unique solution  $\nu$  to (1.17) in  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  has the following properties: for all t > 0,  $\nu_t$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\lambda \otimes \mu$  and for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $\omega \in Supp(\mu)$ , its density  $(t, \theta, \omega) \mapsto q_t(\theta, \omega)$  is strictly positive on  $(0,T] \times \mathbf{S}$ , is  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  in  $(t, \theta)$  and solves the following Fokker-Planck equation (1.18):

$$\forall \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \ \forall \theta \in \mathbf{S},$$

$$\partial_t q_t(\theta, \omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 q_t(\theta, \omega) - \partial_\theta \left\{ q_t(\theta, \omega) \left( \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') q_t(\theta', \omega') \, \mathrm{d}\theta' \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega') + c(\theta, \omega) \right) \right\}.$$
(1.18)

**Remark 1.7.** Note that it is also possible to state a result of regularity with respect to the disorder (see Proposition 3.5), provided we assume some initial regularity of the initial condition <sup>[6]</sup>.

<sup>[6].</sup> Since the evolution (1.18) is degenerate with respect to the component  $\omega$ , there is no point in hoping that the evolution will be regularizing in  $\omega$ : we need to assume that the initial condition is itself regular in  $\omega$ .

Let us be explicit on the main properties of (1.18):

- 1. It has quadratic nonlinearity,
- 2. It is nonlocal,
- 3. If the support of  $\mu$  is infinite (e.g.  $\mu = \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ ), (1.18) is in fact equivalent to an infinite number of coupled equations; indeed, in order to know  $q(\cdot, \omega)$  for one  $\omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu)$ , it is necessary to know  $q(\cdot, \omega')$  for every  $\omega' \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu)$ .

To fix ideas, one may for example consider the simple binary case where  $\mu = \frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-1} + \delta_1)$ . Then (1.18) reduces to two equations (one for +1, the other for -1) which are coupled via the averaged probability measure  $\frac{1}{2}(q_t(\theta, +1) + q_t(\theta, -1)) d\theta$ . But for more general situations ( $\mu = \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$  say) this would consist of an infinite number of coupled equations.

The case of the sine-model: In the particular case of the *sine-model* case, (1.18) becomes

$$\partial_t q_t(\theta, \omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 q_t(\theta, \omega) - \partial_\theta \Big( q_t(\theta, \omega) (\langle J * q_t \rangle_\mu(\theta) + \omega) \Big), \tag{1.19}$$

where

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \quad J(\theta) = -K\sin(\theta),$$

and where \* denotes the convolution and  $\langle \cdot \rangle_{\mu}$  is a notation for the integration with respect to  $\mu$ , so that  $\langle J * u \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} J(\theta') u(\theta - \theta', \omega) d\theta' d\mu(\omega)$  is the convolution of J and u, averaged with respect to the disorder.

**Remark 1.8** (Symmetries in the continuous model). Note that the symmetries mentioned in § 2.1.3 also holds for the continuous model:

- Rotation invariance: if  $q_t(\theta, \omega)$  solves (1.19) so does  $q_t(\cdot + \theta_0, \omega)$  for any constant  $\theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}$ ,

- Even symmetry: if  $q_t(-\theta, -\omega)|_{t=0} = q_t(\theta, \omega)|_{t=0}$ , then it is true for all t > 0.

In particular, the stationary solutions of (1.19) will share these symmetries, see (3.15), p. 77.

#### 4.2 Phase transition in synchronization

The rest of Chapter 3 concerns the particular case of the *sine-model*.

The first step towards making rigorous mathematical sense of the meaning of synchronization in the Kuramoto model was carried out by Sakaguchi [75] (see also [2], [30] and references therein). It is now well understood that crucial features of evolution (3.1) are captured in the sine-model by order parameters  $r_t \ge 0$  and  $\psi_t \in \mathbf{S}$  defined by:

$$r_t e^{i\psi_t} = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} e^{i\theta} q_t(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega).$$
(1.20)

The quantity  $r_t$  captures in fact the degree of synchronization of a solution (the profile  $q_t \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi}$  for example corresponds to  $r_t = 0$  and represents a total lack of synchronization) and  $\psi_t$  identifies the center of synchronization: this is true and rather intuitive for unimodal profiles. In this framework, it turns out that synchronization reads in the existence of nontrivial stationary solutions q to the evolution (1.19), which can be parameterized by the (stationary) order parameter r defined by the stationary version of (1.20). What makes the computations particularly tractable in the *sine-model* is that the nonlinearity in (1.19) can be explicitly written in terms of the order parameter r (at least when  $\mu$  is symmetric): if  $b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') = K \sin(\theta' - \theta)$ , then  $\int b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') d\nu_s(\theta', \omega')$  is exactly equal

to  $-Kr_s \sin(\theta)$ . This allows to express any stationary solution q of (1.19) in terms of the order parameter r, which itself depends on q through (1.20). Thus, one has to see (1.20) as a *fixed-point relation* for which any solution r provides a stationary solution <sup>[7]</sup>  $q(\cdot, \cdot, r)$  to (1.19). We refer to § 3.2, p. 92 for details.

In that sense, the continuous Kuramoto evolution (1.19) is the prototype of a dynamics that exhibits a *phase transition*: at an intuitive level, if the interaction strength K is not large enough, then the rotators do not interact sufficiently, r = 0 is the only solution to (1.20) and the system is not synchronized, whereas if K is large enough, nontrivial solutions appear (synchronization). The easiest illustration of such a phase transition is given by the *non-disordered Kuramoto model* (1.12):

**Proposition** (see [75] and Proposition 3.8). The non-disordered sine-model presents a phase transition: if K > 0 is the coupling strength in the sine-model, then one can distinguish between two regimes:

1. The case  $K \leq K_c := 1$ : there is a unique stationary solution to (1.12) called incoherent solution

$$q(\cdot) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi}.\tag{1.21}$$

2. The case  $K > K_c$ : the incoherent solution  $\frac{1}{2\pi}$  coexists with a whole circle of synchronized solutions

$$\{q(\cdot + \theta_0); \, \theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}\}\,,\tag{1.22}$$

for q given by

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \quad q_0(\theta) = \frac{1}{Z_0} e^{2Kr_0 \cos(\theta)}$$

where  $Z_0 = \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{2Kr_0 \cos(\theta)} d\theta$  is the normalization constant and  $r_0$  satisfies (1.20).

For nontrivial disorder, an analogous parameterization holds (see Proposition 3.10) although the phase portrait gets much more complicated even for simples instances of disorder (in particular for some distributions  $\mu$ , two distinct circles of synchronized solutions may coexist, see Proposition 3.11) and many questions about the nature of the phase transition remain unfortunately unanswered. Nevertheless, one result of Chapter 3 shows that the same phase transition occurs, at least in the case where the disorder is small. We refer in particular to Proposition 3.13 for a precise statement. The simplest illustration of the difficulty of solving the fixed-point relation (1.20) is the binary case  $\mu = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$ . We detail (although not rigorously) in § 2.2.3, p. 79 the variety of what may happen even in this simple case.

#### 4.3 Stability of synchronization

The main goal of Chapter 3 is to tackle the issue of the stability of nontrivial stationary solutions to McKean-Vlasov evolution (1.19), in the case of a non-degenerate disorder.

As far as the incoherent solution  $\frac{1}{2\pi}$  is concerned, it has been proved by Strogatz and Mirollo [86] that it is linearly stable before synchronization and unstable after. We refer to Proposition 3.22 for a precise statement.

<sup>[7].</sup> and hence a whole circle of stationary thanks to the rotation invariance.

#### 4.3.1The non-disordered case

The purpose of the work by Bertini, Giacomin and Pakdaman [9] is precisely to answer the question of the linear stability of the synchronized solution in the non-disordered model (1.12). Namely, if  $L_{q_0}$  is the linear operator resulting from the linearization of evolution (1.12) around its unique<sup>[8]</sup> synchronized stationary solution  $q_0$ ,

$$L_{q_0}u := \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\theta}^2 u - \partial_{\theta} \{q_0(J * u) + u(J * q_0)\}, \qquad (1.23)$$

then it is proved in [9] that  $L_{q_0}$  is essentially self-adjoint in a certain space **H** of distributions<sup>[9]</sup>, which spectrum lies in the negative part of the real line. What is more, explicit estimates on the spectral gap  $\lambda_K(L_{q_0})$  are proved (see Proposition 3.23 for a precise statement).

#### 4.3.2The case where the disorder is small

The main result of Chapter 3 is contained in Theorem 3.27 and is a disordered version of the result of [9]. In the case where the disorder (seen as a perturbation) is small and using techniques from functional analysis (perturbations of self-adjoint operators and analytic semigroups), Theorem 3.27 states that in a disordered version  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu}$  of the space  $\mathbf{H}$  used in § 4.3.1 and for a sufficiently small disorder, there exists a unique circle of synchronized stationary solutions to (1.19) and this circle is both linearly and nonlinearly stable. More precisely, we make the assumption that the support of  $\mu$  is small:

$$\exists \delta > 0, \text{ Supp}(\mu) \subseteq [-\delta, \delta].$$

The object of interest here is the linear operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  arising from the linearization of the evolution (1.19) around its unique<sup>[8]</sup> nontrivial stationary solution q (see Proposition 3.13):

$$L_{q}^{\delta}u(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\theta}^{2}u(\theta,\omega) - \partial_{\theta}\left(u(\theta,\omega)\left(\langle J*q\rangle_{\mu}(\theta)+\omega\right)+q(\theta,\omega)\langle J*u\rangle_{\mu}(\theta)\right), \quad (1.24)$$

with domain

$$\mathcal{D} := \left\{ u \in C^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}); \int_{\mathbf{S}} u(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}\theta = 0 \text{ for all } \omega \right\}.$$
(1.25)

Then one has

**Theorem** (see Theorem 3.27). The operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  has the following spectral properties: 0 is a simple eigenvalue for  $L_q^{\delta}$ , with eigenspace spanned by  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto q'(\theta, \omega)$ . Moreover, for all  $K > 1, \ \rho \in (0,1), \ \alpha \in (0,\pi/2), \ there \ exists \ \delta_{\star} = \delta_{\star}(K,\rho,\alpha) \ such \ that \ for \ all \ 0 \leq \delta \leq \delta_{\star},$ the following is true:

- $L_q^{\delta}$  is closable in  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu}$ ; The spectrum of  $L_q^{\delta}$  lies in a cone  $C_{\alpha}$  with vertex 0 and angle  $\alpha$

$$C_{\alpha} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \, \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \leqslant \arg(\lambda) \leqslant \frac{3\pi}{2} - \alpha \right\} \subseteq \{ z \in \mathbf{C}; \, \Re(z) \leqslant 0 \} ;$$

- There exists  $\alpha' \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  such that  $L_q^{\delta}$  is the infinitesimal generator of an analytic semigroup defined on a sector  $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}, |\arg(\lambda)| < \alpha'\};$ 

<sup>[8].</sup> Up to rotation.

<sup>[9].</sup> For a precise definition of the space H, see § 2.3, p. 82.

- The distance between 0 and the rest of the spectrum is strictly positive and is at least equal to  $\rho\lambda_K(L_{q_0})$ , where  $\lambda_K(L_{q_0})$  is the spectral gap found in the non-disordered case in § 4.3.1.

Moreover, we are able to find asymptotic estimates (in terms of K) of the size of the disorder  $\delta_{\star}$  as  $K \searrow 1$  and  $K \to \infty$  (see Proposition 3.28). In particular, those estimates seemingly sharp as  $K \searrow 1$ , are not accurate as  $K \to \infty$ , although one would intuitively believe that the stronger the coupling, the easier it is for the oscillators to remain synchronized. In that sense, the study of the  $K \to \infty$ -case seems to require alternative methods to the ones developed in this thesis.

Note that a different approach developed by Giacomin, Pakdaman, Pellegrin and Poquet [43] allows to tackle this issue of stability of synchronization and can be generalized to the case where  $\mu$  is not symmetric, as well as for more general models (e.g. active rotators, see [76]). This approach relies on the notion of *stable normal hyperbolic manifold* (see [79]) and the fact that this structure is robust under perturbations. We will only mention this result (§ 2.4.4, p. 89) and we refer to [41] for precise statements and proofs.

### 5 Quenched fluctuations of the empirical measure

The purpose of Chapters 2 and 3 was to study the continuous Kuramoto model that arises in the  $N \to \infty$ -limit. We focus in the next chapter on the finite size effects on synchronization of the Kuramoto model.

The material for Chapter 4 is taken from an article [55] published in *Electronic Journal* of *Probability*.

#### 5.1 Motivations

As already pointed out in Paragraph 3.3.3 of this introduction, a crucial aspect of the quenched convergence result, which is a law of large numbers, is that it shows the *self-averaging* character of this limit: every typical disorder configuration leads to the same deterministic evolution (1.18) as  $N \to \infty$ .

However, it seems quite clear even at a superficial level that if we consider the central limit theorem associated to this convergence, self-averaging does not hold since the fluctuations of the disorder compete with the dynamical fluctuations. This leads to a remarkable phenomenon (pointed out e.g. in [6, § 10.2, p. 47] on the basis of numerical simulations): even if the distribution  $\mu$  is symmetric, the fluctuations of a fixed chosen sample of the disorder makes it *not symmetric* and thus the center of the synchronization of the system slowly (i.e. with a speed of order  $1/\sqrt{N}$ ) rotates in one direction and with a speed that depends randomly on the sample of the disorder (Fig. 1.2 and 1.3).

To fix ideas one may think of the simple case where  $\mu = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{-1} + \delta_1)$ : in a finite sample  $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N)$  of spins in  $\{\pm 1\}^N$ , there may be a majority of positive spins (equal to +1) with respect to the negative spins (equal to -1), so that the positive spins have a tendency to induce a global rotation in their sense.

This non self-averaging phenomenon can be tackled in the *sine-model* by computing the finite-size order parameters (Fig. 1.3):

$$r_{N,t}e^{i\psi_{N,t}} = \frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N} e^{i\theta_{j,t}} = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} e^{i\theta} \,\mathrm{d}\nu_{N,t}(\theta,\omega), \qquad (1.26)$$

where  $\nu_N$  is the empirical measure of the system defined in (1.16).



Figure 1.2: We plot here the evolution of the marginal on **S** of  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  for N = 600 oscillators in the *sine-model* ( $\mu = \frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-1} + \delta_1)$ , K = 6). The oscillators are initially chosen independently and uniformly on  $[0, 2\pi]$  independently of the disorder. First the dynamics leads to synchronization of the oscillators (t = 6) to a profile which is close to a nontrivial stationary solution of McKean-Vlasov equation. Secondly, we observe that the center  $\psi_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$  of this density moves to the right with an approximately constant speed; what is more, this speed of fluctuation turns out to be sample-dependent (see Fig. 1.3).

**Remark 1.9.** Note that the parameters  $(r_{N,t}, \psi_{N,t})$  are the microscopic equivalents of the macroscopic order parameters  $(r_t, \psi_t)$  defined in (1.20). In this chapter, we will also use the notation  $(r_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \psi_{N,t}^{(\omega)})$  in order to specify the dependence of these objects in the quenched disorder  $(\omega)$ .

In particular, the order parameter  $\psi_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$  captures the position of the center of synchronization for finite N (see Figure 1.2). It is seen on Figure 1.3 that  $t \mapsto \psi_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$  has an approximately linear behavior whose slope depends on the choice of the disorder.

Since the order parameters  $(r_{N,t}, \psi_{N,t})$  are actually functions of the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  (1.16), it suffices to have a fluctuation result for the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  in order to obtain a fluctuation result for  $r_{N,t}$  and  $\psi_{N,t}$ . As a step towards understanding this non self-averaging phenomenon, the goal of Chapter 4 is to establish a fluctuation theorem for  $\nu_N$  around the McKean-Vlasov limit in a quenched set-up (see Theorem 4.4) and to discuss the influence of the disorder on the longtime dynamics of the limit fluctuation process.

#### 5.2 Previous results

Results of fluctuations for the empirical measure of diffusions in  $\mathbf{R}$  or in  $\mathbf{S}$  have been proved in different contexts. In particular, there exists a vast literature on the subject for diffusions in absence of disorder. We refer in particular to the works of Fernandez and Méléard [36] and Hitsuda and Mitoma [47], who studied fluctuations for empirical measures in the case without disorder. Note also that a large deviation principle is also proved in [19].

As far as disordered models are concerned, the study of fluctuations of the empirical measure in an *averaged set-up* has been the subject of several works. In particular, a



Figure 1.3: Trajectories of the center of synchronization  $\psi_N^{(\omega)}$  in the *sine-model* for different realizations of the disorder ( $\mu = \frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-0.5} + \delta_{0.5})$ , K = 4, N = 400). We observe here the non self-averaging phenomenon: direction and speed of the center depend on the choice of the initial N-sample of the disorder. Moreover, these simulations are compatible with speeds of order  $1/\sqrt{N}$ . The red trajectory corresponds to the case where we average w.r.t. the disorder: non self-averaging does not hold in the averaged model.

central limit theorem for the empirical measure in the averaged Kuramoto model can be found in [27], applying techniques introduced by Bolthausen [12]. A fluctuation theorem may also be found in [25] for a model of social interaction here again in an averaged set-up. We also mention a recent work [24] that concerns the behavior of the fluctuations in the Kuramoto model near criticality.

But the point is that an *averaged* fluctuation result is not relevant for our purpose. Indeed, if we average with respect to every typical possibilities of the disorder, then on *average*, there are as many positive initial frequencies as negative frequencies. In other words, (see the red trajectory in Figure 1.3) since we get rid of the initial asymmetry between the positive frequencies w.r.t. the negative ones, the self-averaging phenomenon disappears: there is no more sample-dependent rotation of the whole system in the averaged situation. What we need here is really a *quenched* fluctuation result, that is for a fixed choice of a sample of initial frequencies  $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N)^{[10]}$ .

The result we prove concerns the behavior as  $N \to \infty$  of the quenched fluctuation process of the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  (1.16) around its limit  $\nu$  (1.17)

$$\eta_N^{(\omega)} := \sqrt{N} \left( \nu_N^{(\omega)} - \nu \right).$$

More precisely, what we prove is the quenched convergence of  $\eta_N$ , seen as a continuous process in the Schwartz space S' of tempered distributions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$  to the solution  $t \mapsto \eta_t$  of an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process (1.27). We insist on the fact that the limit process  $\eta$ 

<sup>[10].</sup> which is a *priori* asymmetric in general, at least when we do not artificially remove the asymmetry by imposing for each sampled frequency its exact opposite, see Remark 1.11, p. 34 and [6, § 10.2, p. 47].

is explicit, in the sense that the linear operator governing its evolution is explicitly given and deterministic. The quenched convergence is here understood as a weak convergence in law w.r.t. the disorder and is more technically involved than the convergence in the averaged system.

#### 5.2.1 Main hypotheses

In addition to the hypothesis made in § 3.3, we make the following assumptions about b and c (where  $\mathcal{D}_p$  is the set of all differential operators of the form  $\partial_u^k \partial_\omega^l$  with  $k + l \leq p$ ):

$$\begin{cases} b \in \mathcal{C}_b^{\infty}(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), \quad c \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), \\ \exists \alpha > 0, \sup_{D \in \mathcal{D}_6} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{\sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}} |Dc(\theta, \omega)|^2}{1 + |\omega|^{2\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}\omega < \infty, \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, we make the following assumption about the law of the disorder ( $\alpha$  is defined as above):

the 
$$(\omega_j)$$
 are i.i.d. and  $\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega|^{4\alpha} d\mu(\omega) < \infty$ .

#### 5.2.2 Quenched fluctuations of the empirical flow

We are now in position to state the main result: if we wanted to mimic the quenched convergence result in § 3.3.2, we would say that for almost every choice of the sequence of disorder  $(\omega) \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu)^{\mathbf{N}}$ , the process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law to some process  $\eta$ . This is not true and we have to introduce a weaker notion of quenched convergence. More precisely, for fixed  $(\omega)$ , we may consider  $\mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$ , the law of the process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$ ;  $\mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}'))$ , where  $\mathcal{S}'$  is the usual Schwartz space of tempered distributions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ . We are here interested in the convergence of the random variable  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  in the set  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}')))$ :

**Theorem** (see Theorem 4.4). The sequence  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law in the set  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}'))))$  to the random variable  $\omega \mapsto \mathcal{H}^\omega \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}')))$ , where for all  $\omega$ ,  $\mathcal{H}^\omega$  is the law of the process  $\eta^\omega$  solution in  $\mathcal{S}'$  of the following Ornstein-Uhlenbeck equation:

$$\eta_t^{\omega} = X^{\omega} + \int_0^t \mathcal{L}_s^* \eta_s^{\omega} \,\mathrm{d}s + W_t, \qquad (1.27)$$

where,  $\mathcal{L}_s^*$  is an explicit second order linear differential operator and for all fixed  $\omega$ ,  $X^{\omega}$ is a non-centered Gaussian process<sup>[11]</sup> with explicit covariance and with nontrivial mean value  $C(\omega)$ . As a random variable in  $\omega$ ,  $\omega \mapsto C(\omega)$  is a Gaussian process<sup>[11]</sup> with explicit covariance. Moreover, W is independent on the initial value X.

This weak notion of convergence (in law, *in law with respect to the disorder*) is due to the fact that we work in a quenched model and thus, we do not integrate w.r.t. the disorder.

**Remark 1.10.** Note that a similar *averaged* fluctuation theorem also holds (see Theorem 4.7): in particular, we retrieve the averaged central limit theorem found for the empirical measure found in [27, Th. 4, p. 744].

<sup>[11].</sup> indexed by functions  $\varphi$  on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ .

An important remark is that in the evolution (1.27), the linear operator  $\mathcal{L}_s^*$  is deterministic; the only dependence in  $\omega$  lies in the initial condition  $X^{\omega}$ , through its nontrivial means  $C(\omega)$ . As we will see in Chapter 4 (see also § 6.5.2 in this introduction), the Gaussian process  $C(\cdot)$  is a random object that captures in law the initial asymmetry of the disorder (see (1.36)).

Understanding how the deterministic operator  $\mathcal{L}_s^*$  propagates the initial dependence in  $\omega$  on the whole trajectory is the object of Chapter 5. In that sense, it requires a precise understanding of the spectral properties of  $\mathcal{L}_s^*$ , which appears to be deeply linked to the linear operator in McKean-Vlasov equation (1.18) linearized around its nontrivial stationary solution.

The rest of Chapter 4 is to devoted to the derivation of quenched fluctuation results for the order parameters in the *sine-model*  $r_{N,t}$  and  $\psi_{N,t}$  defined in (1.26) (see Propositions 4.9 and 4.11).

# 6 Non self-averaging phenomenon at the scale of fluctuations

The purpose of Chapter 5 is to understand the asymptotic behavior of the fluctuation process  $\eta$  that we found in Chapter 4.

#### 6.1 Non self-averaging for the limit fluctuation process

A natural question is the following: does the self-averaging phenomenon noticed in the microscopic system also hold for the limit fluctuation process  $\eta$  defined in (1.27)? At least on the basis on numerical simulations (see Figure 1.4), the answer is positive: numerical computations of the trajectories of the limit process of fluctuations  $t \mapsto \eta_t$  clearly show a non self-averaging phenomenon analogous to the one observed in Figure 1.3:  $\eta_t^{\omega}$  not only depends on  $\omega$  through its initial condition  $X^{\omega}$ , but also for all positive time t > 0.

The fact that we are able to find an explicit formulation for the limit process  $\eta$  in terms of a solution of an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck equation in infinite dimension (Theorem 4.4) allows to have a good understanding of the dynamical properties of  $\eta_t$  as  $t \to \infty$ . The study of the non self-averaging phenomenon for the process  $\eta_t$  as  $t \to \infty$  in the *sine-model* is deeply linked with the spectral properties of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_t^*$  which happens to coincide with the linearized Kuramoto operator  $L_{q_t}$  around the solution  $t \mapsto q_t$  to (1.19):

$$\forall \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \\ \mathcal{L}_{t}^{*}h(\theta, \omega) = L_{q_{t}}h(\theta, \omega) = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\theta}^{2}h(\theta, \omega) - \partial_{\theta}\left(h(\theta, \omega)\left(\langle J * q_{t} \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \omega\right) + q_{t}(\theta, \omega)\langle J * h \rangle_{\mu}(\theta)\right).$$

$$(1.28)$$

The spectral analysis of  $L_{q_t}$  enables to study the dependence of  $t \mapsto \eta_t$  on the mean value  $C(\omega)$  of its initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$ . It is worth to note that  $C(\omega)$  precisely captures the fluctuations of the initial disorder (see § 6.5.2). Thus, the key point of this chapter is to understand how different initial conditions in evolution (1.27) may lead to distinct approximately linear trajectories of the fluctuation process. Hence, one has to see (1.27) as a continuous time evolution that models in law the behavior of the fluctuations of the system as  $N \to \infty$ , where the initial fluctuations of the disorder lies in the non-trivial mean value of its initial condition.



Figure 1.4: We plot here the evolution of the process  $\eta_t(\sin)$ , for different realizations of  $\omega$ ; the trajectories are sample-dependent and compatible with the ones observed in Fig 1.3.

#### 6.2 Main hypothesis

For the rest of this chapter, we consider the case where

$$\mu = \frac{1}{2} \left( \delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0} \right), \qquad (1.29)$$

where  $\omega_0 > 0$  is a fixed parameter. This assumption appears to be quite restrictive, but the generalization of the results presented here to other distributions  $\mu$  does not seem straightforward.

We also restrict ourselves to the stationary case, that is where  $q|_{t=0} = q_t$  is equal for all t > 0 to the synchronized (non-trivial) stationary solution q of evolution (1.19). In this case, the object of interest is the stationary version of (1.28), that is

$$Lh(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta}^{2} h(\theta,\omega) - \partial_{\theta} \left( h(\theta,\omega) \left( \langle J * q \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \omega \right) + q(\theta,\omega) \langle J * h \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) \right) .$$
(1.30)

The domain  $\mathcal{D}$  of the operator L is here given by:

$$\mathcal{D} := \left\{ h(\theta, \omega); \, \forall \omega, \theta \mapsto h(\theta, \omega) \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}), \, \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} h(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) = 0 \right\}.$$
(1.31)

We have already encountered the operator L in the different context of the stability on synchronization in Section 4 of this introduction. Note that the domain (1.31) chosen here differs from the one (1.25) chosen in Section 4. Indeed, the key point is to understand that evolution (1.27) does not live in domain (1.25) since the fluctuations of the disorder are precisely captured by the fact that  $\eta$  has a non-trivial mean-value  $C(\omega)$  for fixed  $\omega$ . This choice of domain entails technical complications but the main ideas remain the same as the ones used in Chapter 3: the general theory of perturbations of self-adjoint operators ([51]) and analytic semigroup of operators ([70]) as well as usual techniques about SPDEs in Hilbert spaces ([26]). We make use here of the precise knowledge we have about the same linear operator  $L_{q_0}$  in the case without disorder (see [9]).

# 6.3 Non self-averaging phenomenon for the operator L and existence of a Jordan block

The linear trajectories that depend on the initial condition as observed in Figure 1.4 are reminiscent of an analogous deterministic finite-dimensional example: let us consider the 2-dimensional evolution  $\binom{x'(t)}{y'(t)} = L\binom{x(t)}{y(t)}$ , for  $L = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ . Then it is trivial to see that the solutions of this system are linear in time:  $\frac{x(t)}{t} \to y_0$  as  $t \to \infty$ . This can be easily generalized for matrices  $L \ n \times n$  with spectrum in  $\{\lambda \in \mathbf{C}; \Re(\lambda) \leq 0\}$  such that the Jordan decomposition of L admits a  $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ -block; this is precisely equivalent to the existence of x and y such that Lx = 0 and Ly = x.

The purpose of the first theorem of Chapter 5 is to prove an analogous existence of a Jordan block for the operator L:

**Theorem** (see Theorem 5.7). For any fixed  $\omega_0 > 0$ , if q is the stationary solution in (1.19), then

$$Lq' = 0.$$
 (1.32)

Moreover, there exists  $p \in \mathcal{D}$  such that

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \forall \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \quad Lp(\theta, \omega) = q'(\theta, \omega).$$
(1.33)

In particular, the characteristic space of L in 0 is at least of dimension 2.

Theorem 5.7 is based on a priori estimates on the Dirichlet form associated to the operator L and an extension of Lax-Milgram Theorem.

#### 6.4 Spectral properties of *L* and position of the spectrum

The second goal of Chapter 5 is to prove that, at least for small disorder, L generates an analytic semi-group of operators for an appropriate Sobolev norm, with spectrum confined in the part of the complex plane with negative real part:

**Theorem** (see Theorem 5.9). There exists a space H of distributions such that the operator (L, D) is densely defined, closable, its closed extension having compact resolvent. In particular, its spectrum consists of isolated eigenvalues with finite multiplicities.

Moreover, for all K > 1, for all  $\alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ , there exists  $\omega_{\star} = \omega_{\star}(K, \alpha) > 0$  such that, for all  $0 < \omega_0 < \omega_{\star}$ , the following is true:

– The spectrum of L lies in a cone  $C_{\alpha}$  with vertex 0 and angle  $\alpha$ 

$$C_{\alpha} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \, \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \leqslant \arg(\lambda) \leqslant \frac{3\pi}{2} - \alpha \right\} \subseteq \{ z \in \mathbf{C}; \, \Re(z) \leqslant 0 \} ;$$

- There exists  $\alpha' \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  such that L is the infinitesimal generator of an analytic semi-group defined on a sector  $\Delta_{\alpha'} := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}, |\arg(\lambda)| < \alpha'\};$
- the dimension of the characteristic space in 0 is exactly 2, spanned by q' and p, where p is defined in Theorem 5.7,
- the eigenvalue 0 is at a positive distance from the rest of the spectrum.

#### 6.5 Long time evolution of fluctuations SPDE

#### 6.5.1 Non self-averaging for the fluctuation process

Putting Theorem 5.7 and Theorem 5.9 together, it is easy to see that evolution (1.27) presents a linear behavior, at least where the noise term W is absent. Using standard techniques of analysis of stochastic partial differential equations ([26]), it is possible to prove that adding the disorder does not change much to the linear behavior of the fluctuation process.

Recall in particular Theorem 4.4 in § 5.2.2: the initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$  in (1.27) has a nontrivial mean-value  $C(\omega)$ ; as a function of  $\omega$ , C is a Gaussian process with explicit covariance.

**Theorem** (see Theorem 5.3). Under the hypothesis of Theorem 5.9, there exists a unique weak solution  $\eta_t$  to (1.27) in H. Moreover,  $\eta$  satisfies the following asymptotic linear behavior: for each realization  $C(\omega)$  of the mean value of the initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$ 

$$\frac{\eta_t^{\omega}}{t} \xrightarrow[t \to \infty]{in \ law} v(\omega)q'. \tag{1.34}$$

Moreover, as a function of  $\omega$ ,  $\omega \mapsto v(\omega)$  is a real random variable with Gaussian distribution and with variance

$$\sigma_v^2 := \left(2\int_{\mathbf{S}} p_+(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^{-2},\tag{1.35}$$

where  $p_+(\theta) := p(\theta, \omega_0)$  is defined by (1.33).

#### 6.5.2 Initial asymmetry of the disorder

Let us give an intuition of the random variable v: as seen in Chapter 5, v may be seen as  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} C_+$  where  $C_+$  is the limit in law of the microscopic process  $C_{N,+}$  (indexed by functions  $\varphi : \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{R}$ ) defined by

$$\forall \varphi, \ C_{N,+}(\varphi) := \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi(\cdot) \,\mathrm{d}\gamma\right) \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\mathbb{1}_{(\omega_i = \omega_0)} - \frac{1}{2}\right) := \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi(\cdot) \,\mathrm{d}\gamma\right) \frac{\alpha_N}{\sqrt{N}}.$$
 (1.36)

Here,  $\alpha_N$  is exactly the (centered) number of frequencies among  $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N)$  that are positive, so that  $C_{N,+}$  captures the lack of symmetry of the initial chosen disorder: if  $\alpha_N = 0$ , there are as many positive frequencies as negative frequencies, whereas the case  $\alpha_N > 0$  (resp.  $\alpha_N < 0$ ) represents the case of an asymmetry in favor of positive (resp. negative) frequencies.

In the case of i.i.d. frequencies such as in the hypotheses of Theorem 5.3, one easily retrieves the variance  $\sigma_v^2$  defined in (5.10). Note that we believe that  $\frac{1}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} p_+}$  is in fact equal to  $-\omega_0$ ; this fact is derived from non-rigorous computations and verified by numerical simulations.

**Remark 1.11.** In [6, § 10.2, p. 47], Balmforth and Sassi found on the basis of numerical experiments that if we get rid artificially of the asymmetry between positive frequencies and negative frequencies, the disorder-induced rotation disappears. More precisely, the simulations carried out in [6] are ruled by the following principle: consider a sample of 2N rotators ( $N \ge 1$ ) and pick up at random the frequencies  $\omega_i$  for exactly N rotators. For each of those N frequencies  $\omega_i$ , attribute to one the remaining N rotators the exact

opposite frequency  $-\omega_i$ . For this choice of frequencies, there is no rotation, no matter how the first N frequencies are sampled.

We stress the fact that we retrieve this phenomenon in Theorem 5.3 in the case where the first N rotators are i.i.d. samples of  $\mu = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$ , since in that case  $\alpha_{2N}$  is equally zero for all  $N \ge 1$  and the consequent limit speed v is equally zero in this case.

#### 6.6 Perspectives

#### 6.6.1 Possible generalizations

Moreover, one could hope to generalize the previous results in at least two directions. Firstly, we restrict ourselves to the binary case  $\mu = \frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$ . Note that the proof of Theorem 5.7 concerning the existence of a Jordan block (although written in this particular case for the reader's convenience) is not specific to this restrictive case: one could easily rewrite the same proof in the case of more general distributions  $\mu$  (even with unbounded support), satisfying appropriate integrability conditions in 0 and in  $\infty$ .

The main restriction on  $\mu$  concerns Theorem 5.9: the hypothesis  $\mu = \frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$ is critical for its proof. Secondly, there are some deeper considerations which may prove possible generalizations of Theorem 5.9 to be difficult: indeed, the key argument of the proof is based on the fact that perturbing a finite dimensional kernel of an operator Aby a sufficiently small perturbation B leads to a kernel for the operator A + B with the same finite dimension. But for distributions more general than binary distributions  $\frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$ , the kernel of L is likely to become of infinite dimension, so that those perturbation arguments cannot be applied.

Secondly, Theorem 5.9 is only proved for small disorder  $\omega_0$  whereas one would expect it to be true even for large disorder. It is indeed natural to believe that the non self-averaging phenomenon not only holds for large disorder but would even be more noticeable in that case. However, since Theorem 5.9 relies on perturbation arguments, to prove similar results for large  $\omega_0$  would seem to require alternative methods.

#### 6.6.2 Other possible time scales

More importantly, Theorem 5.3 gives an expression of the speed at which the limit of the fluctuation process  $\eta$  rotates. Since in this thesis, we are only considering time scales of order O(1) (that is for arbitrary but fixed time horizon T), this may not be the right speed of rotation for the finite-size system: on larger time-scales (or order  $O(\sqrt{N})$  say), there may be accumulations of fluctuations which may lead to a different expression of the speed of rotation. Hence, to understand this phenomenon properly, an interesting result would be the study of the rescaled empirical process  $(\nu_{\sqrt{Nt}})_{t,N}$ , as N and t are large. This has not been carried out in the thesis and would be a natural perspective for this work.
# Chapter 2

# Convergences of the empirical measure

#### Contents

1	Intr	roduction	<b>37</b>
	1.1	The Kuramoto model	37
	1.2	Results and plan of the chapter	38
	1.3	Quenched convergence of the empirical flow	39
	1.4	McKean-Vlasov equation	39
<b>2</b>	Set	ting and notations	39
	2.1	Preliminaries on large deviation theory	39
	2.2	Notations	41
	2.3	Averaged LDP in the case of Hamiltonian interaction	41
	2.4	Quenched convergence and self-averaging phenomenon $\hdots$	43
	2.5	Uniqueness in McKean-Vlasov Equation	45
3	Ave	raged large deviation principle of the empirical measure $\ .$	<b>45</b>
	3.1	Expression of Radon-Nykodym derivative	46
	3.2	Averaged LDP: the case with compact support $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	49
	3.3	Averaged LDP: the general case	53
	3.4	Zeros of the rate function $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$	62
	3.5	From averaged large deviation to quenched convergence $\ . \ . \ .$	62
<b>4</b>	$\mathbf{Que}$	enched convergence of the empirical flow $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	63
	4.1	Outline of the proof	63
	4.2	Equation verified by $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$	64
	4.3	Tightness in the vague topology	64
	4.4	Equation satisfied by any accumulation point	65
	4.5	Tightness in the weak topology	66
<b>5</b>	Uni	queness in McKean-Vlasov equation	67

## 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 The Kuramoto model

In this chapter, we address the issue of the behavior as  $N \to \infty$  of the empirical measure  $L_N$  and flow  $\nu_N$  defined in (1.15) and (1.16) respectively, in the general case

where the interaction (rewritten here for the ease of exposition) is given by (1.13):

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N, \ \theta_{i,t} = \xi_i + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \int_0^t b(\theta_{i,s}, \theta_{j,s}, \omega_i, \omega_j) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t c(\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i) \, \mathrm{d}s + B_{i,t}, \ (t \in [0,T]),$$
(2.1)

where the initial conditions  $\xi^i$  are independent and identically distributed with law  $\gamma$ , and independent of the Brownian motion  $(B) = (B_i)_{i \ge 1}$ , and where b (resp. c) is a smooth function,  $2\pi$ -periodic w.r.t. the two first (resp. first) variables. The disorder  $(\omega) = (\omega_i)_{i \ge 1}$  is a realization of i.i.d. random variables with law  $\mu$ .

Note in particular that the results of this chapter are not specific to the *sine-model* (1.1). All that follows will be carried out for general interaction functions b and c, although we will have constantly in mind the *sine-model* (see in particular Remark 2.8 and 2.14). Note also that the dependence of the results stated here on the fact that the diffusion (2.1) live on the *compact* space  $\mathbf{S}^N$  is marginal and could also be stated in the non-compact case of diffusions in  $\mathbf{R}^d$  for some  $d \ge 1$  (see in particular Remarks 2.17 and 2.25).

#### **1.2** Results and plan of the chapter

The main purpose of this chapter is to show the convergence, as  $N \to \infty$ , (heuristically obtained in the physical literature, see [2] and references therein) of the empirical measure  $L_N$  and the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  under certain assumption on the distribution of the disorder  $\mu$  to a time-dependent measure  $(d\nu_t(\theta, \omega))_{t \in [0,T]}$ , whose density w.r.t. Lebesgue measure at time  $t, q_t(\theta, \omega)$  is the solution of a system of deterministic coupled nonlinear partial differential McKean-Vlasov equation (recall (1.17)).

To that purpose, we follow here two strategies:

#### 1.2.1 Averaged large deviation principle:

The first aim of this chapter is to prove a large deviation principle (LDP) for the empirical measure  $L_N$  and the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  in the context of the *averaged model* (see § 2.3). Theorem 2.11 concerns a LDP for  $L_N$  in the case where the interaction is given by a random Hamiltonian under the assumption that the distribution of the disorder  $\mu$  admits exponential moments. The proof of Theorem 2.11, (exposed in Section 3) relies on usual techniques from large deviation theory, whose main results are recalled in § 2.1.

The case where the distribution of the disorder is of compact support is derived from the work of Dai Pra and den Hollander, [27] who proved an analogous large deviation principle for diffusions in  $\mathbf{R}$  in the case of a bounded Hamiltonian. We present in Section 3.2 the techniques involved in the study of the compact support; the fact that we work in  $\mathbf{S}$  instead in  $\mathbf{R}$  entails some technical differences <sup>[1]</sup> from the work of Dai Pra and den Hollander but the main ideas remain the same. The key argument of the proof is the comparison between the i.i.d. case where the interaction term has been removed and the case with the whole interaction, through the calculation of a Radon-Nykodym derivative (§ 3.1). Thus, one can see the law of the empirical measure as an exponential transformation of the i.i.d. case without interaction (§ 3.2) and Sanov's theorem and Varadhan's lemma leads to conclusion.

But, when the disorder is not bounded, the functional involved in Varadhan's lemma is not bounded nor even well-defined. This case requires a specific proof (see § 3.3). The idea here is to apply the results of § 3.2 to the distribution  $\mu(\cdot|[-M, M])$ , that is the

<sup>[1].</sup> See in particular Remark 2.25 in Section 3.

law  $\mu$  conditioned on an arbitrary compact interval [-M, M], and then make  $M \to \infty$ . The techniques used here are derived from the notion of *exponential approximations* of measures, developed in [29].

#### 1.3 Quenched convergence of the empirical flow

One of the drawbacks of the previous results is that they are stated in the framework of the *averaged model*, (although one can derive from the large deviation estimates a *quenched convergence* result, using Borel-Cantelli techniques, see Proposition 2.13). More importantly, one could hope to prove a similar convergence result, under less restrictive assumptions on the law of the disorder than the existence of exponentials moments for  $\mu$ , required for the proof of Theorem 2.11.

The rest of the chapter is dedicated to state a direct proof of convergence (Section 4) of the empirical flow: the purpose of Theorem 2.16 is to show the convergence of the sequence  $(\nu_N)_{N \ge 1}$ , under weaker assumption on  $\mu$   $(\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega| d\mu(\omega) < \infty)$ , via a tightness argument in the space  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  of càdlàg functions in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ . We insist on the fact that the convergence is here considered when the sequence of disorder is fixed (quenched model).

As already mentioned in the introduction, this result illustrates in particular the *self-averaging* character of the diffusions we study here. Due to the mean-field character of the system, its large N-limit (at least at the scale of the law of large numbers) is independent of any typical choice of the initial choice of the disorder ( $\omega$ ). We will go back to this phenomenon when we will come to the study of the fluctuations around this deterministic limit in Chapter 4.

#### 1.4 McKean-Vlasov equation

In the large deviation set-up as well as in the quenched convergence result, the main conclusion is that both  $L_N$  and  $\nu_N$  concentrates around the solution of a deterministic system of partial differential equations (McKean-Vlasov equation (2.11)). We conclude this chapter by stating a result (Proposition 2.20) of uniqueness of any possible solution to this system, which effectively proves the convergence of  $L_N$  or  $\nu_N$  to this solution.

The McKean-Vlasov equation (2.11) will be our main object of interest in Chapter 3.

#### 2 Setting and notations

#### 2.1 Preliminaries on large deviation theory

We recall here the main definitions and results on large deviation theory that will be of constant use for the proof of the large deviation principle of the empirical measure  $L_N$  (Theorem 2.11) which is the first main result of this chapter. We refer to classical references on the subject, e.g. [20] or [29].

Let  $\mathcal{X}$  be a regular topological space ([29, § 4.1, p. 116]) endowed with a regular  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{B}$ .

#### 2.1.1 Large deviation principle

**Definition 2.1** (Rate function, [29], § 1.2, p. 4). A rate function I is a lower semi-continuous mapping  $I : \mathcal{X} \to [0, \infty]$  such that the level set  $\Psi_I(\alpha) := \{x \in \mathcal{X}; I(x) \leq \alpha\}$  is

closed for all  $\alpha \in [0, \infty)$ . A good rate function is a rate function for which all the level sets  $\Psi_I(\alpha)$  are compact subset of  $\mathcal{X}$ .

Let  $(\rho_N)_{N \ge 1}$  be a sequence of probability measures on  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B})$ .

**Definition 2.2** (Large deviation principle). The sequence  $(\rho_N)_{N \ge 1}$  satisfies the large deviation principle in  $\mathcal{X}$ , at speed N, with rate function I if for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ ,

$$-\inf_{x\in \mathring{A}}I(x)\leqslant \liminf_{N\to\infty}\frac{1}{N}\ln\rho_N(A)\leqslant \limsup_{N\to\infty}\frac{1}{N}\ln\rho_N(A)\leqslant -\inf_{x\in \overline{A}}I(x).$$

**Proposition 2.3** (Contraction principle, [29], Th. 4.2.1, p. 126). Let  $\mathcal{X}$  and  $\mathcal{Y}$  be regular topological spaces,  $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$  a continuous function and  $I : \mathcal{X} \to [0, \infty]$  a good rate function. For each  $y \in \mathcal{Y}$  define

$$I'(y) := \inf \{I(x); x \in \mathcal{X}, y = f(x)\}$$

Then I' is a good rate function on  $\mathcal{Y}$  and if a sequence of probabilities  $(\rho_N)$  on  $\mathcal{X}$  satisfies a LDP for the good rate function I, then the sequence of probabilities  $(\rho_N \circ f^{-1})$  satisfies a LDP for the good rate function I'.

**Proposition 2.4** (Varadhan's lemma, [29], Th. 4.3.1, p. 137). If  $(\rho_N)_{N \ge 1}$  satisfies a large deviation principle with speed N, governed by the good rate function I, then for any bounded continuous function  $F : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbf{R}$ , we have

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \int_{\mathcal{X}} e^{NF(x)} \,\mathrm{d}\rho_N(x) = \sup_{x \in X} (F(x) - I(x)).$$

**Proposition 2.5** ([29], p. 140). If  $(\rho_N)_{N \ge 1}$  satisfies a large deviation principle with speed N, governed by the good rate function I, and  $F : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbf{R}$  is a bounded continuous function, then the sequence  $(\tau_N)_{N \ge 1}$  defined by:

$$\forall A \in \mathcal{B}, \tau_N(A) := \frac{\int_A e^{NF} \,\mathrm{d}\rho_N}{\int_{\mathcal{X}} e^{NF} \,\mathrm{d}\rho_N},$$

satisfies a large deviation principle with speed N, governed by the good rate J:

$$J: x \mapsto I(x) - F(x) - \inf_{y \in X} \left( I(y) - F(y) \right)$$

#### 2.1.2 Sanov's Theorem

Let  $\Sigma$  a Polish space and endow  $\mathcal{X} := \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  with the  $\tau$ -topology (that is the coarsest topology on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  such that the evaluations  $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma) \mapsto \int \varphi \, d\nu$  are continuous,  $\varphi$  being measurable and bounded) and with the cylinder  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{B}^*$  (that is the smallest  $\sigma$ -field that makes the previous evaluations measurable).

Define also on  $\mathcal{X}$  the relative entropy of two elements  $\nu$ ,  $\tilde{\nu}$ :

**Definition 2.6.** We define the *relative entropy* of  $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  with respect to  $\tilde{\nu} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  by

$$\mathcal{H}(\nu|\tilde{\nu}) := \begin{cases} \int_{\Sigma} \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\nu}} \ln\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\nu}}\right) \,\mathrm{d}\tilde{\nu} & \text{if } \nu \ll \tilde{\nu}, \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

where in the case where  $\nu$  is absolutely continuous w.r.t.  $\tilde{\nu} \ (\nu \ll \tilde{\nu}), \frac{d\nu}{d\tilde{\nu}}$  stands for the Radon-Nykodym derivative of  $\nu$  w.r.t.  $\tilde{\nu}$ .

We are in position to state Sanov's Theorem concerning empirical measures of i.i.d. random variables in  $\Sigma$ :

**Proposition 2.7** (Sanov's theorem, [29], Th.6.2.10, p. 263). If  $(Y_i)_{i \ge 1}$  is an *i.i.d.* sequence in  $\Sigma$  with law  $p_Y$ , then the empirical measures  $L_N^Y := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{Y_i} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  satisfy a large deviation principle in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  in the  $\tau$ -topology (and also in the weak topology) at speed N, for the good rate function  $\mathcal{H}(\cdot|p_Y)$ .

#### 2.2 Notations

Let Y Polish space, with a regular  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{B}$ . In this chapter, a constant use will be made of the following notations:

- $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$ : the set of probability measures on Y,
- $(\mathcal{M}_1(Y), \tau)$ :  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  endowed with the  $\tau$ -topology, namely the coarsest topology on  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  such that the evaluations  $\mu \mapsto \int \varphi \, d\mu$  are continuous,  $\varphi$  being measurable and bounded,
- $(\mathcal{M}_1(Y), w)$ :  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  endowed with the topology of weak convergence, namely the coarsest topology on  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  such that the evaluations  $\mu \mapsto \int \varphi \, d\mu$  are continuous, where  $\varphi$  are bounded continuous,
- $(\mathcal{M}_1(Y), v)$ :  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  endowed with the topology of vague convergence, namely the coarsest topology on  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  such that the evaluations  $\mu \mapsto \int \varphi \, d\mu$  are continuous, where  $\varphi$  are continuous with compact support.

Note that we have the following comparison of the previous topologies

$$v \subseteq w \subseteq \tau$$

We will also denote the set of finite measures on Y by  $\mathcal{M}_F(Y)$ . What is more, we will use the following:

- if X is a metric space,  $\mathcal{B}_X$  will be its Borel  $\sigma$ -field,
- $C_b(X)$  (resp.  $C_b^p(X)$ ,  $p = 1, ..., \infty$ ), the set of bounded continuous functions (resp. bounded continuous with bounded continuous derivatives up to order p) on X, (X will be often  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ ),
- $C_c(X)$  (resp.  $C_c^p(X)$ ,  $p = 1, ..., \infty$ ), the set of continuous functions with compact support (resp. continuous with compact support with continuous derivatives up to order p) on X,
- $\mathbf{D}([0,T], X)$ , the set of right-continuous with left limits functions with values on X, endowed with the Skorokhod topology,

Throughout this chapter,  $\Sigma$  and  $\Sigma_N$  will be the shorthands for

$$\Sigma := \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R},$$
  
$$\Sigma_N := \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}^N) \times \mathbf{R}^N.$$

We will use C as a constant which may change from a line to another.

#### 2.3 Averaged large deviation principle in the case of Hamiltonian interaction

The main goal of this part is to state a large deviation principle for the empirical measure  $L_N$  defined in (1.15) in the case where the Kuramoto interaction is given by a random Hamiltonian. Namely, we define, for  $\underline{\theta} = (\theta_1, \dots, \theta_N) \in \mathbf{S}^N$ , and  $\underline{\omega} = (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_N) \in \mathbf{R}^N$ ,

$$H_N(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}) := \frac{1}{2N} \sum_{i,j=1}^N f(\theta_j - \theta_i, \omega_i, \omega_j) + \sum_{i=1}^N g(\theta_i, \omega_i), \qquad (2.3)$$

$$:= H_N^f(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}) + H_N^g(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}).$$
(2.4)

where f and g satisfy the following assumptions:

- $-(\theta, \omega, \omega') \mapsto f(\theta, \omega, \omega')$  is a bounded continuous function on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}^2$ , twice differentiable w.r.t. the first component  $\theta$  with bounded derivatives (with bounds uniform in  $\omega, \omega'$ ),
- $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto g(\theta, \omega)$  is a continuous function on  $\mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}$ , twice differentiable w.r.t. the first component, such that  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto g''(\theta, \omega)$  is bounded on  $\mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}$ ,
- Even symmetry of f:

$$\forall (\theta, \omega, \omega') \in \mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}^2, \quad f(\theta, \omega, \omega') = f(-\theta, \omega', \omega).$$
(2.5)

The hypothesis made on  $\mu$  for the large deviation result (Theorem 2.11) is the following:

$$\forall t > 0, \ \int_{\mathbf{R}} e^{t|\omega|} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) < \infty.$$
(2.6)

In that case, the Kuramoto dynamics is given by the system of N stochastic differential equations:

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N, \quad \mathrm{d}\theta_{i,t} = -\partial_{\theta_i} H_N(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}) \,\mathrm{d}t + \,\mathrm{d}B_{i,t}, \tag{2.7}$$

**Remark 2.8.** Note that the *sine-model* (1.1) corresponds to the choice of  $f(\theta, \omega, \omega') = -K\cos(\theta)$  and  $g(\theta, \omega) = -\theta\omega$ . In particular, it is important to notice that we do not assume that g is bounded *uniformly in*  $\omega$ , since the *sine-model* precisely concerns a function g that is not uniformly bounded for general distribution of the disorder.

**Remark 2.9.** Although the natural space in where to consider rotators in the Kuramoto model is **S** (or **S**<sup>N</sup>), the solution to (2.7) lives, strictly speaking, in **R**<sup>N</sup>. In particular, we point out the fact that in the *sine-model*, one cannot make sense of  $g(\theta, \omega) = -\theta \omega$  as an element of  $C(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ . To avoid such artificial difficulties, it will be more convenient to treat firstly the diffusion (2.7) as an element of **R**<sup>N</sup> and then project on **S**<sup>N</sup>. But the results presented here are valid in the compact case **S** as well as in the case **R**.

**Remark 2.10.** Note that the symmetry assumption (2.5) is not restrictive at all since in the general case, one can always replace an arbitrary function f by  $(\theta, \omega, \omega') \mapsto \frac{1}{2}(f(\theta, \omega, \omega') + f(-\theta, \omega', \omega))$  without changing the Hamiltonian (2.3).

The aim of Section 3 is to prove a large deviation principle for the empirical measure  $L_N$  (recall that  $\Sigma = C([0, T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}$ ):

**Theorem 2.11** (Averaged LDP). Under (2.6), the law of the empirical measure  $L_N$  under the joint law of oscillators and disorder, satisfies a strong large deviation principle in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , at speed N, for the topology of weak convergence, governed by a good rate function  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{G}(Q)$ , whose zeros  $Q^*(\mathrm{d}\theta, \mathrm{d}\omega) \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  satisfies the following weak McKean-Vlasov equation (where  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto \varphi(\theta, \omega)$  is any continuous bounded on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ , twice differentiable w.r.t. the first variable  $\theta$ , with bounded derivatives):

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi \,\mathrm{d}Q_t^* = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi \,\mathrm{d}Q_0^* + \int_0^t \,\mathrm{d}s \bigg\{ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi'' \,\mathrm{d}Q_s^* + \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi' \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} f'(\theta' - \cdot, \cdot, \omega') \,\mathrm{d}Q_s^*(\theta', \omega') - g' \right) \,\mathrm{d}Q_s^* \bigg\}.$$
(2.8)

Equation (2.8) is a disordered version of a weak formulation of a McKean-Vlasov equation, that is a system of coupled nonlinear and nonlocal partial differential equations, which will be studied extensively in Chapter 3. As already mentioned in the introduction, McKean-Vlasov equations are well-known mathematical objects that naturally appear as deterministic limits of mean-field models (recall § 2.2.1, p. 17).

In § 2.5, we will see in fact that any solution to (2.8) is unique, so that the rate function  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  has a unique zero  $Q^*$ , which solves (2.8). In particular, a standard result of large deviation shows the following proposition:

**Proposition 2.12** (Averaged convergence of  $L_N$ ). Under (2.6), the law of the empirical measure  $L_N$  under the joint law of oscillators and disorder converges weakly to  $\delta_{Q^*}$  where  $Q^*$  is the unique solution of McKean-Vlasov equation (2.8).

The previous result is averaged. With a bit more work, using Borel Cantelli techniques, one can derive from the large deviation principle a quenched convergence result:

**Proposition 2.13** (Quenched convergence of  $L_N$ ). Under (2.6), for  $\mathbb{P} = \mu^{\otimes \mathbf{N}}$ -almostevery choice of a sequence of disorder ( $\omega$ ), the law of the empirical measure  $L_N$  under the law of oscillators converges weakly to  $\delta_{Q^*}$  where  $Q^*$  is the unique solution of McKean-Vlasov equation (2.8).

#### 2.4 Quenched convergence of the empirical flow and self-averaging phenomenon

#### 2.4.1 The model

Theorem 2.11 states an averaged large deviation principle, that is to say when the law of the empirical measure  $L_N$  is considered under the joint law of both oscillators and disorder. The model studied now, which is more interesting as far as the biological applications are concerned, is quenched: for a fixed realization of the disorder  $(\omega) = (\omega_i)_{i \ge 1}$ , do we have the convergence of the empirical flow  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$ ? The answer to this question is affirmative and will be established under weaker assumptions on the moments of the disorder than the exponential moments previously supposed in (2.6).

Moreover, we no longer assume that the interaction between the rotators derives from a Hamiltonian: the quenched convergence result is establish in the case of the random interaction (2.1) which is more general than the Hamiltonian case (2.7).

**Remark 2.14.** This situation is more general than the framework for the large deviation results in § 2.3: indeed, if one chooses  $b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') = -f'(\theta' - \theta, \omega, \omega')$  and  $c(\theta, \omega) = -g'(\theta, \omega)$ , one retrieves the hypothesis made in § 2.3.

Once again, instead of considering  $\theta_i$  as elements of **R**, we will consider their projection on **S**. For simplicity, we will keep the same notation  $\theta_i$  for this projection <sup>[2]</sup>.

#### 2.4.2 Main results

**Main hypothesis:** We consider here the general case where  $(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') \mapsto b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega')$ is bounded, Lipschitz-continuous, and  $2\pi$ -periodic w.r.t. the two first variables.  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto c(\theta, \omega)$  is assumed to be Lipschitz-continuous w.r.t. its first variable, but not necessarily bounded (see the *sine-model*, where  $c(\theta, \omega) = \omega$ ). We also suppose that the function

<sup>[2].</sup> See Remark 2.17 for possible generalizations to the non-compact case.

 $\omega \mapsto S(\omega) := \sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}} |c(\theta, \omega)|$  is continuous (this is in particular true if c is uniformly continuous w.r.t. to both variables  $(\theta, \omega)$ , and obvious in the *sine-model* where  $S(\omega) = |\omega|$ ). The Lipschitz bounds for b and c are supposed to be uniform in  $\omega$ .

The disorder  $(\omega)$  is assumed to be a sequence of identically distributed random variables (but not necessarily independent), such that the law of each  $\omega_i$  is  $\mu$ . We suppose that the sequence  $(\omega)$  satisfies the following property: for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence  $(\omega)$ ,

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\sup_{\theta\in\mathbf{S}}|c(\theta,\omega_i)|\to_{N\to\infty}\int\sup_{\theta\in\mathbf{S}}|c(\theta,\omega)|\,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega)<\infty.$$
(2.9)

We make the following hypothesis on the initial empirical measure:

For 
$$\mathbb{P} - a.e.$$
 ( $\omega$ ),  $\nu_{N,0}^{(\omega)} \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} \nu_0$ , in law, in  $(\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), w)$ . (2.10)

Note that, under (2.10), the second marginal of  $\nu_0$  is necessarily  $\mu$ .

**Remark 2.15.** The required hypotheses about the disorder and the initial conditions are weaker than for the large deviation principle:

- the (identically distributed) variables  $(\omega_i)$  need not be independent: we simply need a law of large numbers only concerning the function  $\omega \mapsto \sup_{\mathbf{S}} |c(\cdot, \omega)|$ ; the hypothesis (2.9) is verified, for example, in the case of i.i.d. random variables, or in the case of an ergodic stationary Markov process.
- Condition (2.9) is weaker than (2.6) on page 42; for the *sine-model*, (2.9) reduces to  $\left[\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega| d\mu(\omega) < \infty\right],$
- the initial values need not be independent, we only assume a convergence of their empirical measure.

In Section 4, we show the following:

**Theorem 2.16.** Under the hypothesis (2.9) and (2.10), for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence  $(\omega)$ , the random variable  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  is tight in the space  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), w))$ , and each accumulation point  $\nu$  is the solution of the following weak equation (for every  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto \varphi(\theta, \omega)$  continuous bounded on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ , twice differentiable w.r.t. the first variable  $\theta$ , with bounded derivatives):

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi \,\mathrm{d}\nu_t = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi \,\mathrm{d}\nu_0 + \int_0^t \,\mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\varphi'' + \varphi'(b[\cdot,\cdot,\nu_s]+c)\right) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_s,\tag{2.11}$$

where

$$b[\theta, \omega, m] = \int b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') \,\mathrm{d}m(\theta', \omega').$$

Moreover, under the same hypotheses, the law of  $\nu_N$  under the joint law of the oscillators and disorder (averaged model) is also tight in the same space and its accumulations points are also solutions to (2.11).

**Remark 2.17** (Generalization to the non-compact case). The assumption that the state variables are in **S**, although motivated by the Kuramoto model, is not absolutely essential: Theorem 2.16 still holds in the non-compact case (e.g. when  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$  is replaced by  $x \in \mathbf{R}^d$ ), under the additional assumptions of boundedness of  $x \mapsto |c(x,\omega)|$  and the first finite moment of the initial condition:  $\int_{\mathbf{R}} |x| \, d\gamma(x) < \infty$ .

#### 2.4.3 Self-averaging phenomenon

Equation (2.11) is the analogue, in a more general set-up, of the weak McKean-Vlasov equation established in (2.8). As already said in § 2.3, we will prove in fact that such solution to (2.11) is unique. Since a tight family of measures with a unique accumulation point actually converges, the following proposition is straightforward:

**Proposition 2.18** (Quenched convergence of  $\nu_N$ ). Under the hypothesis (2.10) and (2.9), for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence ( $\omega$ ), the random variable  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in the space of càdlàg trajectories  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), w))$  to the unique solution  $\nu$  of (2.11).

**Remark 2.19.** We insist on the fact that the above convergence is true for almost every realization of the disorder  $(\omega)$ : each typical choice of the sequence of frequencies  $(\omega_i)_{i \ge 1}$  for the oscillators  $(\theta_i)_{i \ge 1}$  leads to the same evolution in the large N limit, and this evolution does not depend on this choice of initial frequencies.

#### 2.5 Uniqueness in McKean-Vlasov Equation

The last main result of this chapter concerns uniqueness of the solution to the weak formulations of McKean-Vlasov equation (2.8) and (2.11). Since the set-up in § 2.4 is more general than the one studied in § 2.3 (recall Remark 2.14), we place ourselves in the framework of § 2.4.

**Proposition 2.20** (Uniqueness in McKean-Vlasov equation). Fix any initial condition  $\nu_0 \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  with second marginal (on the disorder  $\omega \in \mathbf{R}$ ) equal to  $\mu$ . Then there is a unique solution  $\nu \in \mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), w))$  to the weak McKean-Vlasov equation (2.11).

**Remark 2.21.** As already mentioned, an immediate corollary of Proposition 2.20 is, in the case of the large deviation principle (§ 2.3), the averaged convergence of the empirical measure  $L_N$  (Proposition 2.12) and in the quenched set-up (§ 2.4), the quenched convergence of the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  (Proposition 2.18).

The proof of Proposition 2.20 is a generalization of a work by Oelschläger [67] who proved similar uniqueness for McKean-Vlasov equation, for interacting diffusions without disorder. Another proof of uniqueness can be found in [27] (via heat kernel estimations under some regularity assumptions on the initial condition) or in [38] via a martingale argument.

## 3 Averaged large deviation principle of the empirical measure

We now turn to the proof of the large deviation result, that is Theorem 2.11.

Equation (2.7) can be rewritten in a more compact form, (recall that we suppose for a moment that  $\underline{\theta} \in \mathbf{R}^N$  instead of  $\mathbf{S}^N$ ):

$$\mathrm{d}\underline{\theta_t} = -\nabla H_N(\underline{\theta_t}, \underline{\omega}) \,\mathrm{d}t + \,\mathrm{d}\underline{B_t},\tag{2.12}$$

where <u>B</u> stands for  $(B_1, \ldots, B_N)$ . We endow (2.12) with the following initial condition:

$$\underline{\theta}_0 \sim \gamma^N, \tag{2.13}$$

where  $\gamma$  is a probability law on **R**.

Under the assumptions made on f and g, the system (2.12)–(2.13) has a unique (strong) solution. For fixed  $\underline{\omega}$ , we denote by  $P_N^{\underline{\omega}} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{R}^N))$  the (unique) law of any solution  $\underline{\theta}$  to (2.12)–(2.13).

#### 3.1 Expression of Radon-Nykodym derivative

The idea of the proof is to compare the diffusion with interaction (2.12) with the case where the interaction term  $-\nabla H_N^f dt$  (recall (2.4)) is removed. Namely, we introduce the diffusion without interaction (2.14):

$$\mathrm{d}\underline{\theta_t} = -\nabla H_N^g(\underline{\theta_t}, \underline{\omega}) \,\mathrm{d}t + \,\mathrm{d}\underline{B_t}.$$
(2.14)

From the definition (2.4) of  $H_N^g$ , it is straightforward to see that the solution to (2.14)  $\underline{\theta} = (\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_N)$  consists of *independent*<sup>[3]</sup> diffusions  $\theta_i$  each of them solution to  $d\theta_i = -g'(\theta_i, \omega_i) dt + dB_{i,t}$ . We denote  $W_N^{\underline{\omega}} = W^{\omega_1} \times \cdots \times W^{\omega_N}$ , the law of any solution to (2.14).

Although for a *fixed* choice of  $\underline{\omega}$ , the rotators  $(\theta_i)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  in (2.14) are not identically distributed, if we consider the sequence of *couples*  $(\theta_i, \omega_i)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$ , it is easily seen from (2.14) that it is indeed a sequence of independent and identically distributed random variables in  $\mathcal{C}([0, T], \mathbf{R}) \times \mathbf{R}$  with law  $(W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)$  defined by:

$$(W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)(A, B) := \int_{B} \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) W^{\omega}(A), \qquad (2.15)$$

where A is a Borel set of  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{R})$  and B is a Borel set of **R**. In that case, Sanov's theorem (Proposition 2.7) provides us with a large deviation principle for the empirical measure governed by the entropy  $\mathcal{H}(\cdot|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)$ .

With whole interaction, we are able via Girsanov's theorem to express the law of the empirical measure as an exponential transformation of the law without interaction. Varadhan's lemma (Proposition 2.4) and Proposition 2.5 lead to conclusion.

#### 3.1.1 Application of Girsanov's theorem

We need first to compute the Radon-Nykodym derivative between the case with both interaction and disorder (2.12) and the case without interaction (2.14):

**Lemma 2.22.** For a given disorder  $\underline{\omega}$  and a fixed sequence of Brownian motions  $\underline{B}$ , if  $\mathcal{F}_t = \sigma(B_s, s \leq t)$  is the filtration generated by the Brownian motion  $\underline{B}$ , then

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}P_{N}^{\omega}}{\mathrm{d}W_{N}^{\omega}|\mathcal{F}_{t}} = \exp\left(H_{N}^{f}(\underline{\theta}_{0},\underline{\omega}) - H_{N}^{f}(\underline{\theta}_{t},\underline{\omega}) + \int_{0}^{t} \nabla H_{N}^{f}(\underline{\theta}_{s},\underline{\omega}) \cdot \nabla H_{N}^{g}(\underline{\theta}_{s},\underline{\omega}) \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\int_{0}^{t} \partial_{\theta_{i}}^{2}H_{N}^{f}(\underline{\theta}_{s},\underline{\omega}) \,\mathrm{d}s - \frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{t} \left\| \nabla H_{N}^{f}(\underline{\theta}_{s},\underline{\omega}) \,\right\|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \right).$$
(2.16)

**Remark 2.23.** Note that the Radon-Nykodym derivative is not the same as the one calculated in [27] (see Remark 2.25).

<sup>[3].</sup> but not identically distributed since the  $\omega_i$  are different.

Proof of Lemma 2.22. Let us fix  $\underline{\omega}$  and  $\underline{B}$  and consider  $\underline{\theta}$  the unique solution to (2.14). For all  $0 \leq t \leq T$ , set

$$M_t := \int_0^t -\nabla H_N^f(\underline{\theta_s}).\,\mathrm{d}\underline{B_s}$$

Thanks to the assumptions made on f, we see that the Novikov Condition ([50, Cor. 5.13, p. 199]) is satisfied so that  $\mathcal{E}(M)_t := \exp\left(M_t - \frac{1}{2}\langle M, M\rangle_t\right)$  is a martingale. We can define  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{R}^N))$  by  $\frac{\mathrm{d}Q}{\mathrm{d}W_N^{\omega}}|_{\mathcal{F}_t} := \exp\left(M_t - \frac{1}{2}\langle M, M\rangle_t\right)$ . Applying Girsanov's theorem (cf. [50, Th. 5.1, p. 191]), we have under Q

$$\underline{\tilde{B}_t} := \underline{B_t} + \int_0^t \nabla H_N^f(\underline{\theta_s}) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

is a Brownian motion. Consequently,  $(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\tilde{B}})$  is a weak solution to (2.12). By uniqueness in law,  $Q = P_N^{\underline{\omega}}$ .

It thus remains to compute  $\mathcal{E}(M)_t$  in terms of the Hamiltonian  $H_N$ . Considering that, under  $W_{\overline{N}}^{\underline{\omega}}$ ,  $\mathrm{d}\underline{B}_t = \mathrm{d}\underline{\theta}_t + \nabla H_N^g(\underline{\theta}_t, \underline{\omega}) \mathrm{d}t$ :

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}P_{N}^{\omega}}{\mathrm{d}W_{N}^{\omega}|_{\mathcal{F}_{t}}} = \exp\left(-\int_{0}^{t} \nabla H_{N}^{f}(\underline{\theta}_{s}).\,\mathrm{d}\underline{B}_{s} - \frac{1}{2}\,\langle M\,,\,M\rangle_{t}\right),\\ = \exp\left(-\int_{0}^{t} \nabla H_{N}^{f}(\underline{\theta}_{s}).\,\mathrm{d}\underline{\theta}_{s} - \int_{0}^{t} \nabla H_{N}^{f}(\underline{\theta}_{s}).\nabla H_{N}^{g}(\underline{\theta}_{s},\underline{\omega})\,\mathrm{d}s - \frac{1}{2}\,\langle M\,,\,M\rangle_{t}\right).$$

Applying Ito's formula to the function  $H_N$ , we get:

$$\int_0^t \nabla H_N^f(\underline{\theta_s},\underline{\omega}).\,\mathrm{d}\underline{\theta_s} = H_N^f(\theta_t,\underline{\omega}) - H_N^f(\theta_0,\underline{\omega}) - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^N \int_0^t \partial_{\theta_i}^2 H_N^f(\underline{\theta_s},\underline{\omega})\,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Finally, a calculation shows that:

$$\langle M, M \rangle_t = \int_0^t \left\| \nabla H_N^f(\underline{\theta_s}) \right\|^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

That concludes the proof of Lemma 2.22.

#### **3.1.2** Expression in terms of the empirical measure $L_N$

We can express the previous Radon-Nykodym derivative in terms of the empirical measure  $L_N$  defined in (1.15):

#### Proposition 2.24.

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}P_N^{\omega}}{\mathrm{d}W_N^{\omega}} = \exp\left(N\mathcal{J}(L_N) - \mathcal{K}(L_N)\right),\tag{2.17}$$

where, for  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathbf{R}) \times \mathbf{R})$ ,

$$\mathcal{K}(Q) := \frac{1}{2} \int dQ(\theta, \omega) f''(0, \omega, \omega), \qquad (2.18)$$

$$\mathcal{J}(Q) = \mathcal{J}_1(Q) + \mathcal{J}_2(Q) + \mathcal{J}_3(Q) + \mathcal{J}_4(Q), \qquad (2.19)$$

where,

$$\mathcal{J}_{1}(Q) = \frac{1}{2} \int dQ(\theta, \omega) \int dQ(\theta, \omega') \left[ f(\theta_{0} - \theta'_{0}, \omega, \omega') - f(\theta_{T} - \theta'_{T}, \omega, \omega') \right]$$
$$\mathcal{J}_{2}(Q) = \int_{0}^{T} ds \int dQ(\theta, \omega) \int dQ(\theta', \omega') f'(\theta_{s} - \theta'_{s}, \omega, \omega') g'(\theta_{s}, \omega),$$
$$\mathcal{J}_{3}(Q) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} ds \int dQ(\theta, \omega) \int dQ(\theta', \omega') f''(\theta_{s} - \theta'_{s}, \omega, \omega'),$$
$$\mathcal{J}_{4}(Q) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} ds \int dQ(\theta, \omega) \left( \int dQ(\theta', \omega') f'(\theta_{s} - \theta'_{s}, \omega, \omega') \right)^{2}.$$

Proof of Proposition 2.24. A straightforward calculation yields:

$$\forall i \in \{1, \dots, N\}, \quad \partial_{\theta_i} H_N^f = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N f'(\theta_i - \theta_j, \omega_i, \omega_j),$$
$$\partial_{\theta_i} H_N^g = g'(\theta_i, \omega_i),$$

and,

$$\forall i \in \{1, \dots, N\}, \quad \partial_{\theta_i}^2 H_N^f = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N f''(\theta_i - \theta_j, \omega_i, \omega_j) - \frac{1}{N} f''(0, \omega_i, \omega_i).$$

Proposition 2.24 is then simply a reformulation of (2.16) in terms of the empirical measure.

#### 3.1.3 The Radon-Nykodym derivative on S

Proposition 2.24 is stated in the context of rotators  $\theta_i$  in **R**. The aim of this paragraph is to show that we can derive the same expression as (2.17) for the projections of the rotators on **S**. In that purpose, let us introduce some temporary notations: we define  $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}$ (resp.  $\tilde{\mathcal{K}}$ ), functional on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R})$ , having the same expression than  $\mathcal{J}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{K}$ ) defined on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{R}) \times \mathbf{R})$  in Prop. 2.24. Moreover, let us temporarily make the distinction between the empirical measure  $L_N \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{R}) \times \mathbf{R})$  for the rotators  $(\theta_i)$  in **R** and  $\tilde{L}_N \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R})$  for their projections  $(\tilde{\theta}_i)$  on **S**.

Thanks to (2.19) and (2.18), it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{J}(L_N) = \tilde{\mathcal{J}}(\tilde{L}_N)$  and  $\mathcal{K}(L_N) = \tilde{\mathcal{K}}(\tilde{L}_N)$ . Consequently, it is immediate to see that the same expression as (2.17) is valid for the laws  $\tilde{P}_N^{\underline{\omega}}$  and  $\tilde{W}_N^{\underline{\omega}}$  for the oscillators  $(\tilde{\theta}_i)$  in **S**:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{P}_{N}^{\omega}}{\mathrm{d}\tilde{W}_{N}^{\omega}} = \exp\left(N\tilde{\mathcal{J}}(\tilde{L}_{N}) - \tilde{\mathcal{K}}(\tilde{L}_{N})\right).$$

From now, for simplicity of notations, we will drop the tilde notations, considering all oscillators as elements of S.

**Remark 2.25.** We could wonder why we haven't compared  $P_N^{\omega}$  with the law  $W_N$  of N independent Brownian motions (that is the system  $d\theta_t = dB_t$ , i.e. the system (2.12) where both the interaction term  $-\nabla H_N^f$  and the disorder term  $-\nabla H_N^g$  have been removed), as it is done in the case of bounded functions f and g in [27]. The same calculation

gives rise to another functional  $\mathcal{I}(\cdot)$  in place of  $\mathcal{J}(\cdot)$ , which can be written as  $\mathcal{I}(Q) = \mathcal{I}_1(Q) + \mathcal{I}_2(Q) + \mathcal{I}_3(Q)$ , where,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_1(Q) &= -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^T \mathrm{d}s \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta, \omega) \left( \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta', \omega') f'(\theta'_s - \theta_s, \omega, \omega') + g'(\theta_s, \omega) \right)^2, \\ \mathcal{I}_2(Q) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_0^T \mathrm{d}s \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta, \omega) \left( \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta', \omega') f''(\theta'_s - \theta_s, \omega, \omega') \right) + g''(\theta_s, \omega), \\ \mathcal{I}_3(Q) &= \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta, \omega) \Big\{ -\frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta', \omega') \left[ f(\theta_T - \theta'_T, \omega, \omega') - f(x_0 - \theta'_0, \omega, \omega') \right] \\ &- \left( g(\theta_T, \omega) - g(\theta_0, \omega) \right) \Big\}. \end{split}$$

Recall that we have in mind the case of the sine-model where  $g(\theta, \omega) = -\theta\omega$ . In that case, even if the disorder is bounded, the term  $g(\theta_T, \omega) - g(\theta_0, \omega)$  in the expression of  $\mathcal{I}_3(Q)$  may not be bounded in  $\theta$  (in the model in  $\mathbf{R}$ ), and furthermore we do not have  $\mathcal{I}(L_N) = \tilde{\mathcal{I}}(\tilde{L}_N)$ . The choice of comparing (2.12) with (2.14) gets around such minor difficulties.

#### 3.2 Averaged large deviation principle: the case $\mu$ with compact support

We are concerned here with proving Theorem 2.11 in the particular case where the distribution  $\mu$  is with compact support, namely:

$$\exists M > 0, \quad \operatorname{Supp}(\mu) \subseteq [-M, M]. \tag{2.20}$$

In this case, the expression  $\int_0^t \nabla H_N(\underline{\theta}_s) \cdot \nabla H_N^g(\underline{\theta}_s, \underline{\omega}) \, ds$  in (2.16) can be replaced by

$$\int_0^t \nabla H_N(\underline{\theta_s}) \cdot \nabla H_N^g(\underline{\theta_s}, \underline{\omega}) \mathbb{1}_{\underline{\omega} \in [-M, M]^N} \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Then  $\mathcal{J}_2(Q)$  in Proposition 2.24 can be replaced by:

$$\mathcal{J}_2(Q) = \int_0^T \mathrm{d}s \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta, \omega) \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta', \omega') f(\theta_s - \theta'_s, \omega, \omega') g'(\theta_s, \omega) \mathbb{1}_{\omega \in [-M, M]}.$$

The functional  $\mathcal{J}(\cdot)$  satisfies the following properties:

**Lemma 2.26.**  $\mathcal{J} : \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma) \to \mathbf{R}$  is bounded and continuous, when  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  is endowed with the  $\tau$ -topology.

*Proof of Lemma 2.26.* It is clear thanks to the assumptions made on the functions f and g: every function integrated in the expression of  $\mathcal{J}(\cdot)$  is measurable and bounded.

#### 3.2.1 Sanov's theorem and Varadhan's lemma

We are now in position to go from the i.i.d. case without interaction (2.14) to the whole case with interaction (2.12). Recall that  $\Sigma = \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}$  and  $\Sigma_N = \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}^N) \times \mathbf{R}^N$ . We have the following measurable function:

$$L_N: \begin{array}{ccc} \Sigma_N & \to & \mathcal{M}_1\left(\Sigma\right) \\ (\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}) & \mapsto & L_N\left[\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}\right], \end{array}$$

where  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  is endowed with the  $\tau$ -topology. The  $\sigma$ - field on the set  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  is the cylinder  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{B}^*$ , namely the smallest  $\sigma$ -field that the evaluations  $\mu \mapsto \int \varphi \, d\mu$  are measurable.

The set of trajectories  $\Sigma_N$  can be equipped with several probability measures:

**The case without interaction:** let us recall that for all N, if  $\underline{\theta}$  satisfies the system without interaction (2.14), then the law of  $(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega})$  is a product probability measure  $(W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)^N$  where  $W^{\omega} \otimes \mu$  (recall (2.15)) is the law of one couple  $(\theta, \omega)$  where  $\omega \sim \mu$  and  $\theta$  is the solution of  $d\theta_t = -g'(\theta_t, \omega) dt + dB_t$ .

The case with interaction: if  $\underline{\theta}$  solves the whole system with interaction (2.12), then the law of the couple  $(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega})$  is given by  $P_{N}^{\underline{\omega}} \otimes \mu^{N}$  defined by:

$$P_{N}^{\underline{\omega}} \otimes \mu^{N}(A \times B) := \int_{B} \mu^{N}(\mathrm{d}\underline{\omega}) P_{N}^{\underline{\omega}}(A)$$

where A is a Borel set of  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}^N)$  and B is a Borel set of  $\mathbf{R}^N$ .

**Definition 2.27.** We will denote by  $\mathbf{W}_N$  the law of the empirical measure  $L_N$  under the law without interaction  $(W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)^N$  and by  $\mathbf{P}_N$  the law of the empirical measure  $L_N$  under the law with interaction  $P_N^{\underline{\omega}} \otimes \mu^N$ . Note that both  $\mathbf{W}_N$  and  $\mathbf{P}_N$  are probability measures on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ .

The first proposition of this section is then:

**Proposition 2.28.** Under (2.20),  $\mathbf{P}_N$  satisfies a principle of large deviation in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , for the  $\tau$ -topology, with speed N, for the good rate function  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  defined on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  by:

$$\mathcal{G}: Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu) - \mathcal{J}(Q), \qquad (2.21)$$

where  $\mathcal{H}$  is the relative entropy.

Proof of Proposition 2.28. For all  $C \in \mathcal{B}^*$ ,

$$\mathbf{P}_{N}(C) = \int_{\Sigma_{N}} \mathbb{1}_{\{(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}); L_{N}[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}]\in C\}} dP_{N}^{\underline{\omega}}(\underline{\theta}) d\mu^{N}(\underline{\omega}),$$

$$= \int_{\Sigma_{N}} \mathbb{1}_{\{(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}); L_{N}[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}]\in C\}} e^{N\mathcal{J}(L_{N}[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}]) - \mathcal{K}(L_{N}[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}])} d\left(W_{N}^{\underline{\omega}} \otimes \mu^{N}\right)(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}), \qquad (2.22)$$

$$= \int \mathbb{1}_{\{Q\in C\}} e^{N\mathcal{J}(Q) - \mathcal{K}(Q)} d\mathbf{W}_{N}(Q), \qquad (2.23)$$

where we used (2.17) in (2.22).

The key point is that under  $(W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)^N$ , the couples  $(\theta_i, \omega_i)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  are independent and identically distributed. Applying Sanov's theorem (Proposition 2.7), we obtain that  $(\mathbf{W}_N)_{N \geq 1}$  satisfies a large deviation principle, at speed N, governed by the good rate function  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)$ , where  $\mathcal{H}$  is the relative entropy (see (2.2)):

$$\forall A \in \mathcal{B}^*, \quad -\inf\left\{\mathcal{H}(Q|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu); \, Q \in \mathring{A}\right\} \leqslant \liminf_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \mathbf{W}_N(A) \leqslant \limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \mathbf{W}_N(A) \\ \leqslant -\inf\left\{\mathcal{H}(Q|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu); \, Q \in \bar{A}\right\}.$$

The idea here is to derive a large deviation principle for  $(\mathbf{P}_N)_{N \ge 1}$ , knowing that  $\mathbf{P}_N$  is an exponential transformation of  $\mathbf{W}_N$  (recall (2.23)). Indeed, using (2.23), for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}^*$ ,

$$\mathbf{P}_N(A) = \frac{\int_A e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot) - \mathcal{K}(\cdot)} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_N}{\int_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot) - \mathcal{K}(\cdot)} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_N}$$

The assumption made on f ensures that the linear functional  $\mathcal{K}(\cdot)$  defined in (2.18) is bounded on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ :

$$\forall Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma), \quad |\mathcal{K}(Q)| \leq \frac{\|f''\|_{\infty}}{2}.$$

Consequently, for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}^*$ ,

$$e^{-\|f''\|_{\infty}} \frac{\int_{A} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_{N}}{\int_{\mathcal{M}_{1}(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_{N}} \leqslant \mathbf{P}_{N}(A) \leqslant e^{\|f''\|_{\infty}} \frac{\int_{A} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_{N}}{\int_{\mathcal{M}_{1}(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_{N}},$$

so that

$$\liminf_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \left( \frac{\int_{A} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_{N}}{\int_{\mathcal{M}_{1}(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_{N}} \right) \leqslant \liminf_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \mathbf{P}_{N}(A) \leqslant \limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \mathbf{P}_{N}(A) \\ \leqslant \limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \left( \frac{\int_{A} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_{N}}{\int_{\mathcal{M}_{1}(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_{N}} \right).$$

$$(2.24)$$

We are now in position to apply Proposition 2.5: since the sequence of probabilities  $(\mathbf{W}_N)_{N \ge 1}$  in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  satisfies a large deviation principle at speed N for the good rate function  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)$ , then the sequence of probabilities  $A \mapsto \frac{\int_A e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} d\mathbf{W}_N}{\int_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} d\mathbf{W}_N}$  satisfies a large deviation principle in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  for the good rate function

$$Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu) - \mathcal{J}(Q) - \inf_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} \left( \mathcal{H}(\cdot|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu) - \mathcal{J}(\cdot) \right).$$

Thanks to (2.24), this is also true for the sequence  $(\mathbf{P}_N)_{N \ge 1}$ .

It remains to show that  $\inf_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)}(\mathcal{H}(\cdot|W^{\omega} \otimes \mu) - \mathcal{J}(\cdot)) = 0$ : indeed, since  $\mathbf{P}_N$  is a probability,

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot) - \mathcal{H}(\cdot)} \,\mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_N = 1.$$

So, we have for all  $N \ge 1$ :

$$0 = \frac{1}{N} \ln \left( \int_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot) - \mathcal{K}(\cdot)} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_N \right) \leq \frac{\|f''\|_{\infty}}{2N} + \frac{1}{N} \ln \left( \int_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_N \right).$$

Using Varadhan's Lemma (Proposition 2.4), we obtain, in the limit as  $N \to \infty$ :

$$0 \leqslant \sup_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} \left( \mathcal{J}(\cdot) - \mathcal{H}(\cdot | W^{\omega} \otimes \mu) \right).$$

Bounding  $\mathcal{K}(\cdot)$  by below, we have in the same way

$$0 = \frac{1}{N} \ln \left( \int_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot) - \mathcal{K}(\cdot)} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_N \right) \ge -\frac{\|f''\|_{\infty}}{2N} + \frac{1}{N} \ln \left( \int_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} e^{N\mathcal{J}(\cdot)} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{W}_N \right).$$

Consequently,  $\sup_{\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)} \left( \mathcal{J}(\cdot) - \mathcal{H}(\cdot | W^{\omega} \otimes \mu) \right) \leq 0$ , and Proposition 2.28 is proved.  $\Box$ 

#### 3.2.2 A simpler expression of the rate function

The expression of the rate function  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  in Proposition 2.28 is rather complicated. We introduce an auxiliary SDE to simplify this expression:

For fixed  $q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  and  $\omega \in \mathbf{R}$ , let us denote by  $\beta^{q,\omega}$  the function defined on **S** by:

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \quad \beta^{q,\omega}(\theta) = \int f'(\theta' - \theta, \omega, \omega') \,\mathrm{d}q(\theta', \omega').$$

Then, for fixed  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , we consider  $P^{\omega,Q}$  the law of the projection on **S** of the unique (strong) solution to the following SDE:

$$d\theta_t = \beta^{Q_t,\omega}(\theta_t) dt - g'(\theta_t,\omega) dt + db_t; \ x_0 \sim \gamma,$$
(2.25)

where,

$$Q_t(A \times B) = Q\{(\theta, \omega), \theta_t \in A, \omega \in B\}$$

Recall (2.15): for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ ,  $W^{\omega}$  is the law of (the projection on **S** of) the solution to  $d\theta_t = -g'(\theta, \omega) dt + db_t$ . The following proposition provides a simpler expression of the rate function  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  defined in (2.21):

**Proposition 2.29.** For all  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ ,

$$\forall Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma), \quad \mathcal{J}(Q) = \int \ln\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}P^{\omega,Q}}{\mathrm{d}W^{\omega}}(\theta)\right) \mathrm{d}Q(\theta,\omega),$$
 (2.26)

and,

$$\forall Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma), \quad \mathcal{G}(Q) = \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q),$$
(2.27)

where  $P^Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  is given by:

$$dP^{Q}(\theta,\omega) := d\mu(\omega) dP^{\omega,Q}(\theta).$$
(2.28)

Proof of Proposition 2.29. Applying again Girsanov's theorem, we have:

$$\ln\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}P^{\omega,Q}}{\mathrm{d}W^{\omega}}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \left(\beta^{Q_s,\omega}(\theta_s)\right)^2 + \int_0^t \beta^{Q_s,\omega}(\theta_s) \,\mathrm{d}b_s$$

The first term integrated over Q gives rise to the term  $\mathcal{J}_4(Q)$  in Proposition 2.24. For the second term, we have, considering that under  $W^{\omega}$ ,  $db_t = d\theta_t + g'(\theta_t, \omega) \mathbb{1}_{\omega \in [-M,M]} dt$ ,

$$\int_0^t \beta^{Q_s,\omega}(\theta_s) \,\mathrm{d}b_s = \int_0^t \beta^{Q_s,\omega}(\theta_s) \,\mathrm{d}\theta_s + \int_0^t \beta^{Q_s,\omega}(\theta_s)g'(\theta_s,\omega)\mathbb{1}_{\omega\in[-M,M]} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

The last term integrated over Q gives rise to the term  $\mathcal{J}_2(Q)$  in Proposition 2.24.

It remains to consider the term  $\int_0^t \beta^{Q_s,\omega}(\theta_s) d\theta_s$ . We have successively:

$$\int_0^t \beta^{Q_s,\omega}(\theta_s) \,\mathrm{d}\theta_s = \int_0^t \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta,\omega) \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta',\omega') f'(\theta'_s - \theta_s,\omega,\omega') \,\mathrm{d}\theta_s,$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta,\omega) \int \mathrm{d}Q(\theta',\omega') f'(\theta'_s - \theta_s,\omega,\omega') [\,\mathrm{d}\theta_s - \,\mathrm{d}\theta'_s].$$

Applying Ito's formula to the semi-martingale  $(\theta, \theta')$ , we have,

$$\int_0^t \beta^{Q_s,\omega}(\theta_s) \,\mathrm{d}\theta_s = \frac{1}{2} \int \,\mathrm{d}Q(\theta,\omega) \int \,\mathrm{d}Q(\theta',\omega') \left[ f(\theta_0 - \theta'_0,\omega,\omega') - f(\theta_t - \theta'_t,\omega,\omega') \right] \\ + \frac{1}{2} \int \,\mathrm{d}Q(\theta,\omega) \int \,\mathrm{d}Q(\theta',\omega') \left[ \int_0^t f''(\theta_s - \theta'_s,\omega,\omega') \,\mathrm{d}s \right].$$

The last equality gives the terms  $\mathcal{J}_1(Q)$  and  $\mathcal{J}_3(Q)$  and proves equality (2.26).

We finish by proving equality (2.27). For all  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , we have, using (2.21) and (2.26), for  $Q \ll W^{\omega} \otimes \mu$ :

$$\mathcal{G}(Q) = \int dQ \ln\left(\frac{dQ}{d(W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)}\right) + \ln\left(\frac{d(W^{\omega} \otimes \mu)}{dP^Q}\right) = \int dQ \ln\left(\frac{dQ}{dP^Q}\right) = \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q).$$

If Q is not absolutely continuous w.r.t.  $W^{\omega} \otimes \mu$ , Q is not absolutely continuous w.r.t.  $P^Q$ since  $P^Q \sim W^{\omega} \otimes \mu$ . Proposition 2.29 follows.

At this point, we know that the sequence  $(P_N)_{N \ge 1}$  concentrates on the zeros of the rate function  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  defined in (2.27). Before characterizing such zeros (see § 3.4), we generalize in the next paragraph the large deviation principle in the case of unbounded disorder.

#### 3.3 Averaged large deviation principle: the general case

We want to prove Theorem 2.11 under the assumption (2.6): the idea here is to apply the previous section in the case where the disorder is conditioned to remain in a compact interval [-M, M]. Doing so, the previous section gives a large deviation principle for the law of the empirical measure  $(L_N)_{N \ge 1}$  for each M > 0. The main point of this section is to make  $M \to \infty$  and derive a large deviation principle in the case where the distribution of the disorder  $\mu$  satisfies (2.6). To do so, we define the following probabilities  $\mu_M$  (at least well defined for large M):

**Definition 2.30.** For all M > 0, for all A Borel set of **R**,

$$\mu_M(A) := \frac{\mu(A \cap [-M, M])}{\mu([-M, M])},$$

and for all  $N \ge 1$ ,

$$\mu_M^N := (\mu_M)^N \,,$$

the law of N i.i.d. random variables with law  $\mu$ , conditioned to remain in [-M, M].

Let  $\mathbf{P}_N^M$  be the law of  $L_N$  when  $\underline{\omega}$  is distributed under  $\mu_M^N$ :

$$\forall A \in \mathcal{B}^*, \quad \mathbf{P}_N^M(A) = \int_{\Sigma_N} \mathbb{1}_{\{(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}); L_N[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}]\in A\}} P_N^{\underline{\omega}}(\mathrm{d}\underline{\theta}) \mu_M^N(\mathrm{d}\underline{\omega}).$$

Since  $\text{Supp}(\mu_M) \subseteq [-M, M]$ , we can apply the previous part to obtain:

**Proposition 2.31.** For all M > 0,  $(\mathbf{P}_N^M)_{N \ge 1}$  satisfies a large deviation principle in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , at speed N, for the  $\tau$ -topology, with the good rate function  $\mathcal{G}_M(\cdot)$ :

$$\forall Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma), \quad \mathcal{G}_M(Q) = \mathcal{H}(Q|P_M^Q).$$

where  $\mathrm{d}P_M^Q(\theta,\omega) := \mathrm{d}\mu_M(\omega) \,\mathrm{d}P^{\omega,Q}(\theta).$ 

#### 3.3.1 Exponentially good approximations

The main difficulty of this part is to derive a large deviation principle for  $(\mathbf{P}_N)_{N \ge 1}$ from the sequence of large deviation principles verified by  $(\mathbf{P}_N^M)_{N \ge 1}$  for each  $M \ge 1$ : this can be done by using the notion of *exponentially good approximations of measures*, developed in [29, § 4.2].

The space  $(\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma), w)$  endowed with the topology of weak convergence (recall the definition of w in 2.2) is a metrizable space, for the following metric d (see [32, Th. 12, p. 262]):

$$\forall \nu, \tilde{\nu} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma), \quad d(\nu, \tilde{\nu}) := \sup\left\{ \left| \int \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\nu - \int \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{\nu} \right|; \, \varphi \in BL_1(\Sigma) \right\}, \tag{2.29}$$

where  $BL_1(\Sigma)$  is the set of all bounded Lipschitz continuous functions on  $\Sigma = \mathcal{C}([0, T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}$ , of Lipschitz norm bounded by 1. The topology w is, by definition, coarser than the  $\tau$ -topology. Applying the contraction principle ([29, Th. 4.2.1 p. 126]), Proposition 2.31 is also true for the weak convergence topology.

Following [29, p. 131], we show that  $\mathbf{P}_N^M$  are exponentially good approximations of  $\mathbf{P}_N$ :

**Proposition 2.32** (Exponentially good approximations). For all  $\delta > 0$ , we define:

$$\Gamma_{\delta} = \{ (\nu, \tilde{\nu}) \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma) \times \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma); \, d(\nu, \tilde{\nu}) > \delta \} \,.$$

There exists a coupling  $\mathbf{Q}_{N,M}$ , probability on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma) \times \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , such that the marginals of  $\mathbf{Q}_{N,M}$  are  $\mathbf{P}_N$  and  $\mathbf{P}_N^M$  and which verifies:

$$\forall \delta > 0, \quad \lim_{M \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \mathbf{Q}_{N,M}(\Gamma_{\delta}) = -\infty.$$

The large deviation principle stated in Theorem 2.11 is then a consequence of Proposition 2.32 and the following proposition (see [29, Th. 4.2.16, p. 131]):

**Proposition 2.33.** The sequence  $(\mathbf{P}_N)_{N \ge 1}$  satisfies a weak large deviation principle in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , at speed N, in the weak topology, with the rate function:

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}(Q) := \sup_{\delta > 0} \liminf_{M \to \infty} \inf_{R \in B(Q,\delta)} \mathcal{H}(R|P_M^R).$$
(2.30)

The functional  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  is a good rate function and coincides with  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  defined in (2.27). Moreover, for every closed F in the weak topology in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ 

$$\inf_{Q \in F} \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q) \leqslant \limsup_{M \to \infty} \inf_{Q \in F} \mathcal{H}(Q|P_M^Q),$$

so that  $(\mathbf{P}_N)_{N \ge 1}$  satisfies the strong large deviation principle for the good rate function  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$ .

Provided we characterize the zeros of the rate function  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  (see § 3.4), with all these properties (whose proofs are given at the end of § 3.3), Theorem 2.11 will be proved.

#### **3.3.2** Proof of the exponential approximations

**Definition of the coupling**  $\mathbf{Q}_{N,M}$ : The aim of this paragraph is to build a coupling on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma) \times \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , where the corresponding marginals are the law of the empirical measures of processes in  $\Sigma_N = \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}^N) \times \mathbf{R}^N$ ,  $(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega})$  and  $(\underline{\tilde{\theta}}, \underline{\tilde{\omega}})$  which have the same initial values, are driven by the same Brownian motion, and where one disorder is the restriction on [-M, M] of the other.

More concretely, following [54, Th. 6.3], we know that there exists a measurable application  $\mathcal{P}$ :

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{P}: & \mathbf{S}^N \times \mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathbf{R}^N) \times \mathbf{R}^N & \to & \mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathbf{S}^N) \\ & & (\underline{\xi},\underline{B},\underline{\omega}) & \mapsto & \mathcal{P}\left[\underline{\xi},\underline{B},\underline{\omega}\right], \end{array}$$

such that for all choice of the filtered space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_t, \mathbf{P})$ , and for all choice of a  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted Brownian Motion <u>B</u>, and for all initial  $\underline{\xi}$  which is  $\mathcal{F}_0$  measurable, the process  $\mathcal{P}\left[\underline{\xi}, \underline{B}, \underline{\omega}\right]$ is (the projection on **S** of) the only solution to the SDE (2.12), with disorder  $\underline{\omega}$ .

Let us choose one Brownian motion  $\underline{B}$  in  $\mathbf{R}^N$ , one sequence of i.i.d random variables  $(\xi_i)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  with law  $\gamma$ , independent of  $\underline{B}$ , and one sequence of i.i.d. real random variables  $(U_i)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  with uniform distribution on [0,1], independent of  $(\underline{B}, \underline{\xi})$ . If we denote by  $t \mapsto F_{\mu}(t) := \mu(]-\infty, t]$ ) (resp.  $t \mapsto F_{\mu_M}(t) := \mu_M(]-\infty, t]$ )), the cumulative distribution function of the law  $\mu$  (resp.  $\mu_M$ ) and by  $s \mapsto F_{\mu}^{-1}(s) := \inf \{t; F_{\mu}(t) \geq s\}$  (resp  $F_{\mu_M}^{-1}$ ), its pseudo-inverse function. We consider the following random variable, having values in  $(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}^N) \times \mathbf{R}^N)^2$ :

$$\left(\underline{B}, \underline{\xi}, \underline{U}\right) \mapsto \left(\left(\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}\right), \left(\underline{\tilde{\theta}}, \underline{\tilde{\omega}}\right)\right),$$

where

$$(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}) := \left( \mathcal{P}\left[\underline{B},\underline{\xi},F_{\mu}^{-1}(U_i)\right],F_{\mu}^{-1}(U_i) \right),$$

and

$$\left(\underline{\tilde{\theta}},\underline{\tilde{\omega}}\right) := \left(\mathcal{P}\left[\underline{B},\underline{\xi},F_{\mu_M}^{-1}(U_i)\right],F_{\mu_M}^{-1}(U_i)\right).$$

We denote by  $Q_{N,M}$  the law of the processes  $\left((\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}),(\underline{\tilde{\theta}},\underline{\tilde{\omega}})\right) \in \Sigma_N \times \Sigma_N$  and by  $\mathbf{Q}_{N,M}$ , probability on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma) \times \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  the law of the corresponding couple of empirical measures  $(L_N[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}], L_N[\underline{\tilde{\theta}},\underline{\tilde{\omega}}])$ . It is quite clear, by construction, that the marginals of  $\mathbf{Q}_{N,M}$  are  $\mathbf{P}_N$ and  $\mathbf{P}_N^M$ .

**Proof of Proposition 2.32:** In order to prove Proposition 2.32, we need the two following lemmas 2.34 and 2.35:

**Lemma 2.34.** For all  $\underline{\theta}$ ,  $\underline{\tilde{\theta}}$  in  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}^N)$  and  $\underline{\omega}$ ,  $\underline{\tilde{\omega}}$  in  $\mathbf{R}^N$ ,

$$d\left(L_{N}[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}],L_{N}[\underline{\tilde{\theta}},\underline{\tilde{\omega}}]\right) \leqslant \frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\left(\left\|\theta_{i}-\tilde{\theta}_{i}\right\|_{\infty}+\left|\omega_{i}-\tilde{\omega}_{i}\right|\right).$$

Proof of Lemma 2.34. Let  $\varphi$  be a bounded Lipschitz continuous function on  $\Sigma$ , such that  $\|\varphi\|_L \leq 1$ :

$$\left|\varphi(\theta,\omega)-\varphi(\tilde{\theta},\tilde{\omega})\right| \leq \left(\left\|\theta-\tilde{\theta}\right\|_{\infty}+\left|\omega-\tilde{\omega}\right|\right)$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int \varphi \, \mathrm{d}L_N[\underline{\theta}, \underline{\omega}] - \int \varphi \, \mathrm{d}L_N[\underline{\tilde{\theta}}, \underline{\tilde{\omega}}] \right| &= \frac{1}{N} \left| \sum_{i=1}^N \left( \varphi(\theta_i, \omega_i) - \varphi(\tilde{\theta}_i, \tilde{\omega}_i) \right) \right|, \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \left| \varphi(\theta_i, \omega_i) - \varphi(\tilde{\theta}_i, \tilde{\omega}_i) \right|, \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \left( \left\| \theta_i - \tilde{\theta}_i \right\|_{\infty} + |\omega_i - \tilde{\omega}_i| \right). \end{split}$$

Taking the supremum over all  $\varphi$ , we have the result.

The following lemma states a control on the processes  $\underline{\theta}$  and  $\underline{\tilde{\theta}}$  under the coupling  $Q_{N,M}$ :

**Lemma 2.35.** The marginals  $\mu^N \otimes P_N^{\underline{\omega}}$  and  $\mu_M^N \otimes P_N^{\underline{\omega}}$  of the coupling  $Q_{N,M}$  defined in § 3.3.2 satisfy the following property: there exists a constant A, such that, for all  $N \in \mathbf{N}$ ,  $N \ge 1$ , for  $\mu^N$  almost every  $\underline{\omega}$  and  $\underline{\tilde{\omega}}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{N} \int \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\| \theta_i - \tilde{\theta}_i \right\|_{\infty} P_N^{\underline{\omega}} \otimes P_N^{\underline{\tilde{\omega}}}(\mathrm{d}\underline{\theta}, \mathrm{d}\underline{\tilde{\theta}}) < A\left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |\omega_i - \tilde{\omega}_i|\right).$$

Proof of Lemma 2.35. For fixed  $\underline{\omega}$  and  $\underline{\tilde{\omega}}$ , let  $\underline{\theta}$  and  $\underline{\tilde{\theta}}$  sampled according to the coupling  $Q_{N,M}$  that is (the projection on **S** of) two solutions to (2.7), with disorder respectively  $\underline{\omega}$  and  $\underline{\tilde{\omega}}$ , with the same initial condition  $\underline{\xi}$  and driven by the same Brownian motion  $\underline{B}$ . Then, for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ , for all  $s \in [0, T]$ , for some constant C > 0

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \theta_{i,s} - \tilde{\theta}_{i,s} \right| &\leqslant \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{s} \left| f'(\theta_{j,u} - \theta_{i,u}, \omega_{i}, \omega_{j}) - f'(\tilde{\theta}_{j,u} - \tilde{\theta}_{i,u}, \omega_{i}, \omega_{j}) \right| \\ &+ \left| g'(\theta_{i,u}, \omega_{i}) - g'(\tilde{\theta}_{i,u}, \tilde{\omega}_{i}) \right| \, \mathrm{d}u, \\ &\leqslant \frac{C}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{s} \left| \theta_{i,u} - \tilde{\theta}_{i,u} \right| + \left| \theta_{j,u} - \tilde{\theta}_{j,u} \right| \, \mathrm{d}u + \left| \omega_{i} - \tilde{\omega}_{i} \right| s, \end{aligned}$$

So, for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\sup_{s\leqslant t}\left|\theta_{i,s}-\tilde{\theta}_{i,s}\right|\leqslant \frac{2C}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\int_{0}^{t}\sup_{v\leqslant u}\left|\theta_{i,v}-\tilde{\theta}_{i,v}\right|\mathrm{d}u+\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}|\omega_{i}-\tilde{\omega}_{i}|t.$$

If we take expectation (w.r.t. the Brownian motion) in the last inequality, and if we introduce

$$\psi_t := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbf{E} \left[ \sup_{s \leqslant t} \left| \theta_{i,s} - \tilde{\theta}_{i,s} \right| \right],$$

we have:

$$\psi_t \leq 2C \int_0^t \psi(u) \,\mathrm{d}u + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N |\omega_i - \tilde{\omega}_i| t.$$

Applying Gronwall's lemma, we obtain, for some constant C > 0:

$$\forall t \in [0,T], \quad \psi_t \leqslant C\left(\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N |\omega_i - \tilde{\omega}_i|\right).$$

The result follows.

We are now in position to prove the result concerning exponentially good approximations:

Proof of Proposition 2.32. For all  $\delta > 0$ ,

$$\mathbf{Q}_{N,M}(\Gamma_{\delta}) = Q_{N,M}((\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}),(\underline{\tilde{\theta}},\underline{\tilde{\omega}}), \ d\left(L_{N}[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}],L_{N}[\underline{\tilde{\theta}},\underline{\tilde{\omega}}]\right) > \delta)$$

where we recall that  $Q_{N,M}$  is the law of the coupled processes built in § 3.3.2. So, by Lemma 2.34,

$$\mathbf{Q}_{N,M}(\Gamma_{\delta}) \leqslant Q_{N,M}\left((\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}),(\underline{\tilde{\theta}},\underline{\tilde{\omega}}), \frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\| \theta_{i} - \tilde{\theta}_{i} \right\|_{\infty} > \frac{\delta}{2} \right) + Q_{N,M}\left((\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}),(\underline{\tilde{\theta}},\underline{\tilde{\omega}}), \frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N} |\omega_{i} - \tilde{\omega}_{i}| > \frac{\delta}{2} \right).$$

Considering Lemma 2.35, it suffices to prove the following:

$$\forall \delta > 0, \lim_{M \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln Q_{N,M} \left( \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |\omega_i - \tilde{\omega}_i| > \delta \right) = -\infty.$$
(2.31)

Let us prove (2.31): recall that under  $Q_{N,M}$ , for each  $1 \leq i \leq N$ ,  $\omega_i = F_{\mu}^{-1}(U_i)$  and  $\tilde{\omega}_i = F_{\mu M}^{-1}(U_i)$  where  $U_i$  is uniformly distributed on [0, 1] so that  $\omega_i \sim \mu$  and  $\tilde{\omega}_i \sim \mu_M$ . Let us fix some t > 0. A straightforward calculation leads to:

$$\limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln Q_{N,M} \left( \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |\omega_i - \tilde{\omega}_i| > \delta \right) \leq \ln \mathbb{E}_{[0,1]} \left( e^{t|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U) - F_{\mu_M}^{-1}(U)|} \right) - t\delta,$$

where the expectation  $\mathbb{E}_{[0,1]}(\cdot)$  is taken w.r.t. the uniform law on [0,1]. Then,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}_{[0,1]}\left(e^{t|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)-F_{\mu_{M}}^{-1}(U)|}\right) &\leqslant \mathbb{E}_{[0,1]}\left(e^{2t|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)-F_{\mu_{M}}^{-1}(U)|\mathbb{1}_{|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)|}\leqslant M}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\times \mathbb{E}_{[0,1]}\left(e^{2t|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)-F_{\mu_{M}}^{-1}(U)|\mathbb{1}_{|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)|>M}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \\ &\leqslant e^{t\sup_{s}\left(|F_{\mu}^{-1}(s)-F_{\mu_{M}}^{-1}(s)|\mathbb{1}_{|F_{\mu}^{-1}(s)|}\leqslant M\right)} \\ &\times \mathbb{E}_{[0,1]}\left(e^{4t|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)|\mathbb{1}_{|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)|>M}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Moreover,

$$\mathbb{E}_{[0,1]}\left(e^{4t|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)|\mathbb{1}_{|F_{\mu}^{-1}(U)|>M}}\right) = \mathbb{E}_{\mu}\left(e^{4t|\omega|\mathbb{1}_{|\omega|>M}}\right),$$
$$= \mathbb{E}_{\mu}\left(e^{4t|\omega|}\mathbb{1}_{|\omega|>M}\right) + \mathbb{P}_{\mu}\left(|\omega| \leqslant M\right).$$

Consequently,

$$\limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln Q_{N,M} \left( \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |\omega_i - \tilde{\omega}_i| > \delta \right) \leqslant t \sup_s \left( |F_{\mu}^{-1}(s) - F_{\mu_M}^{-1}(s)| \mathbb{1}_{|F_{\mu}^{-1}(s)| \leqslant M} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \ln \left( \mathbb{E}_{\mu} \left( e^{4t|\omega|} \mathbb{1}_{|\omega| > M} \right) + \mathbb{P}_{\mu} \left( |\omega| \leqslant M \right) \right) - t\delta.$$

$$(2.32)$$

A short calculation shows that  $\sup_{u \in [-M,M]} |F_{\mu}(u) - F_{\mu_M}(u)| \to_{M\to\infty} 0$ , and so does  $\sup_s |F_{\mu}^{-1}(s) - F_{\mu_M}^{-1}(s)|\mathbb{1}_{F_{\mu}^{-1}(s)\in [-M,M]}$ . Using the existence of exponential moments of  $\mu$ (recall (2.6)), we easily see that the second term of (2.32) goes to 0 as  $M \to \infty$  so that

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln Q_{N,M} \left( \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |\omega_i - \tilde{\omega}_i| > \delta \right) \leqslant -t\delta.$$
(2.33)

Since t > 0 is arbitrary, making  $t \to \infty$  in (2.33) gives the result (2.31). Proposition 2.32 is proved.

#### **3.3.3** Identification of the rate function

At this point, Proposition 2.33 states a *weak* large deviation principle for the rate function  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}(\cdot)$  defined by (2.30). The next step is to identify  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}(\cdot)$  with the rate function  $\mathcal{G}: Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q)$  found in § 3.2 in the case where  $\mu$  is of compact support. This is the purpose of the two following propositions:

**Proposition 2.36.** For all  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ ,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}(Q) \leqslant \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q). \tag{2.34}$$

Proof of Proposition 2.36. We only need to consider the case  $Q \ll P^Q$ . For each  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , we denote by  $Q_2$  the marginal w.r.t.  $\omega$  and we write:

$$\mathrm{d}Q(\theta,\omega) = \mathrm{d}Q_2(\omega) \otimes \mathrm{d}Q^{\omega}(\theta).$$

If  $Q \ll P^Q$ , then (recall  $dP^Q(\theta, \omega) = d\mu(\omega) \otimes dP^{\omega}(\theta)$ ),

$$Q_2 \ll \mu$$
, and,  $Q^{\omega} \ll P^{Q,\omega}$ , for  $\mu$  a.e.  $\omega$ .

In particular, there exists a nonnegative measurable function h such that  $dQ_2(\omega) = h(\omega) d\mu(\omega)$ . We define, for all M > 0,  $R = R_M \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  by:

$$\mathrm{d}R_M(\theta,\omega) := \mathrm{d}R_{M,2}(\omega) \otimes \mathrm{d}Q^{\omega}(\theta),$$

where,

$$\mathrm{d}R_{M,2}(\omega) := h(\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_M(\omega).$$

For such a  $R_M$ , we have:

-  $\mathcal{G}_M(R_M) = \mathcal{H}(R_M|P_M^{R_M}) < \infty$ : indeed, for  $Q_2$  almost every  $\omega$ , we easily see (via Girsanov's theorem) that  $P^{Q,\omega} \sim P^{R_M,\omega}$ . Therefore, for all A Borel set of  $\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathbf{R})$ , if  $P^{R_M,\omega}(A) = 0$  then,  $P^{Q,\omega}(A) = 0$ , so,  $R_M^{\omega}(A) = Q^{\omega}(A) = 0$ . So,  $R_M^{\omega} \ll P^{R_M,\omega}$ . By definition of  $R_{M,2}$ , we also have  $R_{M,2} \ll \mu_M$ . As a conclusion,  $R_M \ll P_M^{R_M}$ , and a calculation shows:

$$\mathcal{G}_M(R_M) = \mathcal{H}(R_M | P_M^{R_M}) = \mathcal{H}(R_{M,2} | \mu_M) + \int dR_{M,2}(\omega) \mathcal{H}(Q^\omega | P^{R_M,\omega}) < \infty.$$
(2.35)

- There exists  $M_0$  such that, for all  $M \ge M_0$ ,  $R_M \in B(Q, \delta)$ : indeed, for  $\varphi \in BL_1(\Sigma)$ , we have successively:

$$\begin{split} A_{M}(\varphi) &:= \left| \int \varphi(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}R_{M}(\theta, \omega) - \int \varphi(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}Q(\theta, \omega) \right|, \\ &= \left| \int \varphi(\theta, \omega) h(\omega) \left( \frac{\mathbb{1}_{[-M,M]}(\omega)}{\mu([-M,M])} - 1 \right) \mathrm{d}Q^{\omega}(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) \right|, \\ &\leqslant \int h(\omega) \left| \frac{\mathbb{1}_{[-M,M]}(\omega)}{\mu([-M,M])} - 1 \right| \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega). \end{split}$$

Let  $M_0 > 0$  such that, for all  $M \ge M_0$ ,

$$\int h(\omega) \left| \frac{\mathbb{1}_{[-M,M]}(\omega)}{\int h \mathbb{1}_{[-M,M]} \,\mathrm{d}\mu} - 1 \right| \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) < \delta.$$

For all such (fixed) M,

$$A_M(\varphi) < \delta.$$

Taking the supremum on every  $\varphi \in BL_1(\Sigma)$ , we have the result.

– We have the following equality:

$$\liminf_{M \to \infty} \mathcal{H}(R_M | P^{R_M}) \leqslant \mathcal{H}(Q | P^Q).$$
(2.36)

Indeed, one has for all  $M \geqslant 1$ 

$$\mathcal{H}(R_{M,2}|\mu_M) + e^{-1} = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left( \ln(h(\omega))h(\omega) + e^{-1} \right) d\mu_M(\omega),$$
  
$$= \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left( \ln(h(\omega))h(\omega) + e^{-1} \right) \frac{\mathbb{1}_{[-M,M]}(\omega)}{\mu[-M,M]} d\mu(\omega),$$
  
$$\leqslant \frac{1}{\mu[-M,M]} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left( \ln(h(\omega))h(\omega) + e^{-1} \right) d\mu(\omega), \qquad (2.37)$$

where we used in (2.37) the fact that  $x \mapsto x \ln(x) + e^{-1} \ge 0$  on  $[0, +\infty)$ . Consequently, one obtains

$$\liminf_{M \to \infty} \mathcal{H}(R_{M,2}|\mu_M) \leqslant \mathcal{H}(Q_2|\mu).$$
(2.38)

Moreover, we have for all  $M \geqslant 1$ 

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} \mathrm{d}R_{M,2}(\omega)\mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|P^{R_M,\omega}) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} h(\omega)\mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|P^{R_M,\omega}) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_M(\omega), \tag{2.39}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\mu[-M,M]} \int_{\mathbf{R}} h(\omega) \mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega} | P^{R_M,\omega}) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega), \quad (2.40)$$

since  $h(\omega)\mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|P^{R_M,\omega}) \ge 0$  for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ . But,

$$\mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|P^{R_M,\omega}) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \mathrm{d}Q^{\omega}(\theta) \ln\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}Q^{\omega}}{\mathrm{d}P^{R_M,\omega}}\right), \qquad (2.41)$$

$$= \mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|W^{\omega}) - \int_{\mathbf{R}} \mathrm{d}Q^{\omega}(\theta) \ln\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}P^{R_{M},\omega}}{\mathrm{d}W^{\omega}}\right).$$
(2.42)

A calculation on the last term of (2.42), analogous to the proof of Proposition 2.29 (based on Girsanov's theorem) easily shows that for every  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu), M \mapsto$ 

 $\mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|P^{R_M,\omega})$  converges to  $\mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|P^{Q,\omega})$  as  $M \to \infty$ . Moreover, the assumptions made on f and g (see § 2.3) and the integrability assumption on  $\mu$  ensure that there exists a  $\mu$ -integrable function  $H(\cdot)$  such that for all  $M \ge 1$ ,  $\mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|P^{R_M,\omega}) \le H(\omega)$ . Applying dominated convergence theorem to (2.40), we obtain

$$\liminf_{M \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \mathrm{d}R_{M,2}(\omega) \mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega} | P^{R_M,\omega}) \leqslant \int_{\mathbf{R}} \mathrm{d}Q_2(\omega) \mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega} | P^{Q,\omega}).$$
(2.43)

Using (2.38) and (2.43) in (2.35) gives the desired result (2.36).

We are now in position to prove (2.34): for each  $M \ge M_0$ , we consider  $R = R_M$  previously defined. We have for all  $M \ge M_0$ ,

$$\inf_{R \in B(Q,\delta)} \mathcal{H}(R|P_M^R) \leqslant \mathcal{H}(R_M|P_M^{R_M}),$$

So,

$$\liminf_{M \to \infty} \inf_{R \in B(Q,\delta)} \mathcal{H}(R|P_M^R) \leqslant \liminf_{M \to \infty} \mathcal{H}(R_M|P_M^{R_M}) \leqslant \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q).$$

Taking the supremum on  $\delta > 0$  in the last inequality, we have the result.

**Proposition 2.37.** For all  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ ,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}}(Q) \geqslant \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q). \tag{2.44}$$

Proof of Proposition 2.37. – The function  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q)$  is lower semi-continuous w.r.t. the topology of weak convergence: indeed, for all M > 0, the contraction principle says in particular that  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|P_M^Q)$  is lower semi-continuous w.r.t. the topology of weak convergence. Thus, for all  $\omega$ ,  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega}|P^{\omega,Q})$  is lower semicontinuous (it corresponds to the case  $\mu := \delta_{\omega}$ ). Consequently, for all Q, and  $Q_n \to Q$ , we have successively:

$$\int dQ_2(\omega) \mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega} | P^{Q,\omega}) \leqslant \int dQ_2(\omega) \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{H}(Q_n^{\omega} | P^{Q_n,\omega}), \quad (Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega} | P^{\omega,Q}) \text{ l.s-c.})$$
$$\leqslant \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int dQ_{n,2}(\omega) \mathcal{H}(Q_n^{\omega} | P^{Q_n,\omega}).$$

We used Fatou's lemma for varying measures (see [74]), at the second line.

So,  $Q \mapsto \int dQ_2(\omega) \mathcal{H}(Q^{\omega} | P^{Q,\omega})$  is sequentially lower semi-continuous and so lower semi-continuous, as the weak convergence topology is metrizable. But, for all  $\mu, Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q_2 | \mu)$  is lower semi-continuous w.r.t. the weak topology (Contraction principle). Following (2.35), we obtain the result.

- Proof of (2.44): for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , for all  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$ , by lower semi-continuity, there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that, for all  $R \in B(Q, \delta)$ ,

$$\mathcal{H}(R|P^R) \ge \min(\mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q) - \varepsilon, \frac{1}{\varepsilon}).$$

But,

$$\mathcal{H}(R|P^R) = \mathcal{H}(R_2|\mu) + \int dR_2(\omega)\mathcal{H}(R^{\omega}|P^{R,\omega})$$

Let M > 0 and R such that  $R_2 \ll \mu_M$ : then  $\frac{dR_2}{d\mu} = \frac{1}{\mu([-M,M])} \frac{dR_2}{d\mu_M}$  and  $\mathcal{H}(R_2|\mu) = -\ln \mu([-M,M]) + \mathcal{H}(R_2|\mu_M)$ . So, for all  $R \in B(Q,\delta)$  such that  $R_2 \ll \mu_M$ , we have:

$$\mathcal{H}(R|P_M^R) \ge \min(\mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q) - \varepsilon, \frac{1}{\varepsilon}) + \ln\mu([-M, M]).$$
(2.45)

(2.45) is still true for all  $R \in B(Q, \delta)$  such that  $R_2$  is not absolutely continuous w.r.t.  $\mu_M$ . Thus,

$$\inf_{R \in B(Q,\delta)} \mathcal{H}(R|P_M^R) \ge \min(\mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q) - \varepsilon, \frac{1}{\varepsilon}) + \ln \mu([-M, M]).$$
(2.46)

Taking  $\liminf_{M\to\infty}$  on both sides of (2.46), we get the result.

#### **3.3.4** Coercivity of *I* in the general case

Let us now prove that the rate function  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q)$  is coercive:

**Proposition 2.38.** In the general case, the function  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q)$  is coercive.

Proof of Proposition 2.38. Let  $\alpha > 0$ . We want to show that the set of measures  $K_{\alpha} := \{R \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma); \mathcal{H}(R|P^R) \leq \alpha\}$  is compact. We only have to show the sequential compactness: let  $(R_p)_{p \geq 1}$  a sequence of elements of  $K_{\alpha}$ ; we show that there exists some converging subsequence in  $K_{\alpha}$ .

For all M, let  $\psi_M : \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$  such that  $\psi_M$  is piecewise linear,  $\psi_M \equiv 1$  on [-M+1, M-1],  $\phi_M \equiv 0$  on  $[-M, M]^c$ .

For  $R \in K_{\alpha}$ , we define  $R^M$  as:

$$\forall A, B, \ R^M(A \otimes B) := \int_B \int_A \psi_M(\omega) \, \mathrm{d}R^\omega(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}R_2(\omega).$$

 $R^M$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_{\leq 1}(\Sigma)$ , the set of positive measures on  $\Sigma = \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}$  of mass lower or equal than 1.  $\mathcal{M}_{\leq 1}$  is compact for the weak topology and for all M > 0, the function  $R \in \mathcal{M}_{\leq 1} \mapsto \mathcal{H}(R|P_M^R)$  is coercive. So, for all  $\alpha > 0$ , the set  $\tilde{K}^M_{\alpha} := \{R \in \mathcal{M}_{\leq 1}; \mathcal{H}(R|P_M^R) \leq \alpha\}$  is compact w.r.t. the weak topology.

For all M > 0,  $R_2^M \ll \mu_M$  and  $\frac{\mathrm{d}R_2^M}{\mathrm{d}\mu_M} = \psi_M \mu([-M, M]) \frac{\mathrm{d}R_2}{\mathrm{d}\mu}$ . Since  $\psi_M \leqslant 1$ , for all  $R \in K_\alpha$ ,  $R^M \in \tilde{K}_\alpha^M$ .

For any sequence  $(R_p)_p \in K_\alpha$ , we consider the double sequence  $(R_p^M)_{M,p}$ . For all M, the sequence  $(R_p^M)_p$  is in a compact. By a diagonal argument, there exists an extraction  $\phi$  and a sequence of  $\mathcal{M}_{\leq 1}$ ,  $(dR_*^M)(\theta,\omega) = dR_{2,*}^M(\omega) \otimes dR_*^{M,\omega}(\theta)$ , such that, for all M > 0,  $R_{\phi(p)}^M$  converges weakly to  $R_*^M$  as  $p \to \infty$ . Since  $R_*^M \in \tilde{K}_\alpha^M$ ,  $R_{2,*}^M \ll \mu$  and there exists an nonnegative function  $g_M$  such that  $dR_{2,*}^M(\omega) = g_M(\omega) d\mu(\omega)$ . Considering that  $R_{\phi(p)}^M(\varphi) = R_{\phi(p)}^{M+1}(\varphi)$  for all  $\varphi(\theta,\omega) := l(\theta)k(\omega)$ , with  $\operatorname{Supp}(k) \subseteq [-M,M]$ , we see that  $g_{M+1|[-M,M]} = g_M$ . Thus, one can define g such that  $g_{|[-M,M]} = g_M$ . Furthermore, we see that, for  $\mu$ -almost every  $\omega$ ,  $dR_*^{M,\omega}(\theta) = dR_*^{M+1,\omega}(\theta)$  and thus, does not depend on M(and the common value is denoted as  $R_*^{\omega}$ ). We define  $dR_*(\theta,\omega) := g(\omega) d\mu(\omega) \otimes dR_*^{\omega}(\theta)$ .

We easily see that  $R_{\phi(p)}(\varphi)$  converges to  $R_*(\varphi)$ , for all functions  $\varphi(\theta, \omega) = l(\theta) \times k(\omega)$ , k with compact support. But, we notice that the set  $\{R_2; R \in K_\alpha\}$  is uniformly absolutely continuous w.r.t.  $\mu$  (see [20, Prop. 23.4]):

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \delta > 0, \forall A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{R}), (\mu(A) < \delta \Rightarrow \forall R \in K_{\alpha}, R_2(A) < \varepsilon).$$

In particular, the sequence  $(R_{2,\phi(p)})_p$  is tight. So, we have the weak convergence of  $(R_{\varphi(p)})_{p \ge 1}$  to  $R_* \in \mathcal{M}_1$ , which is the result.

Following [29, Th. 4.2.16 (b), p. 131], we conclude this section by proving that the *weak* large deviation principle proved before is in fact *strong*:

**Lemma 2.39.** For every closed set F, we have:

$$\inf_{Q \in F} \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q) \leqslant \limsup_{M \to \infty} \inf_{Q \in F} \mathcal{H}(Q|P_M^Q).$$

Proof of Lemma 2.39. Let F be closed for the weak topology, and M > 0. Let  $Q \in F$  such that  $Q_2 \ll \mu_M$ . Then,

$$\mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q) = \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q_M) + \ln \mu([-M, M]).$$

So,

$$\mathcal{H}(Q|P_M^Q) \ge \inf_{Q \in F} \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q) - \ln \mu([-M, M]),$$

and, the previous inequality is still true if  $Q_2 \not\ll \mu_M$ . So,

$$\inf_{Q \in F} \mathcal{H}(Q|P_M^Q) \ge \inf_{Q \in F} \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q) - \ln \mu([-M, M]).$$

The result follows.

#### **3.4** Zeros of the rate function $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$

The proof of Theorem 2.11 will be completed when we characterize the zeros of the rate function  $Q \mapsto \mathcal{G}(Q) = \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q)$  that governs the large deviation of  $(P_N)_{N \ge 1}$ :

**Proposition 2.40.** Any zero of the rate function  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  satisfies the weak formulation of *McKean-Vlasov* equation (2.8).

Proof of Proposition 2.40. Any  $Q \in \mathcal{M}_1(\Sigma)$  is a zero of  $\mathcal{G}(Q) = \mathcal{H}(Q|P^Q)$  if and only if  $Q = P^Q$ . Recall (2.28):  $dP^Q(\theta, \omega) = d\mu(\omega) dP^{\omega,Q}(\theta)$ , where  $P^{\omega,Q}$  is the law of the diffusion (2.25). Consequently, the second marginal with respect to the disorder of Q is  $\mu$ and, conditionally on  $\omega$  its marginal on **S** is the law of the diffusion (2.25). But the weak formulation (2.8) is simply the Fokker-Planck equation associated to the diffusion (2.25). That concludes the proof of Proposition 2.40.

#### 3.5 From averaged large deviation to quenched convergence

The purpose of this paragraph is to prove Proposition 2.13, that is to derive a quenched convergence result from the exponential estimates on the averaged convergence of the law of  $L_N$  towards  $\delta_{Q^*}$  obtained from the LDP proved in Theorem 2.11.

Proof of Proposition 2.13. Let us fix some  $\delta > 0$  and consider

$$\alpha(\delta) := \inf \left\{ \mathcal{G}(Q); \, Q \in B(Q^*, \delta)^c \right\},\,$$

where  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  is the good rate function defined in (2.27) that controls the LDP for the averaged law of  $L_N$  (recall Theorem 2.11) and  $B(Q^*, \delta)$  is the open ball of radius  $\delta$  for the distance defined in (2.29). Since  $\mathcal{G}(\cdot)$  is a good rate function, it is routine to show that  $\alpha(\delta) > 0$ . Then a consequence of Theorem 2.11 is

$$\limsup_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \ln \mathbf{P}_N(B(Q^*, \delta)^c) \leqslant -\alpha(\delta) < 0.$$

In particular, there exists  $N_0 = N_0(\delta)$  such that for all  $N \ge N_0$ 

$$\mathbf{P}_N(B(Q^*,\delta)^c) \leqslant e^{-N\frac{\alpha(\delta)}{2}}.$$
(2.47)

=

But

$$\mathbf{P}_{N}(B(Q^{*},\delta)^{c}) = \mathbb{E}\left(\mathbf{E}\left(\mathbb{1}_{\{(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}); L_{N}[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}]\in B(Q^{*},\delta)^{c}\}}\right)\right),\tag{2.48}$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left(\mathbf{P}_{N}^{\underline{\omega}}(B(Q^{*},\delta)^{c})\right), \qquad (2.49)$$

where  $\mathbf{P}_{N}^{\omega}(B(Q^{*},\delta)^{c}) = \mathbf{E}\left(\mathbb{1}_{\{(\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}); L_{N}[\underline{\theta},\underline{\omega}]\in B(Q^{*},\delta)^{c}\}}\right)$  is the probability (conditioned on the disorder  $(\omega)$ ) that  $L_{N}$  is outside the ball  $B(Q^{*},\delta)$  under the law of the Brownian motion only. Consequently, one obtains from (2.47), (2.49) and from Markov inequality that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\mathbf{P}_{N}^{\underline{\omega}}(B(Q^{*},\delta)^{c}) \geqslant e^{-N\frac{\alpha(\delta)}{4}}\right) \leqslant e^{-N\frac{\alpha(\delta)}{4}}.$$
(2.50)

In particular,

$$\sum_{N \ge 1} \mathbb{P}\left(\mathbf{P}_{N}^{\omega}(B(Q^{*},\delta)^{c}) \ge e^{-N\frac{\alpha(\delta)}{4}}\right) < \infty.$$
(2.51)

Applying Borel-Cantelli lemma ([11, Th. 4.3, p. 59]) we obtain that for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence ( $\omega$ ),

$$\exists N_1 = N_1(\delta) \ge 1, \forall N \ge N_1, \quad \mathbf{P}_N^{\underline{\omega}}(B(Q^*, \delta)^c) < e^{-N\frac{\alpha(\delta)}{4}}.$$
 (2.52)

Note that the assertion "for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence ( $\omega$ )" actually depends on  $\delta > 0$ . If we restrict to a countable set  $\Delta$  of values of  $\delta > 0$ , there exists a set of sequences ( $\omega$ ) with  $\mathbb{P}$ -probability 1, such that for all  $\delta \in \Delta$  (2.52) is true. For such ( $\omega$ ), for all  $\delta \in \Delta$ , (2.52) gives:  $\mathbf{P}_{N}^{\underline{\omega}}(B(Q^{*}, \delta)^{c}) \to 0$  as  $N \to \infty$ , which proves Proposition 2.13.  $\Box$ 

#### 4 Quenched convergence of the empirical flow

In this section we prove Theorem 2.16. Reformulating (2.1) in terms of  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$ , we have:

$$\forall i = 1, \dots N, \ \forall t \in [0, T], \ \theta_{i,t} = \xi_i + \int_0^t b[\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i, \nu_{N,s}] \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t c(\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i) \,\mathrm{d}s + B_{i,t}, \ (2.53)$$

where we recall that  $b[\theta, \omega, m] := \int b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') dm(\theta', \omega')$ .

#### 4.1 Outline of the proof

The idea of the proof of Theorem 2.16 is the following: we show the tightness of the sequence  $(\nu_N^{(\omega)})$  firstly in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, v))$  where  $\mathcal{M}_1$  is endowed with the topology of vague convergence (recall Notations in § 2.2), which is quite simple since  $\mathcal{C}_c(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  is separable. Then by an argument of boundedness of the second marginal of any accumulation point, thanks to (2.9), we show the tightness in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, w))$ , when  $\mathcal{M}_1$  is endowed with the weak convergence topology.

We decompose the proof of Theorem 2.16 into several steps:

- 1. Tightness of  $\mathcal{L}(\nu_N^{(\omega)})$  in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T],(\mathcal{M}_1,v)),$
- 2. Equation verified by any accumulation point,
- 3. Characterization of the marginals of any limit,
- 4. Tightness in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T],(\mathcal{M}_1,w))$ .

## 4.2 Equation verified by $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$

For  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ , we denote by  $\varphi'$ ,  $\varphi''$  the first and second derivative of  $\varphi$  with respect to the first variable. Moreover, if  $m \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ , then  $\langle m, \varphi \rangle$  stands for  $\int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \varphi(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}m(\theta, \omega)$ .

Applying Ito's formula to (2.53), we obtain, for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ ,

$$\left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \varphi \right\rangle = \left\langle \nu_{N,0}^{(\omega)}, \varphi \right\rangle + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \nu_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \varphi'' \right\rangle + \left\langle \nu_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \varphi'(b[\cdot, \cdot, \nu_{N,s}^{(\omega)}] + c) \right\rangle \right\} + M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi), \tag{2.54}$$

where

$$M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi) := \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} \int_0^t \varphi'(\theta_j, \omega_j) \,\mathrm{d}B_{j,s}$$
(2.55)

is a square-integrable martingale (recall that  $\varphi'$  is bounded).

## 4.3 Tightness of $\mathcal{L}(\nu_N^{(\omega)})$ for the vague topology $\mathbf{D}([0,T],(\mathcal{M}_1,v))$

The space  $C_c(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  is separable: let  $(\varphi_k)_{k \geq 1}$  (elements of  $C^{\infty}(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ ) a dense sequence in  $C_c(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ , and let  $\varphi_0 \equiv 1$ . We define  $\Omega := \mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, v))$  and the applications  $\Pi_{\varphi}$ ,  $\varphi \in C_c(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  by:

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_{\varphi} : & \Omega & \to & \mathbf{D}([0,T],\mathbf{R}) \\ & m & \mapsto & \langle m \,, \, \varphi \rangle \,. \end{aligned}$$

Let  $(P_N)_{N \ge 1}$  a sequence of probabilities on  $\Omega$ . We recall the following result:

**Lemma 2.41** ([73], Th. 2.1, p. 56). If for all  $k \ge 0$ , the sequence  $(P_N \circ \Pi_{\varphi_k}^{-1})_{N \ge 1}$  is tight in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{D}([0,T], \mathbf{R}))$ , then the sequence  $(P_N)_{N \ge 1}$  is tight in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, v)))$ .

Hence, it suffices to have a criterion for tightness in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T],\mathbf{R})$ . Let  $(X_t^N)_{N \ge 1}$  be a sequence of processes in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T],\mathbf{R})$  and  $(\mathcal{F}_t^N)_{N \ge 1}$  a sequence of filtrations such that  $X^N$  is  $\mathcal{F}^N$ -adapted. Let  $\phi^N = \{\text{stopping times for } \mathcal{F}^N\}$ . We have (cf. Billingsley [11]):

Lemma 2.42 (Aldous' criterion). If the following holds,

1.  $\mathcal{L}\left(\sup_{t \leq T} |X_t^N|\right)_{N \geq 1}$  is tight, 2. For all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\eta > 0$ , there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$\limsup_{N} \sup_{S,S' \in \phi^{N}; S \leqslant S' \leqslant (S+\delta) \wedge T} \mathbf{P} \left( \left| X_{S}^{N} - X_{S'}^{N} \right| > \eta \right) \leqslant \varepsilon,$$

then  $\mathcal{L}(X^N)_{N \ge 1}$  is tight.

**Proposition 2.43.** The sequence  $\mathcal{L}(\nu_N^{(\omega)})$  is tight in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, v))$ .

Proof of Proposition 2.43. For all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , for all  $k \ge 1$  (the case k = 0 is straightforward),

$$\mathbf{P}\left(\sup_{t \leq T} \left| \left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_k \right\rangle \right| > \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \right) \leq \varepsilon \| \varphi_k \|_{\infty} \mathbf{E}\left[ \sup_{t \leq T} \left| \underbrace{\left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, 1 \right\rangle}_{=1} \right| \right], \quad \text{(Markov Inequality)}.$$

The tightness of  $\mathcal{L}\left(\sup_{t \leq T} \left| \left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_k \right\rangle \right| \right)_{N \geq 1}$  for all  $k \geq 0$  follows.

For all  $k \ge 1$ , one can rewrite (2.54) (for  $\varphi = \varphi_k$ ) into the sum of a process of bounded variations  $A_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k)$  and the martingale part  $M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k)$  defined in (2.55):

$$\left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_k \right\rangle = \left\langle \nu_{N,0}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_k \right\rangle + A_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k) + M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k),$$

Then it suffices to verify Lemma 2.42, (2) for A and M separately. For all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\eta > 0$ , for all stopping times  $S, S' \in \phi^N; S \leq S' \leq (S + \delta) \wedge T$ , we have:

$$a_{N} := \mathbf{P}\left(\left|A_{N,S'}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_{k}) - A_{N,S}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_{k})\right| > \eta\right),$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\eta} \mathbf{E}\left[\int_{S}^{S'} \mathrm{d}s \left|\left\langle\nu_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_{k}'(b[\cdot, \cdot, \nu_{N,s}^{(\omega)}] + c)\right\rangle\right|\right] + \frac{1}{\eta} \mathbf{E}\left[\frac{1}{2}\int_{S}^{S'} \mathrm{d}s \left|\left\langle\nu_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_{k}''\right\rangle\right|\right],$$

$$\leq \frac{C}{\eta} \mathbf{E}\left[S' - S\right] \leq \varepsilon, \quad \text{for } \delta \text{ sufficiently small}, \qquad (2.56)$$

where we used in (2.56) that  $\varphi_k$  is of compact support for  $k \ge 1$ ; in particular the function  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto \varphi'_k(\theta, \omega)c(\theta, \omega)$  is bounded. Furthermore,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{P}\left(\left|M_{N,S'}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k) - M_{N,S}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k)\right| > \eta\right) &= \mathbf{P}\left(\left|M_{N,S'}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k) - M_{N,S}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k)\right|^2 > \eta^2\right), \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{\eta^2} \mathbf{E}\left[\left|M_{N,S'}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k) - M_{N,S}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_k)\right|^2\right], \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{(N\eta)^2} \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^N \int_S^{S'} \varphi_k'^2(\theta_{i,s},\omega_i) \,\mathrm{d}s\right] \leqslant \frac{C}{N\eta^2} \delta_i. \end{aligned}$$

for some constant C > 0 depending of the supremum norm of  $\varphi'_k$ . So Aldous' criterion is verified for both processes A and M. Applying Lemma 2.41, Proposition 2.43 is proved.  $\Box$ 

At this point,  $\mathcal{L}(\nu_N^{(\omega)})$  is tight in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T],(\mathcal{M}_1,v))$ .

#### 4.4 Equation satisfied by any accumulation point in $D([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, v))$

Using hypothesis (2.10), it is easy to show that the following equation is satisfied for every accumulation point  $\nu$ , for every  $\varphi \in C_c^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  (we use here that **S** is compact):

$$\langle \nu_t, \varphi \rangle = \langle \nu_0, \varphi \rangle + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, \langle \nu_s, \varphi'(b[\cdot, \cdot, \nu_s] + c) \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \, \langle \nu_s, \varphi'' \rangle. \tag{2.57}$$

For any accumulation point  $\nu$ , the following lemma gives a uniform bound for the second marginal of  $\nu$ :

**Lemma 2.44.** Let  $\nu$  be an accumulation point of  $(\nu_N^{(\omega)})_N$  in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, v))$ . For all  $t \in [0,T]$ , we define by  $(\nu_{t,2})$  the second marginal of  $\nu_t$ :

$$\forall A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbf{R}), \quad (\nu_{2,t})(A) = \int_{\mathbf{S} \times A} \mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta, \omega).$$

Then, for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} \sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}} |c(\theta, \omega)| \, \mathrm{d}\nu_{2,t}(\omega) \leqslant \int_{\mathbf{R}} \sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}} |c(\theta, \omega)| \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega).$$
(2.58)

Proof of Lemma 2.44. Let  $\phi$  be a  $C^2$  positive function on **R** such that  $\phi \equiv 1$  on [-1, 1],  $\phi \equiv 0$  on [-2, 2] and  $\|\phi\|_{\infty} \leq 1$ . Let,

$$\forall k \ge 1, \quad \phi_k := \omega \mapsto \phi\left(\frac{\omega}{k}\right).$$

Then  $\phi_k \in \mathcal{C}^2_c(\mathbf{R})$  and  $\phi_k(\omega) \to_{k\to\infty} 1$ , for all  $\omega \in \mathbf{R}$ . We have also for all  $\omega \in \mathbf{R}$ ,  $|\phi_k(\omega)| \leq ||\phi||_{\infty}, |\phi'_k(\omega)| \leq ||\phi'||_{\infty}, |\phi''_k(\omega)| \leq ||\phi''||_{\infty}$ . We have successively, denoting  $S(\omega) := \sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}} |c(\theta, \omega)|,$ 

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} S(\omega') \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta, \omega') = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \liminf_{k \to \infty} \phi_k(\omega') S(\omega') \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta, \omega'), 
\leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \phi_k(\omega') S(\omega') \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta, \omega'), \text{ (Fatou's lemma)}, 
= \liminf_{k \to \infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \phi_k(\omega') S(\omega') \, \mathrm{d}\nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\theta, \omega'), 
\leq \lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} S(\omega') \, \mathrm{d}\nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\theta, \omega'), \text{ (since } \|\phi\|_{\infty} \leq 1).$$
(2.59)

Equality (2.59) is true since  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto \phi_k(\omega)S(\omega)$  is of compact support in  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$  (recall that S is supposed to be continuous by hypothesis).

But, by definition of  $\nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$ , and using the hypothesis (2.9) concerning  $\mu$ , we have,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} S(\omega') \, \mathrm{d}\nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\theta, \omega') = \int_{\mathbf{R}} S(\omega') \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega').$$
(2.60)

The result follows and Lemma 2.44 is proved.

## 4.5 Tightness of $\mathcal{L}(\nu_N^{(\omega)})$ in the weak topology $\mathbf{D}([0,T],(\mathcal{M}_1,w))$

The purpose of this paragraph is to show the tightness of the sequence  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  in the space  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, w))$  that is when  $\mathcal{M}_1$  is endowed with the topology of weak convergence. We have the following lemma (see [60]):

**Lemma 2.45.** Let  $(X_N)_{N \ge 1}$  be a sequence of processes in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_1, w))$  and X a process belonging to  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_F, w))$ . Then,

$$X_N \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} X \Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} X_N \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} X & \text{in } \mathbf{D}([0,T], (\mathcal{M}_F, v)), \\ \langle X_N, 1 \rangle \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \langle X, 1 \rangle & \text{in } \mathbf{D}([0,T], \mathbf{R}). \end{cases}$$

So, it suffices to show, for any accumulation point  $\nu$ :

- 1.  $\langle \nu, 1 \rangle = 1$ : Equality (2.57) is true for all  $\varphi \in C_c^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ , so in particular for  $\varphi_k(\theta, \omega) := \phi_k(\omega)$  for the function  $\phi(\cdot)$  defined in the proof of Lemma 2.44. Using inequality (2.58), we can apply dominated convergence theorem to (2.57). We then have  $\langle \nu_t, 1 \rangle = 1$ , for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . The fact that (2.57) is verified for all  $\varphi \in C_b^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  can be shown in the same way.
- 2. Continuity of the limit: For all  $0 \leq s \leq t \leq T$ , for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \nu_t, \varphi \rangle - \langle \nu_s, \varphi \rangle| &\leq K \int_s^t |\langle \nu_u, \varphi' b[\cdot, \cdot, \nu_u] \rangle | \, \mathrm{d}u + \frac{1}{2} \int_s^t |\langle \nu_u, \varphi'' \rangle | \, \mathrm{d}u \\ &+ \int_s^t |\langle \nu_u, \varphi' c \rangle | \, \mathrm{d}u \leqslant C \times |t-s| \,, \quad \text{for some constant } C \end{aligned}$$

Noticing that we used again Lemma 2.44 to bound the last term, we have the result.

**Remark 2.46.** It is then easy to see that the second marginal (on the disorder) of any accumulation point is  $\mu$ .

Consequently,  $\mathcal{L}(\nu_N^{(\omega)})$  is tight in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T],(\mathcal{M}_1,w))$  and any accumulation point  $\nu$  satisfy (2.57). Theorem 2.16 is proved.

#### 5 Uniqueness in McKean-Vlasov equation

The purpose of this section is to prove Proposition 2.20 concerning the uniqueness in McKean-Vlasov equation (2.11). We follow the lines of Oelschläger [67, Lemma 10, p. 474], who proved a similar result for diffusions without disorder.

We can rewrite (2.11) in a more compact way:

$$\forall \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), 0 \leqslant t \leqslant T, \quad \langle \nu_t, \varphi \rangle = \langle \nu_0, \varphi \rangle + \int_0^t \langle \nu_s, L(\nu_s)(\varphi) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s, \tag{2.61}$$

where,

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \forall \omega \in \mathbf{R}, \quad L(\nu)(\varphi)(\theta, \omega) := \frac{1}{2}\varphi''(\theta, \omega) + \varphi'(\theta, \omega) \left(b[\theta, \omega, \nu] + c(\theta, \omega)\right).$$

Let  $t \mapsto \nu_t$  be any solution of (2.61). One can then introduce the following SDE:

$$\begin{cases} d\xi_t = (b[\xi_t, \omega_t, \nu_t] + c(\xi_t, \omega_t)) dt + dW_t, \quad (\xi_0, \omega_0) \sim \nu_0, \\ d\omega_t = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.62)

The system (2.62) has a unique (strong) solution  $(\xi_t, \omega_t)_{t \in [0,T]} = (\xi_t, \omega_0)_{t \in [0,T]}$ . The proof of uniqueness in (2.61) consists in two steps:

1. Let us prove firstly that for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $\nu_t$  is equal to the law  $\mathcal{L}_{(\xi_t, \omega_t)} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  of the strong solution of system (2.62).

Indeed, if one applies Ito's formula to (2.62), one obtains:

$$\forall \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), \forall t \in [0, T], \quad \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{(\xi_t, \omega_t)}, \varphi \right\rangle = \left\langle \nu_0, \varphi \right\rangle + \int_0^t \left\langle \mathcal{L}_{(\xi_s, \omega_s)}, L(\nu_s)(\varphi) \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

In particular, both  $(\mathcal{L}_{(\xi_t,\omega_t)})_{t\in[0,T]}$  and  $(\nu_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$ , processes in  $\mathbf{D}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}))$ , solve the following equation:

$$\forall \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), \forall t \in [0, T], \quad \langle P_t, \varphi \rangle = \langle \nu_0, \varphi \rangle + \int_0^t \langle P_s, L(\nu_s)(\varphi) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s. \quad (2.63)$$

Let  $(P_t)_{t \in [0,T]} \in \mathbf{D}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  be any solution of the previous equation (2.63). Let  $(t, \theta, \omega) \mapsto \varphi_t(\theta, \omega) \in \mathcal{C}_b([0,T] \times \mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  with one bounded continuous partial derivative with respect to t and bounded first and second partial derivatives with respect to  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$ . Then, for any  $l \ge 1$ , for  $\delta = t/l$ ,

$$\langle P_t , \varphi_t \rangle - \langle \nu_0 , \varphi_0 \rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} \left\langle P_{(k+1)\delta} , \varphi_{(k+1)\delta} \right\rangle - \langle P_{k\delta} , \varphi_{k\delta} \rangle,$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} \left\{ \left\langle P_{(k+1)\delta} , \varphi_{(k+1)\delta} \right\rangle - \left\langle P_{k\delta} , \varphi_{(k+1)\delta} - \int_{k\delta}^{(k+1)\delta} \partial_s \varphi_s \, \mathrm{d}s \right\rangle \right\}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} \left\{ \left\langle P_{(k+1)\delta} , \varphi_{(k+1)\delta} \right\rangle - \left\langle P_{k\delta} , \varphi_{(k+1)\delta} \right\rangle$$

$$+ \int_{k\delta}^{(k+1)\delta} \langle P_{k\delta} , \partial_s \varphi_s \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s \right\},$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} \int_{k\delta}^{(k+1)\delta} \left\{ \left\langle P_s , L(\nu_s)\varphi_{(k+1)\delta} \right\rangle + \langle P_{k\delta} , \partial_s \varphi_s \rangle \right\} \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad (2.64)$$

where we used in (2.64) the fact that (recall (2.63)) for any  $0 \le u < v \le T$  and function  $\psi$ ,

$$\langle P_v, \psi \rangle - \langle P_u, \psi \rangle = \int_u^v \langle P_w, L(\nu_w)\psi \rangle \,\mathrm{d}w.$$

So,

$$\begin{split} \langle P_t \,,\,\varphi_t \rangle - \langle \nu_0 \,,\,\varphi_0 \rangle &= \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} \bigg\{ \int_{k\delta}^{(k+1)\delta} \left\langle P_s \,,\, (L(\nu_s) + \partial_s) \,\varphi_s \right\rangle \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{k\delta}^{(k+1)\delta} \left( \left\langle P_s \,,\, L(\nu_s)(\varphi_{(k+1)\delta} - \varphi_s) \right\rangle - \left\langle P_s - P_{k\delta} \,,\, \partial_s \varphi_s \right\rangle \right) \,\mathrm{d}s \bigg\}, \\ &= \int_0^t \left\langle P_s \,,\, (L(\nu_s) + \partial_s) \,\varphi_s \right\rangle \,\mathrm{d}s + r(\delta), \end{split}$$

with  $\lim_{\delta \to 0} r(\delta) = 0$ , since  $P \in \mathbf{D}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1)$ . At the limit, we have:

$$\langle P_t, \varphi_t \rangle = \langle \nu_0, \varphi_0 \rangle + \int_0^t \langle P_s, (L(\nu_s) + \partial_s) \varphi_s \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
 (2.65)

We can apply (2.65) to  $\varphi^T(t, x, \omega) := \mathbf{E} \left[ \varphi(\xi^{x,t}(T), \omega) \right]$ , where  $\xi^{x,t}$  is the solution of (2.62) with  $\xi^{x,t}(t) = x$ . This leads to:

$$P_t = \mathcal{L}_{(\xi_t, \omega_t)}.$$

The result follows.

2. We know that, necessarily, any solution  $(\nu_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$  to (2.61) is such that  $\nu_t = \mathcal{L}_{(\xi_t,\omega_t)}$  for all  $t \in [0,T]$ . Let us now prove that such process  $(\xi_t,\omega_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$  is unique. In this way,  $\nu$  will be uniquely defined as the law of the process  $(\xi,\omega)$ . For simplicity, we will denote as  $(\mathcal{L}_t)_{t\in[0,T]}$  in place of  $(\mathcal{L}_{(\xi_t,\omega_t)})_{t\in[0,T]}$  the law of this process.

By the first part of the proof, we see that the solution of (2.62) is a solution of the following stochastic differential equation (2.66):

$$d\xi_t = (b[\xi_t, \omega, \mathcal{L}_t] + c(\xi_t, \omega)) dt + dW_t, \quad (\xi_0, \omega) \sim \nu_0.$$
(2.66)

Note that since the marginal of  $\nu_0$  on the disorder is  $\mu$  by hypothesis, this is also true for  $\mathcal{L}_t \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ; namely one can write:

$$d\mathcal{L}_t(\theta, \omega) = d\mu(\omega) \otimes d\mathcal{L}_t^{\omega}(\theta), \qquad (2.67)$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_t^{\omega}$  is the law of  $\xi_t$  conditioned on  $\omega$ .

It suffices to show that (2.66) has a unique solution. Let  $\xi^1$  and  $\xi^2$  be two solutions of (2.66), with  $(\xi_0^1, \omega) = (\xi_0^2, \omega)$ , a.s. and driven by the same Brownian motion  $W_t$ . The law of  $(\xi_i, \omega)$ , i = 1, 2, will denoted as  $\mathcal{L}_i$ . Then we have, for some constant C > 0 which may change from a line to another:

$$\mathbf{E}\left(\left|\xi_{t}^{1}-\xi_{t}^{2}\right|^{2}\right) \leqslant C \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \mathbf{E}\left(\left|b[\xi_{s}^{1},\omega,\mathcal{L}_{s,1}]-b[\xi_{s}^{2},\omega,\mathcal{L}_{s,2}]\right|^{2}+\left|c(\xi_{t}^{1},\omega)-c(\xi_{t}^{2},\omega)\right|^{2}\right),\\ \leqslant C \int_{0}^{t}\left\|\mathcal{L}_{s,1}^{\omega}-\mathcal{L}_{s,2}^{\omega}\right\|_{1}^{2} \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) \mathrm{d}s,$$

where  $\|m\|_1 := \sup \{ \langle m, \varphi \rangle; \varphi \in BL_1(\mathbf{S}) \}$ . But,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{L}_{s,1}^{\omega} - \mathcal{L}_{s,2}^{\omega} \right\|_{1}^{2} &\leq \left( \int \int d\mathcal{L}(\xi^{1},\xi^{2})(\theta,\theta')|\theta - \theta'| \right)^{2}, \\ &= \mathbf{E} \left( \left| \xi_{s}^{1} - \xi_{s}^{2} \right| \right)^{2} \leq \mathbf{E} \left( \left| \xi_{s}^{1} - \xi_{s}^{2} \right|^{2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

An application of Gronwall's Lemma shows that  $\xi_t^1 = \xi_t^2$  almost surely (t fixed). The right-continuity of both processes imply that  $\xi_t^1 = \xi_t^2$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , with probability 1. Uniqueness in (2.61) follows and Proposition 2.20 is proved.

## Chapter 3

# Regularity and stability properties of McKean-Vlasov evolution

The material of this chapter is taken from a joint work with Giambattista Giacomin and Christophe Poquet [41], which has been submitted for publication to *Journal of Dynamics and Differential Equations*.

#### Contents

1	Int	roduction
	1.1	Regularity of the McKean-Vlasov semigroup
	1.2	Phase transition in synchronization
	1.3	Stability of synchronization
<b>2</b>	$\mathbf{Set}$	tings and main results
	2.1	Strong formulation and regularity of the semigroup 73
	2.2	Stationary solutions and synchronization in the sine-model $\ldots$ 75
	2.3	Weighted Sobolev spaces
	2.4	Stability of stationary solutions
	2.5	Organization of remainder of the chapter
3	Reg	gularity and stationarity in McKean-Vlasov evolution 90
	3.1	Regularity of the semigroup (proofs of Prop. 3.1 and $3.5$ ) 90
	3.2	Stationarity in McKean-Vlasov equation
4	Sta	bility of synchronization in the symmetric case
	4.1	Linear stability in the <i>labeled evolution</i> (proof of Prop. $3.25$ ) 98
	4.2	Decomposition of the operator $L_q^{\delta}$
	4.3	Spectral properties of $L_q^{\delta} = A + B$
	4.4	The spectrum of $L_a^{\delta}$
		A. A
# 1 Introduction

The main conclusion of Chapter 2 is that the McKean-Vlasov evolution (2.11) (whose weak form is rewritten below for the clarity of exposition) is the relevant object for the study of the large N limit in the Kuramoto model.

Namely, for any functions  $(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') \mapsto b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega')$  and  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto c(\theta, \omega)$  satisfying the regularity hypothesis made in Chapter 2 (§ 2.4.2), for any positive time T > 0, the weak formulation of McKean-Vlasov evolution, whose unknown  $\nu$  belongs to  $\mathcal{C}([0, T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$ , is given by (for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , and  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_b^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ , the set of bounded continuous functions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$  with two bounded continuous derivatives w.r.t. the first variable  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$ ),

$$\int \varphi(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta,\omega) = \int \varphi(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_0(\theta,\omega) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \int \varphi''(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_s(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t \int \varphi'(\theta,\omega) \left( \int b(\theta,\theta',\omega,\omega') \,\mathrm{d}\nu_s(\theta',\omega') + c(\theta,\omega) \right) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_s(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$
(3.1)

where the second marginal (w.r.t. to the disorder  $\omega$ ) of the initial condition  $\nu_0(d\theta, d\omega)$  is  $\mu(d\omega)$  so that one can write

$$\nu_0(d\theta, d\omega) = \nu_0^{\omega}(d\theta)\mu(d\omega),$$

where  $\nu_0^{\omega}$  is a probability measure on **S**, for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $\omega$ . We know (Proposition 2.20) that there exists a unique solution to (3.1). Note in particular that existence can be seen as a consequence of either the fact that a good rate function always has at least one zero (Theorem 2.11) or either from the tightness of the empirical flow in the quenched context (Theorem 2.16).

## 1.1 Regularity of the McKean-Vlasov semigroup

The first aim of this chapter is to establish regularity properties of evolution (3.1), proving in particular that its solution is in fact regular in time and space and that its density  $q_t(\theta, \omega)$  (w.r.t. to the Lebesgue measure) is the strong solution of the strong formulation of McKean-Vlasov evolution defined in (1.18).

Note that this regularity result is again not specific to the *sine-model* and will be proved in whole generality. The rest of the chapter concerns the *sine-model*, that is, as already mentioned, in the particular case where  $b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') = K \sin(\theta' - \theta)$  and  $c(\theta, \omega) = \omega$ .

## **1.2** Phase transition in synchronization

The second goal of the chapter is to recall the mathematical background for the meaning of *synchronization* already set up by Sakaguchi in [75] in the case of the disordered *sine-model* and to discuss the existence of stationary solutions to (1.18) for nontrivial distributions of the disorder.

After making explicit the proper parameterization for the synchronized solutions of (1.18), based on the order parameters  $r_t$  and  $\psi_t$  mentioned in (1.20), we show the phase transition remains the same as the one that happens in the non-disordered case (see Propositions 3.10 and 3.13), at least when the disorder is small. Proposition 3.10 relies on perturbation argument of the non-disordered case, for which Pearce ([71]) has shown that the fixed-point function governing the phase transition is strictly concave.

In the case of arbitrary distributions of the disorder, the phase transition from incoherence to synchronization can become very complex, even for simple instances of  $\mu$ . In particular, the case of binary distribution of the disorder  $\mu = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$  which is an example where two distinct circles of synchronized solutions may coexists (Proposition 3.11) is discussed in details in § 2.2.3.

#### **1.3** Stability of synchronization

The third and main goal of this chapter is to tackle the issue of the stability of nontrivial stationary solutions to McKean-Vlasov evolution (3.1).

Based on the work by Bertini, Giacomin and Pakdaman [9], who addressed the question of the linear stability of the synchronized solution in the non-disordered model, we prove an analogous result, at least in the case where the disorder (seen as a perturbation) is small: using techniques from functional analysis (perturbations of self-adjoint operators and analytic semigroups), the main result of this chapter (Theorem 3.27) states that for a sufficiently positive small disorder, there exists a unique circle of synchronized stationary solutions to (3.1) and that this circle is both linearly and nonlinearly stable.

We conclude this chapter by stating an alternative approach of stability of synchronization developed for the non-disordered *sine-model* by G. Giacomin, K. Pakdaman, X. Pellegrin and C. Poquet [43] which can be applied to our concern and presents the major advantage of being generalizable to the case where  $\mu$  is not symmetric, as well as for more general models (e.g. active rotators, see [76]). This approach relies on the notion of *stable normal hyperbolic manifold* (see [79]) and the fact that this structure is robust under perturbations. We will only mention this result (§ 2.4.4) and we refer to [41] for precise statements and proofs.

# 2 Settings and main results

# 2.1 Strong formulation of McKean-Vlasov evolution and regularity of the semigroup

#### 2.1.1 The general case

The first aim of this chapter is to establish regularity properties of the solution of the nonlinear equation (3.1).

In what follows, in addition to the hypothesis made on b and c in Chapter 2, § 2.4.2, we assume that

- for all  $\omega, \omega', (\theta, \theta') \mapsto b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega')$  is of class  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  with bounded derivatives,
- for all  $\omega$ ,  $\theta \mapsto c(\theta, \omega)$  is of class  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$ , with derivatives uniformly bounded on every  $\mathbf{S} \times [-M, M]$ , for all M > 0.

We come now to the statement of the regularity result:

**Proposition 3.1.** For all probability measure  $\nu_0(d\theta, d\omega) = \nu_0^{\omega}(d\theta)\mu(d\omega)$  on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ , for all T > 0, there exists a unique solution  $\nu$  to (3.1) in  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  such that for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ ,

$$\lim_{t \searrow 0} \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \varphi(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta, \omega) = \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \varphi(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_0^{\omega}(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega).$$

Moreover, for all t > 0,  $\nu_t$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\lambda \otimes \mu$  and for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $\omega \in Supp(\mu)$ , its density  $(t, \theta, \omega) \mapsto p_t(\theta, \omega)$  is strictly positive on  $(0, T] \times \mathbf{S}$ , is  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  in  $(t, \theta)$  and solves the following Fokker-Planck equation (3.2):

$$\partial_t p_t(\theta,\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 p_t(\theta,\omega) - \partial_\theta \left\{ p_t(\theta,\omega) \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} b(\theta,\theta',\omega,\omega') p_t(\theta',\omega') \,\mathrm{d}\theta' \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega') + c(\theta,\omega) \right) \right\}.$$
(3.2)

**Remark 3.2.** The existence and uniqueness of a solution to (3.2) in the space  $\mathbf{L}^2(\lambda \otimes \mu)$  of square-integrable functions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$  can be tackled using Banach fixed-point arguments (see [79, Section 4.7]), but one can obtain more regularity from the theory of fundamental solutions of parabolic equations (see [4] and [37]).

**Remark 3.3.** We retrieve here the strong formulation of McKean-Vlasov evolution (1.18) we mentioned in the main introduction of this thesis. We insist on the fact that (3.2) is indeed a (possibly) infinite system of *coupled* PDEs with quadratic nonlinearity (recall § 4.1).

We focus now on the regularity of the solution  $p_t(\theta, \omega)$  of (3.2) with respect to the disorder  $\omega$ . Since the evolution (3.2) is degenerate with respect to the component  $\omega$ , in order to state some regularity result with respect to the disorder we need to start from a regular initial condition in  $\omega$ : we assume here that the initial condition  $\nu_0$  is such that for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ ,  $\nu_0^{\omega}(d\theta)$  is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure on **S**: there exists a positive integrable function  $\gamma(\cdot, \omega)$  of integral 1 on **S** such that  $\nu_0^{\omega}(d\theta) = \gamma(\theta, \omega) d\theta$ .

**Remark 3.4.** Note that this is a generalization of the hypothesis made on the initial condition of the oscillators in (2.13) where we supposed that the oscillators were initially i.i.d. realizations with law  $\gamma$ . We make here the slight abuse of notations in confusing here the initial  $\gamma$  with the density  $\gamma(\cdot, \omega)$ .

In this case, we have

**Proposition 3.5** (Regularity w.r.t. the disorder). For every  $(t_0, \theta_0) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbf{S}$ , for every  $\omega_0$  which is an accumulation point in  $\operatorname{Supp}(\mu)$  such that the following holds

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}} |\gamma(\theta, \omega) - \gamma(\theta, \omega_0)| \, \mathrm{d}\theta \to 0, \quad as \; \omega \to \omega_0 \,,$$

then the solution p of (3.2) defined on  $(0,\infty) \times \mathbf{S} \times \text{Supp}(\mu)$  is continuous at the point  $(t_0, \theta_0, \omega_0)$ .

Propositions 3.1 and 3.5 are proved in § 3.1.

#### 2.1.2 The case of the sine-model

For the sake of completeness, let us specify what happens in the particular case of the *sine-model* case (1.1):

**Proposition 3.6** (Strong McKean-Vlasov evolution for the sine-model). In the case where  $b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') = K \sin(\theta' - \theta)$  (K > 0) and  $c(\theta, \omega) = \omega$ , the Fokker-Planck equation (3.2) becomes:

$$\partial_t p_t(\theta, \omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 p_t(\theta, \omega) - \partial_\theta \Big( p_t(\theta, \omega) (\langle J * p_t \rangle_\mu(\theta) + \omega) \Big), \tag{3.3}$$

where

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \quad J(\theta) = -K\sin(\theta), \tag{3.4}$$

and where \* denotes the convolution and  $\langle \cdot \rangle_{\mu}$  is a notation for the integration with respect to  $\mu$ , so that  $\langle J * u \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} J(\theta') u(\theta - \theta', \omega) d\theta' d\mu(\omega)$  is the convolution of J and u, averaged with respect to the disorder. Of course, all that has been stated before remain valid in the particular case of the *sine-model*. Note in particular that q is  $C^{\infty}$  in  $(t, \theta)$  in this case.

## 2.2 Stationary solutions and synchronization in the sine-model

In this paragraph, we restrict ourselves to the case of the *sine-model* (recall (1.1) and Remark 1.3, p. 19). In order to understand the phenomenon of synchronization properly, one has to make a rigorous computation of the stationary solutions of the McKean-Vlasov evolution (3.3).

We also recall Remark 1.8, p. 24: in view of the rotational invariance mentioned for the sine-model (recall also § 2.1.3, p. 15), if  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto q(\theta, \omega)$  is a stationary solution to (3.3), then for all  $\theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}$ ,  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto q(\theta + \theta_0, \omega)$  is also a stationary solution. In other terms, finding a nontrivial stationary solution to (3.3) is in fact equivalent to find a whole circle of stationary solutions indexed by  $\theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}$ .

Remarkably ([75], see also [30]), all the stationary solutions to (3.3) can be written in a semi-explicit way at least when the distribution  $\mu$  of the disorder is symmetric: more precisely, in [75], Sakaguchi established (in the case of a symmetric disorder) a one-to-one correspondence between the stationary solutions to (3.3) (up to rotation) and the solutions  $r \in [0, 1]$  to a fixed-point relation  $r = \Psi^{\mu}(2Kr)$  where the fixed-point function  $\Psi^{\mu}(\cdot)$  will be made explicit below. An immediate consequence is that the system exhibits a phase transition as the coupling strength K increases from 0 to  $\infty$ .

Before going into the details of the general case, we insist on the situation where there is no disorder ( $\mu = \delta_0$ ), which has its own interest since its phase transition is particularly simple.

## 2.2.1 The non-disordered case

The Kuramoto evolution (3.3) in the case with no disorder ( $\mu = \delta_0$ ) reduces to

$$\partial_t p_t(\theta) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 p_t(\theta) - \partial_\theta \Big( p_t(\theta) (J * p_t(\theta)) \Big).$$
(3.5)

**Remark 3.7.** The evolution (3.5) will be referred to, in the rest of this chapter as the *non-disordered PDE*.

In this case the fixed-point relation is given by

$$r_0 = \Psi_0(2Kr_0)$$
 where  $\Psi_0(x) := \frac{I_1(x)}{I_0(x)}$ , (3.6)

where we used standard notations for the modified Bessel functions

$$I_i(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbf{S}} (\cos(\theta))^i \exp(x\cos(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \qquad i = 0, 1.$$

For each solution  $r_0 \in [0, 1]$  of (3.6), the corresponding stationary solution (see Figure 3.1) will be given by

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \quad q_0(\theta) = \frac{1}{Z_0} e^{2Kr_0 \cos(\theta)}, \tag{3.7}$$

where  $Z_0 = \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{2Kr_0 \cos(\theta)} d\theta$  is the normalization constant. It is easy to see that the mapping  $\Psi_0(\cdot)$  is continuous, increasing, concave (see [71]) and such that  $\Phi_0(0) = 0$ ,  $\lim_{x\to\infty} \Psi_0(x) = 1$  and  $\partial_x \Psi_0(x)|_{x=0} = \frac{1}{2}$ <sup>[1]</sup>. Consequently, the phase diagram in this case is simple and is summarized in the following proposition:

<sup>[1].</sup> or equivalently the derivative of  $\Psi_0(2K \cdot)$  at the origin is K.



Figure 3.1: The plot of the synchronized solution  $q_0$  for K = 4. Each stationary solution to (3.5) is given by a rotation of this solution by an arbitrary  $\theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}$ .

**Proposition 3.8** (Phase transition in the non-disordered sine-model, see [75]). The nondisordered sine-model presents a phase transition (see Figure 3.2): if K > 0 is the coupling strength in the sine-model, then one can distinguish between two regimes:

1. The case  $K \leq K_c := 1$  (see Fig. 3.2a): then  $r_0 = 0$  is the fixed-point in (3.6) and the corresponding stationary solution to (3.5) is the incoherent solution

$$q(\cdot) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi}.\tag{3.8}$$

2. The case  $K > K_c$  (see Fig. 3.2b): then there exists a unique nontrivial fixed-point  $r_0 > 0$  in (3.6) and the incoherent solution  $\frac{1}{2\pi}$  cohabits with a whole circle of synchronized solutions

$$M_{rev} := \{q(\cdot + \theta_0); \, \theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}\}, \qquad (3.9)$$

for q given by (3.7).

**Remark 3.9.** In the notation  $M_{rev}$ , rev stands for reversible.

## 2.2.2 The symmetric case

We now turn to the study of general case, that is  $\mu$  symmetric. Although an analogous parameterization of the stationary solutions to (3.3) exists, the phase transition appears to be fairly more complicated, even for simple instances of the distribution  $\mu$ . The main complications come from the fact that the fixed-point function fails to be concave in general; in particular a number of questions regarding existence or uniqueness of nontrivial stationary solutions remain unfortunately open. After making the parameterization explicit in the general case, we will consider the example of the binary case which is particularly relevant as far as such difficulties are concerned.

As in the non-disordered case § 2.2.1, the following proposition holds:



Figure 3.2: The plot of the fixed-point function  $\Psi_0(2K \cdot)$  for two choices of K shows a phase transition at the critical point  $K_c = 1$ : for  $K \leq 1$  (Fig. 3.2a) the incoherent value  $r_0 = 0$  is the only fixed-point whereas for  $K > K_c$  (Fig. 3.2b) a unique nontrivial synchronized solution  $r_0 > 0$  appears.

**Proposition 3.10.** There is a one-to-one correspondence between the stationary solutions to (3.3) (up to rotation), and the solutions  $r \in [0, 1]$  of the fixed-point equation:

$$r = \Psi^{\mu}(2Kr), \quad where \quad \Psi^{\mu}(x) := \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{\int_{\mathbf{S}} \cos(\theta) S(\theta, \omega, x) \, \mathrm{d}\theta}{Z(\omega, x)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) \,, \tag{3.10}$$

where

$$S(\theta, \omega, x) = e^{G(\theta, \omega, x)} \left[ (1 - e^{4\pi\omega}) \int_0^\theta e^{-G(u, \omega, x)} du + e^{4\pi\omega} \int_0^{2\pi} e^{-G(u, \omega, x)} du \right], \quad (3.11)$$

for

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \forall x \in \mathbf{R}, \quad G(\theta, \omega, x) = x \cos(\theta) + 2\omega\theta$$
 (3.12)

and where

$$Z(\omega, x) = \int_{\mathbf{S}} S(\theta, \omega, x) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \tag{3.13}$$

is the normalization constant.

For each solution r to (3.10), the corresponding stationary solutions (see Figure 3.3 are given by the circle

$$M := \{q(\theta + \theta_0, \omega); \, \theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}\}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where

$$q(\theta,\omega) := \frac{S(\theta,\omega,2Kr)}{Z(\omega,2Kr)}.$$
(3.15)

One can verify by direct calculations (see Proposition 3.35) that  $\Psi^{\mu}(\cdot)$  is continuous with  $\lim_{x\to\infty} \Psi^{\mu}(x) = 1$  such that,

$$\Psi^{\mu}(0) = 0, \quad \partial_x \Psi^{\mu}(0) = \frac{1}{2\tilde{K}}, \text{ for } \tilde{K} := \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega)}{1 + 4\omega^2}\right)^{-1}, \quad (3.16)$$



Figure 3.3: The plot of one synchronized solution  $q(\cdot, \pm \omega)$  for K = 4 and  $\omega = 0.5$ . Each stationary solution to (3.3) is given by a rotation of this solution by an arbitrary  $\theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}$ .

and  $\partial_x^2 \Psi^{\mu}(0) = 0$ , and

$$\partial_x^3 \Psi^{\mu}(0) = -\frac{3}{4} D(\mu), \text{ with } D(\mu) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left( \frac{1}{2(1+\omega^2)} - \frac{8\omega^2}{(1+4\omega^2)^2} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega).$$
(3.17)

As in § 2.2.1, a series of remarks are in order:

- 1. As in the non-disordered case, r = 0 always solves (3.10) and this corresponds to the *incoherent solution*  $q(\cdot, \cdot) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi}$ . It is the only one as long as K does not exceed critical value  $K_c$  which is in any case not larger than  $\tilde{K}$  since the derivative of  $\Psi^{\mu}(2K\cdot)$  at the origin is precisely given by  $\frac{K}{K}$  so that it is larger than one if and only if  $K > \tilde{K}$ , see Figure 3.6.
- 2. When (3.10) admits a fixed-point r > 0, and this is certainly the case if  $K > \overline{K}$ , a nontrivial stationary solution is present and in fact, by rotation symmetry, a circle of nontrivial stationary solutions. Such solutions correspond to a synchronization phenomenon, since the distribution of the phases is no longer trivial.

Despite the fact that the fixed-point function  $\Psi^{\mu}(\cdot)$  is explicit (and may be seen as a perturbation of the non-disordered one (3.6)), the main difficulties arise in the precise study of its concavity on the interval [0, 1]. If one can have a precise knowledge about the concavity of  $\Psi^{\mu}(\cdot)$  in a neighborhood of the origin, very little is known about its concavity away from 0.

The situation is all the more different from the non-disordered case given the fact that we know that strict concavity fails to hold, even for simple distributions of the disorder (see for example Figure 3.5 and Figure 3.6):

**Proposition 3.11.** There exists probability measures  $\mu$  for which  $r \mapsto \Psi^{\mu}(2Kr)$  admits at least two distinct nontrivial fixed-point  $r_1 > 0$  and  $r_2 > 0$ .

Nevertheless, it is believed that the concavity holds in the case where  $\mu$  is *unimodal*, although this conjecture still remains open:

**Conjecture 3.12.** If  $\mu$  is unimodal, that is if  $\mu$  is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure  $\lambda$  on  $\mathbf{R}$  with density  $\omega \mapsto \frac{d\mu}{d\lambda}(\omega)$  that is an even function of  $\omega$ , strictly decreasing on  $[0, \infty)$ , then

$$\Psi^{\mu}(\cdot) \text{ is strictly concave on } [0,1]. \tag{3.18}$$

Although we are not able to give an answer to Conjecture 3.12 in whole generality, one can prove (3.18) in the particular case where  $\mu$  is *small*:

**Proposition 3.13.** For all M > 0,  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $K_{\max} > 0$ , there exists  $\delta = \delta(M, \alpha, K_{\max}) > 0$  such for all probability measure  $\mu$  which verifies

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega|^5 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) \leqslant M,\tag{3.19}$$

$$D(\mu) \geqslant \alpha, \tag{3.20}$$

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega|^3 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) \leqslant \delta, \tag{3.21}$$

then (3.18) is true.

**Remark 3.14.** It is easily seen that the hypothesis of Proposition 3.13 are in particular true for measures  $\mu$  with compact support in  $[-\omega_0, \omega_0]$  for some small  $\omega_0 > 0$ .

Note that if  $\mu$  is unimodal, then  $D(\mu) > 0$ . Since  $\mu \mapsto D(\mu)$  is continuous for the weak topology on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{R})$ , the hypothesis of Proposition 3.13 are also true (for some  $\alpha > 0$ ) for any set of probabilities  $\mu$  that is compact w.r.t. the weak topology, e.g. for a set of Gaussian measures with small, uniformly bounded variance.

#### 2.2.3 An example: the binary case

As seen in the previous paragraph, the phase diagram appears to be fairly more complicated than in the case with no disorder. In particular the phase transition may *not* be given by the derivative at the origin of the fixed-point function. In that sense, the example of the binary case where  $\mu = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$  for some  $\omega_0 > 0$  is particularly illustrative.

**Remark 3.15.** We make here the slight abuse of notations by writing  $\Psi^{\omega_0}$  instead of  $\Psi^{\frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-\omega_0}+\delta_{\omega_0})}$  for the fixed-point function (3.10) and  $D(\omega_0)$  instead of  $D(\frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-\omega_0}+\delta_{\omega_0}))$  for the functional  $D(\cdot)$  defined in (3.17).

Let us fix some K > 1 and make  $\omega_0$  vary from 0 to  $\infty$ . In this case, the behavior of the fixed-point function  $r \mapsto \Psi^{\omega_0}(2Kr)$  is governed (at least in a neighborhood of the origin) by two parameters:

- the slope at the origin:  $\partial_r \Psi^{\omega_0}(2K \cdot)|_{r=0} = \frac{K}{1+4\omega_0^2}$ . In particular, this slope is greater than 1 if and only if  $\omega_0 \leq \omega_s(K) := \frac{\sqrt{K-1}}{2}$ ,
- the third derivative at the origin, given in this case by:

$$\partial_r^3 \Psi^{\omega_0}(2K\cdot)|_{r=0} = -6K^3 D(\omega_0) = -6K^3 \left(\frac{1}{2(1+\omega_0^2)} - \frac{8\omega_0^2}{(1+4\omega_0^2)^2}\right)$$

It is easy to see that  $D(\omega_0)$  is positive whenever  $0 \leq \omega_0 \leq \omega_c := \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}$  and negative for  $\omega_0 \geq \omega_c$  (see Figure 3.4). As a consequence, if  $0 \leq \omega_0 \leq \omega_c$  then  $\Psi^{\omega_0}(2K \cdot)$  is locally concave near the origin whereas it is locally convex in a neighborhood of 0 in the case where  $\omega_0 > \omega_c$ .



Figure 3.4: The plot of  $\omega_0 \mapsto D(\omega_0)$ .

For all K > 1, we also introduce the first value of the disorder  $\omega_0$  (denoted as  $\omega_e(K)$ ) from which there is no longer any synchronized solution (or equivalently any nontrivial solution r > 0 solution to (3.10)):

$$\omega_e(K) := \sup \left\{ \omega_0 > 0; \ \exists r > 0, \ r = \Psi^{\omega_0}(2Kr) \right\}.$$

**Remark 3.16.** In the notations  $\omega_s(K)$ ,  $\omega_c$  and  $\omega_e(K)$ , s stands for slope, c for concavity and e for existence. Note that  $\omega_c$  does not depend on K.

The first result of this paragraph is the following:

**Proposition 3.17.** For all K > 1, the following inequality is true

$$0 < \omega_s(K) \leqslant \omega_e(K) < \infty. \tag{3.22}$$

Moreover, determining whether the change (as  $\omega_0$  increases) of local concavity at the origin happens before or after the change of slope w.r.t. the critical value 1 allows to distinguish two cases:

The case  $1 < K \leq \frac{3}{2}$ , (Figure 3.5): this case corresponds to the inequality  $\omega_s(K) \leq \omega_c$ . In other terms, as  $\omega_0$  increases from 0 to  $\infty$ , the slope at the origin decreases from K > 1(when  $\omega_0 = 0$ ) to values lower than 1 (when  $\omega_0 \geq \omega_s(K)$ ) with strict concavity in a neighborhood of the origin. Since  $\omega_s(K) \leq \omega_c$ , the change of (local) concavity only happens afterwards.

The intuition for this case (although not rigorously established) is the following: for  $0 \leq \omega_0 \leq \omega_s(K)$ , there is a unique nontrivial solution r > 0 and for  $\omega_s(K) < \omega_0$  only the trivial solution r = 0 subsists. In particular we believe that  $\omega_e(K) = \omega_s(K)$  in this case (see Figure 3.5). In order to make this conjecture rigorous, we would need to extrapolate the local study of the fixed-point function in 0 to the whole trajectory  $r \in [0, 1] \mapsto \Psi^{\omega_0}(2Kr)$  which requires a deeper understanding of the Taylor's expansion of  $\Psi^{\omega_0}$ .



Figure 3.5: Plot of the fixed-point function  $\Psi^{\omega_0}(2K \cdot)$  in the case where K = 1.36 for increasing values of  $\omega_0$ : in Fig. 3.5a as well as in Fig. 3.5b, the fixed-point function is still concave (at least near the origin). However, it is no longer the case in Fig. 3.5c.

The case  $\frac{3}{2} < K$ , (Figure 3.6): on the contrary, this case corresponds to the inequality  $\omega_c \leq \omega_s(K)$ ; namely, the change of local concavity at the origin happens *before* the change of slope w.r.t. the value 1. In particular, we are sure that in this case, there exists some  $\omega_0$  for which *two distinct synchronized solutions exist* (see Fig. 3.6c): Proposition 3.11 is proved.

The conjecture about the phase transition for this case (see Figure 3.6) is the following: for  $0 < \omega_0 < \omega_s(K)$ , there is a unique nontrivial fixed-point r > 0, for  $\omega_s(K) < \omega_0 < \omega_e(K)$ , two distinct nontrivial fixed-points  $r_1 > 0$  and  $r_2 > 0$  coexist, and for  $\omega_e(K) < \omega$ only the trivial solution r = 0 subsists. Once again, proving this conjecture requires a deeper understanding of the fixed-point function  $\Psi^{\omega_0}$ .

The rest of this chapter is devoted to tackle the issue of stability of synchronized solutions.

## 2.3 Weighted Sobolev spaces

The analysis of stability of synchronization will be carried out in the context of appropriate distributions spaces that we introduce here. These *weighted-Sobolev spaces* will be of constant use in this chapter, as well as in Chapter 5. We first focus on weighted-Sobolev spaces of functions  $\theta \mapsto h(\theta)$  on **S** (§ 2.3.1) and then introduce the corresponding spaces for functions with disorder  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto h(\theta, \omega)$  on **S** × Supp( $\mu$ ) (§ 2.3.3):

#### 2.3.1 Weighted Sobolev spaces:

For any bounded positive weight function  $k(\cdot)$  on **S** such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} k(\theta) d\theta = 1$ , we may consider the space  $\mathbf{L}_k^2$  closure of  $\{h \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{S}); \int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\theta) d\theta = 0\}$  w.r.t. the norm:

$$\|h\|_{2,k} := \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{h^2(\theta)}{k(\theta)} \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.23)

Since h is with zero mean value, each of its primitives are  $2\pi$ -periodic. In particular, we can consider  $\mathbf{H}_k^{-1}$  the closure of  $\{h \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{S}); \int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\theta) d\theta = 0\}$  with respect to the following weighted Sobolev norm:

$$\|h\|_{-1,k} := \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\theta)}{k(\theta)} \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},\tag{3.24}$$

where  $\mathcal{H}$  is the primitive of h on **S** such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{\mathcal{H}}{k} = 0$ .

**Remark 3.18.** In particular, we will make a constant use of the space  $\mathbf{H}_{q_0}^{-1}$  (that is for  $k(\cdot) = q_0(\cdot)$  where  $q_0$  (see (3.7)) is the stationary solution of the non-disordered system) which is the natural space for the study of linear stability of synchronization in the non-disordered case (see § 2.4.2).

**Remark 3.19.** In the case of a constant weight  $k(\cdot) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi}$ , we will write  $(\mathbf{L}^2, \|\cdot\|_2)$  and  $(\mathbf{H}^{-1}, \|\cdot\|_{-1})$  instead of  $(\mathbf{L}^2_{\frac{1}{2\pi}}, \|\cdot\|_{2,\frac{1}{2\pi}})$  and  $(\mathbf{H}^{-1}_{\frac{1}{2\pi}}, \|\cdot\|_{-1,\frac{1}{2\pi}})$ .

#### 2.3.2 Rigged Hilbert space

Note that one can understand the spaces  $\mathbf{H}_k^{-1}$  as part of a *Gelfand-triple* construction (see [9, § 2.2] or [17, p. 81]): indeed, one can identify  $\mathbf{H}_k^{-1}$  as the dual space V' of the space V closure of  $\{v \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbf{S}); \int_{\mathbf{S}} v = 0\}$  with respect to the norm  $\|h\|_V :=$ 



Figure 3.6: Plot of the fixed-point function  $\Psi^{\omega_0}(2K \cdot)$  in the case where K = 5 for increasing values of  $\omega_0$ : until  $\omega_s(K)$  there is only one nontrivial solution (Fig. 3.6a and Fig. 3.6b), whereas there is coexistence of two nontrivial fixed-points between  $\omega_s(K)$  and  $\omega_e(K)$  (Fig. 3.6c). If  $\omega_0 \ge \omega_e(K)$  the synchronized solutions disappear (Fig. 3.6d and Fig. 3.6e).

 $(\int_{\mathbf{S}} h'(\theta)^2 k(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . The pivot space is the usual  $\mathbf{L}^2(\lambda)$  (endowed with the Hilbert norm  $\|h\|_{\mathbf{L}^2} := (\int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\theta)^2 \, \mathrm{d}\theta)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ ). In particular, one easily sees that the inclusion  $V \subseteq \mathbf{L}^2(\lambda)$  is dense. Consequently, one can define  $T : \mathbf{L}^2(\lambda) \to V'$  by setting  $Th(v) = \int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\theta)v(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta$ . One can prove that T continuously injects  $\mathbf{L}^2(\lambda)$  into V' and that  $T(\mathbf{L}^2(\lambda))$  is dense into V' so that one can identify  $h \in \mathbf{L}^2(\lambda)$  with  $Th \in V'$ . Then for  $h \in \mathbf{L}^2(\lambda)$ ,

$$\|h\|_{V'} = \|Th\|_{V'} = \sup_{v \in V} \frac{\int_{\mathbf{S}} \mathcal{H}h'}{\|v\|_{V}} = \sqrt{\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{\mathcal{H}^2}{k}}, \qquad (3.25)$$

where we used in (3.25) Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for the lower bound and chose  $v' := \frac{\mathcal{H}}{k}$  for the upper bound. All that enables us to identify  $\mathbf{H}_k^{-1}$  with V'.

#### 2.3.3 Weighted Sobolev spaces (with disorder):

The natural space in for the study of synchronization stability is the space of functions  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto h(\theta, \omega)$  in the domain

$$\mathcal{D} := \left\{ h \in C^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}); \int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}\theta = 0 \text{ for all } \omega \right\}.$$
(3.26)

such that each component  $h(\cdot, \omega)$  live in a certain  $\mathbf{H}_{k(\cdot,\omega)}^{-1}$  for a weight  $k(\cdot, \omega)$  (which may depends on the disorder  $\omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu)$ ). More precisely, for any family of positive weight functions  $(k(\cdot, \omega))_{\omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu)}$ , we denote as  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,k}^{-1}$  the closure of  $\mathcal{D}$  w.r.t. the norm:

$$\|h\|_{\mu,-1,k} := \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}} \|h(\cdot,\omega)\|_{-1,k(\cdot,\omega)}^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \frac{\mathcal{H}^2(\theta,\omega)}{k(\theta,\omega)} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.27)

We will also consider the analogous averaged weighted  $\mathbf{L}^2$ -spaces, that is, for any family of positive weights  $(k(\cdot, \omega))_{\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)}$ , the space  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu,k}$  given by the norm:

$$\|h\|_{\mu,2,k} := \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{h(\theta,\omega)^2}{k(\theta,\omega)} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.28)

**Remark 3.20.** Let us remark that for all bounded weights  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ 

$$||u||_{\mu,-1,k_1}^2 \leqslant \frac{||k_2||_{\infty}}{||k_1||_{\infty}} ||u||_{\mu,-1,k_2}^2$$

so that all the norms we have introduced are equivalent, provided the corresponding weights are bounded.

**Remark 3.21.** In the particular case of  $k(\cdot, \omega) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi}$  for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ , we will write  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu}^{-1} := \mathbf{H}_{\mu,\frac{1}{2\pi}}^{-1}$  and the corresponding norm will be denoted as  $\|\cdot\|_{\mu,-1}$ . We will also write  $(\mathbf{L}_{\mu}^{2}, \|\cdot\|_{\mu,2})$  instead of  $(\mathbf{L}_{\mu,\frac{1}{2\pi}}^{2}, \|\cdot\|_{\mu,2,\frac{1}{2\pi}})$ .

#### 2.4 Stability of stationary solutions

We now to turn to the issue of stability of the stationary solutions in the *sine-model*.

#### 2.4.1 The incoherent stationary solution

As far as the incoherent solution  $\frac{1}{2\pi}$  is concerned, the subject of its local stability has already been studied by Strogatz and Mirollo in [86]:

**Proposition 3.22** (Strogatz, Mirollo, [86]). If  $\mu$  is unimodal, then the incoherent solution  $\frac{1}{2\pi}$  is linearly stable for  $K \leq \tilde{K}$  and unstable for  $K > \tilde{K}$ , where  $\tilde{K}$  is defined in (3.16).

The main purpose of this chapter is to treat the mode delicate issue of the stability properties of the nontrivial solutions (that is for r > 0). In the next paragraph, we consider the case where there is no disorder ( $\mu = \delta_0$ ) which has been fully treated by Bertini, Giacomin, and Pakdaman [9], and will be of constant use for the rest of the chapter.

#### 2.4.2 Stability of synchronization: the non-disordered case

Recent advances have been made concerning the dynamical properties of the nondisordered Kuramoto model, which (as already explained in the main introduction (§ 2.2.2, p. 2.2.2)) is reversible and whose corresponding Fokker-Planck PDE (3.5) is of gradient flow type. These properties have been exploited in [9] in order to prove the linear stability of the nontrivial stationary solution (3.7), with explicit spectral gap estimates.

Namely, if one linearizes the Kuramoto evolution (3.5) around its stationary solution  $q_0$  (see (3.7)), one obtains

$$\forall t > 0, \quad \partial_t u_t = L_{q_0} u_t, \tag{3.29}$$

where  $L_{q_0}$  is the linear operator arising from the linearization of evolution (3.5):

$$L_{q_0}u := \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\theta}^2 u - \partial_{\theta} \left[ q_0(J * u) + u(J * q_0) \right],$$
(3.30)

with domain

$$\mathcal{D}_0 := \left\{ u \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}); \, \int_{\mathbf{S}} u(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta = 0 \right\}.$$
(3.31)

The main purpose of [9] was to prove that the linear dynamics (3.29) is exponentially stable in  $\mathbf{H}_{q_0}^{-1}$ , where  $\mathbf{H}_{q_0}^{-1}$  is the weighted-Sobolev space introduced in Remark 3.18:

**Proposition 3.23** (Bertini-Giacomin-Pakdaman).  $(L_{q_0}, \mathcal{D}_0)$  is essentially self-adjoint in  $\mathbf{H}_{q_0}^{-1}$ . The spectrum of (the self-adjoint extension of)  $L_{q_0}$  is pure point lying in  $(-\infty, 0)$ ; 0 is in the spectrum, with one-dimensional eigenspace (spanned by  $q'_0$ ). Moreover, the distance  $\lambda_K(L_{q_0})$  between the eigenvalue 0 and the rest of the spectrum is strictly positive.

**Remark 3.24.** We will strongly rely on Proposition 3.23 for the study on the disordered case, considering it mostly as a perturbation of the case with no disorder.

What is more, the whole long-time dynamics of the nonlinear evolution (3.5) is addressed in [42], showing in particular the existence of a global attractor in both cases  $K \leq 1$  and K > 1 and proving nonlinear stability of synchronized solutions for K > 1.

## 2.4.3 Stability of synchronization: the symmetric case

The main goal of the chapter is to address the question of the stability properties of synchronization in the disordered-Kuramoto model. We focus on the case where  $\mu$  is symmetric. Recall (§ 2.1.3, p. 15) that we can always assume (by an appropriate change of variables) that the mean value  $\mathbb{E}(\omega) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \omega \, d\mu(\omega)$  of the disorder is zero. Moreover we rewrite here the natural frequencies as  $\delta\omega$ , with  $\delta$  a nonnegative parameter. We assume moreover that

$$\operatorname{Supp}(\mu) \subseteq [-1, 1]. \tag{3.32}$$

In this set-up, (3.3) becomes

$$\partial_t p_t^{\delta}(\theta,\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta}^2 p_t^{\delta}(\theta,\omega) - \partial_{\theta} \left( p_t^{\delta}(\theta,\omega) (\langle J * p_t^{\delta} \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \delta\omega) \right).$$
(3.33)

Note that this leads to (obvious) changes to the definitions of the stationary solutions (3.15) and the fixed-point formulation (3.10). We have introduced this parameterization because the results that we present are for small values of  $\delta$ . Namely we are going to show that when  $\mu$  is symmetric, K > 1 and  $K > \widetilde{K}$ , there exists  $\delta_0 > 0$  such that for  $\delta \in [0, \delta_0]$  there is, up to rotation symmetry, only one synchronized solution  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto q(\theta, \omega)$  to (3.33) and that it is (linearly and nonlinearly) stable. In particular, the main object of interest will be the linearized operator around this stationary solution:

$$L^{\delta}_{q}u(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2}\partial^{2}_{\theta}u(\theta,\omega) - \partial_{\theta}\left(u(\theta,\omega)\left(\langle J*q\rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \delta\omega\right) + q(\theta,\delta\omega)\langle J*u\rangle_{\mu}(\theta)\right), \quad (3.34)$$

with domain  $\mathcal{D}$  given by (3.26).

The main result of this section (Theorem 3.27) concerns the spectral properties of the linear operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  and is based on the rather good understanding that we have of the case without disorder, that is the *non-disordered PDE* mentioned in (3.5) and studied in § 2.4.3. Some of the results in [9] are recalled in the next section, but they are not directly applicable because the  $\delta = 0$  case that corresponds to what interests us is rather

$$\partial_t p_t(\theta, \omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 p_t(\theta, \omega) - \partial_\theta \left( p_t(\theta, \omega) (\langle J * p_t \rangle_\mu(\theta) \right), \qquad (3.35)$$

In (3.35), the *natural frequencies* have no effective role beyond separating the various rotators into populations with given natural (ineffective) frequency that now are just labels. Hence from now on, evolution (3.35) will be called *labeled PDE*. But in order to set-up a proper perturbation procedure we need to control (3.35) and, in particular, we need (and establish) a spectral gap inequality for the evolution (3.35) linearized around the nontrivial solutions.

This spectral analysis is going to be central for our stability result, based on ad hoc estimates, made possible by the explicit expressions (3.10)-(3.15), and using results in the general theory of operators [70] and perturbation theory of self-adjoint operators [51].

This question of stability has been already repeatedly approached but looking at synchronized solutions as bifurcation from incoherence. The results are hence for K close to the critical value corresponding to the breakdown of linear stability of  $1/2\pi$ : one can find a detailed review of the vast literature on this issue in [2, Sec. III]. Our results are instead for arbitrary K > 1, but  $\delta$  smaller than  $\delta_0(K)$  and of course  $\delta_0(K)$  vanishes as Kapproaches 1.

**The labeled PDE:** Let us now focus on the *labeled PDE* (3.35) and let us insist on the fact that we are interested in solutions such that  $p_t^{\delta}(\cdot, \omega)$  is a probability density. Observe then that if  $q(\theta, \omega)$  is a stationary solution of (3.35), we see (Proposition 3.1) that q is  $C^{\infty}$  with respect to  $\theta$  and that  $\langle q \rangle_{\mu}$  is a stationary solution for (3.5). So there exists  $\psi \in \mathbf{S}$  such that  $\langle q \rangle_{\mu} = q_{\psi}$  and a short computation leads to

$$\langle J * q \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) = -K \sin(\theta - \psi),$$

and, since  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} q(\theta, \omega) d\theta = 1$  for almost all  $\omega$ , we obtain that  $q(\cdot, \omega) = q_{\psi}(\cdot)$  for almost all  $\omega$ . In conclusion, with some abuse of notation, we can say the stationary solutions of (3.5) and (3.35) are the same: of course in the second case the function space includes the dependence on  $\omega$ , so we choose a different notation, that is  $M_0$  for the corresponding circle of nontrivial stationary solutions in place of  $M_{rev}$  defined in (3.9).

An important issue for us is the stability of  $M_0$  (for its existence we are assuming K > 1) and for this we denote by A the linearized evolution operator of (3.35) around  $q_0$ 

$$Au(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta}^{2} u(\theta,\omega) - \partial_{\theta} \Big( q_{0}(\theta) \langle J \ast u \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + u(\theta,\omega) (J \ast q_{0})(\theta) \Big)$$
(3.36)

with the same domain (3.26) as  $L_q^{\delta}$ .

The following result, which is to the *labeled PDE* (3.35) what Proposition 3.23 is to the *non-disordered PDE* (3.5), concerns the linear dynamics of the *labeled evolution* (3.35). Recall the definitions of the weighted-Sobolev in § 2.3.3:

**Proposition 3.25.** A is essentially self-adjoint in  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1}$ . Moreover the spectrum lies in  $(-\infty, 0]$ , 0 is a simple eigenvalue, with eigenspace spanned by  $\partial_{\theta}q_0$ , and there is a spectral gap, that is the distance  $\lambda_K$  between 0 and the rest of the spectrum is positive.

Proposition 3.25 is just technical and its proof will be omitted; we refer to [41] for details. It is worth to note that this result strongly relies on Proposition 3.23 (see [9, Th. 1.8]) and that the (lower) bound on the spectral gap  $\lambda_K$  that we obtain coincides with the quantity  $\lambda(K)$  in [9, Th. 1.8] (this bound can be improved as explained in [9, Sec. 2.5] and sharp estimates on the spectral gap can be obtained in the limit  $K \searrow 1$  and  $K \nearrow \infty$ ).

Existence of synchronized solutions for small disorder: Recall that we restrict ourselves to the case in which the distribution of the disorder  $\mu$  is symmetric. In this case we already know (see Proposition 3.10) that for K sufficiently large there is at least one whole circle of stationary solutions. Actually, using Proposition 3.13 we can show that for  $\delta$  small there is just one circle, that we call  $M_{\delta}$ , of nontrivial stationary solutions.

In order to be precise about this issue, we point out that (3.10)-(3.15) are written for (3.3) while we work rather with (3.33). The changes are obvious, but we introduce a notation for the analog of (3.10):

$$r_{\delta} = \Psi^{\mu}_{\delta}(2Kr_{\delta}), \quad \text{where, } \Psi^{\mu}_{\delta}(x) := \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{\int_{\mathbf{S}} \cos(\theta) S(\theta, \delta\omega, x) \, \mathrm{d}\theta}{Z(\delta\omega, x)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega).$$

A reformulation of Proposition 3.13 in this context gives the following

**Lemma 3.26.** For all  $K_{\max} > 0$ , there exists  $\delta_1 = \delta_1(K_{\max}) > 0$  such that, for all  $0 < K < K_{\max}$  and all  $\delta \leq \delta_1$  the function  $\Psi^{\mu}_{\delta}$  is strictly concave on  $[0, 2K_{\max}]$ . Therefore (3.10) has a unique positive solution  $r_{\delta} = r_{\delta}(K, \mu)$ . Moreover  $\lim_{\delta \to 0} r_{\delta} = r_0$ .

Main result of stability: We place ourselves within the framework of Lemma 3.26, in the sense that  $\delta$  is small enough to ensure the uniqueness of a nontrivial stationary solution (of course existence requires  $K > \tilde{K}_{\delta}$  and this is implied by K > 1 if  $\delta$  is sufficiently small). We prove a number of properties of the linear operator (3.34), saying notably that it has a simple eigenvalue at zero, that the rest of spectrum is at a positive distance from zero and it lies in a cone in that is in the negative complex half plane. **Theorem 3.27** (Linear stability for weak disorder). The operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  has the following spectral properties: 0 is a simple eigenvalue for  $L_q^{\delta}$ , with eigenspace spanned by  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto q'(\theta, \omega)$ . Moreover, for all K > 1,  $\rho \in (0, 1)$ ,  $\alpha \in (0, \pi/2)$ , there exists  $\delta_2 = \delta_2(K, \rho, \alpha)$  such that for all  $0 \leq \delta \leq \delta_2$ , the following is true:

- $L_q^{\delta}$  is closable in  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1}$  and its closure has the same domain as the domain of the self-adjoint extension of A defined in (3.36);
- The spectrum of  $L_a^{\delta}$  lies in a cone  $C_{\alpha}$  with vertex 0 and angle  $\alpha$

$$C_{\alpha} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \, \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \leqslant \arg(\lambda) \leqslant \frac{3\pi}{2} - \alpha \right\} \subseteq \{ z \in \mathbf{C}; \, \Re(z) \leqslant 0 \} ;$$

- There exists  $\alpha' \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  such that  $L_q^{\delta}$  is the infinitesimal generator of an analytic semigroup defined on a sector  $\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}, |\arg(\lambda)| < \alpha'\};$
- The distance between 0 and the rest of the spectrum is strictly positive and is at least equal to  $\rho\lambda_K$ , where  $\lambda_K$  is the spectral gap of the operator A.

The results mentioned in Theorem 3.27 are qualitative but what we really prove are quantitative explicit estimates:

**Proposition 3.28.** For all K > 1,  $\rho \in (0, 1)$ ,  $\alpha \in (0, \pi/2)$ , the conclusions of Theorem 3.27 are true at least when  $0 \leq \delta \leq \delta_K^*$ , for some  $\delta_K^*$  satisfying the following equivalents (where C is a positive numerical constant):

$$\delta_K^* \sim C \max\left(\rho(1 - \sin(\alpha)), \ell(\rho)\right) \lambda_K, \quad as \ K \searrow 1,$$
(3.37)

$$\delta_K^{\star} \sim C \max\left(\rho(1-\sin(\alpha)), \ell(\rho)\right) \frac{e^{-24K}}{K^2} \lambda_K, \quad as \ K \to \infty,$$
(3.38)

where

$$\ell(\rho) := \max\left(\frac{2}{\rho+1}, \frac{2}{1-\rho}\right).$$

**Remark 3.29.** We refer to [9, § 2.5] concerning the asymptotics for the spectral gap  $\lambda_K$  (as  $K \searrow 1$  and  $K \to \infty$ ) that are used in Proposition 3.28.

Note that estimate (3.38) does not seem to be sharp as  $K \to \infty$ , since the intuition for the model is that the larger K is, the easier it is for the rotators to synchronize and the more stable stationary solutions should be. Hence, understanding the case where K is large seems to require alternative methods to the perturbations arguments used in this chapter.

Proofs of Theorem 3.27 and Proposition 3.28 may be found in Section 4.

**Nonlinear stability:** From the previous linear stability result, one can derive that in fact the circle of stationary solutions  $M = \{q_{\theta_0}(\theta, \omega) := q(\theta + \theta_0, \omega); \theta_0 \in \mathbf{S}\}$  (recall (3.14)) is *locally nonlinearly stable*. This can be done by using arguments introduced in [45, Chap. 5, Sec. 1] (see in particular [45, Ex. 6, p. 108]):

**Proposition 3.30** (Nonlinear synchronization stability). We place ourselves under the hypothesis of Theorem 3.27. For any  $\psi \in \mathbf{S}$ , there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that for any solution p to (3.33) with  $\|p\|_{t=0} - q_{\psi}\|_{\mu,2} \leq \varepsilon$ , then  $\|p_t - q_{\psi}\|_{\mu,2} \leq \varepsilon$  for all t > 0 and there exists  $\psi_{\infty} \in \mathbf{S}$  such that

$$\forall \lambda < \lambda_K, \| p_t - q_{\psi + \psi_\infty} \|_{\mu, 1} = O(e^{-\lambda t}).$$

**Remark 3.31.** Note that Proposition 3.30 is very similar to [42, Th. 4.8] which concerns the same nonlinear stability result around the stationary solution, in the case with no disorder. We refer to the proof of [42, Th. 4.8] for details.

#### 2.4.4 Stability of synchronization: the asymmetric case

The question of stability of synchronization in the case where  $\mu$  is no longer symmetric is much more delicate. In particular, there is no obvious way to parameterize the stationary solutions to McKean-Vlasov evolution (3.3) (see Remark 3.34) and the dynamics in the asymmetric case appears to be fairly more complicated than the dynamics in the symmetric case. One way to get around this difficulty is to directly perturb the nonlinear Kuramoto evolution (3.33) instead of perturbing the linearized evolution as in the symmetric case.

The purpose of this paragraph is to outline the method and results previously developed by Giacomin, Pakdaman, Pellegrin and Poquet ([43]) for non-disordered models which can be applied in [41] in order to establish the stability of synchronization in the asymmetric case.

The methods developed in [42] exploit the notion of normally hyperbolic structure [46, 79] of the manifold of stationary solutions of (3.35) and the robustness of such structures (like in [43]). In this context, the aim of Giacomin et al. [43] was to prove the existence and stability of invariant normally hyperbolic manifolds for interacting diffusions in absence of disorder.

It is worth to note that the normal hyperbolic manifold approach allows to treat cases that are substantially more general than the *sine-model* and notably the case of the *active rotators model*:

$$\partial_t p_t(\theta, \omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 p_t(\theta, \omega) - \partial_\theta \Big( p_t(\theta, \omega) (\langle J * p_t \rangle_\mu(\theta) + \delta U(\theta, \omega)) \Big), \qquad (3.39)$$

which is a particular instance of (3.2) in the case where  $b(\theta, \theta', \omega, \omega') = K \sin(\theta' - \theta)$  and  $c(\theta, \omega) = \delta U(\theta, \omega)$ .

The active rotators model (previously mentioned in the physics literature, see e.g. [81] and references therein) concerns similar interacting rotators in the presence of an additional potential. The dynamical properties for this model tend to be fairly more complicated than the Kuramoto model (1.1) studied here. In (3.39), each oscillator has its own nontrivial dynamics which may be very different from the dynamics of other oscillators: consider for example

$$U(\varphi, \omega) = b + \omega + a\sin(\varphi), \quad a, b \in \mathbf{R},$$

and  $\mu$  uniform over [-1, 1]. For  $a \in (-1, 1)$  there are some active rotators [81, 43] that in absence of noise and interaction ( $\sigma = K = 0$ ) rotate (this happens if  $|b + \omega| > |a|$  and of course the direction of rotation depends on the sign of  $b + \omega$ ) and others that instead are stuck at a fixed-point (this happens if  $|b + \omega| \le |a|$ ).

Main result of stability in the sine-model in the asymmetric case: From an intuitive point of view, if the distribution of the disorder is asymmetric, there are more rotators that are likely to rotate in one given direction than in the other direction; on the whole, the system has a tendency to rotate in this direction and rotating waves appear in evolution (3.33).

The approach of [41] makes this intuition rigorous by proving that there is a synchronization regime for K > 1 and  $\delta$  small and showing the existence of a family of stables rotating solutions to (3.33). More precisely, the normal hyperbolic manifold approach allows to prove the existence of a solution  $p_t^{\delta}(\theta, \omega)$  to (3.33) of the form  $q(\theta - c_{\mu}(\delta)t)$ , for which it can be shown that  $c_{\mu}(\delta) = O(\delta^3)$  with explicit expression of  $\lim_{\delta \to 0} c_{\mu}(\delta)/\delta^3$ : this is a rotating wave (or limit-cycle) for the dynamical system (3.33) and its stability under perturbations is established. For C > 0 and  $M \subset \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$ , we set  $\mathcal{N}_{\mu,2}(M,C) := \{u : \text{there exists } v \in M \text{ such that} \| u - v \|_{\mu,2} \leq C \}$ . In the statement below  $q \in M_0$  is the element of the manifold such that  $q(\cdot, \omega) = q_0(\cdot)$ , cf. (3.7), with  $r_0(K) > 0$  (hence K > 1).

The main result in [41] (which is not proved in this thesis) is the following:

**Theorem 3.32.** For every K > 1, there exists  $\delta_0 = \delta_0(K) > 0$  such that for  $|\delta| \leq \delta_0$ , there exists  $\tilde{q}_{\delta} \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$ , satisfying  $\|\tilde{q}_{\delta} - q\|_{\mu,2} = O(\delta)$  and a value  $c_{\mu}(\delta) \in \mathbf{R}$  such that if we set

$$q_t^{(\psi)}(\theta,\omega) := \widetilde{q}_{\delta}(\theta - c_{\mu}(\delta)t - \psi),$$

then  $q_t^{(0)}$  solves (3.33). Moreover

1. the family of solutions  $\{q^{(\psi)}\}_{\psi}$  is stable in the sense that there exist two positive constants  $\beta = \beta(K)$  and C = C(K) such that if  $p_0^{\delta} \in \mathcal{N}_{\mu,2}(M_0, \delta)$ , and  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} p_0^{\delta}(\theta, \omega) d\theta = 0$ ,  $\mu$ -a.s., then there exists  $\psi_0 \in \mathbf{S}$  such that for all  $t \geq 0$ 

$$\left\| q_t^{(\psi_0)} - p_t^{\delta} \right\|_{\mu,2} \le 2C \exp(-\beta t) \,.$$

2. we have

$$c_{\mu}(\delta) = \delta^{3} \frac{\left\langle \omega \partial_{\theta} n^{(2)}, \partial_{\theta} q_{0} \right\rangle_{\mu,-1,q_{0}}}{\left\langle \partial_{\theta} q_{0}, \partial_{\theta} q_{0} \right\rangle_{-1,q_{0}}} + O(\delta^{5}),$$

where  $n^{(2)}$  is the unique solution of

$$An^{(2)} = \omega \partial_{\theta} n^{(1)}$$
 and  $\left\langle n^{(2)}, \partial_{\theta} q_0 \right\rangle_{\mu, -1, q_0} = 0$ ,

and  $n^{(1)}$  is the unique solution of

$$An^{(1)} = \omega \partial_{\theta} q_0 \quad and \quad \left\langle n^{(1)}, \partial_{\theta} q_0 \right\rangle_{\mu, -1, q_0} = 0$$

In this thesis, we only state this result. The interested reader may refer to [41, Section 2] for proofs and further explicit estimates on the speed of rotation.

## 2.5 Organization of remainder of the chapter

The purpose of Section 3 is to establish the regularity results and the existence of stationary solutions of § 2.1. In Section 4, we prove the main result of linear stability (Theorem 3.27) along with a number of related quantitative estimates leading to Proposition 3.28.

# **3** Regularity and stationarity in McKean-Vlasov evolution

## 3.1 Regularity of the semigroup (proofs of Propositions 3.1 and 3.5)

The first aim of this part is to prove the regularity results stated in § 2.1. We begin with the proof of Proposition 3.1 concerning the strong formulation of McKean-Vlasov evolution and the regularity of its semigroup: Proof of Proposition 3.1. Let us fix T > 0,  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$  and  $t \mapsto \nu_t$  the unique solution in  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  to (3.1). Let us define

$$R(t,\theta,\omega) := \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} b(\theta,\theta',\omega,\omega') \,\mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta',\omega') + c(\theta,\omega), \qquad (3.40)$$

$$= b[\theta, \omega, \nu_t] + c(\theta, \omega). \tag{3.41}$$

Under the hypothesis made on b and c in § 2.1.1, for fixed  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ ,  $R(\cdot, \cdot, \omega)$  is continuous in time and  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  in  $\theta$ . Consider now the linear equation

$$\partial_t p_t(\theta, \omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 p_t(\theta, \omega) - \partial_\theta \left( p_t(\theta, \omega) R(t, \theta, \omega) \right), \qquad (3.42)$$

such that for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $\omega$ , for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{S})$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi(\theta) p_t(\theta, \omega) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \xrightarrow{t \searrow 0} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_0^{\omega}(\theta) \,. \tag{3.43}$$

Suppose for a moment that we have found a weak solution  $p_t(\theta, \omega)$  to (3.42)-(3.43) such that for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $\omega$ ,  $p_t(\cdot, \omega)$  is strictly positive on  $(0, T] \times \mathbf{S}$ . In particular for such a solution p, the quantity  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} p_t(\theta, \omega) d\theta$  is conserved for t > 0, so that  $p_t(\cdot, \omega)$  is indeed a probability density for all t > 0. Then both probability measures  $\nu_t(d\theta, d\omega)$  and  $p_t(\theta, \omega) d\theta d\mu(\omega)$  solve, for all  $\varphi \in C_b^2(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$ 

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta,\omega) = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_0(\theta,\omega) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi''(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_s(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi'(\theta,\omega) R(t,\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_s(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.44)

Note that (3.44) is exactly a reformulation of (2.63) in Chapter 2, p. 67, which has been used in Proposition 2.20 to prove uniqueness in the weak formulation in McKean-Vlasov evolution. The key point of the proof of Proposition 2.20 was precisely to show that there is uniqueness in (3.44). Hence, by uniqueness in (3.44),  $\nu_t(d\theta, d\omega) = p_t(\theta, \omega) d\theta \mu(d\omega)$ , which is the result. So it suffices to exhibit a weak solution  $p_t(\theta, \omega)$  to (3.42) such that (3.43) is satisfied.

This fact can be deduced from standard results for uniform parabolic PDEs (see [4] and [37] for precise definitions). In particular, a usual result, which can be found in [4, §7 p. 658], states that (3.42) admits a fundamental solution  $\Gamma(\theta, t; \theta', s, \omega)$  (t > s), which is bounded above and below (see [4, Th.7, p. 661]):

$$\frac{1}{C\sqrt{t-s}}\exp\left(\frac{-C(\theta-\theta')^2}{\sqrt{t-s}}\right) \leqslant \Gamma(\theta,t;\theta',s,\omega) \leqslant \frac{C}{\sqrt{t-s}}\exp\left(\frac{-(\theta-\theta')^2}{C\sqrt{t-s}}\right).$$
(3.45)

Note that the constant C > 0 only depends on T and the *structure* of the linear operator in (3.42) (see [4, Th.7, p. 661] and [4, § 1, p. 615]). In particular, thanks to the assumptions made on b and c, this constant only depends on M > 0, whenever  $\omega \in [-M, M]$ .

Note that the proof given in [4] is done for  $\theta \in \mathbf{R}$  but can be readily adapted to our case  $(\theta \in \mathbf{S})$ .

Moreover, thanks to Corollary 12.1, p. 690 in [4], the following expression of  $p_t(\theta, \omega)$ 

$$p_t(\theta,\omega) = \int_{\mathbf{S}} \Gamma(\theta,t;\theta',0,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_0^{\omega}(\theta') \tag{3.46}$$

defines a weak solution of (3.42) on  $(0,T] \times \mathbf{S}$  (namely a weak solution on  $(\tau,T] \times \mathbf{S}$ , for all  $0 < \tau < T$ ) such that (3.43) is satisfied. The positivity and boundedness of  $p_t(\cdot, \omega)$  for t > 0 is an easy consequence of (3.45). The smoothness of  $p_{\cdot}(\cdot, \omega)$  on  $(0,T] \times \mathbf{S}$  can be derived by standard bootstrap methods.

Let us now focus on the regularity with respect to the disorder (Proposition 3.5):

Proof of Proposition 3.5. For any  $\omega$  in the support of  $\mu$ , let for all  $t > 0, \theta \in \mathbf{S}$ 

$$u(t, \theta, \omega) := p_t(\theta, \omega) - p_t(\theta, \omega_0),$$

where  $(p_t(\cdot, \cdot))_{t \ge 0}$  is the unique solution of (3.42). It is easy to see that u is a strong solution to the following PDE

$$\partial_t u(t,\theta,\omega) - \left[\frac{1}{2}\partial_\theta^2 u(t,\theta) - \partial_\theta \left(u(t,\theta)R(t,\theta,\omega_0)\right)\right] = \mathcal{R}(t,\theta,\omega),$$

where  $\mathcal{R}(t,\theta,\omega) := \partial_{\theta} \left[ p_t(\theta,\omega) \left( R(t,\theta,\omega) - R(t,\theta,\omega_0) \right) \right]$  and with initial condition (since  $\nu_0^{\omega}(d\theta) = \gamma(\theta,\omega) d\theta$  for all  $\omega$ )

$$u(t,\theta,\omega)|_{t\searrow 0} = \gamma(\theta,\omega) - \gamma(\theta,\omega_0).$$
(3.47)

Then applying [37, Th. 12 p. 25],  $u(t, \theta, \omega)$  can be expressed as

$$u(t,\theta,\omega) = \int_{\mathbf{S}} \Gamma(\theta,t;\theta',0,\omega_0) (\gamma(\theta',\omega) - \gamma(\theta',\omega_0)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta' - \int_0^t \int_{\mathbf{S}} \Gamma(\theta,t;\theta',s,\omega_0) \mathcal{R}(s,\theta',\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\theta' \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.48)

For the first term of the r.h.s. of (3.48), we have

$$\left|\int_{\mathbf{S}} \Gamma(\theta, t; \theta', 0, \omega_0)(\gamma(\theta, \omega) - \gamma(\theta, \omega_0)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta'\right| \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} |\gamma(\theta, \omega) - \gamma(\theta, \omega_0)| \,\mathrm{d}\theta' \,,$$

which converges to 0, for fixed t > 0, as  $\omega \to \omega_0$  by hypothesis (3.47).

Secondly, it is easy to see from the definition (3.46) of the density p and the estimates (3.45) and [37, Th.9 p. 263] concerning the fundamental solution  $\Gamma$  that both  $p_t(\theta, \omega)$  and  $\partial_{\theta} p_t(\theta, \omega)$  are bounded uniformly on  $(t, \theta, \omega) \in [0, T] \times \mathbf{S} \times [-M, M]$  for M > 0 such that  $|\omega_0| < M$ . In particular, a standard result shows that for fixed  $(t, \theta)$ , the second term of the r.h.s. of (3.48) goes to 0 as  $\omega \to \omega_0$ . But then the joint continuity of p at  $(t_0, \theta_0, \omega_0)$  follows from (3.46) and uniform estimates on  $\Gamma$  (see [37, Th.9 p. 263]).

## 3.2 Stationarity in McKean-Vlasov equation

# 3.2.1 A reminder of the construction of the fixed-point function (Proposition 3.10)

We recall here the basic steps of the proof of Sakaguchi [75] (see also [30]) about the calculation of the stationary solutions to (3.3),

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta}^2 q(\theta, \omega) - \partial_{\theta} \Big( q(\theta, \omega) (\langle J * q \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \omega) \Big)$$
(3.49)

Sketch of proof of Proposition 3.10. The stationary version of the order parameters defined in (1.20) are given by  $(r > 0, \psi \in \mathbf{R})$ :

$$re^{i\psi} = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} e^{i\theta} q(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) \tag{3.50}$$

Rewriting (3.49) in terms of the parameters r and  $\psi$ , we have:

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta}^2 q(\theta, \omega) - \partial_{\theta} \left( q(\theta, \omega) (Kr \sin(\psi - \cdot) + \omega) \right).$$
(3.51)

So, the problem we have to solve is the following:

**Problem 3.33.** Find  $(r, \psi, q) \in [0, +\infty) \times \mathbf{R} \times \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  which verifies the following conditions:

- 1. for  $\mu$  almost every  $\omega, \theta \mapsto q(\theta, \omega)$  is defined on **S** (i.e.  $q(\cdot, \omega)$  is a  $2\pi$ -periodic function) of class  $\mathcal{C}^2$ , nonnegative, of integral 1 on  $[0, 2\pi]$ .
- 2. for  $\mu$  almost every  $\omega$ ,  $q(\cdot, \omega)$  satisfies (3.51),
- 3.  $(r, \psi, q)$  satisfies (3.50).

The first observation comes from the rotational invariance of the *sine-model* (Remark 1.8, p. 24): namely,  $(r, \psi, q(\cdot, \cdot))$  solves Problem 3.33 if and only if  $(r, 0, q(\cdot + \psi, \cdot))$  solves Problem 3.33. In particular, from now we can suppose  $\psi = 0$  so that (3.51) becomes:

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta}^2 q(\theta, \omega) - \partial_{\theta} \left( q(\theta, \omega) (-Kr\sin(\cdot) + \omega) \right).$$
(3.52)

Integrating (3.52) twice, we obtain that there exist two constants (depending on  $\omega$ ),  $C_1(\omega)$  and  $C_2(\omega)$  such that for all  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$ ,

$$q(\theta, \omega, r) = e^{G(\theta, \omega, 2Kr)} \left[ C_1(\omega) \int_0^\theta e^{-G(u, \omega, 2Kr)} \,\mathrm{d}u + C_2(\omega) \right],$$

where  $G(\theta, \omega, x)$  is defined by (3.12). Imposing the conditions that for all  $\omega, \theta \mapsto q(\theta, \omega, r)$  is a probability density and that  $q(\cdot, \omega, r)$  is  $2\pi$ -periodic fixes the constants  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  to

$$C_1(\omega) = \frac{1 - e^{4\pi\omega}}{Z(\omega, 2Kr)},$$
  
$$C_2(\omega) = \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} \int_0^{2\pi} \exp(-G(u, \omega, 2Kr)) \,\mathrm{d}u}{Z(\omega, 2Kr)},$$

where  $Z(\omega, 2Kr)$  is the normalization constant defined in (3.13). It is straightforward to see that we define in that way a nonnegative,  $2\pi$ -periodic function of integral 1 on  $[0, 2\pi]$ , such that  $q(\theta, \omega, r) = q(-\theta, -\omega, r)$  for all  $\theta, \omega$ .

As a conclusion, (r, 0, q) is a solution to Problem 3.33 if and only if r verifies the fixed-point relation (3.50) with  $\psi = 0$  which is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} r = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \cos(\theta)q(\theta,\omega,r) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) = \Psi^{\mu}(2Kr), \\ 0 = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \sin(\theta)q(\theta,\omega,r) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega). \end{cases}$$
(3.53)

In the case where  $\mu$  is symmetric, thanks to the symmetry of q ( $q(\theta, \omega) = q(-\theta, -\omega)$  for all  $\theta, \omega$ ), it is easy to see that the second equation in (3.53) is always verified. The stationary solutions to (3.3) can then be parameterized by the solutions to the first equation of (3.53), that is exactly (3.10).

**Remark 3.34.** In the case where  $\mu$  is not symmetric, the second equation in (3.53) is nontrivial; hence the problem of characterizing the solutions to (3.53) is far more complicated than in the symmetric case. However, using techniques developed in [43] there is a way to get around this difficulty and to make sense of stability of synchronization in the asymmetric case (recall § 2.4.4).

# 3.2.2 Concavity for small disorder (proof of Proposition 3.13)

Throughout this paragraph,  $\mu$  will be a symmetric measure on **R**. The object of interest here is the fixed-point function  $\Psi^{\mu}$  defined in (3.10). The first properties of  $\Psi^{\mu}$  (see [30]) are straightforward:

**Proposition 3.35** (First properties of  $\Psi^{\mu}$ ). The following properties are true:

- 1.  $x \mapsto \Psi^{\mu}(x)$  is continuous,
- 2.  $\lim_{x\to\infty} \Psi^{\mu}(x) = 1$ ,
- 3. Seen as a function from **R** to (-1,1),  $x \mapsto \Psi^{\mu}(x)$  is odd.
- 4.  $\Psi^{\mu}$  satisfies the following Taylor's expansion in x:

$$\Psi^{\mu}(x) = \frac{x}{2\tilde{K}} - x^3 \frac{D(\mu)}{8} + O(x^5),$$

where,  $\tilde{K}$  is defined in (3.16) and  $D(\mu)$  is defined in (3.17).

Proof of Proposition 3.35. Those basic properties of  $\Psi^{\mu}$  (already proved in [30]) follow from direct calculations. We refer to [30, Chap. X, p. 118] for details.

In the case where there is no disorder ( $\mu = \delta_0$ ), Pearce proved (see [71, Lemma 4, p. 315]) in the apparently different context of classical XY-spin model (for a detailed discussion on the link with these models see [9] and [2, § IV.B.]) that the fixed-point function  $\Psi_0$  defined in (3.6) is strictly concave. We rely on this result in order to prove the strict concavity of the fixed-point function in the general case  $\Psi^{\mu}$  defined by (3.10). But since  $\partial_x^2 \Psi_0(0) = 0$ , we must treat the case of the concavity near the origin as a separate case.

Concavity in a neighborhood of the origin: Let us first introduce some notations: for all M > 0, define

$$\mathcal{M}_M := \left\{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{R}); \int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega|^5 \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) \leqslant M \right\},$$

and for all  $\alpha > 0$ 

$$\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} := \left\{ \mu \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbf{R}); \ D(\mu) \ge \alpha \right\}.$$

Let us prove the following:

**Proposition 3.36** (Concavity at the origin). For all M > 0 and  $\alpha > 0$ , there exists  $x_0 = x_0(M, \alpha) > 0$  such that  $\Psi^{\mu}$  is concave on  $[0, x_0]$  for all  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_M \cap \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$ .

*Proof of Proposition 3.36.* Making the rest in the Taylor's expansion (3.17) explicit gives:

$$\forall x > 0, \ \Psi_{\mu}''(x) = -L(\mu)\frac{3}{4}x + \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)\Psi_{\mu}^{(4)}(t) \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

A long calculation shows that, using the fact that  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_M$ ,  $\sup_{t \in [0, 2K_{\max}]} |\Psi_{\mu}^{(4)}(t)| \leq C$ , for a certain constant C (depending on  $K_{\max}$  and M). Consequently,  $\frac{1}{x} \left| \int_0^x (x-t) \Psi_{\mu}^{(4)}(t) dt \right|$ tend to 0 as  $x \to 0$ .

Furthermore, by definition of  $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$ ,  $D(\mu) > \alpha > 0$ . If we choose  $x_0 > 0$  such that for all  $0 < x \leq x_0, \frac{1}{x} \left| \int_0^x (x-t) \Psi_{\mu}^{(4)}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \right| < \frac{3\alpha}{4}$ , then  $\Psi_{\mu}''(x) < 0$  for all  $0 < x \leq x_0$ .

**Concavity away from the origin:** We now turn to the concavity of  $\Psi^{\mu}$  away from the origin.

**Proposition 3.37** (Concavity away from 0). For all  $x_0 > 0$ , there exists some  $\delta > 0$  such that, if  $\mu$  satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega|^3 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega) \leqslant \delta,$$

then  $\Psi^{\mu}$  is strictly concave on  $[x_0, 2K_{\max}]$ .

Proof of Proposition 3.37. Let us use the fact that the fixed-point function without disorder  $\Psi_0$  is strictly concave on  $(0,\infty)$ : for fixed  $x_0 > 0$ , there exists  $\eta > 0$  such that for all  $x \in [x_0, 2K_{\text{max}}], \Psi_0''(x) < -\eta$ .

The conclusion of Proposition 3.37 will be straightforward provided we prove that there exists some  $\delta > 0$  sufficiently small so that for any measure  $\mu$  satisfying (3.21) (with this value of  $\delta$ ) the following holds:

$$\sup_{x \in [x_0, 2K_{\max}]} \left| \partial_x^2 \Psi^{\mu}(x) - \partial_x^2 \Psi_0(x) \right| \leq \frac{\eta}{2}.$$
(3.54)

Let us prove (3.54). Let us recall the notations of Proposition 3.10 and denote as  $\psi^{\mu}(\omega, x)$  the integrand in the expression of  $\Psi^{\mu}$  in (3.10):

$$\forall \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \forall x \in \mathbf{R}, \quad \psi^{\mu}(\omega, x) := \frac{A(\omega, x)}{Z(\omega, x)}$$
(3.55)

where  $A(\omega, x) = \int_{\mathbf{S}} \cos(\theta) S(\theta, \omega, x)$  for  $S(\cdot)$  is given by (3.11) and  $Z(\omega, x) = \int_{\mathbf{S}} S(\theta, \omega, x) d\theta$  is the normalization constant. First notice that an easy change of variables in (3.11) gives a more compact formulation of  $S(\cdot)$ :

$$\forall \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \forall x \in \mathbf{R}, \quad S(\theta, \omega, x) = e^{G(\theta, \omega, x)} \int_{\theta - 2\pi}^{\theta} e^{-G(u, \omega, x)} \, \mathrm{d}u.$$

Note also that one also has the following (rough) estimates on A and Z: there exists a constant C > 0, only depending on  $K_{\max}$  such that for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ , for all  $x \in [0, 2K_{\max}]$ ,

$$\frac{1}{C} \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} \leqslant Z(\omega, x) \leqslant C \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega}, \qquad (3.56)$$
$$|A(\omega, x)| \leqslant C \frac{e^{4\pi\omega - 1}}{4\pi\omega},$$

as well as for every  $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ 

$$\max\left(\left|\partial_x^i A(\omega, x)\right|, \left|\partial_x^i Z(\omega, x)\right|\right) \leqslant C \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega}, \\ \left|\partial_x^i A(\omega, x) - \partial_x^i A(0, x)\right| \leqslant C \left|\frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} - 1\right|, \\ \left|\partial_x^i Z(\omega, x) - \partial_x^i Z(0, x)\right| \leqslant C \left|\frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} - 1\right|.$$

Let us only prove (3.56), the proofs of the other inequalities being similar: indeed we have successively

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{G(\theta,\omega,x)} \int_{\theta-2\pi}^{\theta} e^{-2K_{\max}} e^{-2\omega u} \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}\theta &\leqslant Z(\omega,x) \leqslant \int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{G(\theta,\omega,x)} \int_{\theta-2\pi}^{\theta} e^{2K_{\max}} e^{-2\omega u} \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}\theta, \\ e^{-2K_{\max}} \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{2\omega} \int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{x\cos(\theta)} \, \mathrm{d}\theta &\leqslant Z(\omega,x) \leqslant e^{2K_{\max}} \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{2\omega} \int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{x\cos(\theta)} \, \mathrm{d}\theta, \\ 4\pi^{2} e^{-4K_{\max}} \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} \leqslant Z(\omega,x) \leqslant 4\pi^{2} e^{4K_{\max}} \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega}. \end{split}$$

Let us now differentiate twice  $\psi_{\mu}$  w.r.t. x (note that the notation  $Z'(\omega, x)$  stands for the derivative w.r.t. x):

$$\partial_x^2 \psi^{\mu}(\omega, x) = \frac{A''(\omega, x)}{Z(\omega, x)} - 2\frac{A'(\omega, x)Z'(\omega, x)}{Z^2(\omega, x)} - \frac{A(\omega, x)Z''(\omega, x)}{Z^2(\omega, x)} + 2\frac{A(\omega, x)(Z'(\omega, x))^2}{Z^3(\omega, x)}.$$
(3.57)

Let us cope with the first term in (3.57):

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{A''(\omega, x)}{Z(\omega, x)} - \frac{A(0, x)''}{Z(0, x)} \right| &= \left| \frac{A''(\omega, x)Z(0, x) - A''(0, x)Z(\omega, x)}{Z(\omega, x)Z(0, x)} \right|, \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{Z(\omega, x)Z(0, x)} \Big( \left| A''(\omega, x) - A''(0, x) \right| Z(0, x) \\ &+ \left| A''(0, x) \right| \left| Z(\omega, x) - Z(0, x) \right| \Big), \\ &\leqslant C \frac{4\pi\omega}{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1} \left| \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} - 1 \right| = C \left| 1 - \frac{4\pi\omega}{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1} \right| \leqslant 4\pi C |\omega|, \quad (3.58) \end{aligned}$$

where we used in (3.58) the fact that for all  $y \in \mathbf{R}$ ,  $\left|1 - \frac{y}{e^y - 1}\right| \leq |y|$ . We conclude by studying the fourth term of (3.57), (the two remaining terms are similar):

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{A(\omega, x)Z'(\omega, x)^2}{Z(\omega, x)^3} - \frac{A(0, x)Z'(0, x)^2}{Z(0, x)^3} \right| &\leqslant \frac{|A(\omega, x)Z'(\omega, x)^2 - A(0, x)Z'(0, x)^2|Z(0, x)^3}{Z(\omega, x)^3 Z(0, x)^3} \\ &+ \frac{|A(0, x)|Z'(0, x)^2|Z(\omega, x)^3 - Z(0, x)^3|}{Z(\omega, x)^3 Z(0, x)^3}, \\ &= (I) + (II). \end{aligned}$$

We have, for an appropriate constant C,

$$\begin{split} (I) &\leqslant \frac{|A(\omega, x) - A(0, x)| \, Z'(\omega, x)^2}{Z(\omega, x)^3 Z(0, x)^3} + \frac{|Z'(\omega, x)^2 - Z'(0, x)^2| \, A(0, x)^2}{Z(\omega, x)^3 Z(0, x)^3}, \\ &\leqslant C \left| \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} - 1 \right| \left( \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} \right)^{-1} + C \left( 1 + \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} \right) \left| \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} - 1 \right| \left( \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} \right)^{-3}, \\ &= C \left| 1 - \frac{4\pi\omega}{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1} \right| \left( 1 + \frac{4\pi\omega}{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1} + \left( \frac{4\pi\omega}{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1} \right)^2 \right), \\ &\leqslant C |\omega| \left( 1 + |\omega| + |\omega|^2 \right). \end{split}$$

And,

$$\begin{aligned} (II) &\leqslant C \frac{\left|Z(\omega, x)^3 - Z(0, x)^3\right|}{Z(\omega, x)^3}, \\ &\leqslant \frac{C \left|Z(\omega, x) - Z(0, x)\right| \left(Z(\omega, x)^2 + Z(0, x)Z(\omega, x) + Z(0, x)^2\right)}{Z(\omega, x)^3}, \\ &\leqslant C \left|\frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} - 1\right| \left(\frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega}\right)^{-3} \left(\left(\frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega}\right)^2 + \frac{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}{4\pi\omega} + 1\right), \\ &= C \left|1 - \frac{4\pi\omega}{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}\right| \left(1 + \frac{4\pi\omega}{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1} + \left(\frac{4\pi\omega}{e^{4\pi\omega} - 1}\right)^2\right), \\ &\leqslant C |\omega| \left(1 + |\omega| + |\omega|^2\right). \end{aligned}$$

Integrating over  $\mu$  those inequalities, we easily see that  $\sup_{x \in [0, 2K_{\max}]} |\partial_x^2 \Psi^{\mu}(x) - \partial_x^2 \Psi_0(x)|$  is small if  $\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega|^3 d\mu(\omega)$  is small, so that (3.54) is verified for small  $\delta > 0$ . Proposition 3.37 is proved.

#### 3.2.3 The binary case

In this paragraph, we prove Proposition 3.17. Some estimates in (3.22) are straightforward: the fact that  $0 < \omega_s(K)$  is direct for K > 1 and the fact that  $\omega_s(K) \leq \omega_e(K)$ comes from the continuity of  $\Psi^{\omega_0}$  and the fact that  $\lim_{x\to\infty} \Psi^{\omega_0}(x) = 1$ .

The main difficulty lies in proving the fact that  $\omega_e(K) < \infty$ . This is a direct consequence of following convergence:

$$\forall K > 1, \sup_{r \in [0,1]} |\Psi^{\omega_0}(2Kr)| \to_{\omega_0 \to \infty} 0.$$
 (3.59)

In order to prove (3.59), let us recall a usual result:

**Lemma 3.38** (Lagrange Method). Let f be a function  $\mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$ ,  $f \in C^3(\mathbf{R})$  such as f, f'and f'' are bounded on every compact of  $\mathbf{R}$ . Then, for all a < b, as  $\omega \to \infty$ 

$$\int_{a}^{b} e^{-2\omega x} f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = e^{-2\omega a} \left( \frac{f(a)}{2\omega} + \frac{f'(a)}{4\omega^2} + \frac{f''(a)}{8\omega^3} \right) + o\left( \frac{e^{-2\omega a}}{\omega^3} \right).$$

where the rest is controlled by the supremum norms of f and of its derivatives.

Using Lemma 3.38, one can estimate the asymptotic behavior of

$$\Psi^{\omega_0}(2Kr) = \frac{\int_{\mathbf{S}} \cos(\theta) S(\theta, \omega_0, 2Kr) \,\mathrm{d}\theta}{Z(\omega_0, 2Kr)} = \frac{A(\omega_0, 2Kr)}{Z(\omega_0, 2Kr)},$$

for A and Z already used in (3.55). A (long) calculation based on Lemma 3.38 shows the following:

$$A(\omega_0, 2Kr) = e^{4\pi\omega_0} \left(\frac{1}{2\omega_0^2} + o\left(\frac{1}{\omega_0^2}\right)\right), \text{ as } \omega_0 \to \infty$$
(3.60)

$$Z(\omega_0, 2Kr) = e^{4\pi\omega_0} \left(\frac{\pi}{\omega_0} + o\left(\frac{1}{\omega_0^2}\right)\right), \text{ as } \omega_0 \to \infty$$
(3.61)

where the rests are controlled uniformly in  $r \in [0, 1]$ . Consequently, the convergence (3.59) is easy to derive from (3.60), (3.61) and the definition of  $\Psi^{\omega_0}$ .

Let us now concentrate on the issue of stability of synchronization.

# 4 Stability of synchronization in the symmetric case

The purpose of this section is to prove Theorem 3.27 along with a number of explicit estimates. The main idea of the proof of Theorem 3.27 is to consider the evolution with disorder (3.33) as a perturbation of the *labeled evolution* (3.35). In other terms, if the disorder is small, one may see the operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  defined in (3.34) as a perturbation of the self-adjoint operator A defined in (3.36) for which we know (Proposition 3.25) that it is self-adjoint in a proper Sobolev space introduced in § 2.3. The basic tools used here come from the theory of perturbation of self-adjoint operators (see [51]) and of perturbation of analytic semigroups (see [70]).

We first begin with a brief outline of the proof of Proposition 3.25 concerning the linear stability in the *labeled* model (3.35). As already said, Proposition 3.25 is just of technical interest and is the exact analogous to Proposition 3.23 for the non-disordered model (3.5) and strongly relies on the proof of the reversible case given in [9]. The interested reader may find more details in [41, § 3.3].

## 4.1 Linear stability in the labeled evolution (proof of Proposition 3.25)

The key argument is that the *labeled* operator A defined in (3.36) is symmetric <sup>[2]</sup> for the scalar product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0}$  (recall its definition in (3.27)). Namely, a short computation shows that for u and v in  $\mathcal{D}$  (recall the definition of the domain  $\mathcal{D}$  in (3.26)),

$$\langle v, Au \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \frac{uv}{q_0} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu + \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}^2} v(\tilde{J} * u) \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}(\mu \otimes \mu) \,, \tag{3.62}$$

where  $J(\theta) = K \cos(\theta)$ . As in [9], the first result concerns an estimate on the Dirichlet form associated to A (in comparison, see [9, Prop. 2.3]):

**Proposition 3.39.** For all K > 1, there exists  $c_K \in (0, 1/2)$  such that for all  $u \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$  such that for almost every  $\omega$ ,  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} u(\cdot, \omega) = 0$ 

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mu}(u) := - \langle Au, u \rangle_{\mu, -1, q_0} \ge c_K \langle u - P_{\mu, 2}u, u - P_{\mu, 2}u \rangle_{\mu, 2, q_0} ,$$

where  $P_{\mu,2}$  is the projection in  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$  along  $q'_0$ :

$$P_{\mu,2}u = \frac{\langle u, q'_0 \rangle_{\mu,2,q_0}}{\langle q'_0, q'_0 \rangle_{2,q_0}} q'_0.$$

The two following lemmas <sup>[3]</sup> compare the scalar products  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mu,2,q_0}$  and  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0}$ :

We define the projection in  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1}$  along  $q'_0$ :

$$P_{\mu,-1}u = \frac{\langle u, q'_0 \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0}}{\langle q'_0, q'_0 \rangle_{-1,q_0}} q'_0.$$

**Lemma 3.40.** For every K > 1 there exists a constant C = C(K) > 0 such that for  $u \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$  such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} u = 0$ , for almost every  $\omega$ 

$$\langle u - P_{\mu,2}u, u - P_{\mu,2}u \rangle_{\mu,2,q_0} \ge C \langle u - P_{\mu,-1}u, u - P_{\mu,-1}u \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0}$$

<sup>[2].</sup> In the same way that the reversible operator  $L_{q_0}$  is symmetric for  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{-1,q_0}$ , see [9, Eq. (2.14)].

<sup>[3].</sup> Their counterparts in the reversible case are Lemmas 2.4 and 2.5 in [9].

**Lemma 3.41.** For every K > 1 there exists c = c(K) > 0 such that for  $u \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$  such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} u = 0$  for almost every  $\omega$  and

$$\langle u, u \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0} \ge c \langle P_{\mu,2}u, P_{\mu,2}u \rangle_{\mu,2,q_0}$$

We are now in position to prove Proposition 3.25:

Sketch of proof of Proposition 3.25. Of course Proposition 3.39 and Lemma 3.40 imply directly the spectral gap for the operator A mentioned in Proposition 3.25:

$$-\langle Au, u \rangle_{\mu, -1, q_0} \ge c_K C \langle u - P_{\mu, -1}u, u - P_{\mu, -1}u \rangle_{\mu, -1, q_0} \quad \text{for all } u \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu, q_0}^{-1}.$$
(3.63)

We now prove the self-adjoint property of A. It is sufficient to prove that the range of 1 - A is dense in  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1}$  (see [17, p. 113]). For  $u, v \in \mathcal{D}$ , we have

$$\langle v, (1-A)u \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0} = -\int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} v(\theta,\omega) \left( \int_0^\theta \frac{\mathcal{U}}{q_0} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}\mu + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{vu}{q_0} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}\mu - \int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}^2} v(\theta,\omega) \tilde{J} * u(\theta,\omega') \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}(\mu \otimes \mu) \,.$$
(3.64)

The right side of this expression is still defined for  $u, v \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$  and there exists c > 0 such that

$$\langle v, (1-A)u \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0} \leqslant c \| u \|_{\mu,2} \| v \|_{\mu,2},$$

Furthermore from (3.63) and Lemma 3.41 we have

$$\langle u, (1-A)u \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0} \ge \frac{1}{c} ||u||_{\mu,2}^2.$$

So the bilinear form  $(u, v) \mapsto \langle v, (1 - A)u \rangle_{\mu, -1, q_0}$  is continuous and coercive on  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \times \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$ . If  $f \in \mathbf{H}^{-1}_{\mu, q_0}$ , the linear form  $v \mapsto \langle v, f \rangle_{\mu, -1, q_0}$  is continuous on  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$ , so that Lax-Milgram Theorem gives the existence of a unique  $u \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$  such that for all  $v \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$ 

$$\langle v, (1-A)u \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0} = \langle v, f \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0}$$

Since

$$\langle v, f \rangle_{\mu,-1,q_0} = -\int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} v(\theta,\omega) \left( \int_0^{\theta} \frac{\mathcal{F}}{q_0} \right) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}\mu \,,$$

from (3.64) we obtain that for almost  $\theta$  and  $\omega$ 

$$-\int_{0}^{\theta} \frac{\mathcal{U}(\theta',\omega)}{q_{0}(\theta')} \,\mathrm{d}\theta' + \frac{u(\theta,\omega)}{2q_{0}(\theta)} - \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left(\tilde{J} * u\right)(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\mu = -\int_{0}^{\theta} \frac{\mathcal{F}(\theta',\omega)}{q_{0}(\theta')} \,\mathrm{d}\theta' \,.$$

So it is clear that if f is continuous with respect to  $\theta$ , then u has a version  $C^2$  with respect to  $\theta$ . Thus  $u \in \mathcal{D}$  and applying  $\partial_{\theta}(q_0(\theta)\partial_{\theta}\cdot)$  to the both sides of this last expression, we get (1 - A)u = f. Since this kind of functions f is dense in  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1}$ , we can conclude that the range of 1 - A is dense, and that A is essentially self-adjoint. This completes the proof of Proposition 3.25.

In the next paragraph, we turn to the study of the linear stability of the system with disorder (3.33):

# 4.2 Decomposition of the operator $L_a^{\delta}$

In what follows, K > 1 and  $r_0 = \Psi_0(2Kr_0) > 0$  are fixed. In order to study the spectral properties of the operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  for general distribution of disorder, we decompose  $L_q^{\delta}$  in (3.34) into the sum of the self-adjoint operator A defined in (3.36) and a perturbation B which will be considered to be small w.r.t. A, namely:

$$Bu(\theta,\omega) := -\partial_{\theta} \left( u(\theta,\omega) \langle J \ast \varepsilon(q) \rangle_{\mu} + \varepsilon(q)(\theta,\omega,\delta) \langle J \ast u \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \delta \omega u(\theta,\omega) \right), \quad (3.65)$$

where

$$\varepsilon(q) := (\theta, \omega, \delta) \mapsto q(\theta, \delta\omega) - q_0(\theta), \tag{3.66}$$

is the difference between the stationary solution with disorder and the one without disorder.

**Remark 3.42.** Note that, since the whole operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  is no longer self-adjoint nor symmetric, its spectrum need not be real. In that extent, one has to deal in this section with the complexified versions of the scalar products defined in § 2.3. Thus, we will assume for the rest of this section that we work with complex versions of these scalar products. The properties of the operator A (Proposition 3.25) are obviously still valid, since A is symmetric and real.

We will also use the following standard notations: for an operator F, we will denote by  $\rho(F)$  the set of all complex numbers  $\lambda$  for which  $\lambda - F$  is invertible, and by  $R(\lambda, F) := (\lambda - F)^{-1}$ ,  $\lambda \in \rho(F)$  the resolvent of F. The spectrum of F will be denoted as  $\sigma(F)$ .

Before beginning our perturbation procedure, the first proposition concerns the analytic semigroup generated by the self-adjoint operator A.

**Proposition 3.43.** The (extension of the) operator A is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup of contractions  $T_A(t)$  on  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1}$ .

Moreover, for every  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$  this semigroup can be extended to an analytic semigroup  $T_A(z)$  defined on  $\Delta_{\alpha} := \{z \in \mathbb{C}; |\arg(z)| < \alpha\}.$ 

We recall here the result we use concerning analytic extensions of strongly continuous semigroups. Its proof can be found in [70, Th 5.2, p. 61].

**Proposition 3.44.** Let T(t) a uniformly bounded strongly continuous semigroup, whose infinitesimal generator F is such that  $0 \in \rho(F)$  and let  $\alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ . The following statements are equivalent:

1. T(t) can be extended to an analytic semigroup in the sector

$$\Delta_{\alpha} := \{\lambda \in \mathbf{C}; |\arg(\lambda)| < \alpha\}$$

and ||T(z)|| is uniformly bounded in every closed sub-sector  $\overline{\Delta}'_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha' < \alpha$ , of  $\Delta_{\alpha}$ ,

2. There exists M > 0 such that

$$\rho(F) \supset \Sigma = \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{C}; \, |\arg(\lambda)| < \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \right\} \cup \{0\}, \tag{3.67}$$

and

$$||R(\lambda, F)|| \leq \frac{M}{|\lambda|}, \quad \lambda \in \Sigma, \lambda \neq 0.$$
 (3.68)

Proof of Proposition 3.43. The proof in § 4.1 of Proposition 3.25 concerning the selfadjointness of A in  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1}$  shows that A satisfies the hypothesis of Lumer-Phillips Theorem (see [70, Th 4.3, p. 14]): A is the infinitesimal generator of a  $C_0$  semigroup of contractions denoted by  $T_A(t)$ .

The rest of the proof is devoted to show the existence of an analytic extension of this semigroup in a proper sector. We follow here the lines of the proof of Th 5.2, p. 61-62, in [70], but with explicit estimates on the resolvent, in order to quantify properly the appropriate size of the perturbation.

Let us first replace the operator A by a small perturbation: for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , let  $A_{\varepsilon} := A - \varepsilon$ , so that 0 belongs to  $\rho(A_{\varepsilon})$ . The operator  $A_{\varepsilon}$  has the following properties: as A, it is self-adjoint and generates a strongly continuous semigroup of operators (which is  $T_{A,\varepsilon}(t) = T_A(t)e^{-\varepsilon t}$ ).

Since A is self-adjoint, it is easy to see that

$$\forall \lambda \in \mathbf{C} \smallsetminus \mathbf{R}, \| R(\lambda, A_{\varepsilon}) \|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leqslant \frac{1}{|\Im(\lambda)|}, \qquad (3.69)$$

and since the spectrum of A is negative, for every  $\lambda \in \mathbf{C}$  such that  $\Re(\lambda) > 0$ ,

$$\|R(\lambda, A_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leqslant \frac{1}{|\lambda|}.$$
(3.70)

For any  $\alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ , let

$$\Sigma_{\alpha} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \, |\arg(\lambda)| < \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \right\} \,. \tag{3.71}$$

Let us prove that for  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$ ,

$$\|R(\lambda, A_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leq \frac{1}{1 - \sin(\alpha)} \cdot \frac{1}{|\lambda|}.$$
(3.72)

Note that (3.72) is clear from (3.69) and (3.70) when  $\lambda$  is such that  $\Re(\lambda) \ge 0$ .

Let us consider  $\sigma > 0, \tau \in \mathbf{R}$  to be chosen appropriately later.

Let us write the following Taylor expansion for  $R(\lambda, A_{\varepsilon})$  around  $\sigma + i\tau$  (at least well defined in a neighborhood of  $\sigma + i\tau$  since  $\sigma > 0$ ):

$$R(\lambda, A_{\varepsilon}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} R(\sigma + i\tau, A_{\varepsilon})^{n+1} ((\sigma + i\tau) - \lambda)^n.$$
(3.73)

From now, we fix  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$  with  $\Re(\lambda) < 0$ . This series  $R(\lambda, A_{\varepsilon})$  is well defined in  $\lambda$  if one can choose  $\sigma$ ,  $\tau$  and  $k \in (0, 1)$  such that  $||R(\sigma + i\tau, A_{\varepsilon})||_{\mu, -1, q_0} |\lambda - (\sigma + i\tau)| \leq k < 1$ . In particular, using (3.69), it suffices to have  $|\lambda - (\sigma + i\tau)| \leq k |\tau|$  and since  $\sigma > 0$  is arbitrary, it suffices to find  $k \in (0, 1)$  and  $\tau$  with  $|\lambda - i\tau| \leq k |\tau|$  to obtain the convergence of (3.73). For this  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$  with  $\Re(\lambda) < 0$ , let us define  $\lambda'$  and  $\tau$  as in Figure 3.7. Then,  $|\lambda - i\tau| \leq |\lambda' - i\tau| = \sin(\alpha)|\tau|$  with  $\sin(\alpha) \in (0, 1)$ . So the series converges for  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$  and one has, using again (3.69),

$$\|R(\lambda, A_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leq \frac{1}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\tau|} \leq \frac{1}{1 - \sin(\alpha)} \cdot \frac{1}{|\lambda|}.$$
(3.74)

The fact that  $T_{A,\varepsilon}(t)$  can be extended to an analytic semigroup  $T_{A,\varepsilon}(z)$  on the domain  $\Delta_{\alpha}$  is a simple application of (3.74) and Proposition 3.44, with  $M := \frac{1}{1-\sin(\alpha)}$ .

Let us then define  $T_A(z) := e^{\varepsilon z} T_{A,\varepsilon}(z)$ , for  $z \in \Delta_\alpha$  so that  $T_A$  is an analytic extension of  $T_A$  (an argument of analyticity shows that  $\tilde{T}_A$  does not depend on  $\varepsilon$ ).



Figure 3.7: The set  $\Sigma_{\alpha}$ .

**Remark 3.45.** Note that estimate (3.72) is also valid in the limit as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ : for all  $\alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$ ,

$$\|R(\lambda, A)\|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leq \frac{1}{1 - \sin(\alpha)} \cdot \frac{1}{|\lambda|}.$$
 (3.75)

# 4.3 Spectral properties of $L_q^{\delta} = A + B$

In this part, we show that if the perturbation B is small enough with respect to A, one has the same spectral properties for  $L_q^{\delta} = A + B$  as for A. In this extent, we recall that  $\mu$  is of compact support in [-1, 1], and the disorder is rescaled by  $\delta > 0$ .

# Proposition 3.46.

The operator B is A-bounded, in the sense that there exist explicit constants  $a_{K,\delta}$  and  $b_{K,\delta}$ , depending on K and  $\delta$  such that for all u in the domain of (the closure of) A

$$\|Bu\|_{\mu,-1,q_0} \leqslant a_{K,\delta} \|u\|_{\mu,-1,q_0} + b_{K,\delta} \|Au\|_{\mu,-1,q_0} .$$
(3.76)

Moreover, for fixed K > 1,  $a_{K,\delta} = O(\delta)$  and  $b_{K,\delta} = O(\delta)$ , as  $\delta \to 0$ .

The latter proposition is based on the fact that the difference  $\varepsilon(q)(\theta, \omega, \delta) = q(\theta, \delta\omega) - q_0(\theta)$  in (3.66) is small if the scale parameter  $\delta$  tend to 0:

**Lemma 3.47.** For  $\delta > 0$ , let us define

$$\|\varepsilon(q)\|_{\infty} := \sup_{\substack{\theta \in \mathbf{S}, |\omega| \leq 1 \\ 0 < u < \delta}} |\varepsilon(q)(\theta, \omega, u)|.$$

Then for all K > 1,  $\|\varepsilon(q)\|_{\infty} = O(\delta)$ , as  $\delta \to 0$ . More precisely, for K > 1,  $\delta > 0$ , the following inequality holds:

$$\|\varepsilon(q)\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon_{K,\delta}$$

where the constant  $\varepsilon_{K,\delta}$  can be chosen explicitly in terms of K and  $\delta$ :

$$\varepsilon_{K,\delta} := \frac{\delta}{\pi} e^{8\pi\delta} \left( 2 + 3e^{4\pi\delta} \right) e^{14K\bar{r}_{\delta}} \left( 1 + 2\pi e^{2K\bar{r}_{\delta}} \right) \,, \tag{3.77}$$

where we recall that  $\bar{r}_{\delta} = \max(r_0, r_{\delta})$ .

Proof of Lemma 3.47. Recall that the disordered stationary solution q (3.15) is given by

$$q(\theta, \delta\omega) := \frac{S(\theta, \delta\omega, 2Kr_{\delta})}{Z(\delta\omega, 2Kr_{\delta})},$$

where  $S(\theta, \omega, x)$  is defined in (3.11) and that the non-disordered one (3.7) is given by  $q_0(\theta) = \frac{S(\theta, 0, 2Kr_0)}{Z(0, 2Kr_0)} = \frac{e^{2Kr_0 \cos(\theta)}}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{2Kr_0 \cos(\theta)} d\theta}$ . Since  $q(\theta, \delta\omega) = q(-\theta, -\delta\omega)$ , it suffices to consider the case  $\delta\omega > 0$ . A simple computation shows that

$$Z(\delta\omega, 2Kr_{\delta}) \geqslant 4\pi^2 e^{-4Kr_{\delta}} e^{-4\pi\delta}, \qquad (3.78)$$

and that

$$|S(\theta,0)| \leqslant 2\pi e^{4Kr_0} \,. \tag{3.79}$$

Using  $|q(\theta, \delta\omega) - q_0(\theta)| \leq \frac{1}{Z(\delta\omega)Z(0)} (Z(0)|S(\theta, \delta\omega) - S(\theta, 0)| + |S(\theta, 0)||Z(0) - Z(\delta\omega)|),$ one has to deal with, successively:

- for fixed  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$ ,  $|S(\theta, \delta\omega) - S(\theta, 0)| \leq \delta \cdot \sup_{|\omega| \leq 1} |\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\omega} S(\theta, \delta\omega)|$ . A long calculation shows that the latter expression  $|\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\omega} S(\theta, \delta\omega)|$  can be bounded above by the constant  $8\pi^2 e^{4Kr_\delta} e^{4\pi\delta} \left(2 + 3e^{4\pi\delta}\right)$ , that is,

$$|S(\theta,\delta\omega) - S(\theta,0)| \leq \delta 8\pi^2 e^{4Kr_\delta} e^{4\pi\delta} \left(2 + 3e^{4\pi\delta}\right).$$
(3.80)

- Using  $|Z(\delta\omega) - Z(0)| = |\int_{\mathbf{S}} (S(\theta, \delta\omega) - S(\theta, 0)) d\theta|$  and (3.80), one has directly:

$$|Z(\delta\omega) - Z(0)| \leqslant \delta 16\pi^3 e^{4Kr_{\delta}} e^{4\pi\delta} \left(2 + 3e^{4\pi\delta}\right).$$
(3.81)

Putting together (3.78), (3.79), (3.80) and (3.81), one obtains the result.

We are now in position to prove the A-boundedness of B:

*Proof of Proposition 3.46. B* is *A*-bounded: let us fix a *u* in the domain of the closure of *A*. Then we have  $||Bu||_{\mu,-1,q_0} = ||\mathcal{B}u||_{2,q_0,\mu}$ , where  $\mathcal{B}u$  is the appropriate primitive of Bu, namely:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{B}u(\theta,\omega) &:= -(u(\theta,\omega)\langle J * \varepsilon(q) \rangle_{\mu} + \varepsilon(q)(\theta,\omega,\delta)\langle J * u \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \delta\omega u(\theta,\omega)) \\ &+ \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{1}{q_0} \right)^{-1} \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{u(\theta,\omega)\langle J * \varepsilon(q) \rangle_{\mu} + \varepsilon(q)(\theta,\omega,\delta)\langle J * u \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \delta\omega u(\theta,\omega)}{q_0(\theta)} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right) \,. \end{aligned}$$

One can easily shows that there exists a constant  $c_{K,\delta}^{(1)}$ , depending only on K > 1 and  $\delta > 0$  such that:

$$\|Bu\|_{\mu,-1,q_0} \leqslant c_{K,\delta}^{(1)} \|u\|_{2,q_0,\mu} .$$
(3.82)

Indeed, an easy calculation shows that  $|\langle J * \varepsilon(q) \rangle_{\mu}| \leq 4K \| \varepsilon(q) \|_{\infty}$  and that

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle J * u \rangle_{\mu}(\cdot)| &\leq K \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} \sin(\cdot - \varphi)^2 q_0(\varphi) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| u \|_{2,q_0,\mu} \\ &\leq K \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} q_0(\varphi) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| u \|_{2,q_0,\mu} = K \| u \|_{2,q_0,\mu} \; . \end{aligned}$$

So we have for all  $\theta, \omega$  (recall that  $Z_0$  is the normalization constant in (3.7)):

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{B}u(\theta,\omega)| &\leqslant (4K \| \varepsilon(q) \|_{\infty} + \delta |\omega|) |u| + 2K \| \varepsilon(q) \|_{\infty} \| u \|_{2,q_0,\mu} \\ &+ Z_0^{-1} \left( 4K \| \varepsilon(q) \|_{\infty} + \delta |\omega| \right) \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{|u|^2}{q_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, inequality (3.82) is true for the following choice of  $c_{K,\delta}^{(1)}$  (recall that  $\varepsilon_{K,\delta}$  is defined in (3.77)):

$$c_{K,\delta}^{(1)} := \left( 6 \left( 4K\varepsilon_{K,\delta} + \delta \right)^2 + 12K^2 Z_0^2 \varepsilon_{K,\delta}^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} .$$
(3.83)

**Remark 3.48.** Note that, thanks to Lemma 3.47, one has that  $c_{K,\delta}^{(1)} = O(\delta)$  as  $\delta \to 0$ .

In order to complete the proof of the inequality (3.76), it suffices to prove that there exist constants  $c_K^{(2)}$  and  $c_K^{(3)}$ , only depending on K such that, for all u:

$$\| u \|_{2,q_{0},\mu} \leq c_{K}^{(2)} \| Au \|_{\mu,-1,q_{0}} + c_{K}^{(3)} \| u \|_{\mu,-1,q_{0}} .$$

$$(3.84)$$

The rest of this first of the proof is devoted to find explicit expressions of  $c_K^{(2)}$  and  $c_K^{(3)}$ , and is based on a usual interpolation argument.

For all integer n > 1, one can compute the linear operator  $f \mapsto f'$  in terms of a sum of two integral operators, namely:

$$f' = I_n(f'') + J_n(f), \qquad (3.85)$$

where  $I_n : f \mapsto \int_0^{2\pi} i_n(\theta, \varphi) f(\varphi) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi$  (resp.  $J_n : f \mapsto \int_0^{2\pi} j_n(\theta, \varphi) f(\varphi) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi$ ) is the integral operator whose kernel  $i_n(\theta, \varphi)$  (resp.  $j_n(\theta, \varphi)$ ) is defined by:

$$\begin{cases} i_n(\theta,\varphi) := \frac{\varphi^{n+1}}{2\pi\theta^n}, \qquad j_n(\theta,\varphi) := -\frac{n(n+1)\varphi^{n-1}}{2\pi\theta^n}, \qquad 0 \leqslant \varphi < \theta \leqslant 2\pi, \\ i_n(\theta,\varphi) := \frac{-(2\pi-\varphi)^{n+1}}{2\pi(2\pi-\theta)^n}, \quad j_n(\theta,\varphi) := \frac{n(n+1)(2\pi-\varphi)^{n-1}}{2\pi(2\pi-\theta)^n}, \quad 0 \leqslant \theta < \varphi \leqslant 2\pi. \end{cases}$$
(3.86)

Equality (3.85) can be easily verified by integrations by parts. Since,

$$\begin{cases} \int_{0}^{2\pi} |i_{n}(\theta,\varphi)| \, \mathrm{d}\varphi \leqslant \frac{2\pi}{n+2}, \quad \int_{0}^{2\pi} |i_{n}(\theta,\varphi)| \, \mathrm{d}\theta \leqslant \frac{2\pi}{n-1}, \\ \int_{0}^{2\pi} |j_{n}(\theta,\varphi)| \, \mathrm{d}\varphi \leqslant \frac{n+1}{\pi}, \quad \int_{0}^{2\pi} |j_{n}(\theta,\varphi)| \, \mathrm{d}\theta \leqslant \frac{n(n+1)}{\pi(n-1)}, \end{cases}$$
(3.87)

we see (cf. [51, p. 143-144]) that  $I_n$  and  $J_n$  are bounded operators on  $L^2(\mathbf{S})$ , namely:

$$||I_n|| \leq \frac{2\pi}{n-1}, ||J_n|| \leq \frac{n(n+1)}{\pi(n-1)}$$

So, applying relation (3.85) for  $f = \mathcal{U}$  we get, for  $\mu$ -almost every  $\omega$ :

$$\left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} |u(\theta,\omega)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq \frac{2\pi}{n-1} \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} |u'(\theta,\omega)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{n(n+1)}{\pi(n-1)} \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} |\mathcal{U}(\theta,\omega)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

This gives

$$\| u \|_{2,\mu} \leq \frac{2\pi}{n-1} \| u' \|_{2,\mu} + \frac{n(n+1)}{\pi(n-1)} \| \mathcal{U} \|_{2,\mu} .$$
(3.88)

Since  $\|\mathcal{U}\|_{2,q_0,\mu} = \|u\|_{\mu,-1,q_0}$ , it only remains to control  $\|u'\|_{2,q_0,\mu}$  with  $\|Au\|_{\mu,-1,q_0}$ : like for the beginning of this proof for the operator B, we have  $\|Au\|_{\mu,-1,q_0} = \|\mathcal{A}u\|_{2,q_0,\mu}$ , where  $\mathcal{A}u$  is the appropriate primitive of Au:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}u(\theta,\omega) &:= \frac{1}{2}u'(\theta,\omega) - \left(u(\theta,\omega)(J*q_0) + q_0(\theta)\langle J*u\rangle_{\mu}(\theta)\right) \\ &+ \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{1}{q_0}\right)^{-1} \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \left\{\frac{u(\theta,\omega)(J*q_0)}{q_0(\theta)} + \frac{1}{2}u(\theta,\omega)\partial_{\theta}\left(\frac{1}{q_0(\theta)}\right)\right\} \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Using inequalities  $|\langle J * u \rangle|_{\mu}(\cdot) \leq K\sqrt{\pi} ||u||_{2,\mu}$ , and  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{|u(\cdot,\omega)|}{q_0} \leq Z_0^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{Kr_0} \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} |u(\cdot,\omega)^2|\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , an easy calculation shows that:

$$|u'(\cdot,\omega)| \leq 2|\mathcal{A}u(\cdot,\omega)| + 2Kr_0|u(\cdot,\omega)| + 2\sqrt{\pi}Kq_0(\cdot) ||u||_{2,\mu} + \frac{4Kr_0}{Z_0^{\frac{1}{2}}} e^{Kr_0} \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} |u(\cdot,\omega)^2|\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

and thus,

$$\| u' \|_{2,\mu} \leq 4 \| \mathcal{A}u \|_{2,\mu} + 4K \left( r_0^2 + \pi Z_0^{-1} e^{2Kr_0} (1 + 8r_0^2) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| u \|_{2,\mu} , \qquad (3.89)$$

and by putting (3.88) and (3.89) together we obtain

$$\| u \|_{2,\mu} \leq \frac{8\pi}{n-1} \| \mathcal{A}u \|_{2,\mu} + \frac{2\pi}{n-1} 4K \left( r_0^2 + \pi Z_0^{-1} e^{2Kr_0} (1+8r_0^2) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \| u \|_{2,\mu}$$
  
 
$$+ \frac{n(n+1)}{\pi(n-1)} \| u \|_{\mu,-1,q_0} .$$

Let us choose the integer  $n = \left[ 16\pi K \left( r_0^2 + \pi Z_0^{-1} e^{2Kr_0} (1 + 8r_0^2) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + 1 \right]$  so that

$$\frac{2\pi}{n-1} 4K \left( r_0^2 + \pi Z_0^{-1} e^{2Kr_0} (1+8r_0^2) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq \frac{1}{2}.$$

In this case, we obtain:

$$\| u \|_{2,q_{0},\mu} \leq \frac{e^{2Kr_{0}}}{4K \left( r_{0}^{2} + \pi Z_{0}^{-1} e^{2Kr_{0}} (1 + 8r_{0}^{2}) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \| Au \|_{\mu,-1,q_{0}} + \frac{e^{2Kr_{0}} \left( 16K \left( r_{0}^{2} + \pi Z_{0}^{-1} e^{2Kr_{0}} (1 + 8r_{0}^{2}) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + 3 \right)^{2}}{16\pi^{2} K \left( r_{0}^{2} + \pi Z_{0}^{-1} e^{2Kr_{0}} (1 + 8r_{0}^{2}) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \| u \|_{\mu,-1,q_{0}}, \qquad (3.90)$$

which is precisely the inequality (3.84) we wanted to prove. Inequalities (3.82) and (3.84) give the result, for  $a_{K,\delta} := c_{K,\delta}^{(1)} \cdot c_K^{(3)}$  and  $b_{K,\delta} := c_{K,\delta}^{(1)} \cdot c_K^{(2)}$ .

**Proposition 3.49.** For all K > 1, there exists  $\delta_3(K) > 0$  such that for all  $0 < \delta \leq \delta_3(K)$ , the operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  is closable. In that case, its closure has the same domain as the closure of A.

*Proof.* Let us choose  $\delta_3(K) > 0$  so that

$$b_{K,\delta_3(K)} < 1$$
 (3.91)

where  $b_{K,\delta}$  is the constant introduced in (3.76), then, for all  $0 < \delta \leq \delta_3(K)$ , the operator B is A-bounded with A-bound strictly lower than 1. The result is then a consequence of Th. IV-1.1, p. 190 in [51].

# 4.4 The spectrum of $L_a^{\delta}$

We divide our study into two parts: the determination of the position of the spectrum within a sector and its position near 0.

## 4.4.1 Position of the spectrum away from 0

We prove mainly that the perturbed operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  still generates an analytic semigroup of operators on an appropriate sector. An immediate corollary is the fact that the spectrum lies in a cone whose vertex is zero.

We know (Proposition 3.43) that for all  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$ , A generates an analytic semigroup of operators on  $\Delta_{\alpha} := \{\lambda \in \mathbf{C}; |\arg(\lambda)| < \alpha\}.$ 

**Proposition 3.50.** For all K > 1,  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\delta_4 > 0$  (depending on  $\alpha$ , K and  $\varepsilon$ ) such that for all  $0 < \delta < \delta_4$ , the spectrum of  $L_q^{\delta} = A + B$  lies within  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{C}; \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \leqslant \arg(\lambda) \leqslant \frac{3\pi}{2} - \alpha \right\} \cup \{\lambda \in \mathbf{C}; |\lambda| \leqslant \varepsilon\}$ . Moreover, there exists  $\alpha' \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  such that the operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  still generates an analytic semigroup on  $\Delta_{\alpha'}$ .

Proof of Proposition 3.50. Let  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$  be fixed. Following (3.76) and using (3.75), one can easily deduce an estimate on the bounded operator  $BR(\lambda, A)$ , for  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$ :

$$\| BR(\lambda, A)u \|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leq a_{K, \delta} \| R(\lambda, A)u \|_{\mu, -1, q_0} + b_{K, \delta} \| AR(\lambda, A)u \|_{\mu, -1, q_0}$$
  
$$\leq a_{K, \delta} \frac{1}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\lambda|} \| u \|_{\mu, -1, q_0}$$
  
$$+ b_{K, \delta} \left( 1 + \frac{1}{1 - \sin(\alpha)} \right) \| u \|_{\mu, -1, q_0} .$$

Let us fix  $\varepsilon > 0$  and choose  $\delta$  so that:

$$\max\left(4b_{K,\delta}\left(\frac{1}{1-\sin(\alpha)}+1\right),\frac{4a_{K,\delta}}{(1-\sin(\alpha))\varepsilon}\right) \leqslant 1.$$
(3.92)

Then, for  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$  such that  $|\lambda| > \varepsilon \ge \frac{4a_{K,\delta}}{1-\sin(\alpha)}$ , we have

$$||BR(\lambda, A)u||_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leq \frac{1}{2} ||u||_{\mu, -1, q_0}.$$

In particular,  $1 - BR(\lambda, A)$  is invertible with  $\left\| (1 - BR(\lambda, A))^{-1} \right\|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leq 2$ . A direct calculation shows that

$$(\lambda - (A + B))^{-1} = R(\lambda, A) (1 - BR(\lambda, A))^{-1}.$$

One deduces the following estimates on the resolvent: for  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$ ,  $|\lambda| > \varepsilon$ ,

$$\left\| R(\lambda, L_q^{\delta}) \right\|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leqslant \frac{2}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\lambda|}.$$
(3.93)

Estimate (3.93) has two consequences: firstly, one deduces immediately that the spectrum  $\sigma(L_a^{\delta})$  of  $L_q^{\delta}$  is contained in  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}$ :

$$\sigma(L_q^{\delta}) \subseteq \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{C}; \, \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \leqslant \arg(\lambda) \leqslant \frac{3\pi}{2} - \alpha \right\} \cup \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{C}; \, |\lambda| \leqslant \varepsilon \right\}.$$
(3.94)

Secondly, (3.93) entails that  $L_q^{\delta}$  generates an analytic semigroup of operators on an appropriate sector. Indeed, if one denotes by  $L_{q,\varepsilon}^{\delta} := L_q^{\delta} - \varepsilon$ , one deduces from (3.94) that  $0 \in \rho(L_{q,2\varepsilon}^{\delta})$  and that for all  $\lambda \in \mathbf{C}$  with  $\Re(\lambda) > 0$  (in particular,  $|\lambda| < |\lambda + 2\varepsilon|$ )

$$\left\| R(\lambda, L_{q,2\varepsilon}^{\delta}) \right\|_{\mu,-1,q_{0}} = \left\| R(\lambda + 2\varepsilon, L_{q}^{\delta}) \right\|_{\mu,-1,q_{0}} \leq \frac{2}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\lambda + 2\varepsilon|}, \\ \leq \frac{2}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\lambda|}.$$

$$(3.95)$$

Hence, using the same arguments of Taylor expansion as in the proof of Proposition 3.43 and applying Proposition 3.44, one easily sees that  $L_{q,2\varepsilon}^{\delta}$  generates an analytic semigroup in a (a priori) smaller sector  $\Delta_{\alpha'}$ , where  $\alpha' \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  can be chosen as  $\alpha' := \frac{1}{2} \arctan\left(\frac{1-\sin(\alpha)}{2}\right)$ . But if  $L_{q,2\varepsilon}^{\delta}$  generates an analytic semigroup, so does  $L_{q}^{\delta}$ .

## 4.4.2 Position of the spectrum near 0

Let us apply Proposition 3.50 for fixed K > 1,  $\alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ ,  $\rho \in (0, 1)$  and  $\varepsilon := \rho \lambda_K$ , where we recall that  $\lambda_K$  is the spectral gap between the eigenvalue 0 for the non-perturbed operator A and the rest of the spectrum  $\sigma(A) \setminus \{0\}$ . Let  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}^+ := \{\lambda \in \Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}; \Re(\lambda) \ge 0\}$  be the subset of  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}$  which lies in the positive part of the complex plane (see Fig. 3.8). In order to show the linear stability, one has to make sure that one can choose a perturbation B small enough so that no eigenvalue of A + B remains in the small set  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}^+$ .



Figure 3.8: The set  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}$ .

Since  $\lambda_K > 0$ , one can separate 0 from the rest of the spectrum of A by a circle  $\mathscr{C}$  centered in 0 with radius  $(\frac{\rho+1}{2})\lambda_K$ . The appropriate choice of  $\varepsilon$  ensures that the interior of the disk delimited by  $\mathscr{C}$  contains  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}^+$  (see Figure 3.8).

The main argument is the following: by construction of  $\mathscr{C}$ , 0 is the only eigenvalue (with multiplicity 1) of the non-perturbed operator A lying in the interior of  $\mathscr{C}$ . A principle of local continuity of eigenvalues shows that, while adding a sufficiently small perturbation B to A, the interior of  $\mathscr{C}$  still contains exactly one eigenvalue (which is a priori close but not equal to 0) with the same multiplicity.
But we already know that for the perturbed operator  $L_q^{\delta} = A + B$ , 0 is always an eigenvalue (since  $L_q^{\delta}q' = 0$ ). One can therefore conclude that, by uniqueness, 0 is the only element of the spectrum of  $L_q^{\delta}$  within the interior of  $\mathscr{C}$ , and is an eigenvalue with multiplicity 1. In particular, there is no element of the spectrum in the positive part of the complex plane.

In order to quantify the appropriate size of the perturbation B, one has to have explicit estimates on the resolvent  $R(\lambda, A)$  on the circle  $\mathscr{C}$ .

**Lemma 3.51.** There exists some explicit constant  $c_{\mathscr{C}} = c_{\mathscr{C}}(K, \rho)$  such that for all  $\lambda \in \mathscr{C}$ ,

$$\|R(\lambda,A)\|_{\mu,-1,q_0} \leqslant c_{\mathscr{C}}, \qquad (3.96)$$

$$\|AR(\lambda, A)\|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leqslant 1 + \left(\frac{1+\rho}{2}\right)\lambda_K \cdot c_{\mathscr{C}}.$$
(3.97)

One can choose  $c_{\mathscr{C}}$  as  $\frac{1}{\lambda_K} \max\left(\frac{2}{\rho+1}, \frac{2}{1-\rho}\right) := \frac{\ell(\rho)}{\lambda_K}.$ 

Proof of Lemma 3.51. Applying the spectral theorem (see [33, Th. 3, p. 1192]) to the essentially self-adjoint operator A, there exists a spectral measure E vanishing on the complementary of the spectrum of A such that  $A = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \lambda \, dE(\lambda)$ . In that extent, one has for any  $\zeta \in \mathscr{C}$ 

$$R(\zeta, A) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{\mathrm{d}E(\lambda)}{\lambda - \zeta}.$$

In particular, for  $\zeta \in \mathscr{C}$ 

$$\|R(\zeta, A)\|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \leqslant \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(A)} \frac{1}{|\lambda - \zeta|} \leqslant \frac{\ell(\rho)}{\lambda_K}$$

The estimation (3.97) is straightforward.

We are now in position to apply our argument of local continuity of eigenvalues: Following [51, Th III-6.17, p. 178], there exists a decomposition of the operator A according to  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1} = \mathbf{H}_0 \oplus \mathbf{H}'$  (in the sense that  $A\mathbf{H}_0 \subset \mathbf{H}_0$ ,  $A\mathbf{H}' \subset \mathbf{H}'$  and  $P\mathcal{D}(A) \subset \mathcal{D}(A)$ , where P is the projection on  $\mathbf{H}_0$  along  $\mathbf{H}'$ ) in such a way that A restricted to  $\mathbf{H}_0$  has spectrum  $\{0\}$  and A restricted to  $\mathbf{H}'$  has spectrum  $\sigma(A) \smallsetminus \{0\}$ .

Let us note that the dimension of  $\mathbf{H}_0$  is 1, since the characteristic space of A in the eigenvalue 0 is reduced to its kernel which is of dimension 1.

Then, applying [51, Th. IV-3.18, p. 214], and using Proposition 3.46, we find that if one chooses  $\delta > 0$ , such that

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \mathscr{C}} \left( a_{K,\delta} \| R(\lambda, A) \|_{\mu, -1, q_0} + b_{K,\delta} \| AR(\lambda, A) \|_{\mu, -1, q_0} \right) < 1,$$
(3.98)

then the perturbed operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  is likewise decomposed according to  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q_0}^{-1} = \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_0 \oplus \tilde{\mathbf{H}}'$ , in such a way that  $\dim(\mathbf{H}_0) = \dim(\tilde{\mathbf{H}}_0) = 1$ , and that the spectrum of  $L_q^{\delta}$  is again separated in two parts by  $\mathscr{C}$ . But we already know that the characteristic space of the perturbed operator  $L_q^{\delta}$  according to the eigenvalue 0 is, at least, of dimension 1 (since  $L_q^{\delta}q' = 0$ ). We can conclude, that for such an  $\delta > 0$ , 0 is the only eigenvalue in  $\mathscr{C}$  and that  $\dim(\tilde{\mathbf{H}}_0) = 1$ .

Applying Lemma 3.51, we see that condition (3.98) is satisfied if we choose  $\delta > 0$  so that:

$$a_{K,\delta}c_{\mathscr{C}} + b_{K,\delta}\left(1 + \left(\frac{1+\rho}{2}\right)\lambda_K c_{\mathscr{C}}\right) < 1.$$
(3.99)

In particular, in that case, the spectrum of  $L_q^{\delta}$  is contained in

$$\left\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \, \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \leqslant \arg(\lambda) \leqslant \frac{3\pi}{2} - \alpha\right\} \subseteq \{z \in \mathbf{C}; \, \Re(z) \leqslant 0\} \, .$$

Finally, the following proposition sums-up the sufficient conditions on  $\delta$  for the conclusions of Theorem 3.27 to be satisfied:

**Proposition 3.52.** Recall the definitions of  $a_{K,\delta}$  and  $b_{K,\delta}$  in Proposition 3.46. If  $\delta > 0$  satisfies the following conditions

$$b_{K,\delta} \leqslant 1,$$

$$4b_{K,\delta} \left(\frac{1}{1-\sin(\alpha)}+1\right) \leqslant 1,$$

$$\frac{4a_{K,\delta}}{\rho\lambda_K (1-\sin(\alpha))} \leqslant 1,$$

$$a_{K,\delta} \frac{\ell(\rho)}{\lambda_K} + b_{K,\delta} \left(1 + \left(\frac{1+\rho}{2}\right)\ell(\rho)\right) < 1.$$
(3.100)

the conclusions of Theorem 3.27 are true.

*Proof.* One has simply to sum-up conditions (3.91), (3.92) with  $\varepsilon = \rho \lambda_K$  and (3.99). The following estimate (3.101) can be obtained by (long) estimations on the coefficients  $a_{K,\delta}$  and  $b_{K,\delta}$ .

**Remark 3.53.** The conditions in Proposition 3.52 can be simplified. For example one can exhibit an explicit constant c such that if  $\delta$  satisfies

$$\delta e^{12\pi\delta} \leqslant c e^{-20K\bar{r_{\delta}}} \max\left(1, \left(\frac{1-\sin(\alpha)}{2-\sin(\alpha)}\right), \frac{\rho\lambda_{K}(1-\sin(\alpha))e^{-4K\bar{r_{\delta}}}}{K^{2}}, \frac{\lambda_{K}}{K^{2}e^{4K\bar{r_{\delta}}}\ell(\rho) + \lambda_{K}\left(1+\left(\frac{1+\rho}{2}\right)\ell(\rho)\right)}\right)$$
(3.101)

the conditions in (3.100) are fulfilled. Explicit estimates on the spectral gap  $\lambda_K$  can be found in [9, Sec. 2.5]. Proposition 3.28 is an direct consequence of (3.101).

## Chapter 4

# Quenched fluctuations of the empirical measure

The material for this chapter is taken from an article [55] published in *Electronic Journal of Probability*.

## Contents

Int	Introduction and motivations	
1.1	Disordered-induced rotation	
1.2	Quenched fluctuations of the empirical flow 112	
Not	Notations and main results	
2.1	Notations $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $113$	
2.2	The model	
2.3	The fluctuation process $\ldots \ldots 114$	
2.4	Main result: quenched fluctuations of the empirical flow 114	
2.5	Fluctuations of the order parameters in the sine-model 116	
$\mathbf{Pro}$	of of the fluctuation result	
3.1	Distribution spaces	
3.2	The non-linear process	
3.3	Fluctuations in the quenched model	
Pro	ofs for the fluctuations of the order parameters	
4.1	Proof of Proposition 4.9 $\ldots$ 132	
4.2	Proof of Proposition 4.11 $\ldots$ 134	
$\mathbf{Pro}$	oof of Proposition 4.14	
	Inta 1.1 1.2 Not 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 Pro 3.1 3.2 3.3 Pro 4.1 4.2 Pro	

## 1 Introduction and motivations

## 1.1 Disordered-induced rotation and fluctuations of the order parameters

In Chapter 2, we proved the quenched convergence of the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  to the solution of McKean-Vlasov equation specifically studied in Chapter 3 in the case of the *sine-model*.

The purpose of this chapter is to address the issue of the fluctuations of the empirical flow around its McKean-Vlasov limit; thus the main result of this chapter (Theorem 4.4) concerns a Central Limit Theorem in a quenched set-up (namely the quenched fluctuations of  $\nu_N$  around its limit  $\nu$ ).

Before stating our result, let us briefly recall our motivations: as already pointed out in Remark 2.19, p. 45, a crucial aspect of the quenched convergence result, which is a law of large numbers, is that it shows the *self-averaging* character of this limit: every typical disorder configuration leads as  $N \to \infty$  to the same deterministic evolution (3.1).

However, we pointed out in the main introduction (recall Section 5, p. 5) that for a finite sample of oscillators the fluctuations of the disorder make the whole system rotate in a given direction at a speed of order  $1/\sqrt{N}$  which depends on the initial choice of the disorder (recall in particular Figures 1.2 and 1.3). In other words, the self-averaging phenomenon does not hold at the scale of fluctuations.

As already mentioned in the main introduction, this non self-averaging phenomenon can be tackled in the *sine-model* by computing the finite-size order parameters  $r_N$  and  $\psi_N$ :

$$r_{N,t}e^{i\psi_{N,t}} = \frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N}e^{i\theta_{j,t}} = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}}e^{i\theta}\,\mathrm{d}\nu_{N,t}(\theta,\omega).$$
(4.1)

Thus the main motivation of this chapter is to derive a quenched fluctuation result for  $r_N$  and  $\psi_N$ . Since the latter parameters are actually functions of the empirical flow  $\nu_N$ , we will prove a quenched fluctuation result (Theorem 4.4) for the empirical flow  $\nu_N$ around its McKean-Vlasov limit. We insist on the fact that we are not interested here in an averaged fluctuation result: averaging with respect to the disorder makes the disorderinduced rotation disappear.

Although the main motivation of this chapter is the study of the *sine-model*, all of the results we prove here are valid in the general framework of diffusions in random environment (2.1); therefore, we will place ourselves under the hypotheses of Chapter 2.

## **1.2** Quenched fluctuations of the empirical flow

The result we prove concerns the behavior as  $N \to \infty$  of the *quenched* fluctuation process of the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  (1.16) around its McKean-Vlasov limit (3.1)

$$\eta_N^{(\omega)} := \sqrt{N} \left( \nu_N^{(\omega)} - \nu \right).$$

More precisely, what we prove is the quenched convergence of  $\eta_N$ , seen as a continuous process in the Schwartz space S' of tempered distributions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$  to the solution  $t \mapsto \eta_t$  of an Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process (4.9). In particular, we insist on the fact that the limit process  $\eta$  is explicit, in the sense that the linear operator governing its evolution is explicitly given and deterministic. The quenched convergence is here understood as a weak convergence in law w.r.t. the disorder and is more technically involved than the convergence in the averaged system. We refer to Section 3 for detailed statements and definitions.

This chapter is organized as follows: Section 2 introduces the model and the main results. In Section 3, the quenched Central Limit Theorem is proved. The last section 4 applies the fluctuation result to the behavior of the order parameters in the *sine-model*.

## 2 Notations and main results

## 2.1 Notations

We recall the necessary notations that will be used in the chapter.

- if X is a metric space,  $\mathcal{B}_X$  will be its Borel  $\sigma$ -field,
- $C_b(X)$  (resp.  $C_b^p(X)$ ,  $p = 1, ..., \infty$ ), the set of bounded continuous functions (resp. bounded continuous with bounded continuous derivatives up to order p) on X, (X will be often  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ ),
- $C_c(X)$  (resp.  $C_c^p(X)$ ,  $p = 1, ..., \infty$ ), the set of continuous functions with compact support (resp. continuous with compact support with continuous derivatives up to order p) on X,
- $\mathbf{D}([0,T], X)$ , the set of right-continuous with left limits functions with values on X, endowed with the Skorokhod topology,
- $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$ , the set of probability measures on Y (Y topological space, with a regular  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathcal{B}$ ),
- $\mathcal{M}_F(Y)$ , the set of finite measures on Y,
- $(\mathcal{M}_1(Y), w)$ :  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  endowed with the topology of weak convergence, namely the coarsest topology on  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  such that the evaluations  $\nu \mapsto \int f \, d\nu$  are continuous, where f are bounded continuous,
- $(\mathcal{M}_1(Y), v)$ :  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  endowed with the topology of vague convergence, namely the coarsest topology on  $\mathcal{M}_1(Y)$  such that the evaluations  $\nu \mapsto \int f \, d\nu$  are continuous, where f are continuous with compact support.

We will use C as a constant which may change from a line to another.

## 2.2 The model

We place ourselves within the general framework of § 2.4 in Chapter 2, that is where the interaction (rewritten below for the sake of clarity) is governed by functions b and cthat satisfy the regularity assumptions made in Chap. 2, § 2.4.2:

For i = 1, ..., N, for T > 0, for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\theta_{i,t} = \xi_i + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N \int_0^t b(\theta_{i,s}, \theta_{j,s}, \omega_i, \omega_j) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t c(\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i) \,\mathrm{d}s + B_{i,t}, \tag{4.2}$$

where the initial conditions  $\xi_i$  are independent and identically distributed with law  $\gamma$ , and independent of the Brownian motion  $(B) = (B_i)_{i \ge 1}$ . The disorder  $(\omega) = (\omega_i)_{i \ge 1}$  is a realization of i.i.d. random variables with law  $\mu$ .

As before, we will denote as  $\mathbf{P}$  the law of the sequence of Brownian Motions and as  $\mathbb{P}$  the law of the sequence of the disorder. The corresponding expectations will be denoted as  $\mathbf{E}$  and  $\mathbb{E}$  respectively.

#### 2.3 The fluctuation process

The main object of interest of this chapter is the fluctuation process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$  of  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  around its limit  $\nu$  (recall (3.1)):

**Definition 4.1.** For all  $t \leq T$ , for fixed  $(\omega) \in \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{N}}$ , we define:

$$\eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)} = \sqrt{N} \left( \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)} - \nu_t \right).$$

Once again the superscript  $(\omega)$  in  $\eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$  is here to recall that the fluctuations depend on the initial choice of the quenched disorder  $(\omega)$ . Note that for for fixed N, t and  $(\omega)$ ,  $\eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$ is a signed measure on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ . Thus, a convenient way to consider the process  $t \mapsto \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$ will be to see it as an element of the larger set  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}'(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}))$  of continuous processes with values in the set  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  of tempered distributions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ .

## 2.4 Main result: quenched fluctuations of the empirical flow

Let us turn to the statement of the main result of the chapter: Theorem 4.4.

Theorem 2.16 says that for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every realization ( $\omega$ ) of the disorder, we have the convergence of  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  towards  $\nu$ , which is a law of large numbers. We are now interested in the corresponding Central Limit Theorem associated to this convergence, namely, for a *fixed* realization of the disorder ( $\omega$ ), in the asymptotic behavior, as  $N \to \infty$  of the fluctuation field  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$  defined in (4.1). The ideas used here are inspired by the work of B. Fernandez and S. Méléard ([36])

The ideas used here are inspired by the work of B. Fernandez and S. Méléard ([36]) who studied the convergence of the similar fluctuations in the case without disorder. We will rely on the ideas introduced in [36] although adding a quenched disorder will make statements and proofs more technically demanding and will in particular require to introduce a weaker notion of convergence.

## 2.4.1 Hypotheses

In addition to the hypothesis made in § 2.4.2, p. 43, we make the following assumptions about b and c (where  $\mathcal{D}_p$  is the set of all differential operators of the form  $\partial_u^k \partial_\omega^l$  with  $k+l \leq p$ ):

$$\begin{cases} b \in \mathcal{C}_{b}^{\infty}(\mathbf{S}^{2} \times \mathbf{R}^{2}), \quad c \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), \\ \exists \alpha > 0, \sup_{D \in \mathcal{D}_{6}} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{\sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}} |Dc(\theta, \omega)|^{2}}{1 + |\omega|^{2\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}\omega < \infty, \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

Furthermore, we make the following assumption about the law of the disorder ( $\alpha$  is defined in (4.3)):

the 
$$(\omega_j)$$
 are i.i.d. and  $\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\omega|^{4\alpha} d\mu(\omega) < \infty.$  (4.4)

**Remark 4.2.** The regularity hypothesis about b and c can be weakened (namely  $b \in C_b^n(\mathbf{S}^2 \times \mathbf{R}^2)$  and  $c \in C^m(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  for sufficiently large n and m) but we have kept here  $m = n = \infty$  for the sake of clarity.

**Remark 4.3.** In the case of the *sine-model*, Hypothesis (4.3) is satisfied with  $\alpha = 2$  for example.

#### 2.4.2 The main theorem

In order to state the fluctuation theorem, we need some further notations: for all  $s \in [0, T]$ , let  $\mathcal{L}_s$  be the second order differential operator defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}(\varphi)(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2}\varphi''(\theta,\omega) + \varphi'(\theta,\omega)(b[\theta,\omega,\nu_{s}] + c(\theta,\omega)) + \langle \nu_{s}, \varphi'(\cdot,\cdot)b(\cdot,\theta,\cdot,\omega) \rangle.$$
(4.5)

Let W the Gaussian process with covariance (where  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$  are regular functions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ ):

$$\mathbf{E}(W_t(\varphi_1)W_s(\varphi_2)) = \int_0^{s \wedge t} \langle \nu_u \,, \, \varphi_1' \varphi_2' \rangle \, \mathrm{d}u.$$
(4.6)

For all  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2$  bounded and continuous on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ , let

$$\Gamma_{1}(\varphi_{1},\varphi_{2}) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \operatorname{Cov}_{\gamma} \left(\varphi_{1}(\cdot,\omega),\varphi_{2}(\cdot,\omega)\right) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega), \qquad (4.7)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \left(\varphi_{1} - \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_{1}(\cdot,\omega) \, \mathrm{d}\gamma\right) \left(\varphi_{2} - \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_{2}(\cdot,\omega) \, \mathrm{d}\gamma\right) \, \mathrm{d}\gamma \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega),$$

and

$$\Gamma_{2}(\varphi_{1},\varphi_{2}) = \operatorname{Cov}_{\mu} \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_{1} \, \mathrm{d}\gamma, \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_{2} \, \mathrm{d}\gamma \right), \qquad (4.8)$$
$$= \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_{1} \, \mathrm{d}\gamma - \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \varphi_{1} \, \mathrm{d}\gamma \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right) \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_{2} \, \mathrm{d}\gamma - \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \varphi_{2} \, \mathrm{d}\gamma \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right) \, \mathrm{d}\mu.$$

We are now in position to state the main result: Theorem 4.4, which is proved in Section 3.

For fixed  $(\omega)$ , we may consider  $\mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$ , the law of the process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$ ;  $\mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}'))$ , where  $\mathcal{S}'$  is the usual Schwartz space of tempered distributions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ . We are here interested in the law of the random variable  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  which is hence an element of  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}')))$ .

**Theorem 4.4** (Fluctuations in the quenched model). Under (4.3), (4.4), the sequence  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}')))$  to the random variable  $\omega \mapsto \mathcal{H}^{\omega}$ , where  $\mathcal{H}^{\omega}$ , element of  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}'))$ , is the law of the process  $\eta^{\omega}$  solution in  $\mathcal{S}'$  of the following Ornstein-Uhlenbeck equation:

$$\eta_t^{\omega} = X^{\omega} + \int_0^t \mathcal{L}_s^* \eta_s^{\omega} \,\mathrm{d}s + W_t, \tag{4.9}$$

where,  $\mathcal{L}_s^*$  is the formal adjoint operator of  $\mathcal{L}_s$  defined in (4.5) and for all fixed  $\omega$ ,  $X^{\omega}$ is a non-centered Gaussian process with covariance  $\Gamma_1$  and with mean value  $C(\omega)$ . As a random variable in  $\omega$ ,  $\omega \mapsto C(\omega)$  is a Gaussian process with covariance  $\Gamma_2$ . Moreover, W is independent on the initial value X.

**Remark 4.5.** An important remark is that in the evolution (4.9), the linear operator  $\mathcal{L}_s^*$  is deterministic; the only dependence in  $\omega$  lies in the initial condition  $X^{\omega}$ , through its nontrivial means  $C(\omega)$ . However, numerical simulations of trajectories of  $\eta^{\omega}$  (see Fig. 1.4) clearly show a non self-averaging phenomenon, analogous to the one observed in Fig 1.3:  $\eta_t^{\omega}$  not only depends on  $\omega$  through its initial condition  $X^{\omega}$ , but also for all positive time t > 0.

Understanding how the deterministic operator  $\mathcal{L}_s^*$  propagates the initial dependence in  $\omega$  on the whole trajectory is the object of Chapter 5. In that sense, it requires a precise understanding of the spectral properties of  $\mathcal{L}_{s}^{*}$ , which appears to be deeply linked to the linear operator in McKean-Vlasov equation (3.2) linearized around its nontrivial stationary solution.

**Remark 4.6** (Generalization to the non-compact case). As for the quenched convergence result (see Remark 2.17 in Chapter 2), it is possible to extend Theorem 4.4 to the (analogous but more technical) case where  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$  is replaced by  $x \in \mathbf{R}^d$ . To this purpose, one has to introduce an additional weight  $(1 + |x|^{\alpha})^{-1}$  in the definition of the Sobolev norms in Section 3 and to suppose appropriate hypothesis concerning the first moments of the initial condition  $\gamma$  ( $\int |x|^{\beta} d\gamma(x) < \infty$  for a sufficiently large  $\beta$ ).

## 2.4.3 Averaged fluctuations of the empirical flow

Even if the main purpose of this chapter is to prove the quenched result, it is worth to note that an easy byproduct of Theorem 4.4 is an averaged fluctuation result:

**Theorem 4.7** (Fluctuations in the averaged model). Under (4.3), (4.4), the law of the sequence  $(\eta_N)_{N \ge 1}$ , under the joint law of the Brownian motions and disorder converges in C([0,T], S') to the law of the Orstein-Uhlenbeck process  $\eta$  solution in S' of the following equation:

$$\eta_t = X + \int_0^t \mathcal{L}_s^* \eta_s \, \mathrm{d}s + W_t,$$

where X is a centered Gaussian process with covariance

$$C_{av}(\varphi) := \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \left(\varphi(\theta,\omega) - \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \varphi(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\lambda(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega)\right)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\lambda(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega),$$

and where W is the Gaussian process defined in Proposition 4.25.

**Remark 4.8.** Note that one can see Theorem 4.7 as a generalization of the result established in [27, Th. 4, p. 744] in the case of an Hamiltonian interaction.

#### 2.5 Fluctuations of the order parameters in the sine-model

We now apply Theorem 4.4 to the study of the order parameters in the *sine-model* defined in (4.1):

For given  $N \ge 1$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$  and disorder  $(\omega) \in \mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{N}}$ , let  $r_{N,t}^{(\omega)} \ge 0$  and  $\zeta_{N,t}^{(\omega)} \in \mathbf{S}$  such that

$$r_{N,t}^{(\omega)}\zeta_{N,t}^{(\omega)} = \frac{1}{N}\sum_{j=1}^{N} e^{i\theta_{j,t}} = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} e^{i\theta} \,\mathrm{d}\nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\theta,\omega)$$

**Proposition 4.9** (Convergence and fluctuations for  $r_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$ ). We have the following:

1. Convergence of  $r_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$ : For  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every realization of the disorder  $(\omega)$ ,  $r_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law to  $r \in \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{R})$  defined by

$$t \in [0,T] \mapsto r_t := \left( \langle \nu_t \,, \, \cos(\cdot) \rangle^2 + \langle \nu_t \,, \, \sin(\cdot) \rangle^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

2. If  $r_0 > 0$  then

$$\forall t \in [0, T], \quad r_t > 0. \tag{4.10}$$

3. Fluctuations of  $r_{N,t}^{(\omega)}$  around its limit: Let

$$t \mapsto \mathcal{R}_{N,t}^{(\omega)} := \sqrt{N} \left( r_{N,t}^{(\omega)} - r_t \right) \tag{4.11}$$

be the fluctuation process. For fixed disorder  $(\omega)$ , let  $\mathfrak{R}_N^{(\omega)} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathbf{R}))$ be the law of  $\mathcal{R}_N^{(\omega)}$ . Then, under (4.10), the random variable  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathfrak{R}_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law to the random variable  $\omega \mapsto \mathfrak{R}^{\omega}$ , where  $\mathfrak{R}^{\omega}$  is the law of  $\mathcal{R}^{\omega} := \frac{1}{r} (\langle \nu, \cos(\cdot) \rangle \langle \eta^{\omega}, \cos(\cdot) \rangle + \langle \nu, \sin(\cdot) \rangle \langle \eta^{\omega}, \sin(\cdot) \rangle).$ 

**Remark 4.10.** In simpler terms, this double convergence in law corresponds for example to the convergence in law of the corresponding characteristic functions (since the tightness is a direct consequence of the tightness of the process  $\eta$ ); i.e. for  $t_1, \ldots, t_p \in [0, T]$   $(p \ge 1)$  the characteristic function of  $(\mathcal{R}_{N,t_1}^{(\omega)}, \ldots, \mathcal{R}_{N,t_p}^{(\omega)})$  for fixed ( $\omega$ ) converges in law, as a random variable in ( $\omega$ ), to the random characteristic function of  $(\mathcal{R}_{t_1}^{(\omega)}, \ldots, \mathcal{R}_{t_p}^{(\omega)})$ .

**Proposition 4.11** (Convergence and fluctuations for  $\zeta_N^{(\omega)}$ ). We have the following:

- 1. Convergence of  $\zeta_N^{(\omega)}$ : Under (4.10), for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every realization of the disorder  $(\omega), \, \zeta_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law to  $\zeta : t \in [0,T] \mapsto \zeta_t := \frac{\langle \nu_t, e^{i\theta} \rangle}{r_t},$
- 2. Fluctuations of  $\zeta_N^{(\omega)}$  around its limit: Let

$$t \mapsto \mathcal{Z}_{N,t}^{(\omega)} := \sqrt{N} \left( \zeta_{N,t}^{(\omega)} - \zeta_t \right)$$

be the fluctuation process. For fixed disorder  $(\omega)$ , let  $\mathfrak{Z}_N^{(\omega)} \in \mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathbf{R}))$  be the law of  $\mathcal{Z}_N^{(\omega)}$ . Then, under (4.10), the random variable  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathfrak{Z}_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law to the random variable  $\omega \mapsto \mathfrak{Z}^{\omega}$ , where  $\mathfrak{Z}^{\omega}$  is the law of

$$\mathcal{Z}^{\omega} := \frac{1}{r^2} \left( r \left\langle \eta^{\omega} , \cos(\cdot) \right\rangle + \left\langle \nu , e^{i\theta} \right\rangle \mathcal{R}^{\omega} \right).$$

In the sine-model, we have  $\zeta_N^{(\omega)} = e^{i\psi_N^{(\omega)}}$  where  $\psi_N^{(\omega)}$  is defined in (4.1) and is plotted in Fig. 1.3, p. 29. Some trajectories of the process  $\mathcal{Z}^{\omega}$  are plotted in Fig. 1.4, p. 32.

This fluctuation result concerning the order parameters in the *sine-model* is proved in Section 4.

## **3** Proof of the fluctuation result

Now we turn to the proof of Theorem 4.4. To that purpose, we need to introduce some distribution spaces:

## 3.1 Distribution spaces

Let  $S := S(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  be the usual Schwartz space of rapidly decreasing infinitely differentiable functions. Let  $\mathcal{D}_p$  be the set of all differential operators of the form  $\partial_{\theta}^k \partial_{\omega}^l$  with  $k + l \leq p$ . We know from Gelfand and Vilenkin [39] p. 82-84, that we can introduce on S a nuclear Fréchet topology by the system of seminorms  $\|\cdot\|_p$ ,  $p = 1, 2, \ldots$ , defined by

$$\|\varphi\|_p^2 = \sum_{k=0}^p \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} (1+|\omega|^2)^{2p} \sum_{D\in\mathcal{D}_k} |D\varphi(\theta,\omega)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\omega.$$

Let  $\mathcal{S}'$  be the corresponding dual space of tempered distributions. Although, for the sake of simplicity, we will mainly consider  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$  as a process in  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}')$ , we need some more precise estimations to prove tightness and convergence. We need here the following norms (see [3]):

For every integer  $j, \alpha \in \mathbf{R}^+$ , we consider the space of all real functions  $\varphi$  defined on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$  with derivative up to order j such that

$$\|\varphi\|_{j,\alpha} := \left(\sum_{k_1+k_2 \leqslant j} \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \frac{|\partial_{\theta}^{k_1} \partial_{\omega}^{k_2} \varphi(\theta, \omega)|^2}{1+|\omega|^{2\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\omega\right)^{1/2} < \infty$$

Let  $W_0^{j,\alpha}$  be the completion of  $\mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  for this norm;  $(W_0^{j,\alpha}, \|\cdot\|_{j,\alpha})$  is a Hilbert space. Let  $W_0^{-j,\alpha}$  be its dual space.

Let  $C^{j,\alpha}$  be the space of functions  $\varphi$  with continuous partial derivatives up to order j such that

$$\lim_{|\omega|\to\infty} \sup_{\theta\in\mathbf{S}} \frac{|\partial_{\theta}^{k_1} \partial_{\omega}^{k_2} \varphi(\theta,\omega)|}{1+|\omega|^{\alpha}} = 0, \text{ for all } k_1 + k_2 \leqslant j,$$

with norm

$$\|\varphi\|_{C^{j,\alpha}} = \sum_{k_1+k_2 \leqslant j} \sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}} \sup_{\omega \in \mathbf{R}} \frac{|\partial_{\theta}^{k_1} \partial_{\omega}^{k_2} \varphi(\theta, \omega)|}{1+|\omega|^{\alpha}}$$

We have the following embeddings:

$$W_0^{m+j,\alpha} \hookrightarrow C^{j,\alpha}, m > 1, j \ge 0, \alpha = 0$$

i.e. there exists some constant C such that

$$\|\varphi\|_{C^{j,\alpha}} \leqslant C \|\varphi\|_{m+j,\alpha}.$$

$$(4.12)$$

Moreover,

$$W_0^{m+j,\alpha} \hookrightarrow W_0^{j,\alpha+\beta}, m>1, j \geqslant 0, \alpha \geqslant 0, \beta>1$$

Thus there exists some constant C such that

$$\left\| \left. \varphi \right. \right\|_{j,\alpha+\beta} \\ \leqslant C \left\| \left. \varphi \right. \right\|_{m+j,\alpha}$$

We then have the following dual continuous embedding:

$$W_0^{-j,\alpha+\beta} \hookrightarrow W_0^{-(m+j),\alpha}, \ m > 1, \alpha \ge 0, \beta > 1.$$

$$(4.13)$$

It is quite clear that  $\mathcal{S} \hookrightarrow W_0^{j,\alpha}$  for any j and  $\alpha$ , with a continuous injection.

We now prove some continuity of linear mappings in the corresponding spaces:

**Lemma 4.12.** For every  $\theta, \theta' \in \mathbf{S}$ ,  $\omega \in \mathbf{R}$ , for all  $\alpha$ , the linear mappings  $W_0^{3,\alpha} \to \mathbf{R}$  defined by

$$D_{\theta,\theta',\omega}(\varphi) := \varphi(\theta,\omega) - \varphi(\theta',\omega); D_{\theta,\omega} := \varphi(\theta,\omega); H_{\theta,\omega} = \varphi'(\theta,\omega), \qquad (4.14)$$

are continuous and

$$\left\| D_{\theta,\theta',\omega} \right\|_{-3,\alpha} \leqslant C |\theta - \theta'| \left( 1 + |\omega|^{\alpha} \right), \tag{4.15}$$

$$\|D_{\theta,\omega}\|_{-3,\alpha} \leqslant C \left(1+|\omega|^{\alpha}\right), \tag{4.16}$$

$$\|H_{\theta,\omega}\|_{-3,\alpha} \leqslant C \left(1+|\omega|^{\alpha}\right). \tag{4.17}$$

*Proof of Lemma 4.12.* Let  $\varphi$  be a function of class  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  with compact support on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ , then,

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi(\theta,\omega) - \varphi(\theta',\omega)| &\leq |\theta - \theta'| \sup_{u} |\varphi'(u,\omega)| \,, \\ &\leq |\theta - \theta'| \left(1 + |\omega|^{\alpha}\right) \sup_{u,\omega} \left(\frac{|\varphi'(u,\omega)|}{1 + |\omega|^{\alpha}}\right), \\ &\leq |\theta - \theta'| \left(1 + |\omega|^{\alpha}\right) \|\varphi\|_{1,\alpha} \,, \\ &\leq C |\theta - \theta'| \left(1 + |\omega|^{\alpha}\right) \|\varphi\|_{3,\alpha} \,, \end{aligned}$$

following (4.12) with j = 1 and m = 2 > 1. Then, (4.15) follows from a density argument. (4.16) and (4.17) are proved in the same way.

### 3.2 The non-linear process

The proof of Theorem 4.4 is based on the existence of the nonlinear process associated to McKean-Vlasov equation. Such existence has been studied by numerous authors (eg. Dawson [28], Jourdain-Méléard [49], Malrieu [57], Shiga-Tanaka [80], Sznitman [88], [89]) mostly in order to prove some propagation of chaos properties for systems without disorder. We consider the present similar case where disorder is present. Let us give some intuition of this process. One can replace the nonlinearity in McKean-Vlasov equation (3.2), p. 74, by an arbitrary measure  $m(d\theta, d\omega)$ :

$$\partial_t q_t(\theta, \omega) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta^2 q_t(\theta, \omega) - \partial_\theta \left\{ q_t(\theta, \omega) \left( b[\theta, \omega, m] + c(\theta, \omega) \right) \right\}$$

In this particular case, it is usual to interpret  $q_t(\cdot, \omega)$  as the time marginals of the following diffusion:

$$d\bar{\theta}_t = dB_t + b[\bar{\theta}_t, \omega, m]dt + c(\bar{\theta}_t, \omega)dt, \ \omega \sim \mu.$$
(4.18)

It is then natural to consider the following problem, where m is replaced by the proper process  $\nu$ : on a filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_t, B, \xi_0, Q)$ , endowed with a Brownian motion B and with a  $\mathcal{F}_0$  measurable random variable  $\xi_0 \sim \gamma$ , we introduce the following system:

$$\begin{cases} \bar{\theta}_t = \xi_0 + \int_0^t b[\bar{\theta}_s, \omega, \nu_s] \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t c(\bar{\theta}_s, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}s + B_t, \\ \omega \sim \mu, \\ \nu_t = \mathcal{L}(\bar{\theta}_t, \omega), \forall t \in [0, T]. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.19)$$

**Proposition 4.13.** There is pathwise existence and uniqueness for Equation (4.19).

*Proof of Proposition 4.13.* There exist several ways to prove Proposition 4.13.

One way is to recall that we already have encountered this nonlinear process where we proved uniqueness of the weak McKean-Vlasov formulation in Chapter 2, Proposition 2.20 (recall (2.62)). More precisely, we show in Chap. 2, § 5 that any solution  $t \mapsto \nu_t$  to the weak formulation of McKean-Vlasov equation (2.11) solves (2.62) with  $\nu_t = \mathcal{L}(\xi_t, \omega_t)$ , which is exactly (4.19). In particular, since there exists a solution  $t \mapsto \nu_t$  to (2.11), then there exists a process ( $\theta_t^{\omega}, \omega$ ) which satisfies (4.19). The pathwise uniqueness was precisely proved in the end of Chap. 2, § 5.

An alternative proof of Proposition 4.13 is based on arguments used by Sznitman [89] in a context of propagation of chaos properties (see in particular [89, Th 1.1, p. 172]). This proof, which has its own interest is developed in the following. The main idea consists in

using a Picard iteration in the space of probabilities on  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}$  endowed with an appropriate Wasserstein metric.

Namely, let us consider the set  $\mathcal{M}_{\mu}$  of probability measures on  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{S}) \times \mathbf{R}$  with second component (w.r.t.  $\mathbf{R}$ ) is  $\mu$  and endow this set with the Wasserstein metric

$$D_T(m_1, m_2) := \inf_{\substack{X^{(1)} \sim m_1 \\ X^{(2)} \sim m_2}} \left\{ \mathbf{E} \left( \sup_{s \leqslant T} |X_s^{(1)} - X_s^{(2)}| \wedge 1 \right) \right\}.$$
 (4.20)

In (4.20), the  $X^{(i)}$  are understood as random variables on a certain probability space  $(\Omega, \mathbf{P})$ ; nevertheless, note that the definition of (4.20) does not depend on the choice of this probability space. Formula (4.20) defines a complete metric on  $\mathcal{M}_{\mu}$  that gives the topology of weak convergence.

Let us denote by  $\Phi: \mathcal{M}_{\mu} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mu}$  the functional which maps any measure  $m(d\theta, d\omega) \in \mathcal{M}_{\mu}$  to the law  $\Phi(m)$  of  $(\theta, \omega)$  where  $(\theta_t)_{0 \leq t \leq T}$  is the only solution to (4.18). Note that  $\bar{m}$  is a fixed point of  $\Phi(\bar{m}) = \bar{m}$  if and only if the corresponding process  $(\bar{\theta}, \omega)$  is a solution to (4.19). As in [89, Lemma 1.3], we prove the following

$$\forall t \leq T, \ D_t(\Phi(m_1), \Phi(m_2)) \leq C_T \int_0^t D_u(m_1, m_2) \,\mathrm{d}u.$$
 (4.21)

If we prove (4.21), the proof of Proposition 4.13 will be finished since in that case, one can iterate this inequality and find

$$\forall k \ge 1, \ D_T(\Phi^{k+1}(m), \Phi^k(m)) \leqslant C_T^k \frac{T^k}{k!} D_T(\Phi(m), m),$$

which gives that  $(\Phi^k(m))_{k \ge 1}$  is a Cauchy sequence, and thus converges to some  $\bar{m}$ , fixed-point of  $\Phi$ . The uniqueness of such a fixed-point comes also from (4.21) and Gronwall's lemma.

Let us now prove (4.21): for  $X^{(1)} = (\theta_1, \omega_0)$  and  $X^{(2)} = (\theta_2, \omega_0)$  solutions to (4.18) driven by the same Brownian motion, with the same initial condition, we have successively for all  $0 \leq t \leq T$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |\theta_t^{(1)} - \theta_t^{(2)}| &\leq \int_0^t \left| b[\theta_s^{(1)}, \omega_0, m_{1,s}] - b[\theta_s^{(2)}, \omega_0, m_{2,s}] \right| + \left| c(\theta_s^{(1)}, \omega_0) - c(\theta_s^{(2)}, \omega_0) \right| \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ &\leq C \int_0^t \left| \theta_s^{(1)} - \theta_s^{(2)} \right| \wedge 1 \, \mathrm{d}s + C \int_0^t \mathbf{E} |X_s^{(1)} - X_s^{(2)}| \wedge 1 \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently,

$$\sup_{s \leq t} |X_s^{(1)} - X_s^{(2)}| \leq C \int_0^t \left| X_s^{(1)} - X_s^{(2)} \right| \wedge 1 \,\mathrm{d}s + C \int_0^t D_s(m_1, m_2) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Gronwall's lemma leads to conclusion.

## 3.3 Fluctuations in the quenched model

The key argument of the proof of Theorem 4.4 is to estimate the error made in approximating (as  $N \to \infty$ ) the rotators  $\theta_i$  solutions to (4.2) with independent copies of the nonlinear process  $\bar{\theta}_i$  solution to (4.19) when both processes have the same initial condition and are driven by the same Brownian motions (see (4.22)).

A major difference between this work and [36] is that, since in our quenched model, we only integrate w.r.t. Brownian motions and not w.r.t. the disorder, one has to deal with remaining terms <sup>[1]</sup>that would have disappeared in the averaged model (see  $Z_N$  in Proposition 4.14, to compare with [36, Lemma 3.2]). The main technical difficulty of Proposition 4.14 is to control the asymptotic behavior of such terms, see (4.23). As in [36], having proved Prop. 4.14, the key argument of the proof is a uniform estimation of the norm of the process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$ , see Propositions 4.15 and 4.19, based on the generalized stochastic differential equation verified by  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$ , see (4.29).

## 3.3.1 Preliminary results

We consider here a fixed realization of the disorder  $(\omega) = (\omega_1, \omega_2, ...)$ . On a common filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F}_t, (B^i)_{i \ge 1}, Q)$ , endowed with a sequence of i.i.d.  $\mathcal{F}_t$ adapted Brownian motions  $(B_i)_{1 \le i \le N}$  and with a sequence of i.i.d.  $\mathcal{F}_0$  measurable random variables  $(\xi_i)$  with law  $\gamma$ , we define as  $(\theta_i)_{1 \le i \le N}$  the solution of (4.2), and as  $(\bar{\theta}_i)_{1 \le i \le N}$  the solution to (4.19), with the same Brownian motion  $(B_i)_{1 \le i \le N}$  and with the same initial value  $\xi_i$ .

The main technical proposition, from which every norm estimation of  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$  follows is the following:

### Proposition 4.14.

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sup_{t\leqslant T}\left|\theta_{i,t}-\bar{\theta}_{i,t}\right|^{2}\right]\leqslant C/N+Z_{N}(\omega_{1},\ldots,\omega_{N}),\tag{4.22}$$

where the random variable  $(\omega) \mapsto Z_N(\omega)$  is such that:

$$\lim_{A \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(NZ_N(\omega) > A\right) = 0.$$
(4.23)

The (rather technical) proof of Proposition 4.14 is postponed to the end of the chapter (see § 5). Once again, we stress the fact that the term  $Z_N$  would have disappeared in the averaged model.

The first norm estimation of the process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$  (which will be used to prove tightness) is a direct consequence of Proposition 4.14 and of a Hilbertian argument:

**Proposition 4.15.** Under the hypothesis (4.4) on  $\mu$ , the process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$  satisfies the following property: for all T > 0,

$$\sup_{t \leqslant T} \mathbf{E} \left[ \left\| \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)} \right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2} \right] \leqslant A_{N}(\omega_{1},\ldots,\omega_{N}),$$
(4.24)

where

$$\lim_{A \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{P}(A_N > A) = 0.$$

Proof of Proposition 4.15. For all  $\varphi \in W_0^{3,2\alpha}$ , writing

$$\left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \varphi \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ \varphi(\theta_{i,t}, \omega_i) - \varphi(\bar{\theta}_{i,t}, \omega_i) \right\} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ \varphi(\bar{\theta}_{i,t}, \omega_i) - \langle \nu_s, \varphi \rangle \right\},$$
  
=:  $S_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi) + T_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi),$ 

<sup>[1].</sup> These remaining terms that are not bounded for fixed ( $\omega$ ) but in law w.r.t. ( $\omega$ ) explain why we had to introduce the weak notion of convergence for the statement of Theorem 4.4.

we have:

$$\left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \varphi \right\rangle^2 \leqslant 2 \left( S_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)^2 + T_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)^2 \right).$$
(4.25)

But, by convexity, (recall (4.14))

$$S_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)^2 \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^N D_{\theta_{i,t},\bar{\theta}_{i,t},\omega_i}^2(\varphi).$$

Then, applying the latter equation to an orthonormal system  $(\varphi_p)_{p \ge 1}$  in the Hilbert space  $W_0^{3,2\alpha}$ , summing on p, we have by Parseval's identity on the continuous functional  $D_{\theta_{i,t},\bar{\theta}_{i,t},\omega_i}$ ,

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\left\|S_{N,t}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2}\right] \leqslant \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{N}\left\|D_{\theta_{i,t},\bar{\theta}_{i,t},\omega_{i}}\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2}\right],$$
$$\leqslant C\sum_{i=1}^{N}\left(1+|\omega_{i}|^{4\alpha}\right)\mathbf{E}\left[\left|\theta_{i,t}-\bar{\theta}_{i,t}\right|^{2}\right],$$
(4.26)

$$\leq C \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( 1 + |\omega_i|^{4\alpha} \right) \left( C/N + Z_N(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_N) \right), \tag{4.27}$$

where we used (4.15) in (4.26), and (4.22) in (4.27).

On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E} \left[ T_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)^2 \right] &= \frac{1}{N} \mathbf{E} \left[ \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^N \left( \varphi(\bar{\theta}_{i,t}, \omega_i) - \langle \nu_t \,, \, \varphi \rangle \right) \right\}^2 \right], \\ &= \frac{1}{N} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^N \left( \varphi(\bar{\theta}_{i,t}, \omega_i) - \langle \nu_t \,, \, \varphi \rangle \right)^2 \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{N} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sum_{i \neq j} (\varphi(\bar{\theta}_{i,t}, \omega_i) - \langle \nu_t \,, \, \varphi \rangle) (\varphi(\bar{\theta}_{j,t}, \omega_j) - \langle \nu_t \,, \, \varphi \rangle) \right], \\ &\leqslant \frac{2}{N} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^N \left( \varphi(\bar{\theta}_{i,t}, \omega_i)^2 + \langle \nu_t \,, \, \varphi \rangle^2 \right) \right] + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i \neq j} G(\varphi)(\omega_i) G(\varphi)(\omega_j), \\ &\leqslant \frac{2}{N} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^N \varphi(\bar{\theta}_{i,t}, \omega_i)^2 \right] + 2 \langle \nu_t \,, \, \varphi \rangle^2 + \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{i=1}^N G(\varphi)(\omega_i) \right)^2, \end{split}$$

where  $G(\varphi)(\omega) := \int \varphi(\theta, \omega_i) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t^{\omega_i}(\theta) - \langle \nu_t, \varphi \rangle$ . If we apply the same Hilbertian argument as for  $S_N^{(\omega)}$ , we see

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\left\|T_{N,t}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2}\right] \leqslant \frac{2C}{N} \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(1+|\omega_{i}|^{4\alpha}\right)\right] + C + \left\|\varphi\mapsto\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\sum_{i=1}^{N}G(\varphi)(\omega_{i})\right)\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2},\tag{4.28}$$

It is easy to see that the last term in (4.28) can be reformulated as  $B_N(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N)$ , with the property that  $\lim_{A\to\infty} \limsup_{N\to\infty} \mathbb{P}(B_N > A) = 0$ . Combining (4.23), (4.25), (4.27) and (4.28), Proposition 4.15 is proved.

#### **3.3.2** Tightness of the fluctuation process

Applying Ito's formula to (4.2), we obtain, for all  $\varphi$  bounded function on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ , with two bounded derivatives w.r.t.  $\theta$ , for every sequence ( $\omega$ ), for all  $t \leq T$ :

$$\left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \varphi \right\rangle = \left\langle \eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)}, \varphi \right\rangle + \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \mathcal{L}_s^{\nu_N}(\varphi) \right\rangle \,\mathrm{d}s + M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi), \tag{4.29}$$

where, for all  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$ ,  $\omega \in \mathbf{R}$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\varphi)(\theta,\omega) = \frac{1}{2}\varphi''(\theta,\omega) + \varphi'(\theta,\omega)\left(b[\theta,\omega,\nu_{N,s}] + c(\theta,\omega)\right) + \left\langle\nu_{s}, \varphi'(\cdot,\cdot)b(\cdot,\theta,\cdot,\omega)\right\rangle,$$
(4.30)

and  $M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)$  is a real continuous martingale with quadratic variation process

$$\left\langle M_{N}^{(\omega)}(\varphi) \right\rangle_{t} = \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \nu_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \, \varphi'(\theta,\omega)^{2} \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}s$$

**Lemma 4.16.** For every N, the operator  $\mathcal{L}_s^{\nu_N}$  defines a linear mapping from S into S and for all  $\varphi \in S$ ,

$$\left\| \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\varphi) \right\|_{3,2\alpha}^{2} \leqslant C \left\| \varphi \right\|_{6,\alpha}^{2}.$$

Proof of Lemma 4.16. The terms  $\frac{1}{2}\varphi''(\theta,\omega)$  and  $\varphi'(\theta,\omega)b[\theta,\omega,\nu_{N,s}]$  in (4.30) clearly satisfy the lemma. We study the two remaining terms:

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\langle \nu_{s} , \varphi' b(\cdot, \theta, \cdot, \omega) \right\rangle \right\|_{3,2\alpha}^{2} &= \sum_{k_{1}+k_{2} \leqslant 3} \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \frac{\left\langle \nu_{s} , \varphi' \partial_{\theta}^{k_{1}} \partial_{\omega}^{k_{2}} b(\cdot, \theta, \cdot, \omega) \right\rangle^{2}}{1 + |\omega|^{4\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \, \mathrm{d}\omega, \\ &\leqslant C \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{1}{1 + |\omega|^{4\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}\omega \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \varphi'(\theta, \omega)^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\nu_{s}(\theta, \omega), \\ &\leqslant C \, \| \varphi \, \|_{C^{3,\alpha}}^{2} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{1}{1 + |\omega|^{4\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}\omega \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} (1 + |\omega|^{\alpha})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\nu_{s}(\theta, \omega), \\ &\leqslant C \, \| \varphi \, \|_{6,\alpha}^{2} \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{1}{1 + |\omega|^{4\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}\omega \int_{\mathbf{R}} (1 + |\omega|^{\alpha})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\omega). \end{split}$$

And,

$$\left\|\varphi'(\theta,\omega)c(\theta,\omega)\right\|_{3,2\alpha}^2 = \sum_{k_1+k_2 \leqslant 3} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \frac{\left(\partial_{\theta}^{k_1} \partial_{\omega}^{k_2} \left\{\varphi'(\theta,\omega)c(\theta,\omega)\right\}\right)^2}{1+|\omega|^{4\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\omega.$$

Here, it suffices to estimate, for every differential operator  $D_i = \partial_{\theta}^{u_i} \partial_{\omega}^{v_i}$ , i = 1, 2 with  $u_1 + u_2 + v_1 + v_2 \leq 3$ , the following term:

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \frac{|D_1\varphi'(\theta,\omega)D_2c(\theta,\omega)|^2}{1+|\omega|^{4\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\omega &\leqslant \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \frac{|D_1\varphi'(\theta,\omega)|^2}{(1+|\omega|^{\alpha})^2} \frac{|D_2c(\theta,\omega)|^2(1+|\omega|^{\alpha})^2}{1+|\omega|^{4\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\omega, \\ &\leqslant C \,\|\,\varphi\,\|_{6,\alpha}^2 \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{\sup_{\theta\in\mathbf{S}} |D_2c(\theta,\omega)|^2}{1+|\omega|^{2\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}\omega. \end{split}$$

The result follows from the assumptions made on c.

For the tightness criterion used below, we need to ensure that the trajectories of the fluctuation process are almost surely continuous: in that purpose, we need some more precise evaluations than in Prop. 4.15.

**Lemma 4.17.** The process  $\left(M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}\right)_{t\in[0,T]}$  satisfies, for every  $(\omega)$ , and for every T > 0,

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sup_{t\leqslant T}\left\|M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2}\right]\leqslant \frac{C}{N}\sum_{i=1}^{N}\left(1+|\omega_{i}|^{4\alpha}\right).$$

**Remark 4.18.** In particular, a consequence of (4.4) is that, for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence  $(\omega)$ ,

$$\sup_{N} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sup_{t \leq T} \left\| M_{N,t}^{(\omega)} \right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2} \right] \leq \sup_{N} \frac{C}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( 1 + |\omega_{i}|^{4\alpha} \right) < \infty.$$
(4.31)

Proof of Lemma 4.17. Let  $(\varphi_p)_{p \ge 1}$  a complete orthonormal system in  $W_0^{3,2\alpha}$ . For fixed N, by Doob's inequality,  $\sum_{p \ge 1} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sup_{t \le T} \left( M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_p) \right)^2 \right]$  is bounded by

$$C\sum_{p \ge 1} \mathbf{E} \left[ M_{N,T}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_p)^2 \right] = C\sum_{p \ge 1} \mathbf{E} \left[ \int_0^T \left\langle \nu_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_p'(\theta, \omega)^2 \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}s \right],$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbf{E} \left[ \int_0^T \sum_{p \ge 1} \varphi_p'(\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i)^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \right],$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbf{E} \left[ \int_0^T \left\| H_{\theta_{i,s},\omega_i} \right\|_{3,2\alpha}^2 \, \mathrm{d}s \right] \leqslant \frac{C}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \left( 1 + |\omega_i|^{4\alpha} \right),$$

where we used (4.17) in the last inequality. That concludes the proof of Lemma 4.17.  $\Box$ **Proposition 4.19.** For every N, every ( $\omega$ ),

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sup_{t\leqslant T}\left\|\eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-6,\alpha}^{2}\right] < C_{N}(\omega_{1},\ldots,\omega_{N}),$$
(4.32)

with

$$\lim_{A \to \infty} \limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{P}(C_N > A) = 0.$$

Proof of Proposition 4.19. Let  $(\psi_p)$  be a complete orthonormal system in  $W_0^{6,\alpha}$  of  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  function on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$  with compact support. We prove the stronger result:

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{p \ge 1} \sup_{t \le T} \left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \psi_p \right\rangle^2 \right] < \infty$$

Indeed,

$$\left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \psi_p \right\rangle^2 \leqslant C \left( \left\langle \eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)}, \psi_p \right\rangle^2 + T \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \mathcal{L}_s^{\nu_N}(\psi_p) \right\rangle^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\psi_p)^2 \right)$$

By Doob's inequality,

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{p \geqslant 1} \sup_{t \leqslant T} \left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \psi_p \right\rangle^2 \right] \leqslant C\left(\mathbf{E}\left[\left\|\eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-6,\alpha}^2\right] + \mathbf{E}\int_0^T \sum_{p \geqslant 1} \left\langle \eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \mathcal{L}_s^{\nu_N}(\psi_p) \right\rangle^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + \sum_{p \geqslant 1} \mathbf{E}\left[M_{N,T}^{(\omega)}(\psi_p)^2\right]\right).$$

By Lemma 4.16, we have:

$$\left|\left\langle \eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\psi)\right\rangle\right| \leqslant C \left\| \eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)} \right\|_{-3,2\alpha} \|\psi\|_{6,\alpha}.$$

Then,

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T}\sum_{p \ge 1}\left\langle\eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\psi_{p})\right\rangle^{2} \mathrm{d}s\right] \leqslant C^{2}\int_{0}^{T}\mathbf{E}\left[\left\|\eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2}\right] \mathrm{d}s,$$
$$\leqslant C^{2}T\sup_{s \leqslant T}\mathbf{E}\left[\left\|\eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2}\right] \leqslant C^{2}TA_{N},$$

where  $A_N$  is defined in Proposition 4.15. The result follows.

- **Proposition 4.20.** 1. For every N, for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every  $(\omega)$ , the trajectories of the fluctuation process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$  are almost surely continuous in  $\mathcal{S}'$ ,
  - 2. For every N, for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every ( $\omega$ ), the trajectories of  $M_N^{(\omega)}$  are almost surely continuous in  $\mathcal{S}'$ .

Proof of Proposition 4.20. We only prove for  $M_N^{(\omega)}$ , since, using Proposition 4.19, the proof is the same for  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$ . Let  $(\varphi_p)$  be a complete orthonormal system in  $W_0^{-3,2\alpha}$ , then for every fixed N and  $(\omega)$ , we know from the proof of Lemma 4.17, that for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists some  $M_0 > 0$  such that

$$\sum_{p \geqslant M_0} \sup_{t \leqslant T} \left( M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_p) \right)^2 < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}, a.s.$$

Let  $(t_m)$  be a sequence in [0,T] such that  $t_m \to_{m\to\infty} t$ .

$$\left\| M_{N,t_m}^{(\omega)} - M_{N,t}^{(\omega)} \right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^2 = \sum_{p \ge 1} \left( M_{N,t_m}^{(\omega)} - M_{N,t}^{(\omega)} \right)^2 (\varphi_p),$$
$$\leqslant \sum_{p=1}^{M_0} \left( M_{N,t_m}^{(\omega)} - M_{N,t}^{(\omega)} \right)^2 (\varphi_p) + \frac{2\varepsilon}{3} \leqslant \varepsilon,$$

if  $t_m$  is sufficiently large.

We are now in position to prove the tightness of the fluctuation process. Let us recall some notations: for fixed N and  $(\omega)$ ,  $\mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  is the law of the process  $\eta_N^{(\omega)}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  is an element of  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}'))$ , endowed with the topology of weak convergence and with  $\mathcal{B}^*$ , the smallest  $\sigma$ -algebra such that the evaluations  $Q \mapsto \langle Q, f \rangle$  are measurable, f being measurable and bounded.

We will denote by  $\Theta_N$  the law of the random variable  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$ . The main result of this part is the following:

**Theorem 4.21** (Quenched tightness of the fluctuation process). *The following statements are true:* 

- 1. for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every sequence  $(\omega)$ , the law of the process  $M_N^{(\omega)}$  is tight in the space  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}')),$
- 2. The law  $\Theta_N$  of the sequence  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  is tight on  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}'))))$ .

Before proving Theorem 4.21, we recall the following result and notations (cf. Mitoma [62], Th 3.1, p. 993):

**Proposition 4.22** (Mitoma's criterion). Let  $(P_N)_{N \ge 1}$  be a sequence of probability measures on  $(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{S}'} := \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}'), \mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{S}'}})$ . For each  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}$ , we denote by  $\Pi_{\varphi}$  the mapping of  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{S}'}$  to  $\mathcal{C} := \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathbf{R})$  defined by

$$\Pi_{\varphi}: \psi(\cdot) \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{S}'} \mapsto \langle \psi(\cdot), \varphi \rangle \in \mathcal{C}.$$

Then, if for all  $\varphi \in S$ , the sequence  $(P_N \Pi_{\varphi}^{-1})_{N \ge 1}$  is tight in C, the sequence  $(P_N)_{N \ge 1}$  is tight in  $C_{S'}$ .

**Remark 4.23.** A closer look to the proof of Mitoma shows that it suffices to verify the tightness of  $(P_N \Pi_{\varphi}^{-1})_{N \ge 1}$  for  $\varphi$  in a countable dense subset of the nuclear Fréchet space  $(\mathcal{S}, \|\cdot\|_p, p \ge 1).$ 

Thanks to Mitoma's result, it suffices to have a tightness criterion in **R**. We recall here the usual result (cf. Billingsley [11]): A sequence of  $(\Omega_N, \mathcal{F}_{N,t})_{N \ge 1}$ -adapted processes  $(Y_N)_{N \ge 1}$  with paths in  $\mathcal{C}([0, T], \mathbf{R})$  is tight if both of the following conditions hold:

- Condition [T]: for all  $t \leq T$  and  $\delta > 0$ , there exists a > 0 such that

$$\sup_{N} \mathbf{P}\left(|Y_{N,t}| > a\right) \leqslant \delta, \tag{T_{t,\delta,a}}$$

- Condition [A]: for all  $\eta_1, \eta_2 > 0$ , there exists C > 0 and  $N_0$  such that for all  $\mathcal{F}^N$ stopping times  $\tau_N$ ,

$$\sup_{N \geqslant N_0} \sup_{\theta \leqslant C} \mathbf{P} \left( |Y_{N,\tau_N} - Y_{N,\tau_N + \theta}| \ge \eta_2 \right) \leqslant \eta_1. \tag{A}_{\eta_1,\eta_2,C}$$

Proof of Theorem 4.21. 1. Tightness of  $(M_N^{(\omega)})_{N \ge 1}$ : for a fixed realization of the disorder  $(\omega)$ , for fixed  $\varphi \in S$ , we have:

- For all  $t \in [0, T]$ , for all  $\delta > 0$ , for all a > 0,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{P}\left(\left|M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)\right| > a\right) &\leqslant \frac{\mathbf{E}\left[\sup_{t \leqslant T}\left\{M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)^{2}\right\}\right]}{a^{2}}, \\ &\leqslant \frac{\mathbf{E}\left[\sup_{t \leqslant T}\left\|M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2} \|\varphi\|_{3,2\alpha}^{2}\right]}{a^{2}}, \\ &\leqslant \frac{C \|\varphi\|_{3,2\alpha}^{2}}{a^{2}} \sup_{N} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(1 + |\omega_{i}|^{4\alpha}\right), (\text{cf. } (4.31)), \\ &\leqslant \delta, \end{split}$$

for a suitable a > 0 (depending on  $(\omega)$ ). Condition [T] is satisfied.

– Let us verify Condition [A]: For every  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}$ , for every  $\delta, \theta, \eta_1, \eta_2 > 0, \theta \leq \delta$ , for

every stopping time  $\tau_N$ ,

$$\begin{split} u_{N} &:= \mathbf{P} \left( |M_{N,\tau_{N}+\theta}(\varphi) - M_{N,\tau_{N}}(\varphi)| > \eta_{2} \right) \leqslant \frac{1}{\eta_{2}^{2}} \mathbf{E} \left[ |M_{N,\tau_{N}+\theta}(\varphi) - M_{N,\tau_{N}}(\varphi)|^{2} \right] \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{\eta_{2}^{2}} \mathbf{E} \left[ \int_{\tau_{N}}^{\tau_{N}+\theta} \left\langle \nu_{N,s} , \varphi'(\theta, \omega)^{2} \right\rangle \mathrm{d}s \right], \\ &\leqslant \|\varphi\|_{6,\alpha}^{2} \frac{1}{\eta_{2}^{2}} \mathbf{E} \left[ \int_{\tau_{N}}^{\tau_{N}+\theta} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \|H_{\theta,\omega}\|_{-6,\alpha}^{2} \mathrm{d}\nu_{N,s} \mathrm{d}s \right], \\ &\leqslant \|\varphi\|_{6,\alpha}^{2} \frac{C}{\eta_{2}^{2}} \mathbf{E} \left[ \int_{\tau_{N}}^{\tau_{N}+\theta} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (1+|\omega_{i}|^{4\alpha}) \mathrm{d}s \right], \text{ (cf. (4.13) and (4.17)),} \\ &\leqslant \|\varphi\|_{6,\alpha}^{2} \frac{C\delta}{\eta_{2}^{2}} \sup_{N} \left( \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (1+|\omega_{i}|^{4\alpha}) \right). \end{split}$$

This last term is lower or equal than  $\eta_1$  for  $\delta$  sufficiently small (depending on  $(\omega)$ ).

2. Tightness of  $(\Theta_N)_{N \ge 1}$ : we need to be more careful here, since the tightness is *in* law w.r.t. the disorder. Let  $(\varphi_j)_{j\ge 1}$  be a countable family in the nuclear Fréchet space S. Without any restriction, we can always suppose that  $\| \phi_j \|_{6,\alpha} = 1$ , for every  $j \ge 1$ . We define the following decreasing sequences (indexed by  $J \ge 1$ ) of subsets of  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}'))$ :

$$K_1^{\varepsilon}(\varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_J) := \left\{ P; \, \forall t, \forall 1 \leq j \leq J, \ P\Pi_{\varphi_j}^{-1} \text{ satisfies } (T_{t,\delta,C_1}) \right\},$$
  
$$K_2^{\varepsilon}(\varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_J) := \left\{ P; \, \forall 1 \leq j \leq J, \forall \eta_1, \eta_2 > 0, P\Pi_{\varphi_j}^{-1} \text{ satisfies } (A_{\eta_1,\eta_2,C_2}) \right\},$$

where  $C_1 = C_1(\varepsilon, \delta)$ ,  $C_2 = C_2(\varepsilon, \eta_1, \eta_2)$  will be precised later. By construction and by Mitoma's theorem (cf. Remark 4.23),

$$K^{\varepsilon} := \bigcap_{J} (K_1^{\varepsilon}(\varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_J) \cap K_2^{\varepsilon}(\varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_J))$$

is a relatively compact subset of  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}'))$ . In order to prove tightness of  $(\Theta_N)$ , it is sufficient to prove that, for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\forall i = 1, 2, \ \limsup_{N} \Theta_N \left( \bigcup_{J} K_i^{\varepsilon}(\phi_1, \dots, \phi_J)^c \right) \leqslant \varepsilon.$$
(4.33)

For  $\varepsilon > 0$ , let  $A = A(\varepsilon)$  such that  $\liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{P}(A_N \leq A) \ge 1 - \varepsilon$ , and

$$\liminf_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(1 + |\omega_i|^{4\alpha}\right) + A_N(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_N) \leqslant A\right) \ge 1 - \varepsilon,$$

where  $A_N$  is the random variable defined in Proposition 4.15. We define the corresponding constants (for a sufficiently large constant C only dependent on b and c):

$$C_1(\varepsilon,\delta) := \sqrt{\frac{A(\varepsilon)}{\delta}}, \quad C_2(\varepsilon,\eta_1,\eta_2) := \frac{\eta_1\eta_2^2}{CA(\varepsilon)}.$$

Then,

$$\Theta_{N}(K_{1}^{\varepsilon}(\phi_{1},\ldots,\phi_{J})) \geq \mathbb{P}\left((\omega), \ \forall t, \ \forall 1 \leq j \leq J, \ \forall \delta, \ \frac{\mathbf{E}\left[\left|\left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \phi_{j}\right\rangle\right|^{2}\right]}{C_{1}(\delta,\varepsilon)^{2}} \leq \delta\right),$$
$$\geq \mathbb{P}\left((\omega), \ \sup_{t \leq T} \mathbf{E}\left[\left|\left|\eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}\right|\right|_{-6,\alpha}^{2}\right] \leq A\right), \ \text{(by definition of } C_{1}),$$
$$\geq \mathbb{P}\left(A_{N} \leq A(\varepsilon)\right), \ \text{(cf. (4.13) and (4.24))}.$$

Letting  $J \to \infty$  in the latter inequality, we obtain:

$$\Theta_N(\bigcup_J K_1^{\varepsilon}(\phi_1,\ldots,\phi_J)^c) \leq \mathbb{P}(A_N > A).$$

Taking on both sides  $\limsup_{N\to\infty}$ , we get the result.

Furthermore, for  $\eta_2 > 0$ ,  $0 < \theta \leq C_2$  and  $\tau_N \leq T$  a stopping time, for all  $1 \leq j \leq J$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{P}\left(\left|\int_{\tau_{N}}^{\tau_{N}+\theta}\left\langle\eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)},\,\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\varphi_{j})\right\rangle\,\mathrm{d}s\right| \geqslant \eta_{2}\right) &\leqslant \frac{1}{\eta_{2}^{2}}\mathbf{E}\left[\left|\int_{\tau_{N}}^{\tau_{N}+\theta}\left\langle\eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)},\,\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\varphi_{j})\right\rangle\,\mathrm{d}s\right|^{2}\right],\\ &\leqslant \frac{C_{2}}{\eta_{2}^{2}}\mathbf{E}\left[\int_{\tau_{N}}^{\tau_{N}+\theta}\left|\left\langle\eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)},\,\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\varphi_{j})\right\rangle\right|^{2}\,\mathrm{d}s\right],\\ &\leqslant \frac{C_{2}}{\eta_{2}^{2}}\int_{0}^{T}\mathbf{E}\left|\left\langle\eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)},\,\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\varphi_{j})\right\rangle\right|^{2}\,\mathrm{d}s,\\ &\leqslant \frac{CC_{2}}{\eta_{2}^{2}}\int_{0}^{T}\mathbf{E}\left[\left\|\eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}\right\|_{-3,2\alpha}^{2}\right]\,\mathrm{d}s,\\ &\leqslant \frac{CTC_{2}}{\eta_{2}^{2}}A_{N},\,\,(\text{cf.}\,\,(4.24)).\end{split}$$

And,

$$\mathbf{P}\left(|M_{N,\tau_N+\theta}(\varphi_j) - M_{N,\tau_N}(\varphi_j)| > \eta_2\right) \leqslant \frac{CC_2}{\eta_2^2} \left(\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \left(1 + |\omega_i|^{4\alpha}\right)\right).$$

So, for all  $j \ge 1$ , by definition of  $C_2$ ,

$$\mathbf{P}\left(\left|\eta_{N,\tau_N+\theta}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_j)-\eta_{N,\tau_N}^{(\omega)}(\varphi_j)\right| \ge \eta_2\right) \leqslant \frac{\eta_1}{A(\varepsilon)} \left(A_N + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \left(1+|\omega_i|^{4\alpha}\right)\right).$$

Consequently,

$$\Theta_N(K_2^{\varepsilon}(\phi_1,\ldots,\varphi_J)) \ge \mathbb{P}\left(A_N + \frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N (1+|\omega_i|^{4\alpha}) > A(\varepsilon)\right).$$

Letting  $J \to \infty$ , we get  $\limsup_N \Theta_N \left(\bigcup_J K_2^{\varepsilon}(\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_J)^c\right) \leq \varepsilon$ . Estimation (4.33) is proved.

That concludes the proof of Theorem 4.21.

#### 3.3.3 Identification of the limit

The proof of the fluctuation result will be complete when we identify any possible limit of  $(\Theta_N)_{N \ge 1}$ .

**Proposition 4.24** (Identification of the initial value). The initial fluctuation process  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{L}(\eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)})$  converges in law to the random variable  $\omega \mapsto \mathcal{L}(X^{\omega})$ , where for all  $\omega$ ,  $X^{\omega} = C(\omega) + Y$ , with Y a centered Gaussian process with covariance  $\Gamma_1$ . Moreover  $\omega \mapsto C(\omega)$  is a Gaussian process with covariance  $\Gamma_2$ , where  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  are defined in (4.7) and (4.8).

Proof of Proposition 4.24. For simplicity, we only identify here the law of  $\langle \eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)}, \varphi \rangle$  for all  $\varphi$ . The same proof works for the law of finite-dimensional vectors, (where  $p \ge 1$ )  $(\langle \eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_1 \rangle, \dots, \langle \eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)}, \varphi_p \rangle)$ . We write  $\Gamma_i$  for  $\Gamma_i(\varphi, \varphi), i = 1, 2$ . One has:

$$\left\langle \eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)}, \varphi \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( \varphi(\xi_i, \omega_i) - \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi(\theta, \omega_i) \, \mathrm{d}\gamma(\theta) \right) \\ + \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi(\theta, \omega_i) \, \mathrm{d}\gamma(\theta) - \langle \nu_0, \varphi \rangle \right), \\ =: A_N^{(\omega)} + B_N^{(\omega)}.$$

It is easy to see that  $B_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law to  $Z_2 \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_2)$ . Moreover, for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every  $(\omega)$ ,  $A_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law to  $Z_1 \sim \mathcal{N}(0, \Gamma_1)$  (see Billingsley [10], Th. 27.3 p. 362). That means that for all  $u \in \mathbf{R}$ ,  $\psi_{A_N}(u) := \mathbf{E}_{\gamma} \left( e^{iuA_N^{(\omega)}} \right)$  converges to  $\psi_Y(u) := e^{-\frac{u^2}{2\Gamma_1}}$ . But, then, for all  $F \in \mathcal{C}_b(\mathbf{R})$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[F\left(\mathbf{E}_{\gamma}\left[e^{iu\left\langle\eta_{N,0}^{(\omega)},\varphi\right\rangle}\right]\right)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F\left(\mathbf{E}_{\gamma}\left[e^{iu\left(A_{N}^{(\omega)}+B_{N}^{(\omega)}\right)}\right]\right)\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[F\left(e^{iuB_{N}^{(\omega)}}\psi_{N}(u)\right)\right].$$

Since  $\psi_N(u)$  converges almost surely to a constant, the limit of the expression above exists (Slutsky's theorem [44, p. 318]) and is equal to  $\mathbb{E}\left[F\left(e^{iuZ_2-\frac{u^2}{2\Gamma_1}}\right)\right]$ .

**Proposition 4.25** (Identification of the martingale part). For  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every ( $\omega$ ), the sequence  $(M_N^{(\omega)})_{N \ge 1}$  converges in law in  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}')$  to a Gaussian process W with covariance defined in (4.6).

Proof of Proposition 4.25. For fixed  $(\omega)$ ,  $(M_N^{(\omega)})_{N \ge 1}$  is a sequence of uniformly squareintegrable continuous martingales (Remark 4.18), which is tight in  $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{S}')$ . Let  $W_1$ and  $W_2$  be two accumulation points (continuous square-integrable martingales which *a priori* depend on  $(\omega)$ ) and  $(M_{\phi(N)}^{(\omega)})_{N \ge 1}$  and  $(M_{\psi(N)}^{(\omega)})_{N \ge 1}$  be two subsequences converging to  $W_1$  and  $W_2$ , respectively. Note that we can suppose that  $\phi(N) \le \psi(N)$  for all N. For all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}$ ,  $\lim_{N\to\infty} \langle M_{\phi(N)}^{(\omega)}(\varphi), M_{\psi(N)}^{(\omega)}(\varphi) \rangle_t = \langle W_1(\varphi), W_2(\varphi) \rangle_t$ , for all t, and

$$\left\langle M_{\phi(N)}^{(\omega)}(\varphi), M_{\psi(N)}^{(\omega)}(\varphi) \right\rangle_t = \int_0^t \left\langle \nu_{\phi(N),s}, (\varphi')^2 \right\rangle \mathrm{d}s.$$

We now have to identify the limit: we already know that for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every realization of the disorder  $(\omega)$ ,  $(\nu_N^{(\omega)})_{N \ge 1}$  converges in law to  $\nu$ . But, the latter expression, seen as a function of  $\nu$ , is continuous. So  $\langle W_1(\varphi), W_2(\varphi) \rangle_t = \int_0^t \langle \nu_s, (\varphi')^2 \rangle$ . So  $W_1 - W_2$  is a continuous square integrable martingale whose Doob-Meyer process is 0. So  $W_1 = W_2$  and is characterized as the Gaussian process with covariance given in (4.6). The convergence follows.

**Proposition 4.26.** The Gaussian process W introduced in Proposition 4.25 is independent with the initial condition X introduced in Proposition 4.24.

Proof of Proposition 4.26. We prove more: the triple (Y, C, W) is independent. For sake of simplicity, we only consider the case of  $(Y(\varphi), C(\varphi), W_t(\varphi))$  for fixed t and  $\varphi$ .

Let us first recall some notations: let  $A_N^{(\omega)}$ ,  $B_N^{(\omega)}$  and  $M_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)$  be the random variables defined in the proof of Proposition 4.24 and 4.25 and let  $\psi_{A_N}(u) := \mathbf{E}\left(e^{iuA_N^{(\omega)}}\right), \psi_{B_N}(v) :=$ 

$$\mathbf{E}\left(e^{ivB_{N}^{(\omega)}}\right), \ \psi_{M_{N}}(w) := \mathbf{E}\left(e^{iwM_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)}\right) \text{ be their characteristic functions } (u, v, w \in \mathbf{R}).$$

We know that, for almost every  $(\omega)$ ,  $\psi_{A_N}(u)$  converges to  $\psi_Y(u) = e^{-\frac{\omega}{2\Gamma_1}}$  and that  $\psi_{M_N}(w)$  converges to the deterministic function  $\psi_W(w) := \mathbf{E}\left(e^{iwW_t(\varphi)}\right)$ . But, if  $\psi_C(v) = \mathbb{E}\left(e^{iwC}\right)$ , then, for all  $u, v, w \in \mathbf{R}$ , using the independence of the Brownian motions with the initial conditions,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\mathbf{E}\left(e^{iuA_{N}^{(\omega)}+ivB_{N}^{(\omega)}+iwM_{N,t}^{(\omega)}(\varphi)}\right)-e^{ivB_{N}^{(\omega)}}\psi_{A_{N}}(u)\psi_{M_{N}}(w)\right)=0.$$

Using Slutsky's theorem, we see that any limit couple (Y, C, W) satisfies

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\mathbf{E}\left(e^{iuY+ivC+iwW_t(\varphi)}\right)\right) = \psi_Y(u)\psi_C(v)\psi_W(w).$$

which is the desired result.

We now turn to the characterization of the accumulation points of the sequence  $(\Theta_N)_{N \ge 1}$ . We recall that the limit second order differential operator  $\mathcal{L}_s$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}(\varphi)(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2}\varphi''(\theta,\omega) + \varphi'(\theta,\omega)(b[\theta,\omega,\nu_{s}] + c(\theta,\omega)) + \langle \nu_{s}, \varphi'(\cdot,\cdot)b(\cdot,\theta,\cdot,\omega) \rangle.$$

As in Lemma 4.16, we can prove the following:

**Lemma 4.27.** Assume (4.3). Then for every  $N, s \in [0,T]$ ,  $(\omega)$ , the operator  $\mathcal{L}_s$  and  $\mathcal{L}_s^{\nu_N}$  are linear continuous from S to S and

$$\|\mathcal{L}_{s}(\varphi)\|_{6,\alpha} \leq C \|\varphi\|_{8,\alpha},$$
$$\|\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}}(\varphi)\|_{6,\alpha} \leq C \|\varphi\|_{8,\alpha}.$$

We are now in position to prove Theorem 4.4:

Proof of Theorem 4.4. Let  $\Theta$  be an accumulation point of  $\Theta_N$ . Thus, for a certain subsequence (which will be also denoted as N for notations purpose), the random variable  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$  converges in law to a random variable  $\mathcal{H}$  with values in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}'))$  with law  $\Theta$ . Applying Skorohod's representation theorem, there exists some probability space  $(\Omega^{(1)}, \mathbf{P}^{(1)}, \mathcal{F}^{(1)})$  and random variables defined on  $\Omega^{(1)}, \omega_1 \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{\omega_1}$  and  $\omega_1 \mapsto \mathcal{H}^{\omega_1}$  such that  $\mathcal{H}_N$  has the same law as  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{H}_N^{(\omega)}$ ,  $\mathcal{H}$  has the same law as  $\mathcal{H}$ , and for  $\mathbf{P}^{(1)}$ -almost every  $\omega_1 \in \Omega^{(1)}, \mathcal{H}_N^{\omega_1}$  converges to  $\mathcal{H}^{\omega_1}$  in  $\mathcal{M}_1(\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{S}'))$ .

An easy application of Proposition 4.19 and Borel-Cantelli's Lemma shows that  $\mathbf{P}^{(1)}$ almost surely,  $\mathbf{E}\left(\sup_{t \leq T} \| \eta_t^{\omega_1} \|_{-6,\alpha}\right) < \infty$ . Then we know from Lemma 4.27 that the
integral term  $\int_0^t \mathcal{L}_s^* \eta_s^{\omega_1} \, ds$  makes sense as a Bochner's integral in  $W_0^{-8,\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{S}'$ .

Let  $\eta_N^{\omega_1}$  with law  $H_N^{\omega_1}$ ;  $\eta_N^{\omega_1}$  converges in law to some  $\eta^{\omega_1}$  with law  $H^{\omega_1}$ . By uniqueness in law convergence, using Propositions 4.24 and 4.25, we see that  $(\eta_0^{\omega_1}, W)$  as the same law as  $(X^{\omega_1}, W)$ . For fixed  $\varphi \in S$ , we define  $F_{\varphi}$  from  $\mathcal{C}([0, T], S')$  into **R** by  $F_{\varphi}(\gamma) :=$  $\langle \gamma_t, \varphi \rangle - \langle \gamma_0, \varphi \rangle - \int_0^t \langle \gamma_s, \mathcal{L}_s \varphi \rangle \, ds$ . The function  $F_{\varphi}$  is continuous and since  $\eta_N^{\omega_1}$  converges in law to  $\eta^{\omega_1}$ , the sequence  $(F_{\varphi}(\eta_N^{\omega_1}))_{N \geq 1}$  converges in law to  $F_{\varphi}(\eta^{\omega_1})$ . To prove the theorem, it remains to show that the law of the term  $\int_0^t \langle \eta_{N,s}^{\omega_1}, \mathcal{L}_s^{\nu_N} \varphi - \mathcal{L}_s \varphi \rangle \, ds$  converges in law to 0. We show that there is convergence in probability: For all  $\varepsilon > 0$ , for all A > 0, using Proposition 4.19, Lemma 4.27, and Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality,

$$\begin{split} U_{N,\varepsilon} &:= \mathbf{P}^{(1)} \left( \mathbf{E} \left[ \int_{0}^{t} \left| \left\langle \eta_{N,s}^{\omega_{1}}, \left( \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}} - \mathcal{L}_{s} \right)(\varphi) \right\rangle \right| \, \mathrm{d}s \right] > \varepsilon \right), \\ &= \mathbb{P} \left( \mathbf{E} \left[ \int_{0}^{t} \left| \left\langle \eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)}, \left( \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}} - \mathcal{L}_{s} \right)(\varphi) \right\rangle \right| \, \mathrm{d}s \right] > \varepsilon \right), \\ &\leqslant \mathbb{P} \left( \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{E} \left[ \left\| \eta_{N,s}^{(\omega)} \right\|_{-6,\alpha}^{2} \right]^{1/2} \mathbf{E} \left[ \left\| \left( \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}} - \mathcal{L}_{s} \right)(\varphi) \right\|_{6,\alpha}^{2} \right]^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s > \varepsilon \right), \\ &\leqslant \mathbb{P} \left( C_{N}(\omega_{1}, \dots, \omega_{N})^{1/2} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{E} \left[ \left\| \left( \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}} - \mathcal{L}_{s} \right)(\varphi) \right\|_{6,\alpha}^{2} \right]^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s > \varepsilon \right) \text{ (cf. Prop 4.19),} \\ &\leqslant \mathbb{P} \left( \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{E} \left[ \left\| \left( \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\nu_{N}} - \mathcal{L}_{s} \right)(\varphi) \right\|_{6,\alpha}^{2} \right]^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}s > \frac{\varepsilon}{\sqrt{A}} \right) + \mathbb{P} \left( C_{N} > A \right). \end{split}$$

Using (4.19), it suffices to prove that, for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\limsup_{N \to \infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\int_0^t \mathbf{E}\left[\|\left(\mathcal{L}_s^{\nu_N} - \mathcal{L}_s\right)(\varphi)\|_{6,\alpha}^2\right]^{1/2} \,\mathrm{d}s > \varepsilon\right) = 0.$$
(4.34)

Indeed, for every  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}$ ,

$$\mathcal{U}_{N,s}(\varphi)(\theta,\omega) := (\mathcal{L}_s^{\nu_N} - \mathcal{L}_s)(\varphi)(\theta,\omega) = \varphi'(\theta,\omega)(b[\theta,\omega,\nu_{N,s}] - b[\theta,\omega,\nu_s]).$$

An analogous calculation as in Lemma 4.16 shows that, using Lipschitz assumptions on b, and Proposition 4.14:

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\left\|\sup_{s\leqslant t}\mathcal{U}_{s}^{N}(\varphi)\right\|_{6,\alpha}^{2}\right]\leqslant \left\|\varphi\right\|_{8,\alpha}^{2}\left(C/N+D_{N}(\omega_{1},\ldots,\omega_{N})\right),$$

with the property that  $\lim_{A\to\infty} \limsup_N \mathbb{P}(ND_N > A) = 0$ . Equation (4.34) is a direct consequence.

Since there is uniqueness in law in (4.9),  $\Theta$  is perfectly defined, and thus, unique. The convergence follows.

## 4 Proofs for the fluctuations of the order parameters

We end by the proofs of paragraph 2.5.

## 4.1 Proof of Proposition 4.9

- 1. This is straightforward since  $r_N^{(\omega)} = \left| \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} e^{i\theta} \, \mathrm{d}\nu_N^{(\omega)} \right|$  and since for  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost every disorder  $(\omega)$ ,  $\nu_N^{(\omega)}$  converges weakly to  $\nu$ .
- 2. The following sequences are well defined:  $\forall k \ge 0$ ,

$$u_k(t) := \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} e^{-|\omega|} \omega^k \cos(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta, \omega),$$
$$v_k(t) := \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} e^{-|\omega|} \omega^k \sin(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t(\theta, \omega).$$

Let  $E = (\ell_{\infty}(\mathbf{N}), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$  be the Banach space of real bounded sequences endowed with its usual  $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$  norm,  $(\|u\|_{\infty} = \sup_{k \ge 0} |u_k|)$ . For all t > 0, let  $\mathcal{A}_t : E \times E \to E \times E$ , be the following linear operator (where (u, v) is a typical element of  $E \times E$ ): For all  $k \ge 0$ 

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{A}_t(u,0)_k = -\frac{1}{2}u_k - \alpha_k(t)v_0 + \beta_k(t)u_0 - Kv_{k+1}, \\ \mathcal{A}_t(0,v)_k = -\frac{1}{2}v_k + \gamma_k(t)v_0 - \alpha_k(t)u_0 + Ku_{k+1}, \end{cases}$$

where,

$$\alpha_k(t) = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} e^{-|\omega|} \omega^k \cos(\cdot) \sin(\cdot) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t,$$
  
$$\beta_k(t) = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} e^{-|\omega|} \omega^k \sin^2(\cdot) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t,$$
  
$$\gamma_k(t) = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} e^{-|\omega|} \omega^k \cos^2(\cdot) \, \mathrm{d}\nu_t.$$

 $(t, u, v) \mapsto \mathcal{A}_t \cdot (u, v)$  is globally Lipschitz-continuous map from  $[0, T] \times E \times E$  into  $E \times E$  and one easily verifies considering (2.11) (in the case of the *sine-model*) and developing the sine interaction that  $t \mapsto (u(t), v(t))$  satisfies in  $E \times E$  the following linear inhomogeneous Cauchy Problem:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(u(t), v(t)) &= \mathcal{A}_t \cdot (u(t), v(t)), \\ u_k(0) &= \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} e^{-|\omega|} \omega^k \cos(\cdot) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_0, \ \forall k \ge 0, \\ v_k(0) &= \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} e^{-|\omega|} \omega^k \sin(\cdot) \,\mathrm{d}\nu_0, \ \forall k \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

Let us suppose that there exists some  $t_0 \in [0, T]$  such that  $r_{t_0} = 0$ , namely  $u_0(t_0) = v_0(t_0) = 0$ . Then, if  $(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v})$  is the constant function on [0, T] such that for all  $k \ge 0$ ,  $\tilde{u}_k \equiv u_k(t_0), \tilde{v}_k \equiv v_k(t_0)$ , then  $(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v})$  satisfy the same Cauchy Problem as (u, v) with initial condition at time  $t_0$ . By Cauchy-Lipschitz theorem, both functions coincide on [0, T]. In particular,  $u_0$  and  $v_0$  are always zero and thus  $r \equiv 0$ .

3. We suppose (4.10). A simple calculation shows that the fluctuation process  $\mathcal{R}_N$  defined in (4.11) verifies for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\mathcal{R}_{N,t}^{(\omega)} = \frac{\left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \cos(\cdot) \right\rangle \left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)} + \nu_t, \cos(\cdot) \right\rangle + \left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, \sin(\cdot) \right\rangle \left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)} + \nu_t, \sin(\cdot) \right\rangle}{r_{N,t}^{(\omega)} + r_t},$$
$$= \frac{\Re\left(\left\langle \eta_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle \overline{\left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)} + \nu_t, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle}\right)}{\left| \left\langle \nu_{N,t}^{(\omega)}, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle \right| + r_t}.$$

Let  $u_N^{(\omega)} := \left\langle \nu_N^{(\omega)}, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle$ ,  $v_N^{(\omega)} := \left\langle \eta_N^{(\omega)}, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle$  and  $u := \left\langle \nu, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle$ ,  $v^{\omega} := \left\langle \eta^{\omega}, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle$ be their corresponding limits. The result follows if we prove the following property: the random variables  $(\omega) \mapsto \mathcal{L}\left(u^{N,(\omega)}, v^{N,(\omega)}\right)$  converges in law to the random variable  $\omega \mapsto \mathcal{L}(u, v^{\omega})$ . The tightness of this random variable follows from the convergence of both empirical measure and fluctuation process. As already said in Remark 4.10, it suffices to prove the convergence of the finite-dimensional marginals  $(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}}^{N,(\omega)}, \underline{v}_{\underline{t}}^{N,(\omega)}) = \left((u_{t_1}^{N,(\omega)}, \dots, u_{t_p}^{N,(\omega)}), (v_{t_1}^{N,(\omega)}, \dots, v_{t_p}^{N,(\omega)})\right)$ , for all element of [0, T],  $t_1, \dots, t_p, p \ge 1$ .

Since the limit of  $(u_N^{(\omega)})_{N \ge 1}$  is a constant, this is mainly a consequence of Slutsky's theorem. But since this is a convergence *in law with respect to the disorder*, one has to adapt the proof. We prove the following:  $\forall G \in \mathcal{C}_b^1(\mathbf{R}), \ \forall \underline{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_p) \in \mathbf{R}^p$ ,  $\forall \underline{s} = (s_1, \ldots, s_p) \in \mathbf{R}^p$ ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[G\left(\varphi_{(\underline{u}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s})\right)\right] \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \mathbb{E}\left[G\left(\varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s})\right)\right],$$

where  $\varphi_{(\underline{X},\underline{Y})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) = \mathbf{E}\left[e^{i\underline{r}\cdot\underline{X}+i\underline{s}\cdot\underline{Y}}\right]$  is the characteristic function of the couple  $(\underline{X},\underline{Y})$ . Indeed, we have successively:

$$\begin{split} a_{N} &:= \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] \right] \\ &\leq \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] \right] \\ &+ \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] \right] \\ &\leq C \mathbb{E} \left| \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) - \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right| \\ &+ \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] \right| , \\ &\leq C \mathbb{E} \left| e^{i\underline{r}\cdot\underline{u}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)}} - e^{i\underline{r}\cdot\underline{u}_{\underline{t}}} \right| \\ &+ \left| \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] - \mathbb{E} \left[ G \left( \varphi_{(\underline{u}_{\underline{t}},\underline{v}_{\underline{t}}^{(\omega)})}(\underline{r},\underline{s}) \right) \right] \right| . \end{split}$$

But, we have 
$$\mathbf{E} \left| e^{i\underline{r}_{\underline{t}} \cdot \underline{u}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)}} - e^{i\underline{r} \cdot \underline{u}_{\underline{t}}} \right| \leq \min \left( 2, |\underline{r}| |\underline{u}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)} - \underline{u}_{\underline{t}}| \right)$$
. So, for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  
$$\mathbf{E} \left| e^{i\underline{r} \cdot \underline{u}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)}} - e^{i\underline{r} \cdot \underline{u}_{\underline{t}}} \right| \leq \varepsilon |\underline{r}| + 2\mathbf{P} \left( \left| \underline{u}_{N,\underline{t}}^{(\omega)} - \underline{u}_{\underline{t}} \right| > \varepsilon \right).$$

Taking  $\limsup_{N\to\infty}$ , and letting  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , we get  $\lim a_N = 0$ . The result follows.  $\Box$ 

## 4.2 Proof of Proposition 4.11

The proof of Proposition 4.11 is really similar to the previous one and thus, will be omitted. Note that it relies on the two following straightforward equalities:

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_N^{(\omega)} &= \frac{\left\langle \nu, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle}{r_N^{(\omega)}}, \\ \sqrt{N} \left( \zeta_N^{(\omega)} - \zeta \right) &= \frac{1}{r \cdot r_N^{(\omega)}} \left( r \left\langle \eta_N^{(\omega)}, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle + \left\langle \nu, e^{i\theta} \right\rangle \mathcal{R}_N^{(\omega)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

## 5 Proof of Proposition 4.14

We prove the main technical result concerning the approximation (4.22) of the oscillators  $(\theta_i)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  in (4.2) by the nonlinear process  $(\overline{\theta}_i)_{1 \leq i \leq N}$  defined in (4.19).

Thanks to the Lipschitz continuity of b and c, introducing  $\bar{\nu}_N$  as the empirical measure corresponding to  $(\bar{\theta}_i, \omega_i)$ , we have, (inserting  $b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \omega_i, \nu_{N,s}] - b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \omega_i, \bar{\nu}_{N,s}]$  in the b term),

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sup_{s \leqslant t} \left| \theta_{i,s} - \bar{\theta}_{i,s} \right|^2 \right] &\leqslant C \left( \int_0^t \mathbf{E} \left[ \left( b[\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i, \nu_{N,s}] - b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \omega_i, \nu_s] \right)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \right. \\ &+ \int_0^t \mathbf{E} \left[ \left( c(\theta_{i,s}, \omega_i) - c(\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \omega_i) \right)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \right), \\ &\leqslant C \left( 2 \int_0^t \mathbf{E} \left[ \sup_{u \leqslant s} \left| \theta_{i,u} - \bar{\theta}_{i,u} \right|^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \right. \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{1 \leqslant j \leqslant N} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sup_{u \leqslant s} \left| \bar{\theta}_{j,u} - \theta_{j,u} \right|^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_0^t \mathbf{E} \left[ \left( b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \omega_i, \bar{\nu}_{N,s}] - b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \omega_i, \nu_s] \right)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}s \right). \end{split}$$

Applying Gronwall's Lemma to  $\sup_{1 \leq j \leq N} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sup_{u \leq t} \left| \bar{\theta}_{j,u} - \theta_{j,u} \right|^2 \right]$ , it suffices to prove that for some random variable  $Z_N$  in  $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_N)$ :

$$\int_0^t \mathbf{E}\left[\left(b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s},\omega_i,\bar{\nu}_{N,s}] - b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s},\omega_i,\nu_s]\right)^2\right] \,\mathrm{d}s \leqslant C/N + Z_N(\omega_1,\ldots,\omega_N).$$

Indeed, for all  $1 \leq i \leq N$ :

$$u_{i,N} := \left( b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \omega_i, \bar{\nu}_{N,s}] - b[\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \omega_i, \nu_s] \right)^2 = \frac{1}{N^2} \left( \sum_{j=1}^N T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_j)^2 + \sum_{k \neq l} T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_k) T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_l) \right),$$

where  $T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_j) := b(\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \bar{\theta}_{j,s}, \omega_i, \omega_j) - \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} b(\bar{\theta}_{i,s}, \theta, \omega_i, \omega) \, d\nu_s(\theta, \omega)$ . Since b is bounded, we see that the first term is of order (1/N). We only have to study the remaining term:

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{\substack{k\neq l}} T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_k) T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_l)\right] \leqslant CN + \mathbf{E}\left[\sum_{\substack{k\neq i, l\neq i \\ k\neq l}} T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_k) T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_l)\right]$$

Since the  $(\bar{\theta}_i)$  are independent, if we take conditional expectation w.r.t.  $(\bar{\theta}_r, r \neq l)$  in the last term, we get:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E} \left[ \sum_{\substack{k \neq i, l \neq i \\ k \neq l}} T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_k) T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_l) \right] &= \mathbf{E} \left[ \mathbf{E} \left[ \sum_{\substack{r \in I \\ k \neq l}} T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_k) T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_l) \middle| \bar{\theta}_r, r \neq l \right] \right], \\ &= \mathbf{E} \left[ \sum_{\substack{k \neq i, l \neq i \\ k \neq l}} T(\bar{\theta}_i, \bar{\theta}_k) G_l(\bar{\theta}_i) \right] = \mathbf{E} \left[ \sum_{\substack{k \neq i, l \neq i \\ k \neq l}} G_k(\bar{\theta}_i) G_l(\bar{\theta}_i) \right], \end{split}$$

where  $G_l(\bar{\theta}) = G(\bar{\theta}, \omega_i, \omega_l) = \int_{\mathbf{S}} b(\bar{\theta}, \theta', \omega_i, \omega_l) d\nu_s^{\omega_l}(\theta') - \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} b(\bar{\theta}, \theta', \omega_i, \omega) d\nu_s(\theta', \omega)$ . If one defines

$$Z_N(\omega_1,\ldots,\omega_N) := \frac{C}{N} \int_0^T \mathbf{E} \left[ \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{l=1}^N G(\bar{\theta}_{i,s},\omega_i,\omega_l) \right)^2 \right] \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

in order to prove (4.23) it suffices to show that for some constant C,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^T \mathbf{E}\left[\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\sum_{l=1}^N G(\theta_{i,s},\omega_i,\omega_l)\right)^2\right] \,\mathrm{d}s\right] \leqslant C.$$

The rest of the proof is devoted to prove this last assertion: we have successively (setting  $U_N(\bar{\theta}_{i,s},\underline{\omega}) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{l=1}^N G(\theta_{i,s},\omega_i,\omega_l)$ )

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{T} \mathbf{E}\left[U_{N}(\theta_{i,s},\underline{\omega})^{2}\right] \,\mathrm{d}s\right] &\leqslant \int_{0}^{T} \mathbf{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[U_{N}(\theta_{i,s},\underline{\omega})^{2}\right]\right] \,\mathrm{d}s, \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{N} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbf{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{l=1}^{N} G(\theta_{i,s},\omega_{i},\omega_{k})G(\bar{\theta}_{i,s},\omega_{i},\omega_{l})\right]\right] \,\mathrm{d}s, \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{N} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbf{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{l=1}^{N} G(\bar{\theta}_{i,s},\omega_{i},\omega_{l})^{2}\right]\right] \,\mathrm{d}s + C \\ &+ \frac{1}{N} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbf{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\sum_{l\neq k, \ l\neq i, \ k\neq i} G(\theta_{i,s},\omega_{i},\omega_{k})G(\bar{\theta}_{i,s},\omega_{i},\omega_{l})\right]\right] \,\mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

The first term of the RHS of the last inequality is bounded, since b is bounded. But, if we condition w.r.t.  $\omega_r$  for  $r \neq i, r \neq k$ , we see that the second term is zero. The result follows.

## Chapter 5

# Non self-averaging fluctuations in the sine-model

The main material is taken from an article [56], submitted for publication to *Journal* of *Functional Analysis*.

## Contents

1	Int	roduction
	1.1	The fluctuation process
	1.2	Microscopic interpretation of the initial condition
	1.3	Disorder-induced rotation and non self-averaging phenomenon $.~139$
	1.4	Organization of the chapter
2 Main definitions and results		
	2.1	The evolution operator $\mathcal{L}_t^*$
	2.2	Long time evolution of fluctuations SPDE
	2.3	Distribution spaces
	2.4	Existence of a Jordan block
	2.5	Spectral properties of $L$ and position of the spectrum $\ldots \ldots 143$
3	On	the existence of a Jordan block for $L$
	3.1	Proof of Theorem 5.7 $\dots \dots \dots$
4	Glo	bal spectral properties of operator $L$
	4.1	Spectral properties of the operator $A \dots $
	4.2	Control on the perturbation $B$
	4.3	Spectral properties of $L = A + B$
<b>5</b>	No	n self-averaging phenomenon for the fluctuation process 160
	5.1	The noise $W$ as a cylindrical Brownian Motion $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	5.2	Existence and uniqueness of a solution to the fluctuation SPDE . $161$
	5.3	Linear asymptotic behavior of the fluctuation process $\dots \dots $

The purpose of this chapter is to address the issue of the long time behavior of the fluctuation process  $\eta$  found in Chapter 4, in the case of the *sine-model*.

## 1 Introduction

## 1.1 The fluctuation process

For the ease of exposition, we recall some notations already used in the previous chapters. In Chapter 4 we proved that the fluctuation process

$$\eta^{N,(\omega)} := \sqrt{N} \left( \nu^{N,(\omega)} - \nu \right)$$

converges (in a weak sense) to the unique solution in the space of continuous processes with values in  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  of the following stochastic partial differential equation:

$$\eta_t = \eta_0^\omega + \int_0^t \mathcal{L}_s^* \eta_s \,\mathrm{d}s + W_t,\tag{5.1}$$

where

 $- \mathcal{S}'(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  is understood as the usual space of tempered distributions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ ,

- the variable  $\omega$  captures the dependence on the disorder in the  $N \to \infty$ -limit,

-W is a Gaussian process with covariance

$$\mathbf{E}(W_t(\varphi_1)W_s(\varphi_2)) = \int_0^{s \wedge t} \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \varphi_1'(\theta, \omega) \varphi_2'(\theta, \omega) q_u(\theta, \omega) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \mu(\mathrm{d}\omega) \,\mathrm{d}u.$$
(5.2)

 $-\mathcal{L}_t^*$  is the formal adjoint of the second order differential operator:

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}(\varphi)(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2}\varphi''(\theta,\omega) + \varphi'(\theta,\omega)(b[\theta,\omega,\nu_{s}] + c(\theta,\omega)) + \langle \nu_{s}, \varphi'(\cdot,\cdot)b(\cdot,\theta,\cdot,\omega)\rangle.$$
(5.3)

- For fixed  $\omega$ ,  $\eta_0^{\omega}$  is a Gaussian process with given covariance and with *nontrivial mean* value  $C(\omega)$ . As a function in  $\omega$ ,  $C(\omega)$  is itself a Gaussian process,
- the initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$  is independent with W.

For the rest of this chapter, we restrict ourselves to the case where

$$\mu = \frac{1}{2} \left( \delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0} \right), \tag{5.4}$$

where  $\omega_0 > 0$  is a fixed parameter. This assumption (5.4) on  $\mu$  appears to be quite restrictive, but generalizing parts of the results we present here to more general distributions  $\mu$  does not seem to be straightforward.

## 1.2 Microscopic interpretation of the initial condition

We insist on the fact that the only dependence in the disorder in (5.1) lies in the initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$  and that  $\eta_0^{\omega}$  is for fixed  $\omega$ , a Gaussian process on  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  with a non-trivial mean  $C(\omega)$ . As a function of  $\omega$ ,  $C(\cdot)$  is itself a Gaussian process on  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  with covariance

$$\Gamma_C(\varphi_1,\varphi_2) = \operatorname{Cov}_{\mu}\left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_1(\cdot,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\gamma, \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_2(\cdot,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\gamma\right),\,$$

where we recall that  $\gamma$  is the initial law of the rotators and  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2$  are functions from  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$  to  $\mathbf{R}$ . What is important to understand here is that the random variable  $C(\cdot)$  precisely captures the fluctuations of the disorder (recall § 6.5.2, p. 34 in the main introduction of the thesis). In particular, one easily sees from the covariance  $\Gamma_C$  that  $C(\cdot) \equiv 0$  if  $\mu = \delta_0$ : fluctuations of the disorder lead to an initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$  in (5.1) with non-trivial mean-value  $C(\omega)$ .

Under the framework of (5.4), the test functions  $\varphi$  can be identified with *couples of* functions  $(\psi_+, \psi_-)$  where  $\psi_{\pm}(\cdot) = \varphi(\cdot, \pm \omega_0)$ . As we will see in Theorem 5.3, the relevant object is in fact the process  $(C_+(\psi))$  (indexed by functions  $\psi : \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{R}$ ) that is the restriction of the process C to the component on  $+\omega_0$ :

$$\forall \psi : \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{R}, \ C_{+}(\psi) := C((\psi, 0)).$$
(5.5)

As already mentioned in the main introduction (recall § 6.5.2, p. 34) and as easily seen from the proof of Proposition 4.24, p.129, the process  $C_+$  is the limit in law of the process  $C_{N,+}(\psi) := \frac{\alpha_N}{\sqrt{N}} (\int_{\mathbf{S}} \psi(\cdot) \, \mathrm{d}\gamma)$ , where  $\alpha_N$  is the centered number of positive frequencies.

Hence, one has to see (5.1) as a continuous time evolution that models in law the behavior of the fluctuations of the system as  $N \to \infty$ , where the initial fluctuations of the disorder lies in the non-trivial mean value of its initial condition.

#### **1.3** Disorder-induced rotation and non self-averaging phenomenon

As seen in the main introduction (Section 6), numerical simulations (Figure 1.4) of the process given by (5.1) show a non self-averaging phenomenon for the fluctuation process compatible with the one observed for the rotation of the finite system (Figure 1.3): the trajectories of  $\eta^{\omega}(\sin)$  seem to have an approximately linear behavior, whose slope depends on the choice of  $\omega$  (that is the choice of the initial condition). Hence, a way to capture the non self-averaging phenomenon for the finite system is to analyze the asymptotic behavior of the solution of (5.1) as t goes to  $\infty$ , and its dependence on the mean value of the initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$ . More explicitly, the key point of this chapter is to understand how different initial conditions in evolution (5.1) may lead to distinct approximately linear trajectories of the fluctuation process.

We tackle this issue via a spectral analysis of the evolution operator  $L_{q_t}$  defined in (1.28), p. 31 via arguments (analogous to those used in Chapter 3 from the general theory of perturbations of self-adjoint operators ([51]) and analytic semigroup of operators ([70]) and usual techniques about SPDEs in Hilbert spaces ([26]), using the precise knowledge we have about the same linear operator  $L_{q_0}$  in the case without disorder (see [9]).

### 1.4 Organization of the chapter

The chapter is organized as follows: in Section 2, we precise the main set-up and notations and state the main results. In particular, Theorem 5.7 and Theorem 5.9 deal with the spectral properties of the evolution operator  $L_{q_t}$  at least when the disorder is small. Secondly, we state the main result of this chapter: Theorem 5.3 establish the linear asymptotics of the fluctuation process solution of (5.1).

Section 3 is devoted to prove Theorem 5.7. In Section 4 we prove Theorem 5.9, whereas Theorem 5.3 is proved in Section 5.

## 2 Main definitions and results

We recall the following standard notations, already used in Chapter 3: for an operator F, we will denote by  $\rho(F)$  the set of all complex numbers  $\lambda$  for which  $\lambda - F$  is invertible, and by  $R(\lambda, F) := (\lambda - F)^{-1}$ ,  $\lambda \in \rho(F)$  the resolvent of F. The spectrum of F will be denoted as  $\sigma(F)$ .

## 2.1 The evolution operator $\mathcal{L}_t^*$

The main issue of this chapter is to prove asymptotic results for the solution of the SPDE (5.1) as  $t \to \infty$ ; this fact is deeply linked to the spectral properties of the operator  $\mathcal{L}_t^*$  which is the formal adjoint of (5.3).

An easy integration by part shows the following:

**Proposition 5.1.** The operator  $\mathcal{L}_t^*$  coincides at least on regular functions  $\varphi$  with  $L_{q_t}$  defined in (1.28).

We will restrict ourselves to the stationary case, that is for  $q|_{t=0} = q_t$  equal to the synchronized (non-trivial) stationary solution q (3.15), p. 77 of evolution (3.3), p. 74. In this case, the object of interest is the stationary version of (1.28), that is

$$Lh(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta}^{2} h(\theta,\omega) - \partial_{\theta} \left( h(\theta,\omega) \left( \langle J * q \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \omega \right) + q(\theta,\omega) \langle J * h \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) \right) .$$
 (5.6)

The domain  $\mathcal{D}$  of the operator L is given by:

$$\mathcal{D} := \left\{ h(\theta, \omega); \, \forall \omega, \theta \mapsto h(\theta, \omega) \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}), \, \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} h(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \mu(\mathrm{d}\omega) = 0 \right\}.$$
(5.7)

**Remark 5.2.** We point out that the choice of the domain  $\mathcal{D}$  of L is of prime importance for our study of evolution (5.1). We have already encountered the same operator L in the study of the linear stability of the stationary solution q (see Chapter 3) since the linearized evolution of (3.3) is precisely given by  $\partial_t h_t = Lh_t$ . As seen in Chapter 3, the natural domain for this latter evolution is then

$$\left\{h(\theta,\omega); \,\forall \omega, \theta \mapsto h(\theta,\omega) \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}), \,\,\forall \omega, \,\, \int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\theta,\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = 0\right\}.$$
(5.8)

Indeed for all  $\omega$ ,  $q(\cdot, \omega)$  is a probability density on **S** so that perturbing by elements of domain (5.8) enables to remain within the set of functions with integral 1 on **S**.

But here, the key point is to understand that evolution (5.1) does not live in domain (5.8) since the fluctuations of the disorder are precisely captured by the fact that  $\eta$  has a non-trivial mean-value  $C(\omega)$  for fixed  $\omega$ . We will henceforth work with the domain  $\mathcal{D}$  defined in (5.7) instead of (5.8). This choice of domain (apart from being technically more demanding) is all the more relevant since we will see that the non self-averaging phenomenon holds in (5.7) and not in (5.8) (see Remark 5.8).

## 2.2 Long time evolution of fluctuations SPDE

We now turn to the main result of the chapter, which concerns the asymptotic behavior of the fluctuation process  $\eta$  defined in (5.1). We postpone here the proper definition of the space H to Remark 5.6. **Theorem 5.3.** Under the hypothesis of Theorem 5.9, there exists a unique weak solution  $\eta_t$  to (5.1) in H. Moreover,  $\eta$  satisfies the following linear behavior: for each realization  $C(\omega)$  of the mean value of the initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$ 

$$\frac{\eta_t^{\omega}}{t} \xrightarrow[t \to \infty]{in \ law} v(\omega)q'.$$
(5.9)

Moreover, as a function of  $\omega$ ,  $\omega \mapsto v(\omega)$  is a real random variable with Gaussian distribution and with variance

$$\sigma_v^2 := \left(2\int_{\mathbf{S}} p_+(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^{-2},\tag{5.10}$$

where  $p_+(\theta) := p(\theta, \omega_0)$  is defined by (5.16).

**Remark 5.4.** Note that the random variable v found in Theorem 5.3 is precisely given by  $v = \frac{\int_{\mathbf{S}} C_+}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} p_+}$  where the process  $C_+$  is defined in (5.5).

Theorem 5.3 illustrates the fact that the fluctuations for the finite system are disorder dependent. The continuous time representation (5.1) of the discrete fluctuation process (1.1) does share the same non self-averaging behavior, as seen in Figure 1.4: the trajectories of the solution  $\eta_t$  of (5.1) have a linear behavior whose slope only depends on the initial condition  $\eta_0^{\omega}$ .

The approach followed here is to make  $N \to \infty$  and then make the time  $t \to \infty$ . In other terms, we concentrate here on the behavior of the system for bounded times, that is when the time horizon T > 0 is of order 1 w.r.t. the number of particles N. In particular, this work does not address the behavior of the system for larger time scales.

In that sense, understanding rigorously the disorder-induced rotation observed in Figure 1.3 would require to study the behavior of the empirical flow  $\nu_N$  defined in (1.16) on time scales of order  $\sqrt{N}$ , which has not been carried out in this work.

Proof of Theorem 5.3 is decomposed in several steps: the first main goal of this chapter is to state a spectral decomposition of the operator L defined in (5.6), based on perturbation arguments from the non-disordered case  $\mu = \delta_0$ .

### 2.3 Distribution spaces

As in Chapter 3, we need to introduce *weighted Sobolev spaces* that we will use throughout this chapter. The fact that we work on a domain (5.7) of functions with nontrivial mean value requires to define distributions spaces slightly more general than the ones defined in Chap. 3, § 2.3, p.82, but the principle of construction remains the same. What is more, we will use the same notations as in Chapter 3.

We first focus on weighted-Sobolev spaces of functions  $\theta \mapsto h(\theta)$  on **S** (§ 2.3.1) and then introduce the corresponding spaces for functions  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto h(\theta, \omega)$  on **S** × Supp( $\mu$ ) (§ 2.3.2):

#### 2.3.1 Weighted Sobolev spaces:

For any bounded positive weight function  $k(\cdot)$  on **S** such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} k(\theta) d\theta = 1$ , we may consider the space  $\mathbf{L}_k^2$  closure of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{S})$  w.r.t. the norm:

$$\|h\|_{2,k} := \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{h^2(\theta)}{k(\theta)} \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(5.11)

The decomposition of h into the sum of Span(k) and its orthogonal supplementary in  $\mathbf{L}_k^2$  may be written as:

$$h = \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} h\right) \cdot k + h_0,$$

where  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} h_0 = 0$ . Since  $h_0$  is with zero mean value, each of its primitives are  $2\pi$ -periodic. In particular, we can consider  $\mathbf{H}_k^{-1}$  the closure of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{S})$  with respect to the following weighted Sobolev norm:

$$||h||_{-1,k} := \left( \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} h \right)^2 + \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{\mathcal{H}_0^2}{k} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$
 (5.12)

where  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is the primitive of  $h_0$  on **S** such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{\mathcal{H}_0}{k} = 0$ .

**Remark 5.5.** In the case of a constant weight  $k(\cdot) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi}$ , we will write  $(\mathbf{L}^2, \|\cdot\|_2)$  and  $(\mathbf{H}^{-1}, \|\cdot\|_{-1})$  instead of  $(\mathbf{L}^2_{\frac{1}{2\pi}}, \|\cdot\|_{2,\frac{1}{2\pi}})$  and  $(\mathbf{H}^{-1}_{\frac{1}{2\pi}}, \|\cdot\|_{-1,\frac{1}{2\pi}})$ .

## 2.3.2 Weighted Sobolev spaces (with disorder):

The natural space in where to study the operator L is the space of functions h in  $\mathcal{D}$  such that each component  $h(\cdot, \omega)$  live in a certain  $\mathbf{H}_{k(\cdot,\omega)}^{-1}$  for a weight  $k(\cdot, \omega)$  (which may depends on the disorder  $\omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu)$ ). More precisely, for any family of positive weight functions  $(k(\cdot, \omega))_{\omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu)}$ , we denote as  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,k}^{-1}$  the closure of  $\mathcal{D}$  w.r.t. the norm:

$$\|h\|_{\mu,-1,k} := \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}} \|h(\cdot,\omega)\|_{-1,k(\cdot,\omega)}^2 \mu(\mathrm{d}\omega)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}} \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} h \,\mathrm{d}\theta\right)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu + \int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{\mathcal{H}_0^2}{k} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(5.13)

We will also consider the analogous averaged weighted  $\mathbf{L}^2$ -spaces, that is, for any family of positive weights  $(k(\cdot, \omega))_{\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)}$ , the space  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu,k}$  given by the norm:

$$\|h\|_{\mu,2,k} := \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{h(\theta,\omega)^2}{k(\theta,\omega)} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\omega)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(5.14)

**Remark 5.6.** In the particular case of  $k(\cdot, \omega) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi}$  for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ , we will write  $H := \mathbf{H}_{\mu,\frac{1}{2\pi}}^{-1}$  and the corresponding norm will be denoted as  $\|\cdot\|_{H}$ . We will also write  $(\mathbf{L}_{\mu}^{2}, \|\cdot\|_{\mu,2})$  instead of  $(\mathbf{L}_{\mu,\frac{1}{2\pi}}^{2}, \|\cdot\|_{\mu,2,\frac{1}{2\pi}})$ .

The main theorem concerning the operator L will be stated in H for the ease of exposition but its proof will require the introduction of weighted-Sobolev spaces  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,k}^{-1}$  for nontrivial weights k.

## 2.4 Non self-averaging phenomenon for the operator L and existence of a Jordan block

Understanding the linear behavior depending on the initial condition (recall Figure 1.4, p.32) of the trajectories of solutions of (5.1) is deeply linked with the spectral properties of the operator L at the origin 0, and more precisely to the existence of a Jordan block for the eigenvalue 0 (recall § 6.3, p. 33); indeed the first main result of the chapter is:

**Theorem 5.7.** For any fixed  $\omega_0 > 0$ , if q is the stationary solution in (3.15), then

$$Lq' = 0.$$
 (5.15)

Moreover, there exists  $p \in \mathcal{D}$  such that

 $\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \forall \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \quad Lp(\theta, \omega) = q'(\theta, \omega).$  (5.16)

In particular, the characteristic space of L in 0 is at least of dimension 2.

**Remark 5.8.** An important remark on Theorem 5.7 is that  $p(\cdot, \omega)$  is with non-trivial mean value for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ . In particular, we have reasons to believe (on the basis of numerical simulations as well as on non-rigorous calculations) that the following holds

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}} p(\theta, \omega_0) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = -\int_{\mathbf{S}} p(\theta, -\omega_0) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = -\frac{1}{\omega_0}.$$
(5.17)

In other terms, if we had chosen domain (5.8) instead of domain (5.7), we would not have found such p; the Jordan block  $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$  in the matrix representation (5.20) of the operator L does not exists on the domain (5.8).

Theorem 5.7 is proved in Section 3.

## 2.5 Spectral properties of *L* and position of the spectrum

The second goal of this chapter is to prove that L generates an analytic semi-group of operators with spectrum confined in the part of the complex plane with negative real part:

**Theorem 5.9.** In the Hilbert space H defined in Remark 5.6, the operator  $(L, \mathcal{D})$  is densely defined, closable, its closed extension having compact resolvent. In particular, its spectrum consists of isolated eigenvalues with finite multiplicities.

Moreover, for all K > 1, for all  $\alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ , for all  $\rho \in (0, 1)$ , there exists  $\omega_{\star} = \omega_{\star}(K, \alpha, \rho) > 0$  such that, for all  $0 < \omega_0 < \omega_{\star}$ , the following is true:

– The spectrum of L lies in a cone  $C_{\alpha}$  with vertex 0 and angle  $\alpha$ 

$$C_{\alpha} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \, \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \leqslant \arg(\lambda) \leqslant \frac{3\pi}{2} - \alpha \right\} \subseteq \{ z \in \mathbf{C}; \, \Re(z) \leqslant 0 \} ;$$

- There exists  $\alpha' \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  such that L is the infinitesimal generator of an analytic semi-group defined on a sector  $\Delta_{\alpha'} := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}, |\arg(\lambda)| < \alpha'\};$
- the dimension of the characteristic space in 0 is exactly 2, spanned by q' and p, where p is defined in Theorem 5.7,
- the eigenvalue 0 is separated from the rest of the spectrum at a distance  $\lambda_K(L) = \lambda(L, K, \rho)$  at least equal to  $\rho \cdot \min\left(\lambda_K(L_{q_0}), \frac{1}{2}e^{-4Kr_0}\right)$ , where  $L_{q_0}$  and  $r_0$  are defined in (3.6), p. 75 and (3.30), p. 85 respectively.

**Remark 5.10.** As a consequence of Theorem 5.9, there exists a decomposition of the space H into the direct sum (a priori not orthogonal, since L is not self-adjoint)

$$H = G_0 \oplus G_{<0} \,, \tag{5.18}$$

where  $G_0$  is of dimension 2 (spanned by q' and p) such that the restriction of the operator L to  $G_0$  has spectrum  $\{0\}$  and the restriction of L to  $G_{<0}$  has spectrum  $\sigma(L) \setminus \{0\} \subseteq$
$\{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \Re(\lambda) < 0\}$ . We will denote as  $P_0$  the corresponding projection on  $G_0$  along to  $G_{<0}$ , and  $P_{<0} = 1 - P_0$ . In particular, there exist unique continuous linear forms  $\ell_{q'}$  and  $\ell_p$  such that for all  $h \in H$ 

$$P_0h := \ell_{q'}(h)q' + \ell_p(h)p.$$
(5.19)

To fix ideas, one may think of the following matrix representation for the operator L:

$$L = \begin{pmatrix} P_0 L P_0 & P_0 L P_{<0} \\ \hline P_{<0} L P_0 & P_{<0} L P_{<0} \\ \hline P_{<0} L P_0 & P_{<0} L P_{<0} \\ \hline \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & \ell_{q'} (L P_{<0}) \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & P_{<0} L P_{<0} \\ \hline 0 & 0 & \vdots \\ \hline 0 & 0 & & \end{bmatrix}_{q'} \begin{cases} 3q' \\ g_{<0} \\ \end{bmatrix}_{q'} \\ G_{<0} \\ \hline \end{bmatrix}_{G_{<0}}$$

(5.20)

Note that the second line in the matrix representation (5.20) of L is indeed equally zero since for all  $h \in H$ , Lh is of zero mean value on **S**; in particular  $\ell_p(Lh) = 0$  for all  $h \in H$ .

**Remark 5.11.** Note that any element  $h = (h(\theta, \omega))_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}, \omega \in \mathrm{Supp}(\mu)}$  can be identified in our binary case (5.4) with a couple  $(h_+(\theta), h_-(\theta))_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}}$ . Moreover, any  $h \in H$  can be decomposed according to (5.18):

$$h = \ell_{q'}(h)q' + \ell_p(h)p + P_{<0}h.$$

Let us integrate the latter decomposition w.r.t.  $\theta$ . Since  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} Lu = 0$  for all  $u \in \mathcal{D}$ , we have  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} P_{<0} h = 0$  so that one can actually find an explicit formulation for the functional  $\ell_p$ :

$$\ell_p(h) = \frac{\int_{\mathbf{S}} h_+}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} p_+} = \frac{\int_{\mathbf{S}} h_-}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} p_-}.$$
(5.21)

The last equality in (5.21) is due to the fact that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} (h_+ + h_-) = \int_{\mathbf{S}} (p_+ + p_-) = 0.$ 

# 3 On the existence of a Jordan block for L (Proof of Theorem 5.7)

#### 3.1 Proof of Theorem 5.7

The purpose of this section is to prove Theorem 5.7. The symmetry of the system (recall § 2.1.3, p. 15 and Remark 1.8, p. 24) leads to consider the set of distributions which are odd w.r.t. the variable  $(\theta, \omega) \in \mathbf{S} \times \text{Supp}(\mu)$ :

$$\mathcal{O} := \{h; \, \forall (\theta, \omega) \in \mathbf{S} \times \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \ h(-\theta, -\omega) = -h(\theta, \omega) \}.$$

We also denote by  $\mathcal{N}$  the set of functions that with zero mean-value for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ :

$$\mathcal{N} := \left\{ h \in \mathcal{D}; \, \forall \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\theta, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}\theta = 0 \right\}.$$

In Lemma 5.12 (whose proof is left to the reader), we sum-up the basic properties of the stationary solution q (recall (3.15), p. 77):

Lemma 5.12. The following statements are true:

- 1.  $q' \in \mathcal{O}$ ,
- 2. If  $h \in \mathcal{O}$  then  $Lh \in \mathcal{O}$ ,
- 3.  $q' \in \mathcal{N}$ , and for all  $h \in \mathcal{D}$ ,  $Lh \in \mathcal{N}$ ,
- 4. There exist some positive constants c and C such that for all  $\theta$ ,  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ ,  $0 < c \leq q(\theta, \omega) \leq C$ ,
- 5. For all  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$ ,  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\theta}q(\theta,\omega) = q(\theta,\omega)\left(\langle J*q\rangle_{\mu} + \omega\right) + \kappa(\omega), \qquad (5.22)$$

where  $\kappa(\omega) = \frac{1-e^{4\pi\omega}}{2Z(\omega)}$ .

Note in particular, that the fact that  $q' \in \mathcal{O}$  can be seen as a consequence of Remark 1.8, p. 24. A direct calculation easily shows that q' is in the kernel of L (it corresponds to the rotation invariance of the problem). The rest of this section is devoted to prove the existence of an element  $p \in \mathcal{D}$  such that Lp = q'.

We recall here the definition of the weighted Sobolev spaces introduced in § 2.3.2: we make use here of the space  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1}$  defined in (5.13) in the case of k = q and of the space  $\mathbf{L}_{\mu}^{2}$  defined in Remark 5.6. The main result is the following:

**Proposition 5.13.** For every  $\omega_0 > 0$ , in the binary case (5.4), for every  $v \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$ (and in particular for v = q'), there exists some  $p \in \mathbf{L}_{\mu}^2 \cap \mathcal{O}$  such that

$$\forall l \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}, \ \langle Lp, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q} = \langle v, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q}.$$
(5.23)

Moreover, in the case v = q', any p that satisfies (5.23) is in fact a regular function  $(p(\cdot, \omega) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbf{S}) \text{ for all } \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu))$  and is a classical solution to (5.16).

**Remark 5.14.** The scope of Proposition 5.13 is more general than the restrictive case of a binary law  $\mu = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$ ; indeed the following proof works for more general distributions  $\mu$ , the only additional requirement being integrability conditions in 0 and  $+\infty$  which are obviously satisfied in the case (5.4), see Remark 5.20.

Proof of Proposition 5.13 consists in several lemmas:

**Lemma 5.15.** For  $h \in \mathcal{O} \cap \mathcal{D}$ ,  $l \in \mathcal{O} \cap \mathcal{D}$ , let us introduce the Dirichlet form

$$\mathcal{E}_L(h,l) := \langle Lh, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q}.$$

 $\mathcal{E}_L(\cdot,\cdot)$  is well defined on  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}_L) := \left(\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}\right) \times \left(\mathbf{H}^{-1}_{\mu,q} \cap \mathcal{O}\right)$  and one can decompose  $\mathcal{E}_L(\cdot,\cdot)$  into:

$$\forall (h,l) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}_L), \ \mathcal{E}_L(h,l) = \Gamma(h,l) + K\ell(h) \cdot \ell(l), \tag{5.24}$$

where  $\Gamma(\cdot, \cdot)$ , bilinear form on  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}_L)$  and  $\ell(\cdot)$  linear form on  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$ , are defined as follows:

$$\forall (h,l) \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}_L), \ \Gamma(h,l) := -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \frac{hl}{q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu + \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} \kappa(\cdot) \frac{h\mathcal{L}}{q^2} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu, \tag{5.25}$$

$$\forall l \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}, \ \ell(l) := \int_{\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}} l \sin(\cdot) \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu,$$
(5.26)

where  $\kappa$  in (5.25) is defined in (5.22).

**Lemma 5.16.** For all continuous linear form f on  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$ , there exists some  $p_1 \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}$ such that for  $l \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$ 

$$\Gamma(p_1, l) = f(l).$$

**Lemma 5.17.** The linear form  $\ell(\cdot)$  defined in (5.26) can be expressed as a scalar product on  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$ : there exists  $p_2 \in \mathcal{D} \cap \mathcal{O}$ , for all  $l \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$ 

$$\ell(l) = \langle Lp_2, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q}$$

Let us admit for a moment Lemmas 5.15, 5.16 and 5.17 and let us prove Proposition 5.13:

Proof of Proposition 5.13. Let v be a fixed element of  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$ . Applying Lemma 5.16 to the continuous linear form  $f(l) = \langle v, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q}$ , there exists some  $p_1 \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}$  such that  $\Gamma(p_1, l) = \langle v, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q}$ , which gives using Lemma 5.15 and Lemma 5.17:

$$\langle v, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q} = \Gamma(p_1, l),$$
  
=  $\langle Lp_1, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q} - K\ell(p_1)\ell(l),$   
=  $\langle Lp_1, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q} - K\ell(p_1) \langle Lp_2, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q}$ 

We can conclude that the variational formula (5.23) is verified for the following choice of p:

$$p := p_1 - K\ell(p_1)p_2 \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}$$

Let us prove now that such p is in fact a regular function in  $\theta$ : since  $p_2 \in \mathcal{D}$  is regular in  $\theta$ , it suffices to prove that for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ ,  $\theta \mapsto p_1(\theta, \omega)$  is  $\mathcal{C}^2$  (in fact  $\mathcal{C}^\infty$ ) in  $\theta$ . We start from the definition of  $p_1$ :

$$\forall l \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}, \quad \Gamma(p_1, l) = \langle q', l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q}.$$

Since this true for all  $l \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$ , thanks to the expression of  $\Gamma$  in (5.25), we obtain that for any fixed  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ , for Lebesgue-almost every  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$ :

$$\frac{1}{4}\frac{p_1(\theta,\omega)}{q(\theta,\omega)} = -\kappa(\omega)\left(\int_0^\theta \frac{p_1(u,\omega)}{q(u,\omega)^2} \,\mathrm{d}u\right) + \int_0^\theta \frac{Q(u,\omega)}{q(u,\omega)} \,\mathrm{d}u,\tag{5.27}$$

where  $Q(\cdot, \omega)$  is the primitive of  $q'(\cdot, \omega)$  such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{Q(\cdot, \omega)}{q(\cdot, \omega)} = 0$ . But, using that q is bounded and  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  in  $\theta$  and that  $p_1(\cdot, \omega) \in \mathbf{L}^2$ , the primitive  $\int_0^{\theta} \frac{p_1(u,\omega)}{q(u,\omega)^2} du$  as a  $\mathcal{C}^1$  version. So, thanks to (5.27),  $p_1$  has a  $\mathcal{C}^1$  version. So, the right-hand side of (5.27) is a least  $\mathcal{C}^2$ , and so does  $p_1$ . The same repeated argument shows that  $p_1$  is  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}$  in  $\theta$ . That concludes the proof of Proposition 5.13.

It remains to prove the three lemmas:

*Proof of Lemma 5.15.* Let us prove equality (5.24): since  $\mathcal{L}$  is a primitive of l, one has

$$\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{S}}\frac{(\partial_{\theta}h)\mathcal{L}}{q} = -\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{S}}\frac{hl}{q} + \frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{S}}\frac{h\mathcal{L}}{q^2}\partial_{\theta}q.$$

Using (5.22), for  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ 

$$\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{S}}\frac{(\partial_{\theta}h)\mathcal{L}}{q} = -\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{S}}\frac{hl}{q} + \int_{\mathbf{S}}\frac{h\mathcal{L}}{q}\left(\langle J*q\rangle_{\mu}(\cdot)+\omega\right) + \kappa(\omega)\int_{\mathbf{S}}\frac{h\mathcal{L}}{q^{2}}.$$

Thanks to the expression of Lh in (5.6), we obtain

$$B(h,l) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \frac{hl}{q} + \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \kappa(\cdot) \frac{h}{q^2} \mathcal{L} - \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \langle J * h \rangle_{\mu} \mathcal{L}, \qquad (5.28)$$
$$= \Gamma(h,l) - \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \langle J * h \rangle_{\mu} \mathcal{L}.$$

Lastly, integrating by parts the last term in (5.28) and expanding the cosine function (recall  $J(\cdot) = -K\sin(\cdot)$ ), we obtain:

$$-\int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \langle J*h\rangle_{\mu} \mathcal{L} = K \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \cos(\cdot) l \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right) \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \cos(\cdot) h \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right) + K \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \sin(\cdot) l \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right) \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \sin(\cdot) h \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right).$$

But, since  $l \in \mathcal{O}$ , the first term in the latter expression is zero. The result (5.24) follows.

*Proof of Lemma 5.16.* In this proof, we use the following extension to Lax-Milgram Theorem (cf. [82, chap. III]):

**Proposition 5.18** (Lions-Lax-Milgram). Let  $\{\mathcal{H}, |.|\}$  be a Hilbert space and  $\{\mathcal{G}, \|.\|\}$  a normed linear space. Suppose  $\Gamma : \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{G} \to \mathbf{R}$  is bilinear and that  $\Gamma(\cdot, \varphi)$  is continuous for each  $\varphi \in \mathcal{G}$ . If there exists some constant C > 0 such that

$$\inf_{\|\varphi\|=1} \sup_{|h| \leqslant 1} |\Gamma(h,\varphi)| \ge C > 0, \quad (weak \ coercivity),$$

Then for each  $f \in \mathcal{G}'$  there exists some  $p \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $\Gamma(p, \varphi) = f(\varphi)$  for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{G}$ .

The principle of the proof of Lemma 5.16 is to show that the bilinear function  $\Gamma$  defined in (5.25) satisfies Proposition 5.18 for

$$\mathcal{H} := \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}, \quad \text{endowed with} \quad \|\cdot\|_{\mu,2}, \qquad (5.29)$$

$$\mathcal{G} := \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O} \cap \mathbf{L}^{\infty}(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}), \quad \text{endowed with} \quad \|\cdot\|_{\mu,-1,q}.$$
(5.30)

Namely, we have the following:

1. For each  $l \in \mathcal{G}$ ,  $\Gamma(\cdot, l)$  is continuous on  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}$ : indeed, for the first term of  $\Gamma(h, l)$ , we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \frac{hl}{q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right| \leqslant C \, \|\, l\,\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} |h| \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|\, h\,\|_{\mu,2} \, .$$

And for the second term, using the boundedness of q:

$$\int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \left| \kappa(\cdot) \frac{h}{q^2} \mathcal{L} \right| \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} |h\mathcal{L}| \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|l\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,2} \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1,q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \mathrm{d}\mu \leqslant C \, \|h\|_{\mu,-1$$

2.  $\Gamma$  is weakly coercive: let us fix  $l \in \mathcal{G}$  such that  $|| l ||_{\mu,-1,q} = 1$ .

Let us choose  $h = g\mathcal{L} \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}$ , where for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ ,  $g(\cdot, \omega)$  is a  $2\pi$ -periodic function to be defined later. Then, by integration by parts in the equality (5.25)

$$\Gamma(h,l) = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \frac{g}{q} l\mathcal{L} + \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \kappa(\cdot) \frac{g}{q^2} \mathcal{L}^2 = \int_{\mathbf{S}\times\mathbf{R}} \left\{ \frac{1}{4} \partial_\theta \left( \frac{g}{q} \right) + \kappa(\cdot) \frac{g}{q^2} \right\} \mathcal{L}^2.$$
(5.31)

Consider now for fixed  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$  the following first order ODE, with periodic boundary condition:

$$\frac{1}{4}\partial_{\theta}f(\cdot,\omega) + \kappa(\omega)\frac{f(\cdot,\omega)}{q(\cdot,\omega)} = \frac{1}{q(\cdot,\omega)}, \quad \text{with } f(0,\omega) = f(2\pi,\omega).$$
(5.32)

Then for any  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu) \setminus \{0\}$ , an explicit calculation (left to the reader) shows that there exists a unique solution to (5.32),  $\theta \mapsto f(\theta, \omega)$ .

**Remark 5.19.** In the case  $\omega = 0$ , (5.32) reduces to  $\frac{1}{4}\partial_{\theta}f = \frac{1}{q_0}$  which is incompatible with the condition  $f(0) = f(2\pi)$ , since  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{1}{q_0} d\theta > 0$ : there is no such  $2\pi$ -periodic solution in the case  $\omega = 0$ .

Moreover, it is straightforward to see that  $\|\int_{\mathbf{R}} |f(\cdot,\omega)| d\mu\|_{\infty,\mathbf{S}} \leq C$ , for some constant C > 0.

**Remark 5.20.** It is easy to see that  $f(\cdot, \omega)$  is not bounded as  $\omega \to 0$  and  $\omega \to \infty$ ; thus, the same control on f for more general distributions  $\mu$  requires additional integrability assumptions for  $\mu$ .

If we choose h such that  $h = g \cdot \mathcal{L}$  with  $g(\cdot, \omega) = q(\cdot, \omega)f(\cdot, \omega)$ , we have the following: - By construction of f, using (5.32) in (5.31),  $\Gamma(h, l) = \|l\|_{\mu, -1, q}^2 = 1$ ,

 $- \|h\|_{\mu,2}^2 \leqslant C \int_{\mathbf{S}} f^2 \frac{\mathcal{L}^2}{q} \, \mathrm{d}\lambda \leqslant C. \text{ So, } \sup_{\|h\|_{\mu,2,1} \leqslant 1} |\Gamma(h,l)| \geqslant \frac{1}{C}, \text{ where } C \text{ is independent of } l \in \mathcal{G} \text{ such that } \|l\|_{\mu,-1,q} = 1.$ 

Applying Proposition 5.18, we obtain the existence of some  $p_1 \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}$  such that  $\Gamma(p_1, l) = f(l)$ , for all  $l \in \mathcal{G}$ . But by density, this is also true for  $l \in \mathbf{H}^{-1}_{\mu,q} \cap \mathcal{O}$ .

Proof of Lemma 5.17. Since there exists some constants C, c > 0 such that for all  $\omega \in$ Supp $(\mu), \theta \in \mathbf{S}, 0 < c \leq q(\theta, \omega) \leq C, \ell$  is continuous on  $\mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$  (as well as on  $\mathbf{L}_{\mu}^{2} \cap \mathcal{O}$ ). More precisely, by Riesz theorem, there exists a unique  $e \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}$  such that for all  $l \in \mathbf{H}_{\mu,q}^{-1} \cap \mathcal{O}, \ell(l) = \langle e, l \rangle_{\mu,-1,q}$ . One can be more explicit: a simple calculation shows that this  $(\theta, \omega) \mapsto e(\theta, \omega)$  corresponds to the primitive  $\mathcal{E}(\theta, \omega) = -q(\theta, \omega) \cos(\theta)$ , that is:

$$\forall \theta \in \mathbf{S}, \ \omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu), \quad e(\theta, \omega) = -q'(\theta, \omega)\cos(\theta) + q(\theta, \omega)\sin(\theta).$$
(5.33)

Let us introduce the following function  $p_2 \in \mathbf{L}^2_{\mu} \cap \mathcal{O}$ :

$$p_2(\theta,\omega) = \frac{e^{-B(\theta,\omega)}}{1 - e^{4\pi\omega}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{B(u,\omega) + 4\pi\omega} \,\mathrm{d}u + \int_0^\theta e^{B(u,\omega) - B(\theta,\omega)} \,\mathrm{d}u$$

for

$$B(\theta, \omega) = -2 \left( Kr \left( \cos(\theta) - 1 \right) + \omega \theta \right).$$

Then one readily verifies that  $Lp_2$  is proportional to e.

# 4 Global spectral properties of operator L (Proof of Theorem 5.9)

The purpose of this section is to prove Theorem 5.9.

The main ingredients of proof of Theorem 5.9 are similar to the techniques used in Chapter 3: the idea is to decompose the operator L defined by (5.6) on the domain  $\mathcal{D}$ given by (5.7) into the sum of a self-adjoint operator A (in a weighted Sobolev space for appropriate weights) and a perturbation B which will be considered to be small w.r.t. A,

relying on the fact that the evolution operator L in the disordered Kuramoto model can be considered as a perturbation of the evolution operator  $L_{q_0}$  without disorder defined in (3.30) and already studied in [9].

Namely, it is straightforward to verify from (5.6) that L can be written as L = A + Bwhere, for all  $h \in \mathcal{D}$ , for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ ,

$$Ah(\theta,\omega) := \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta}^{2} h(\theta,\omega) - \partial_{\theta} \Big( h(\theta,\omega) (J * q_{0})(\theta) + q_{0}(\theta) \langle J * h \rangle_{\mu} \Big),$$
(5.34)

and,

$$Bh(\theta,\omega) := -\partial_{\theta} \Big( h(\theta,\omega) \{ \langle J * (q-q_0) \rangle_{\mu}(\theta) + \omega \} + (q(\theta,\omega) - q_0(\theta)) \langle J * h \rangle_{\mu} \Big).$$
(5.35)

**Remark 5.21.** We make the abuse of notations in using the same letter A for (5.34) and for the *labeled* operator (3.36), although the two operators have nothing in common. It is important to note that we cannot rely here on the knowledge we have about the *labeled* operator (3.36) since we are not working on the same domain: we work here with functions with nontrivial mean value (recall (5.7)) and the spectral analysis of (3.36) becomes much harder. In particular, the kernel of the *labeled* operator (3.36) is likely to be of infinite dimension in (5.7) for distribution  $\mu$  with infinite support. This difficulty explains in particular the fact that we need to restrict in this chapter to the binary case (5.4).

We divide the proof of Theorem 5.9 into three parts: in § 4.1, we prove that A is essentially self-adjoint (and thus generates an analytic semigroup) in some weighted-Sobolev space (recall § 2.3) for an appropriate choice of weights. The purpose of § 4.2 is to establish precise control of the size of the perturbation B w.r.t. A. The third step of the proof, carried out in § 4.3 consists in deriving similar spectral properties for the operator L = A + B, especially the fact that the spectrum of L lies in the part of the complex plane with negative real part. Note that this section strongly relies on the fact that  $\mu$  is a binary distribution (recall (5.4)).

#### 4.1 Spectral properties of the operator A

In this paragraph, we prove mainly that A defined in (5.34) is essentially self-adjoint for a Sobolev norm that is equivalent to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_H$  defined in § 2.3.2.

Since we are working in the domain  $\mathcal{D}$  (recall (5.7)), the test functions h are such that  $\int_{\mathbf{R}} h(\cdot, \omega) \, \mathrm{d}\mu = \frac{1}{2} \left( h(\cdot, +\omega_0) + h(\cdot, -\omega_0) \right)$  has zero mean value on **S**. The idea of this paragraph is to reformulate the operator A in terms of the sum  $\frac{1}{2}(h(\cdot, +\omega_0) + h(\cdot, -\omega_0))$  and the difference  $\frac{1}{2}(h(\cdot, +\omega_0) - h(\cdot, -\omega_0))$ ; namely, we define the following  $2 \times 2$  invertible matrix:

$$M := \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and for  $h \in \mathcal{D}$ , let  $\begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} := M \cdot h$ , namely

$$\begin{cases} u(\cdot) &:= \frac{1}{2}(h(\cdot, +\omega_0) + h(\cdot, -\omega_0)), \\ v(\cdot) &:= \frac{1}{2}(h(\cdot, +\omega_0) - h(\cdot, -\omega_0)). \end{cases}$$

We are now able to define the following operator:  $\tilde{A} := M \circ A \circ M^{-1}$ , defined on the domain  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}$ 

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} := \left\{ (u, v) \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}) \times \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}); \ \int_{\mathbf{S}} u(\theta) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = 0 \right\},\tag{5.36}$$

given by

$$\forall (u,v) \in \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}, \quad \widetilde{A} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{A}_1 u \\ \widetilde{A}_2 v \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta^2} u - \partial_{\theta} \left[ u(J * q_0) + q_0(J * u) \right] \\ \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\theta^2} v - \partial_{\theta} \left[ v(J * q_0) \right] \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.37)

The operator  $\tilde{A}$  is uncoupled w.r.t. variables u and v; consequently, in order to diagonalize  $\tilde{A}$ , it suffices to diagonalize both components of  $\tilde{A}$ , namely  $\tilde{A}_1$  and  $\tilde{A}_2$ . This is the purpose of the two following propositions 5.22 and 5.23.

We make use here of the weighted Sobolev norms  $\|\cdot\|_{-1,k}$  defined in (5.12) for different choices of  $k(\cdot)$ : an important remark is that the first component  $\tilde{A}_1$  (with domain  $\{u \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}), \int_{\mathbf{S}} u = 0\}$ ) is exactly equal to the McKean-Vlasov operator  $L_{q_0}$  with no disorder defined in (3.30). Following § 2.4.2, p.85 and [9], the natural space in where to study the operator  $\tilde{A}_1$  is the space  $\mathbf{H}_{q_0}^{-1}$  defined in (5.12), for the weight  $k(\cdot) = q_0(\cdot)$  the nondisordered stationary solution (recall (3.7)). In this space, we have

**Proposition 5.22.** In  $\mathbf{H}_{q_0}^{-1}$ ,  $\tilde{A}_1$  is essentially self-adjoint with compact resolvent and spectrum in the negative part of the real axis. 0 is a one-dimensional eigenvalue, spanned by  $q'_0$ . The spectral gap  $\lambda_K(\tilde{A}_1)$  between 0 and the rest of the spectrum is strictly positive.

Moreover, the self-adjoint extension of  $\tilde{A}_1$  is the infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semi-group of contractions  $\tilde{T}_1(t)$  on  $\mathbf{H}_{q_0}^{-1}$ . For every  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$ , this semigroup can be extended to an analytic semigroup  $\tilde{T}_1(z)$  defined on  $\Delta_{\alpha} = \{\lambda; |\arg(\lambda)| < \alpha\}$  and one has the following estimate on its resolvent (where  $\Sigma_{\alpha} = \{\lambda \in \mathbf{C}; |\arg(\lambda)| < \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha\} \cup \{0\}$ ):

$$\forall \alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \ \forall \lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}, \ \left\| R(\lambda, \tilde{A}_{1}) \right\|_{-1, q_{0}} \leq \frac{1}{1 - \sin(\alpha)} \cdot \frac{1}{|\lambda|}.$$
(5.38)

The second component  $\hat{A}_2$  can be seen as a second order ordinary differential operator, with domain  $\{v \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S})\}$ . As we will see in § 4.1.2, the natural space in which to study  $\tilde{A}_2$  is the space  $\mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$ , for the choice of the weight function  $\theta \mapsto w(\theta) = \frac{e^{-\Phi(\theta)}}{\int_{\mathbf{C}} e^{-\Phi}}$ , with

$$\Phi(\theta) := -2Kr_0 \cos(\theta). \tag{5.39}$$

Namely, we have

**Proposition 5.23.** The operator  $(\tilde{A}_2, C^2(\mathbf{S}))$  is essentially self-adjoint in  $\mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$  and has compact resolvent. Hence, its spectrum consists of isolated eigenvalues with finite multiplicities. The kernel of  $\tilde{A}_2$  is of dimension 1, spanned by  $w(\theta) = \frac{e^{-\Phi(\theta)}}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi}}$ . Moreover, we have the following spectral gap estimation:

$$\forall v \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}), \quad -\left\langle \tilde{A}_2 v, v \right\rangle_{-1,w} \ge \frac{e^{-4Kr_0}}{2} \left\| v - \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} v \right) w \right\|_{-1,w}, \tag{5.40}$$

so that the spectrum of  $\tilde{A}_2$  lies in the negative part of the real axis and the distance between 0 and the rest of the spectrum  $\lambda_K(\tilde{A}_2)$  is at least equal to  $\frac{e^{-4Kr_0}}{2}$ . One also has explicit estimate on the resolvent of  $\tilde{A}_2$ :

$$\forall \alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \ \forall \lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}, \ \left\| R(\lambda, \tilde{A}_2) \right\|_{-1, w} \leq \frac{1}{1 - \sin(\alpha)} \cdot \frac{1}{|\lambda|}.$$
(5.41)

Putting things together, the natural norm for the operator  $\tilde{A}$  is the Hilbert-norm, for  $(u,v) \in \tilde{\mathcal{D}}$ :  $\left( \|u\|_{-1,q_0}^2 + \|v\|_{-1,w}^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . But since  $\tilde{A}$  is the conjugate of A through the invertible matrix M, to say that  $\tilde{A}$  is essentially self-adjoint for the previous norm is equivalent to say that A is essentially self-adjoint for the corresponding conjugate norm:

$$\forall h \in \mathcal{D}, \\ \|h\|_{H_w} := \left( \left\| \frac{1}{2} \left( h(\cdot, +\omega_0) + h(\cdot, -\omega_0) \right) \right\|_{-1,q_0}^2 + \left\| \frac{1}{2} \left( h(\cdot, +\omega_0) - h(\cdot, -\omega_0) \right) \right\|_{-1,w}^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

$$(5.42)$$

The results of § 4.1 can be summed-up in the following proposition, which is an easy consequence of Propositions 5.22 and 5.23:

**Proposition 5.24.** For the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{H_w}$  defined in (5.42), the operator  $(A, \mathcal{D})$  is essentially self-adjoint, with compact resolvent. In particular, the spectrum of (the self-adjoint extension of) A is pure-point, and consists of eigenvalues with finite multiplicities. Moreover it lies in the negative part of the real-axis and A is the infinitesimal generator of an analytic semigroup of operators  $T_A(z)$  defined on a domain  $\Delta_{\alpha} = \{z \in \mathbf{C}; |\arg(z)| < \alpha\}$ , for any  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$ . One also has the following estimate about the resolvent of A:

$$\forall \alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2}), \ \forall \lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}, \ \| R(\lambda, A) \|_{H_w} \leqslant \frac{1}{1 - \sin(\alpha)} \cdot \frac{1}{|\lambda|}.$$
(5.43)

The kernel of A is of dimension 2, spanned by  $\left\{q'_0 + \frac{e^{-\Phi}}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi}}, q'_0 - \frac{e^{-\Phi}}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi}}\right\}$  and the eigenvalue 0 is separated from the rest of the spectrum with a distance

$$\lambda_K(A) := \min\left(\lambda_K(\tilde{A}_1), \lambda_K(\tilde{A}_2)\right),$$

where  $\lambda_K(\tilde{A}_1)$  and  $\lambda_K(\tilde{A}_2)$  are introduced in Propositions 5.22 and 5.23 respectively.

**Remark 5.25.** Note that this norm  $\|\cdot\|_{H_w}$  is equivalent to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_H$  defined in § 2.3.2, since the weights  $q_0$  and w are bounded above and below. In particular, in the space H, the operator A (although no longer self-adjoint) still generates an analytic semigroup with the same spectrum and the same spectral gap.

The aim of paragraph § 4.1.1 (resp. § 4.1.2) is to prove Proposition 5.22 (resp. Proposition 5.23).

## 4.1.1 Spectral properties of $\tilde{A}_1$ : proof of Proposition 5.22

Much about the operator  $\tilde{A}_1$  has already been done since it exactly corresponds to the linear evolution operator  $L_{q_0}$  of the non-disordered Kuramoto model studied in [9]: we know from Proposition 3.23 that  $\tilde{A}_1$  is essentially self-adjoint and dissipative in  $\mathbf{H}_{q_0}^{-1}$ . We refer to Chapter 3 for the results we used on extension of analytic semigroups (recall in particular Proposition 3.44). The fact that  $\tilde{A}_1$  generates an analytic semigroup  $\tilde{T}_1(t)$  in an appropriate sector can be proved in a very analogous way as what was done for the *labeled* operator in the proof of Proposition 3.43 so we skip the details of the proof of Proposition 5.22.

## 4.1.2 Spectral properties of $\tilde{A}_2$ : proof of Proposition 5.23

 $A_2$  may be written as

$$\tilde{A}_2 v = \frac{1}{2} v'' + \partial_\theta \left( v K r_0 \sin(\cdot) \right), \qquad (5.44)$$

where  $r_0 = \Psi_0(2Kr_0)$  (recall (3.6)).

One recognizes in  $\tilde{A}_2$  a second order differential operator on  $\mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S})$  which can be identified to a simple instance of a Fokker-Planck operator with a sine potential (see [72]). This operator can easily be seen, by integrations by parts in an appropriate weighted  $\mathbf{L}^2$ -space as a Sturm-Liouville operator operating on  $\mathcal{C}^2$ ,  $2\pi$ -periodic functions. A vast literature exists on the spectral properties of such operators (see [63], [33], [22], [64], [5] or [35]). But a  $\mathbf{L}^2$ -norm is not appropriate for the future study of the fluctuation equation (5.1); a look at the covariance structure of W (see (5.2)) shows that W naturally lives in a  $\mathbf{H}^{-1}$ -space instead of a  $\mathbf{L}^2$ -space.

An easy calculation shows that  $\tilde{A}_2$  can be rewritten in terms of the weight function  $\Phi$  defined in (5.39):

$$\tilde{A}_2 v = \frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta \left( e^{-\Phi} \partial_\theta \left( e^{\Phi} v \right) \right).$$
(5.45)

Let w be:

$$w(\theta) := \frac{e^{-\Phi(\theta)}}{\int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi}}.$$
(5.46)

One directly sees from (5.45) that w lies in the kernel of  $\tilde{A}_2$ :  $\tilde{A}_2 w = 0$ .

Let us place ourselves in the framework of the weighted-Sobolev spaces (denoted as  $\mathbf{L}_w^2$ and  $\mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$ ) constructed in § 2.3.1, in the particular case of  $k(\cdot) = w(\cdot)$ . In particular, we decompose each  $v \in \mathcal{C}^2$  into  $v = (\int_{\mathbf{S}} v) \cdot w + v_0$ , with the  $\mathbf{L}^2$ -norm  $||v||_{2,w} = \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{|v|^2}{w}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  and the  $\mathbf{H}^{-1}$ -norm  $||v||_{-1,w} = \left((\int_{\mathbf{S}} v)^2 + \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{|v_0|^2}{w}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ . We denote by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{-1,w}$  the associated scalar product.

We are now in position to prove Proposition 5.23:

- In  $\mathbf{H}_{w}^{-1}$ , the operator  $(\tilde{A}_{2}, \mathcal{C}^{2}(\mathbf{S}))$  is formally symmetric: indeed, for  $u, v \in \mathcal{C}^{2}(\mathbf{S})$ , we have successively,

$$\left\langle \tilde{A}_{2}u, v \right\rangle_{-1,w} = \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi} \right) \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{\Phi} \left( \frac{1}{2} e^{-\Phi} \partial_{\theta} \left( e^{\Phi} u \right) \right) \mathcal{V}_{0} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi} \right) \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{\Phi} u v_{0},$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{u_{0}v_{0}}{w} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S}} u \int_{\mathbf{S}} v_{0} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{u_{0}v_{0}}{w}.$$
(5.47)

The latter expression being symmetric in u and v.

- Let us prove that  $(\tilde{A}_2, \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}))$  is essentially self-adjoint: let  $\mathcal{E}_2$  be the following Dirichlet form

$$\mathcal{E}_{2}(u,v) := \left\langle u, (1-\tilde{A}_{2})v \right\rangle_{-1,w} = \int_{\mathbf{S}} u \int_{\mathbf{S}} v + \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{\mathcal{V}_{0}\mathcal{U}_{0}}{w} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{u_{0}v_{0}}{w}.$$
 (5.48)

Then it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{E}_2$  is a continuous bilinear form on  $\mathbf{L}^2_w$  (thanks to Poincaré inequality). Moreover  $\mathcal{E}_2$  is coercive, namely, for all  $u \in \mathbf{L}^2_w$ :

$$\mathcal{E}_{2}(u,u) = \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} u\right)^{2} + \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{\mathcal{U}_{0}^{2}}{w} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \frac{u_{0}^{2}}{w},$$
  
$$\geqslant \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} u\right)^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left\| u - \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} u\right) w \right\|_{2,w}^{2} \geqslant \frac{1}{2} \left\| u \right\|_{2,w}^{2}.$$
(5.49)

Since for all  $f \in \mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$ , the linear form  $v \mapsto \langle v, f \rangle_{-1,w}$  is continuous on  $\mathbf{L}_w^2$ , an application of Lax-Milgram Theorem shows that for such an  $f \in \mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$  there exists an unique  $u \in \mathbf{L}_w^2$  such that for all  $v \in \mathbf{L}_w^2$ 

$$\mathcal{E}_2(v,u) = \langle v, f \rangle_{-1,w}.$$

It is then easy to see that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} f = \int_{\mathbf{S}} u$  and that for almost every  $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{u_0(\theta)}{w(\theta)} = -\int_0^\theta \frac{\mathcal{F}_0}{w} + \int_0^\theta \frac{\mathcal{U}_0}{w}.$$
(5.50)

Since  $u \in \mathbf{L}^2_w$ ,  $\mathcal{U}_0$  admits a  $\mathcal{C}^1$ -version and if we assume that f is square-integrable, the same argument holds for the first term of the right-hand side of (5.50). So, if f is square integrable,  $u_0$  admits a  $\mathcal{C}^2$ -version. To sum-up, if we suppose that f is continuous, there exists  $u \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S})$  such that, applying  $\partial_\theta \left(e^{-\Phi}\partial_\theta(\cdot)\right)$  to (5.50):

$$f = f_0 + \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} f\right) w = -\frac{1}{2} \partial_\theta \left(e^{-\Phi} \partial_\theta \left(e^{\Phi} u_0\right)\right) + u_0 + p_w(u)w,$$
  
$$= -\tilde{A}_2 u_0 + u = (1 - \tilde{A}_2)u.$$
(5.51)

But since those functions f are dense in  $\mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$ , we see that the range of  $1 - \tilde{A}_2$  is dense so that  $\tilde{A}_2$  is essentially self-adjoint.

Secondly, the spectral gap estimation (5.40) holds: indeed, for every  $u \in C^2(\mathbf{S})$ , we have using (5.47) and Poincaré inequality:

$$-\left\langle \tilde{A}_{2}v, v \right\rangle_{-1,w} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi} \right) \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{\Phi} v_{0}^{2},$$
  
$$\geqslant \frac{1}{2} e^{-2Kr_{0}} \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi} \right) \int_{\mathbf{S}} \mathcal{V}_{0}^{2} \geqslant \frac{1}{2} e^{-4Kr_{0}} \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{-\Phi} \right) \int_{\mathbf{S}} e^{\Phi} \mathcal{V}_{0}^{2},$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2} e^{-4Kr_{0}} \left\| v - \left( \int_{\mathbf{S}} v \right) w \right\|_{-1,w}^{2}.$$

Moreover,  $\tilde{A}_2$  has compact resolvent: it suffices to prove that  $\lambda - \tilde{A}_2$  has compact resolvent for at least one value of  $\lambda$ . We prove it for  $\lambda = 1$  which is indeed in the resolvent set, thanks to the beginning of this proof. For  $u \in \mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$ , let us consider  $f := (1 - \tilde{A}_2)^{-1}u$  so that  $\langle f, (1 - \tilde{A}_2)f \rangle_{-1,w} = \langle f, u \rangle_{-1,w}$ . Using the coerciveness of  $\mathcal{E}_2$ , one has for some constant  $c, c \parallel f \parallel_{2,w}^2 \leq \langle f, u \rangle_{-1,w} \leq \parallel f \parallel_{-1,w} \parallel u \parallel_{-1,w}$ . Using the continuous injection of  $\mathbf{L}_w^2$  into  $\mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$  (say  $\parallel \cdot \parallel_{-1,w} \leq C \parallel \cdot \parallel_{2,w}$ , for some positive constant C), one has

$$\|f\|_{2,w} \leq \frac{C}{c} \|u\|_{-1,w}$$

So  $(1 - \tilde{A}_2)^{-1}$  maps sequences that are bounded in  $\mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$  into sequences that are bounded in  $\mathbf{L}_w^2$ . It remains then to prove that the injection of  $\mathbf{L}_w^2$  into  $\mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$  is compact. This is indeed true since for every  $v \in \mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$ , one has, by Cauchy-Schwartz inequality  $|\mathcal{V}_0(\theta) - \mathcal{V}_0(\theta')| \leq C ||v_0||_{2,w} \sqrt{|\theta - \theta'|} \leq C ||v||_{2,w} \sqrt{|\theta - \theta'|}$ . That means that, by Ascoli-Arzela Theorem that the sets  $\{v \in \mathbf{H}_w^{-1}; ||v||_{2,w} \leq cst\}$  are relatively compact in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{S})$  and also in  $\mathbf{L}_w^2$ . That completes the proof.

The fact that  $A_2$  generates an analytic semigroup  $T_2(z)$  on the same sector  $\Delta_{\alpha}$  as well as estimation (5.41) can be derived in the same way as in § 4.1.1.

That concludes the proof of Proposition 5.24.

#### **4.2** Control on the perturbation *B*

In order to derive spectral properties for the operator L = A + B, we need to have a precise estimation about the smallness of the perturbation B w.r.t. operator A studied in the previous paragraph § 4.1.

**Remark 5.26.** Note that for simplicity, we work now with the norm  $\|\cdot\|_H$  (recall Remark 5.6); as already mentioned this norm is equivalent to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{H_w}$  used in § 4.1. Recall also the definition of the space  $(\mathbf{L}^2, \|\cdot\|_2)$  defined in Remark 5.5 and of  $(\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}, \|\cdot\|_{\mu,2})$  defined in Remark 5.6.

Secondly, since the whole operator L is no longer self-adjoint nor symmetric, its spectrum need not be real. Thus, we will assume for the rest of this document that we work with the complexified versions of the scalar products defined previously in this chapter. The results concerning the operator A are obviously still valid.

The smallness of the perturbation B with respect to A can be quantified in terms of the difference  $||q(\cdot, \omega) - q_0(\cdot)||_{\infty}$ ,  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ . For the ease of exposition, we do not attempt to derive precise estimations in K of this difference  $||q(\cdot, \omega) - q_0(\cdot)||_{\infty}$  (Lemma 5.27) and of coefficients  $a(\omega_0)$  and  $b(\omega_0)$  (Lemma 5.28); these bounds are similar to the ones calculated in [41]. We will denote as c a positive constant (depending on K) which may change from a line to another.

**Lemma 5.27.** For  $\omega > 0$  and K > 1, let us define

$$\|q - q_0\|_{\infty} := \sup_{\theta \in \mathbf{S}, |u| \leqslant \omega} |q(\theta, u) - q_0(\theta)|.$$

Then  $\|q - q_0\|_{\infty} = O(\omega)$ , as  $\omega \to 0$ .

*Proof.* This is clear since one can bound  $\partial_{\omega}q(\theta,\omega)$  uniformly in  $(\theta,\omega)$ , as  $\omega \to 0$  (by a constant depending on K).

The purpose of the following proposition is to prove the boundedness w.r.t. A of the perturbation B in terms of the size of the disorder:

**Proposition 5.28.** The operator B is A-bounded in the sense that there exist positive constants  $a(\omega_0) = a(\omega_0, K)$  and  $b(\omega_0) = b(\omega_0, K)$  such that

$$\forall h \in \mathcal{D}, \quad \|Bh\|_{H} \leqslant a(\omega_{0}) \|h\|_{H} + b(\omega_{0}) \|Ah\|_{H}, \qquad (5.52)$$

and moreover, for fixed K > 1,

$$a(\omega_0) = O(\omega_0), \text{ and } b(\omega_0) = O(\omega_0), \text{ as } \omega_0 \to 0,$$
 (5.53)

Proof of Proposition 5.28. Recall that in what follows, c is a constant (depending on K) that may change from a line to another. The proof consists in two steps:

1. There exist some constant  $\alpha_{K,\omega_0}$  such that for all  $h \in \mathcal{D}$ ,

$$\|Bh\|_{H} \leqslant \alpha_{K,\omega_{0}} \|h\|_{\mu,2}, \qquad (5.54)$$

Indeed, for given  $h \in \mathcal{D}$ , for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ , we have  $\|Bh(\cdot, \omega)\|_{-1, \frac{1}{2\pi}} = \|\mathcal{B}h(\cdot, \omega)\|_2$ , where  $\mathcal{B}h(\cdot, \omega)$  is the appropriate primitive of  $Bh(\cdot, \omega)$  in  $\mathbf{H}_{\frac{1}{2\pi}}^{-1}$ , namely:

$$\mathcal{B}h := -h\left(\langle J * (q-q_0) \rangle_{\mu} + \omega\right) - (q-q_0) \cdot \langle J * h \rangle_{\mu} \\ + \int_{\mathbf{S}} h \cdot \left(\langle J * (q-q_0) \rangle_{\mu} + \omega\right) + \int_{\mathbf{S}} (q-q_0) \cdot \langle J * h \rangle_{\mu}.$$

Using the boundedness of  $q_0$  and the fact that  $|(J * \varepsilon)| \leq 4K ||\varepsilon||_{\infty}$  and  $|\langle J * h \rangle_{\mu}| \leq \frac{K}{\sqrt{2}} ||\langle h \rangle_{\mu}||_2$ , it is easy to deduce that, for some constant c > 0:

$$|\mathcal{B}h| \leq c(\|q - q_0\|_{\infty} + \omega_0)(|h| + \|\langle h \rangle_{\mu}\|_2).$$
(5.55)

Consequently,

$$\|Bh\|_{H} = \left( \langle \|\mathcal{B}h\|_{2}^{2} \rangle_{\mu} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq c(\|q-q_{0}\|_{\infty} + \omega_{0}) \|h\|_{\mu,2}, \qquad (5.56)$$

so that (5.54) is satisfied for some coefficients which verify  $\alpha_{K,\omega_0} = O(\omega_0)$  as  $\omega_0 \to 0$ . 2. The second step of the proof is to control the L<sup>2</sup>-norm  $||h||_{\mu,2}$  of h with the H<sup>-1</sup>-norms of Ah and h: namely we prove that there exist constants such that

$$\|h\|_{\mu,2} \leqslant \gamma_K \|Ah\|_H + \delta_K \|h\|_H.$$
(5.57)

The proof is based on a usual interpolation argument: for all integer n > 1, for any  $f \in C^2(\mathbf{S})$ , one has

$$\|f'\|_{2}^{2} \leqslant \sqrt{n} \|f\|_{2} \frac{\|f''\|_{2}}{\sqrt{n}} \leqslant \frac{n}{2} \|f\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{\|f''\|_{2}^{2}}{2n}.$$
(5.58)

Let us use this interpolation relation (5.58) to derive (5.57): for all  $h \in \mathcal{D}, \omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ , one has

$$\|h(\cdot,\omega)\|_{2}^{2} = \left(\int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\cdot,\omega)\right)^{2} + \|h_{0}(\cdot,\omega)\|_{2}^{2}$$

Applying relation (5.58) with  $f(\cdot) = \mathcal{H}_0(\cdot, \omega)$  we obtain

$$\|h(\cdot,\omega)\|_{2}^{2} \leq \left\|\int_{\mathbf{S}} h(\cdot,\omega)\right\|^{2} + \frac{n}{2} \|\mathcal{H}_{0}(\cdot,\omega)\|_{2}^{2} + \frac{\|h'(\cdot,\omega)\|_{2}^{2}}{2n},$$
(5.59)

where we used the fact that  $h_0'(\cdot, \omega) = h'(\cdot, \omega)$ . Integrating w.r.t.  $\mu$ ,

$$\|h\|_{\mu,2}^{2} \leq \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left| \int_{\mathbf{S}} h \right|^{2} d\mu + \frac{n}{2} \|\mathcal{H}_{0}\|_{\mu,2}^{2} + \frac{\|h'\|_{\mu,2}^{2}}{2n}.$$
 (5.60)

But, as previously for the operator B, a simple calculation shows that for all  $\omega \in \text{Supp}(\mu)$ , we have  $\|Ah(\cdot,\omega)\|_{-1,\frac{1}{2\pi}} = \|\mathcal{A}h(\cdot,\omega)\|_2$ , where  $\mathcal{A}h$  is the appropriate primitive of Ah (recall (5.34)) in  $\mathbf{H}_{\frac{1}{2\pi}}^{-1}$ :

$$\mathcal{A}h = \frac{1}{2}h' - h(J * q_0) - q_0 \langle J * h \rangle_\mu + \int_{\mathbf{S}} \left( h(J * q_0) + q_0 \langle J * h \rangle_\mu \right), \tag{5.61}$$

so that, for some constant c > 0

$$\|h'\|_{\mu,2}^2 \leq 12 \|\mathcal{A}h\|_{\mu,2}^2 + c \|h\|_{\mu,2}^2.$$
(5.62)

Injecting this inequality in (5.60), one obtains, for some constant c > 0

$$\|h\|_{\mu,2}^{2} \leqslant \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left| \int_{\mathbf{S}} h \right|^{2} d\mu + \frac{n}{2} \|\mathcal{H}_{0}\|_{\mu,2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2n} \left( 12 \|\mathcal{A}h\|_{\mu,2}^{2} + c \|h\|_{\mu,2}^{2} \right).$$
(5.63)

Choosing n > 1 sufficiently large so that the coefficient in front of  $||h||_{\mu,2}^2$  in the right-hand side of (5.63) is lower than  $\frac{1}{2}$  leads to (for some constant c > 0):

$$\|h\|_{\mu,2}^{2} \leq 2 \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left| \int_{\mathbf{S}} h \right|^{2} d\mu + c \|\mathcal{H}_{0}\|_{\mu,2}^{2} + c \|\mathcal{A}h\|_{\mu,2}^{2} \leq c \|h\|_{H}^{2} + c \|Ah\|_{H}^{2},$$

which shows (5.57). Putting together estimates (5.54) and (5.57), we find the Aboundedness of B (5.52) with coefficients  $a(\omega_0)$  and  $b(\omega_0)$  which satisfy (5.53), thanks to Lemma 5.27.

**Proposition 5.29.** The operator B is A-compact, in the sense that for any sequence  $(h_p)_{p \ge 0} \in \mathcal{D}^{\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $\|h_p\|_H$  and  $\|Ah_p\|_H$  are bounded, there exists a convergent subsequence for  $(Bh_p)_{p \ge 1}$ .

Proof of Proposition 5.29. Let  $(h_p)_{p \ge 0}$  a sequence in  $\mathcal{D}$  such that  $||h_p||_H$  and  $||Ah_p||_H$ are bounded by a constant c. A closer look at the operator B defined in (5.35) and the definition of the norm  $||\cdot||_H$  in (5.13) shows that it suffices to prove that there exists a subsequence  $(h_{p_k})$  such that  $(h_{p_k})$  converge in  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$ .

In particular, for all  $p \ge 0$ ,  $||Ah_p||_H \le c$ . Using this boundedness and (5.62), we have  $||h'_p||_{\mu,2} \le c + c ||h_p||_{\mu,2}$ , so that

$$\left\|h_{p}'\right\|_{\mu,2} \leq c + c \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}} \left|\int_{\mathbf{S}} h\right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\mu + \|h_{0,p}\|_{\mu,2}^{2}\right),$$
(5.64)

$$\leq c + c \left( \int_{\mathbf{R}} \left| \int_{\mathbf{S}} h \right|^2 d\mu + \frac{n}{2} \| \mathcal{H}_{0,p} \|_{\mu,2}^2 + \frac{\left\| h_p' \right\|_{\mu,2}^2}{2n} \right),$$
(5.65)

where we used again (5.58) for  $f = \mathcal{H}_{0,p}(\cdot,\omega)$ . Choosing a sufficiently large n > 1 leads to  $\|h'_{0,p}\|_{\mu,2} = \|h'_p\|_2 \leq c + c \|h_p\|_H \leq c$  for a constant c independent of  $p \geq 0$ . An easy application of Cauchy-Schwartz inequality leads to the inequality  $|h_{0,p}(\theta,\omega) - h_{0,p}(\theta',\omega)| \leq \|h'_{0,p}\|_{\mu,2} \sqrt{|\theta - \theta'|}$ , for all  $\omega \in \{\pm \omega_0\}$ . Since the functions  $(h_{0,p})$  are such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} h_{0,p} = 0$  for all  $p \geq 0$ , Ascoli-Arzela Theorem and the previous bound show the existence of a convergent subsequence  $(h_{0,p_k})$  (for each  $\omega \in \operatorname{Supp}(\mu)$ ) in the space of continuous functions on  $\mathbf{S}$ . In particular, this subsequence is convergent in  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$  and is renamed  $(h_{0,p})_{p \geq 0}$ , with a slight abuse of notations.

The fact that  $\int_{\mathbf{R}} |\int_{\mathbf{S}} h_p| d\mu \leq c$  shows that one can extract a further subsequence of  $(h_p)$  which is also convergent in  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$ . This concludes the proof.

## 4.3 Spectral properties of L = A + B

We are now in position to extent the spectral properties we obtained in § 4.1 for the operator A to the perturbed operator L = A + B, relying on the control we have the perturbation B (see § 4.2) and on the theory of perturbation of operators ([51]) and analytic semi-groups ([70]).

#### 4.3.1 The spectrum of *L* is pure point

**Proposition 5.30.** For all K, for all  $\omega > 0$ ,

- 1. the operator (L, D) is closable. In that case, its closure has the same domain as the closure of A,
- 2. the closure of L has compact resolvent. In particular, its spectrum is pure point.

**Remark 5.31.** Note that Proposition 5.30 is valid without any assumption on the smallness of  $\omega$ , since it relies on the relative compactness of B with respect to A (Prop. 5.29).

Proof of Proposition 5.30. It is a simple consequence of the relative compactness of B w.r.t. the self-adjoint operator A. The first assertion of Proposition 5.30 is a consequence of [51, Th. 1.11, p.194] and the second assertion can be found in [58, Lemma 3.6, p.17] for example.

#### **4.3.2** *L* generates an analytic operator

We prove mainly that the perturbed operator L generates an analytic semigroup of operators on a appropriate sector. An immediate corollary is the position of the spectrum in a cone whose vertex is zero.

We know (Proposition 5.24) that for all  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$ , A generates a semigroup of operators on  $\Delta_{\alpha} = \{z \in \mathbf{C}; |\arg(z)| < \alpha\}.$ 

**Proposition 5.32.** For all K > 1,  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$ , there exists  $\omega_1 > 0$  (depending on  $\alpha$ , K and  $\varepsilon$ ) such that for all  $0 < \omega < \omega_1$ , the spectrum of L lies within the sector  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha} := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{C}; \ \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha \leq \arg(\lambda) \leq \frac{3\pi}{2} - \alpha \right\} \cup \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{C}; \ |\lambda| \leq \varepsilon \right\}$ . For such  $\omega$ , L generates an analytic semigroup of operators on  $\Delta_{\alpha'}$ , for some  $\alpha' \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ .

Proof of Proposition 5.32. Let  $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$  be fixed. Thanks to (5.43), there exists a constant c > 0 (which comes from the equivalence of the norms  $\|\cdot\|_H$  and  $\|\cdot\|_{H_w}$ ) such that for every  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha} := \{\lambda \in \mathbf{C}; |\arg(\lambda)| < \frac{\pi}{2} + \alpha\}$ , we have the estimates:

$$\|R(\lambda, A)\|_{H} \leq \frac{c}{(1-\sin(\alpha))|\lambda|} \quad \text{and,} \quad \|AR(\lambda, A)\|_{H} \leq 1 + \frac{c}{(1-\sin(\alpha))}$$

Then for  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}, h \in \mathcal{D}$ :

$$\| BR(\lambda, A)h \|_{H} \leq a(\omega) \| R(\lambda, A)h \|_{H} + b(\omega) \| AR(\lambda, A)h \|_{H},$$
  
 
$$\leq \left( a(\omega) \frac{c}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\lambda|} + b(\omega) \left( 1 + \frac{c}{1 - \sin(\alpha)} \right) \right) \| h \|_{H}.$$

Let us fix  $\varepsilon > 0$  and choose  $\omega_1$  such that:

$$\max\left(\frac{4a(\omega_1)c}{\varepsilon(1-\sin(\alpha))}, 4b(\omega_1)\left(1+\frac{c}{1-\sin(\alpha)}\right)\right) \leqslant 1.$$

For this choice of  $\omega_1$ , for all  $0 < \omega < \omega_1$ , for any  $\lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}$  such that  $|\lambda| \ge \varepsilon \ge \frac{4a(\omega_1)c}{1-\sin(\alpha)}$ , we have  $||BR(\lambda, A)h||_H \le \frac{1}{2} ||h||_H$ , and thus the operator  $1 - BR(\lambda, A)$  is invertible with  $||1 - BR(\lambda, A)||_H \le 2$ . Since it can easily be shown that

$$R(\lambda, A + B) = R(\lambda, A) \left(1 - BR(\lambda, A)\right)^{-1},$$

one easily deduces the following estimates about the resolvent of the perturbed operator L = A + B:

$$\forall \lambda \in \Sigma_{\alpha}, \ |\lambda| \ge \varepsilon, \ \|R(\lambda, L)\|_{H} \le \frac{2}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\lambda|}.$$
(5.66)

The fact that the spectrum of L lies within  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}$  is a straightforward consequence of (5.66). Secondly, (5.66) entails that L generates an analytic semigroup of operators on an appropriate sector. Indeed, if one denotes by  $L_{\varepsilon} := L - \varepsilon$ , one deduces from (5.66) that  $0 \in \rho(L_{2\varepsilon})$  and that for all  $\lambda \in \mathbf{C}$  with  $\Re(\lambda) > 0$  (in particular,  $|\lambda| < |\lambda + 2\varepsilon|$ )

$$\|R(\lambda, L_{2\varepsilon})\|_{H} = \|R(\lambda + 2\varepsilon, L)\|_{H} \leq \frac{2}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\lambda + 2\varepsilon|},$$
  
$$\leq \frac{2}{(1 - \sin(\alpha))|\lambda|}.$$
 (5.67)

Hence, using the same arguments of Taylor expansion as in the proof of Proposition 5.22 and applying Proposition 3.44, one easily sees that  $L_{2\varepsilon}$  generates an analytic semigroup in a (a priori) smaller sector  $\Delta_{\alpha'}$ , where  $\alpha' \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  can be chosen as  $\alpha' := \frac{1}{2} \arctan\left(\frac{1-\sin(\alpha)}{2}\right)$ . But if  $L_{2\varepsilon}$  generates an analytic semigroup, so does L.

#### 4.3.3 0 is an eigenvalue with multiplicity 2

Let us fix K > 1,  $\alpha \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$ ,  $\rho \in (0, 1)$  and define  $\varepsilon = \rho \lambda_K(A)$ . Applying Proposition 3.50, we know that for small  $\omega$  (depending on K,  $\alpha$ ,  $\rho$ ), L generates an analytic semigroup on  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}$ . Let  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}^+ := \{\lambda \in \Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}; \Re(\lambda) \ge 0\}$  be the subset of  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}$  which lies in the positive part of the complex plane.

The purpose of this paragraph is to show that one can choose a perturbation B small enough so that no non-zero eigenvalue of A + B remains in the small set  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}^+$ .

To do so, we proceed by an argument of local perturbation: we know that the distance  $\lambda_K(A) = \min\left(\lambda_K(\tilde{A}_1), \lambda_K(\tilde{A}_2)\right)$  between the eigenvalue 0 and the rest of the spectrum of A is strictly positive. In particular, one can separate 0 from the rest of the spectrum of A by a circle  $\mathscr{C}$  centered in 0 with radius  $\left(\frac{\rho+1}{2}\right)\lambda_K(A)$ . Note that the appropriate choice of  $\varepsilon$  made at the beginning of this paragraph ensures that the interior of  $\mathscr{C}$  contains  $\Theta_{\varepsilon\alpha}^+$ .

The main argument is the following: by construction of  $\mathscr{C}$ , 0 is the only eigenvalue (with multiplicity 2) of the non-perturbed operator A lying in the interior of  $\mathscr{C}$ . A principle of continuity of eigenvalues shows that, while adding a small enough perturbation B to A, the interior of  $\mathscr{C}$  still contains either one eigenvalue with algebraic multiplicity 2 or two eigenvalues with multiplicity 1; those perturbed eigenvalues remain close but are *a priori* not equal to the initial eigenvalue 0 (see Figure 5.1).

But we already know that for the perturbed operator L = A + B, 0 is always an eigenvalue (since Lq' = 0 and Lp = q', recall Th. 5.7). Therefore, the algebraic multiplicity of 0 for the operator L is at least 2. By uniqueness, one can conclude that 0 is the only element of the spectrum of L within  $\mathscr{C}$ , and is an eigenvalue with algebraic multiplicity exactly 2. In particular, there is no element of the spectrum in the positive part of the complex plane.

In order to make this argument precise, we need to quantify the appropriate size of the perturbation B, by explicit estimates on the resolvent  $R(\lambda, A)$  on the circle  $\mathscr{C}$ :

**Lemma 5.33.** There exists some explicit constant  $c_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$  only dependent on K, such that for all  $\lambda \in \mathscr{C}$ ,

$$\|R(\lambda, A)\|_{H} \leqslant c_{\mathscr{C}}(K), \tag{5.68}$$

$$\|AR(\lambda, A)\|_{H} \leq 1 + \left(\frac{\rho+1}{2}\right) \cdot c_{\mathscr{C}}(K).$$
(5.69)

One can choose  $c_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$  as  $c_{\mathscr{C}}(K) = \frac{1}{\lambda_K(A)} \max\left(\frac{2}{\rho+1}, \frac{2}{1-\rho}\right).$ 



(a) Position of the spectrum for the self-adjoint (a) operator A

(b) Possible position of the spectrum for the operator  ${\cal L}$ 

Figure 5.1: The sets  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}$  and  $\Theta_{\varepsilon,\alpha}^+$ . Note that the two dimensional eigenvalue 0 for the operator A (Fig. 5.1a) may split in two single eigenvalues for the perturbed operator L (Fig. 5.1b). These eigenvalues are the only ones within the circle  $\mathscr{C}$ . But since we already know that the kernel of L is of dimension 2, 0 is still a double eigenvalue for L, by uniqueness.

Proof of Lemma 5.33. Applying the spectral theorem (see [33, Th. 3, p.1192]) to the essentially self-adjoint operator A, there exists a spectral measure E vanishing on the complementary of the spectrum of A such that  $A = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \lambda \, dE(\lambda)$ . In that extent, one has for any  $\zeta \in \mathscr{C}$ 

$$R(\zeta, A) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} \frac{\mathrm{d}E(\lambda)}{\lambda - \zeta}.$$

In particular, for  $\zeta \in \mathscr{C}$ 

$$\|R(\zeta, A)\|_{H} \leq \sup_{\lambda \in \sigma(A)} \frac{1}{|\lambda - \zeta|} \leq \frac{\max\left(\frac{2}{\rho+1}, \frac{2}{1-\rho}\right)}{\lambda_{K}(A)}.$$

The estimation (5.69) is straightforward.

We are now in position to apply our argument of local continuity of eigenvalues: following [51], Th III-6.17, p.178, there exists a decomposition of the operator A according to  $H = F_0 \oplus F_{<0}$  (in the sense that  $AF_0 \subset F_0$ ,  $AF_{<0} \subset F_{<0}$  and  $P_0\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{D}$ , where  $P_0$  is the projection on  $F_0$  along  $F_{<0}$ ) in such a way that A restricted to  $F_0$  has spectrum  $\{0\}$ and A restricted to  $F_{<0}$  has spectrum  $\sigma(A) \smallsetminus \{0\} \subseteq \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}; \Re(\lambda) < 0\}$ . Let us note that the dimension of  $F_0$  is *exactly* 2, since the characteristic space of A for the eigenvalue 0 is reduced to its kernel which is of dimension 2 (see Prop. 5.24).

Then, applying [51], Th. IV-3.18, p.214 and using Proposition 5.28, we find that if one chooses  $\omega_2 > 0$ , such that

$$\sup_{\lambda \in \mathscr{C}} \left( a(\omega_2) \| R(\lambda, A) \|_H + b(\omega_2) \| AR(\lambda, A) \|_H \right) < 1,$$
(5.70)

then for all  $0 < \omega < \omega_2$ , the perturbed operator L is likewise decomposed according to  $H = G_0 \oplus G_{<0}$ , in such a way that  $\dim(F_0) = \dim(G_0) = 2$ , and that the spectrum of L is

again separated in two parts by  $\mathscr{C}$ . But thanks to Theorem 5.7, we already know that the characteristic space of the perturbed operator L according to the eigenvalue 0 is *at least* of dimension 2 (since Lq' = 0 and Lp = q'). We can conclude, that for such an  $0 < \omega < \omega_2$ , 0 is the only eigenvalue in  $\mathscr{C}$  and that dim $(G_0)$  is *exactly* 2.

Applying Lemma 5.33, we see that condition (5.70) is satisfied if we choose  $\omega_2 > 0$  so that:

$$a(\omega_2)c_{\mathscr{C}}(K) + b(\omega_2)\left(1 + \left(\frac{\rho+1}{2}\right)c_{\mathscr{C}}(K)\right) < 1.$$
(5.71)

In particular, in that case, the spectrum of L is contained in  $\{z \in \mathbb{C}; \Re(z) \leq 0\}$ .

Theorem 5.9 is proved.

# 5 Non self-averaging phenomenon for the fluctuation process (Proof of Theorem 5.3)

The purpose of this section is to prove Theorem 5.3.

In our framework, (recall that  $\mu = \frac{1}{2}(\delta_{-\omega_0} + \delta_{\omega_0})$ ), the solution  $\eta$  of evolution (5.1) in  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R})$  acts on test functions  $\varphi$  of the form  $\varphi = (\varphi(\cdot, +\omega_0), \varphi(\cdot, -\omega_0))$ . In particular, one can understand  $\eta$  as an element of H by identifying  $\eta$  with  $(\eta^{\omega_0}, \eta^{-\omega_0})$ , where, for any smooth function  $\psi : \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{R}, \ \eta^{\omega_0}(\psi) := \eta(\psi, 0)$  and  $\eta^{-\omega_0}(\psi) := \eta(0, \psi)$ . Defining analogously  $W^{\pm \omega_0}$  for the Wiener process W in (5.2), the object of interest is then

$$\forall t > 0, \ \eta_t = \eta_0 + \int_0^t L\eta \, \mathrm{d}s + W_t.$$
 (5.72)

#### 5.1 The noise *W* as a cylindrical Brownian Motion

We first focus on the regularity properties of the noise W: in the stationary case  $(q_t = q_t|_{t=0} = q \text{ for all } t > 0)$  the covariance defined in (5.2) becomes, for any regular functions on  $\mathbf{S} \times \mathbf{R}$ ,  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$ , s, t > 0:

$$\mathbf{E}\left(W_s(\varphi_1)W_t(\varphi_2)\right) = (s \wedge t) \int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \varphi_1' \varphi_2' q \,\mathrm{d}\lambda \,\mathrm{d}\mu.$$
(5.73)

Consequently, it is easily seen that  $(W_t^{+\omega_0}, W_t^{-\omega_0})$  is a couple of two independent Gaussian processes with covariance (where  $\psi_1, \psi_2 : \mathbf{S} \to \mathbf{R}$ ):

$$\forall \omega \in \{+\omega_0, -\omega_0\}, \ \mathbf{E}\left(W_s^{\omega}(\psi_1)W_t^{\omega}(\psi_2)\right) = \frac{1}{2}(s \wedge t) \int_{\mathbf{S}} \psi_1' \psi_2' q(\cdot, \omega).$$
(5.74)

In what follows, we will denote by  $H_0$  the closed subspace of H consisting of elements of H with zero mean-value; in particular the norm  $\|\cdot\|_H$  defined in (5.13) coincides on  $H_0$  with:

$$\forall h \in H_0, \ \|h\|_H = \left(2\pi \int_{\mathbf{R}} \int_{\mathbf{S}} \mathcal{H}^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},\tag{5.75}$$

where we recall that  $\mathcal{H}$  is the primitive of h such that  $\int_{\mathbf{S}} \mathcal{H} = 0$ . The purpose of this paragraph is to show that, following [26, p. 96], W has the same law as a Q-Wiener process in the Hilbert space  $H_0$ , for an appropriate bounded symmetric operator Q on  $H_0$ : indeed, if one denotes by X a Q-Wiener process on  $H_0$ , with the following definition of Q

$$\forall h \in H_0, \ Qh := \partial_\theta \left( q \mathcal{H} \right), \tag{5.76}$$

then one readily verifies that the Gaussian process  $(W(\varphi))_{\varphi}$  has the same law as the process  $(X(\varphi))_{\varphi} := \left(\left\langle X_t, \begin{pmatrix} \varphi'' \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle_H, \left\langle X_t, \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \varphi'' \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle_H\right)$ . Note that if the weight q had not been present in (5.74), it would have been straight-

Note that if the weight q had not been present in (5.74), it would have been straightforward to see that W is a Q-Wiener process on  $H_0$ , with Q = I. The fact that this weight is present entails some technical complications, but one has to consider the operator Qdefined in (5.76) only as a perturbation of the case Q = I.

## 5.2 Existence and uniqueness of a weak solution to the fluctuation equation

We now turn to the existence and uniqueness of a weak solution of (5.72). We recall that any *H*-valued predictable process  $\eta_t$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$  is a *weak solution* of (5.72) if the trajectories of  $\eta$  are almost surely Bochner integrable and if for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(L^*)$  and for all  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$\eta_t(\varphi) = \eta_0(\varphi) + \int_0^t \eta_s(L^*\varphi) \,\mathrm{d}s + W_t(\varphi).$$
(5.77)

**Proposition 5.34.** Equation has a unique weak solution in H, given by the mild formulation

$$\eta_t = T_L(t)\eta_0 + \int_0^t T_L(t-s) \,\mathrm{d}W_s, \quad t \in [0,T].$$
(5.78)

In order to prove Proposition 5.34, one has to define properly the stochastic convolution  $W_L(t) := \int_0^t T_L(t-s) \, \mathrm{d}W_s$ . In this purpose, let use prove firstly that the inverse of A is of class trace:

**Lemma 5.35.** The operator  $A^{-1}$  is of class trace in H. Equivalently, if  $(\lambda_n^{(A)})_{n \ge 1}$  is the sequence of eigenvalues of the self-adjoint operator A, one has

$$\sum_{n=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_n^{(A)}} < +\infty.$$
(5.79)

Proof of Lemma 5.35. Since A and  $\tilde{A} = M \circ A \circ M^{-1}$  (recall (5.37)) are conjugate, it suffices to prove (5.79) when A is replaced by  $\tilde{A}$ . The idea of the proof is that identity (5.79) is true when  $\tilde{A} = (\tilde{A}_1, \tilde{A}_2)$  is replaced by  $(-\Delta, -\Delta)$  and that  $\tilde{A}$  is only a relatively-bounded perturbation of this case. More precisely, the proof relies on the following MinMax Principle [34, p. 1543]:

**Proposition 5.36.** Let  $(F, \mathcal{D}(F))$  a self-adjoint linear operator on a separable Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  such that F is positive, with compact resolvent. We denote by  $S^n$  the family of n-dimensional subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$ , and for  $n \ge 1$  we let  $\lambda_n$  the number defined as follows

$$\lambda_n := \sup_{G \in \mathcal{S}^n} \inf_{u \in (G \cap \mathcal{D}(F)) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\langle u, Fu \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}{\langle u, u \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}.$$
(5.80)

Then there exists a complete orthonormal system  $(\psi_n)_{n \ge 1}$  such that

$$F\psi_n = \lambda_n \psi_n, \quad n \ge 1.$$

In other words, the sequence  $(\lambda_n)_{n \ge 1}$  is the non-decreasing enumeration of the eigenvalues of F, each repeated a number of times equal to its multiplicity. Moreover, the sup in (5.80) is attained for G equal to the span of  $\{\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n\}$ . Let us apply Proposition 5.36 to  $F = -\Delta$  with domain

$$\mathcal{D}(-\Delta) := \left\{ u; \, u \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathbf{S}), \, \int_{\mathbf{S}} u(\theta) \, \mathrm{d}\theta = 0 \right\} \,, \tag{5.81}$$

in  $\mathbf{H}_{\frac{1}{2\pi}}^{-1}$  (recall the definition of  $\mathbf{H}_{\frac{1}{2\pi}}^{-1}$  in (5.12)) and let us denote by

$$\mathcal{E}_0(u,v) := \langle u, -\Delta v \rangle_{-1,\frac{1}{2\pi}} = 2\pi \int_{\mathbf{S}} uv$$

the Dirichlet form associated to  $-\Delta$ . Note that  $\mathcal{E}_0$  is well defined on  $\mathbf{L}^2 \supset \mathcal{D}(-\Delta)$ . Then, denoting by  $(\lambda_n^{(-\Delta)})_{n \geq 1}$  the sequence of eigenvalues associated to  $-\Delta$  in  $\mathbf{H}_{\frac{1}{2}}^{-1}$ :

$$\lambda_n^{(-\Delta)} = \sup_{G \in \mathcal{S}^n} \inf_{u \in (G \cap \mathcal{D}(-\Delta)) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\mathcal{E}_0(u, u)}{\langle u, u \rangle_{-1, \frac{1}{2\pi}}}$$

Since the supremum is attained for  $G = \{\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n\} \subseteq \mathbf{L}^2$ , one has in fact:

$$\lambda_n^{(-\Delta)} = \sup_{G \in \mathcal{S}^n} \inf_{u \in (G \cap \mathbf{L}^2) \smallsetminus \{0\}} \frac{\mathcal{E}_0(u, u)}{\langle u, u \rangle_{-1, \frac{1}{2\mathbf{L}}}}$$

Secondly, note that one does not change the result by considering  $1 - A_1$  instead of  $-A_1$ . Hence, if ones denotes by  $\mathcal{E}_1(u, v) := \langle u, (1 - A_1)v \rangle_{-1,q_0}$  the Dirichlet form associated to  $1 - A_1$ , one deduces from [9, Eq.(2.47)] that  $\mathcal{E}_1$  is well defined on  $\mathbf{L}^2$  and that it is equivalent to  $\mathcal{E}_0$ : there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\forall u \in \mathbf{L}^2, \quad \frac{1}{C} \mathcal{E}_0(u, u) \leqslant \mathcal{E}_1(u, u) \leqslant C \mathcal{E}_0(u, u).$$

Then, using again Proposition 5.36,

$$\lambda_n^{(1-A_1)} = \sup_{G \in \mathcal{S}^n} \inf_{u \in (G \cap \mathbf{L}^2) \smallsetminus \{0\}} \frac{\mathcal{E}_1(u, u)}{\langle u, u \rangle_{-1, q_0}}.$$

Since the norms  $\|\cdot\|_{-1,\frac{1}{2\pi}}$  and  $\|\cdot\|_{-1,q_0}$  are equivalent, one directly sees that there exist constants c, C > 0 such that, for all  $n \ge 1$ 

$$c\lambda_n^{(-\Delta)} \leqslant \lambda_n^{(1-A_1)} \leqslant C\lambda_n^{(-\Delta)}.$$
 (5.82)

One can prove similar bounds for  $A_2$  in the Hilbert space  $\mathbf{H}_w^{-1}$  in the same way: first notice that any eigenvector which corresponds to a non-zero eigenvalue of  $A_2$  is necessarily with zero mean-value, so that it suffices to work on the domain  $\{v \in \mathbf{L}^2, \int_{\mathbf{S}} v = 0\}$ . It is then easy to deduce from (5.49) that both Dirichlet forms  $\mathcal{E}_0$  and  $\mathcal{E}_2$  (recall definition (5.48)) are equivalent on the subspace of  $\mathbf{L}^2$  with zero mean-value. In particular using Proposition 5.36, one easily obtains similar bounds as (5.82) for  $A_2$  and (5.79) follows.  $\Box$ 

Then following the lines of [26], one can deduce from Lemma 5.35 the following:

**Proposition 5.37** ([26], Prop. 5.25). For all t > 0, the linear operator

$$\tilde{Q}_t := \int_0^t T_L(s) Q T_L(s)^* \, \mathrm{d}s$$

is of class trace.

Proof of Proposition 5.37. It is easy to see from the definition (5.35) of the perturbation B that B satisfies the following

- B is a continuous linear operator from  $\mathbf{L}^2_{\mu}$  into H,

- there exists a constant c > 0 such that for all  $h \in \mathcal{D}$ ,  $\langle Bh, h \rangle_H \leq c \|h\|_H^2$ . Under this condition, for  $\lambda > c$ , for any  $h \in \mathcal{D}$ ,

$$\left\langle \tilde{Q}_t (\lambda - L)^{\frac{1}{2}} h, (\lambda - L)^{\frac{1}{2}} h \right\rangle_H \leqslant C \parallel h \parallel_H^2.$$

Consequently, there exists a bounded linear operator  $\hat{G}_t$  such that

$$\tilde{Q}_t = (\lambda - L)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{G}_t (\lambda - L^*)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$

So the linear operator

$$\widetilde{L}_t = -(-A)^{\frac{1}{2}} (\lambda - L)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \widetilde{G}_t (\lambda - L^*)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (-A)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

is also bounded and  $\operatorname{Tr} \tilde{Q}_t = \operatorname{Tr} A^{-1} \tilde{L}_t < \infty$ .

Then an application of [26, Th. 5.2] shows that the stochastic convolution  $W_L(\cdot)$  is well defined as a predictable process in H. The assumptions of [26, Th. 5.4] concerning the existence and uniqueness a weak solution of (5.72) are satisfied and Proposition 5.34 is proved.

#### 5.3 Linear asymptotic behavior of the fluctuation process

We are in position to prove the main statement of Theorem 5.3, that is the asymptotic behavior (5.9) of the mild solution (5.78). We will make a constant use of Remark 5.10 about the spectral decomposition of the operator L (under the hypothesis of Theorems 5.7 and 5.9). We will refer in particular to the matrix representation (5.20) of L.

Note also that the continuous linear form  $\ell_{q'}(\cdot)$  on H can be represented, by Riesz representation theorem, as a scalar product w.r.t. some vector  $v \in H$ :  $\ell_{q'}(\cdot) = \langle v, \cdot \rangle_H$ .

The convergence (5.9) is an easy consequence of Remark 5.11 and the following two propositions:

**Proposition 5.38.** The stochastic convolution  $W_L(t)$  satisfies the following linear behavior, as  $t \to \infty$ :  $\frac{W_L(t)}{t} \to 0$ , where the convergence is in law.

**Proposition 5.39.** For every initial condition  $\eta_0$ ,  $\frac{T_L(t)\eta_0}{t}$  converges, as  $t \to \infty$ , to  $\ell_p(\eta_0)q'$ .

Let us now prove these two propositions:

Proof of Proposition 5.38. Recall that W is a Q-Wiener process in  $H_0$ , which can be decomposed into  $H_0 = \text{Span}(q') \oplus G_{<0}$ . Note also that the restriction on  $H_0$  of the projection  $P_0$  defined on H by (5.19) coincides with  $\ell_{q'}(\cdot)q'$ . With a small abuse of notations, we will use the same notation  $P_0$  for this restriction on  $H_0$ .

Let us decompose the stochastic convolution into  $W_L(t) = \int_0^t T_L(t-s)P_0 \, \mathrm{d}W_s + \int_0^t T_L(t-s)P_{<0} \, \mathrm{d}W_s$ , and treat the two terms separately:

Let us consider the first term  $\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t T_L(t-s) P_0 \, dW_s$ . One has successively, using that  $T_L(u)q' = q'$  for all u > 0

$$\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t T_L(t-s) P_0 \, \mathrm{d}W_s = \frac{q'}{t} \int_0^t T_L(t-s) \ell_{q'} \, \mathrm{d}W_s, \tag{5.83}$$

$$= \frac{q'}{t} \ell_{q'} W_t = \frac{q'}{t} \langle v, W_t \rangle_H.$$
(5.84)

Thanks to the Q-Wiener structure of W (see § 5.1), one has

$$\mathbf{E}\left(\left\|\frac{1}{t}\int_{0}^{t}T_{L}(t-s)P_{0} \,\mathrm{d}W_{s}\right\|_{H}^{2}\right) = \frac{\left\|q'\right\|_{H}^{2}}{t^{2}}\mathbf{E}\left(\left|\langle v, W_{t}\rangle_{H}\right|^{2}\right) = \frac{\left\|q'\right\|_{H}^{2}}{t}\langle Qv, v\rangle_{H},$$

which converges to 0 as  $t \to \infty$ .

As far as the second term  $\int_0^t T_L(t-s)P_{<0} dW_s$  is concerned, it is easy to see that it is the unique weak solution in  $H_0$  of

$$w_t = \int_0^t L w_s \, \mathrm{d}s + P_{<0} \, W_t. \tag{5.85}$$

Let us decompose evolution (5.85) along this decomposition  $H_0 = \text{Span}(q') \oplus G_{<0}$ : writing  $w_t = P_0 w_t + P_{<0} w_t := y_t + z_t$ , one has:

$$\begin{cases} z_t = \int_0^t P_0 L y_s \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ y_t = \int_0^t P_{<0} L P_{<0} \, y_s \, \mathrm{d}s + P_{<0} \, W_t. \end{cases}$$

Since the operator  $P_{<0} LP_{<0}$  has its spectrum in the negative part of the complex plane with a strictly positive spectral gap  $\lambda_K(L)$  and generates an semigroup of operators, it is immediate to see from the covariance estimates of stochastic convolutions (see [26, Th. 5.2, p.119]) that there exist some  $t_0 > 0$  and a constant c > 0 such that for all  $t \ge t_0$ 

$$\mathbf{E}\left(\|y_t\|_H\right)^2 \leqslant \mathbf{E}\left(\|y_t\|_H^2\right) \leqslant c e^{-\frac{\lambda_K(L)}{2}t}$$
(5.86)

Consequently, one has

$$\mathbf{E} (\| z_t \|_H) \leq \int_0^t \mathbf{E} (\| P_0 Ly_s \|_H) \, \mathrm{d}s = \| q' \|_H \int_0^t \mathbf{E} (|\ell_{q'}(Ly_s)|) \, \mathrm{d}s, 
= \int_0^t \mathbf{E} (| \langle v, Ly_s \rangle_H | \| q' \|_H) \, \mathrm{d}s, 
\leq \| q' \|_H \| L^* v \|_H \int_0^t \mathbf{E} (\| y_s \|_H) \, \mathrm{d}s, 
= \| q' \|_H \| L^* v \|_H \left( \int_0^{t_0} \mathbf{E} (\| y_s \|_H) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{t_0}^t \mathbf{E} (\| y_s \|_H) \, \mathrm{d}s \right).$$
(5.87)

In particular, it is immediate from (5.86) and (5.87) to see that the following convergence holds:

$$\frac{\mathbf{E}\left(\|z_t\|_H\right)}{t} \to_{t \to \infty} 0. \tag{5.88}$$

Putting together (5.86) and (5.88), Proposition 5.38 is proved.

Proof of Proposition 5.39. Let us fix an initial condition  $\eta_0 \in H$ . Then  $X(t) := T_L(t)\eta_0$  is the unique solution in H of

$$X(t) = \eta_0 + \int_0^t L X_s \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
 (5.89)

Decompose X(t) along the direct sum  $G_0 \oplus G_{<0}$ , that is  $X(t) = \alpha(t)q' + \beta(t)p + Y(t)$ , with  $Y(t) \in G_{<0}$ . Then, projecting on q', p and  $G_{<0}$  respectively (see (5.20)), one obtains that (5.89) is equivalent to

$$\forall t > 0, \quad \begin{cases} \alpha(t) = \ell_{q'}(\eta_0) + \int_0^t \left(\beta(s) + \ell_{q'}(LP_{<0}Y(s))\right) \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ \beta(t) = \ell_p(\eta_0), \\ Y(t) = P_{<0}\eta_0 + \int_0^t P_{<0}LP_{<0}Y(s) \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{cases}$$
(5.90)

Then, since  $T_{R_{c_0}LR_{c_0}}(t)$  is a semigroup of contraction whose infinitesimal generator has a strictly positive spectral gap  $\lambda_K(L)$ , there exists in particular a constant c > 0 such that  $Y(t) = T_{R_{c_0}LR_{c_0}}(t)P_{c_0}\eta_0$  and  $||Y(t)||_H \leq ce^{-\frac{\lambda_K(L)}{2}t}$  (in particular,  $\frac{1}{t}||Y(t)||_H \to_{t\to\infty} 0$ ). Then, using representation of  $\ell_{q'}(\cdot)$  in terms of a scalar product w.r.t. v,

$$\frac{\alpha(t)}{t} = \frac{\ell_{q'}(\eta_0)}{t} + \ell_p(\eta_0) + \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \ell_{q'}(LP_{<0}Y(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s, \tag{5.91}$$

$$= \frac{\ell_{q'}(\eta_0)}{t} + \ell_p(\eta_0) + \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \langle P_{<0}^* L^* v, Y(s) \rangle_H \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
 (5.92)

Using the previous exponential bound for Y(s), it is easy to see that  $\frac{\alpha(t)}{t}$  converges to  $\ell_p(\eta_0)$  as  $t \to \infty$ . The result of Proposition 5.39 follows.

# Bibliography

- J. A. Acebrón and L. L. Bonilla. Asymptotic description of transients and synchronized states of globally coupled oscillators. *Phys. D*, 114(3-4):296–314, 1998.
- [2] J. A. Acebrón, L. L. Bonilla, C. J. Pérez Vicente, F. Ritort, and R. Spigler. The Kuramoto model: A simple paradigm for synchronization phenomena. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 77(1):137–185, Apr 2005.
- [3] R. A. Adams and J. J. F. Fournier. Sobolev spaces, volume 140 of Pure and Applied Mathematics (Amsterdam). Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, second edition, 2003.
- [4] D. G. Aronson. Addendum: "Non-negative solutions of linear parabolic equations" (Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3) 22 (1968), 607–694). Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3), 25:221–228, 1971.
- [5] P. B. Bailey, W. N. Everitt, and A. Zettl. Regular and singular Sturm-Liouville problems with coupled boundary conditions. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A*, 126(3):505–514, 1996.
- [6] N. J. Balmforth and R. Sassi. A shocking display of synchrony. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 143(1-4):21–55, 2000.
- [7] N. Berglund, B. Fernandez, and B. Gentz. Metastability in interacting nonlinear stochastic differential equations. I. From weak coupling to synchronization. *Nonlinearity*, 20(11):2551–2581, 2007.
- [8] N. Berglund, B. Fernandez, and B. Gentz. Metastability in interacting nonlinear stochastic differential equations. II. Large-N behaviour. Nonlinearity, 20(11):2583– 2614, 2007.
- [9] L. Bertini, G. Giacomin, and K. Pakdaman. Dynamical aspects of mean field plane rotators and the Kuramoto model. J. Statist. Phys., 138:270–290, 2010.
- [10] P. Billingsley. Probability and measure. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, third edition, 1995.
- [11] P. Billingsley. Convergence of probability measures. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics: Probability and Statistics. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, second edition, 1999.
- [12] E. Bolthausen. Laplace approximations for sums of independent random vectors. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields, 72(2):305–318, 1986.
- [13] L. L. Bonilla, J. C. Neu, and R. Spigler. Nonlinear stability of incoherence and collective synchronization in a population of coupled oscillators. J. Statist. Phys., 67(1-2):313–330, 1992.
- [14] L. L. Bonilla, C. J. Pérez Vicente, and R. Spigler. Time-periodic phases in populations of nonlinearly coupled oscillators with bimodal frequency distributions. *Phys. D*, 113(1):79–97, 1998.

- [15] M. Bossy and D. Talay. A stochastic particle method for the McKean-Vlasov and the Burgers equation. *Math. Comp.*, 66(217):157–192, 1997.
- [16] A. Bovier. Statistical mechanics of disordered systems. Cambridge Series in Statistical and Probabilistic Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006. A mathematical perspective.
- [17] H. Brezis. Analyse fonctionnelle. Collection Mathématiques Appliquées pour la Maîtrise. [Collection of Applied Mathematics for the Master's Degree]. Masson, Paris, 1983. Théorie et applications. [Theory and applications].
- [18] J. Buck. Synchronous rhythmic flashing of fireflies. ii. The Quarterly Review of Biology, 63(3):pp. 265–289, 1988.
- [19] A. Budhiraja, P. Dupuis, and F. Markus. Large deviation properties of weakly interacting processes via weak convergence methods. http://arxiv.org/pdf/1009.603.
- [20] R. Cerf. On Cramér's theory in infinite dimensions, volume 23 of Panoramas et Synthèses [Panoramas and Syntheses]. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2007.
- [21] M. Y. Choi, H. J. Kim, D. Kim, and H. Hong. Synchronization in a system of globally coupled oscillators with time delay. *Phys. Rev. E*, 61:371–381, Jan 2000.
- [22] E. A. Coddington and N. Levinson. Theory of ordinary differential equations. McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., New York-Toronto-London, 1955.
- [23] F. Collet. The impact of disorder in the critical dynamics of mean-field models. PhD thesis, Università degli studi di Padova, 2009.
- [24] F. Collet and P. Dai Pra. The role of disorder in the dynamics of critical fluctuations of mean field models, 2011. arxiv.org/abs/1111.3587.
- [25] F. Collet, P. Dai Pra, and E. Sartori. A simple mean field model for social interactions: dynamics, fluctuations, criticality. J. Stat. Phys., 139(5):820–858, 2010.
- [26] G. Da Prato and J. Zabczyk. Stochastic equations in infinite dimensions, volume 44 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [27] P. Dai Pra and F. den Hollander. McKean-Vlasov limit for interacting random processes in random media. J. Statist. Phys., 84(3-4):735–772, 1996.
- [28] D. A. Dawson. Critical dynamics and fluctuations for a mean-field model of cooperative behavior. J. Statist. Phys., 31(1):29–85, 1983.
- [29] A. Dembo and O. Zeitouni. Large deviations techniques and applications, volume 38 of Applications of Mathematics (New York). Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1998.
- [30] F. den Hollander. Large deviations, volume 14 of Fields Institute Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2000.
- [31] F. den Hollander. *Random polymers*, volume 1974 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009. Lectures from the 37th Probability Summer School held in Saint-Flour, 2007.
- [32] R. M. Dudley. Convergence of Baire measures. Studia Math., 27:251–268, 1966.
- [33] N. Dunford and J. T. Schwartz. *Linear operators. Part II.* Wiley Classics Library. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1988. Spectral theory. Selfadjoint operators in Hilbert space, With the assistance of William G. Bade and Robert G. Bartle, Reprint of the 1963 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.

- [34] N. Dunford and J. T. Schwartz. *Linear operators. Part III.* Wiley Classics Library. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1988. Spectral operators, With the assistance of William G. Bade and Robert G. Bartle, Reprint of the 1971 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [35] M. S. P. Eastham. Results and problems in the spectral theory of periodic differential equations. In Spectral theory and differential equations (Proc. Sympos., Dundee, 1974; dedicated to Konrad Jörgens), pages 126–135. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 448. Springer, Berlin, 1975.
- [36] B. Fernandez and S. Méléard. A Hilbertian approach for fluctuations on the McKean-Vlasov model. *Stochastic Process. Appl.*, 71(1):33–53, 1997.
- [37] A. Friedman. Partial differential equations of parabolic type. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1964.
- [38] J. Gärtner. On the McKean-Vlasov limit for interacting diffusions. Math. Nachr., 137:197–248, 1988.
- [39] I. M. Gel'fand and N. Y. Vilenkin. *Generalized functions. Vol.* 4. Academic Press [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers], New York, 1964 [1977].
- [40] G. Giacomin. Disorder and critical phenomena through basic probability models, volume 2025 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, Heidelberg, 2011. Lecture notes from the 40th Probability Summer School held in Saint-Flour, 2010, École d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour. [Saint-Flour Probability Summer School].
- [41] G. Giacomin, E. Luçon, and C. Poquet. Coherence stability and effect of random natural frequencies in population of coupled oscillators, 2011. arxiv.org/abs/1111.3581.
- [42] G. Giacomin, K. Pakdaman, and X. Pellegrin. Global attractor and asymptotic dynamics in the Kuramoto model for coupled noisy phase oscillators, 2011. arxiv.org/abs/1107.4501.
- [43] G. Giacomin, K. Pakdaman, X. Pellegrin, and C. Poquet. Transitions in active rotator systems: invariant hyperbolic manifold approach, 2011. arxiv.org/abs/1106.0758.
- [44] G. R. Grimmett and D. R. Stirzaker. Probability and random processes. Oxford University Press, New York, third edition, 2001.
- [45] D. Henry. Geometric theory of semilinear parabolic equations, volume 840 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1981.
- [46] M. W. Hirsch, C. C. Pugh, and M. Shub. Invariant manifolds. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 583. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1977.
- [47] M. Hitsuda and I. Mitoma. Tightness problem and stochastic evolution equation arising from fluctuation phenomena for interacting diffusions. J. Multivariate Anal., 19(2):311–328, 1986.
- [48] B. Jourdain and F. Malrieu. Propagation of chaos and Poincaré inequalities for a system of particles interacting through their CDF. Ann. Appl. Probab., 18(5):1706– 1736, 2008.
- [49] B. Jourdain and S. Méléard. Propagation of chaos and fluctuations for a moderate model with smooth initial data. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Probab. Statist., 34(6):727– 766, 1998.
- [50] I. Karatzas and S. E. Shreve. Brownian motion and stochastic calculus, volume 113 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1991.

- [51] T. Kato. Perturbation theory for linear operators. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995. Reprint of the 1980 edition.
- [52] S. Y. Kourtchatov, V. V. Likhanskii, A. P. Napartovich, F. T. Arecchi, and A. Lapucci. Theory of phase locking of globally coupled laser arrays. *Phys. Rev. A*, 52:4089– 4094, Nov 1995.
- [53] Y. Kuramoto. Self-entrainment of a population of coupled non-linear oscillators. In International Symposium on Mathematical Problems in Theoretical Physics (Kyoto Univ., Kyoto, 1975), pages 420–422. Lecture Notes in Phys., 39. Springer, Berlin, 1975.
- [54] J.-F. Le Gall. Mouvement brownien et calcul stochastique, 1996-1997. Cours de DEA.
- [55] E. Luçon. Quenched limits and fluctuations of the empirical measure for plane rotators in random media. *Electronic Journal of Probability*, 16:792–829, 2011.
- [56] E. Luçon. Large-time asymptotics for the fluctuation SPDE in the Kuramoto synchronization model. 2012. http://arxiv.org/abs/1204.2176.
- [57] F. Malrieu. Convergence to equilibrium for granular media equations and their Euler schemes. Ann. Appl. Probab., 13(2):540–560, 2003.
- [58] A. S. Markus. Introduction to the spectral theory of polynomial operator pencils, volume 71 of Translations of Mathematical Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1988. Translated from the Russian by H. H. McFaden, Translation edited by Ben Silver, With an appendix by M. V. Keldysh.
- [59] H. P. McKean, Jr. Propagation of chaos for a class of non-linear parabolic equations. In Stochastic Differential Equations (Lecture Series in Differential Equations, Session 7, Catholic Univ., 1967), pages 41–57. Air Force Office Sci. Res., Arlington, Va., 1967.
- [60] S. Méléard and S. Roelly. Sur les convergences étroite ou vague de processus à valeurs mesures. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 317(8):785–788, 1993.
- [61] D. Michaels, E. Matyas, and J. Jalife. Mechanisms of sinoatrial pacemaker synchronization: a new hypothesis. *Circulation Research*, 61(5):704–714, 1987.
- [62] I. Mitoma. Tightness of probabilities on C([0,1]; S') and D([0,1]; S'). Ann. Probab., 11(4):989–999, 1983.
- [63] M. Möller and A. Zettl. Symmetric differential operators and their Friedrichs extension. J. Differential Equations, 115(1):50–69, 1995.
- [64] M. A. Naĭmark. Linear differential operators. Part II: Linear differential operators in Hilbert space. With additional material by the author, and a supplement by V. È. Ljance. Translated from the Russian by E. R. Dawson. English translation edited by W. N. Everitt. Frederick Ungar Publishing Co., New York, 1968.
- [65] Y. Nakamura, F. Tominaga, and T. Munakata. Clustering behavior of time-delayed nearest-neighbor coupled oscillators. *Phys. Rev. E*, 49:4849–4856, Jun 1994.
- [66] Z. Neda, E. Ravasz, Y. Brechet, T. Vicsek, and A.-L. Barabasi. Self-organizing processes: The sound of many hands clapping. *Nature*, 403:849–850, 2000.
- [67] K. Oelschläger. A martingale approach to the law of large numbers for weakly interacting stochastic processes. Ann. Probab., 12(2):458–479, 1984.
- [68] F. Otto and M. Westdickenberg. Eulerian calculus for the contraction in the Wasserstein distance. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 37(4):1227–1255 (electronic), 2005.
- [69] M. Pagnol. Souvenirs d'enfance. 1957.

- [70] A. Pazy. Semigroups of linear operators and applications to partial differential equations, volume 44 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983.
- [71] P. A. Pearce. Mean-field bounds on the magnetization for ferromagnetic spin models. J. Statist. Phys., 25(2):309–320, 1981.
- [72] H. Risken. The Fokker-Planck equation, volume 18 of Springer Series in Synergetics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1989. Methods of solution and applications.
- [73] S. Roelly-Coppoletta. A criterion of convergence of measure-valued processes: application to measure branching processes. *Stochastics*, 17(1-2):43–65, 1986.
- [74] H. L. Royden. *Real analysis*. Macmillan Publishing Company, New York, third edition, 1988.
- [75] H. Sakaguchi. Cooperative phenomena in coupled oscillator systems under external fields. Progr. Theoret. Phys., 79(1):39–46, 1988.
- [76] H. Sakaguchi and Y. Kuramoto. A soluble active rotator model showing phase transitions via mutual entrainment. Progr. Theoret. Phys., 76(3):576–581, 1986.
- [77] H. Sakaguchi, S. Shinomoto, and Y. Kuramoto. Local and grobal self-entrainments in oscillator lattices. *Progress of Theoretical Physics*, 77(5):1005–1010, 1987.
- [78] H. Sakaguchi, S. Shinomoto, and Y. Kuramoto. Phase transitions and their bifurcation analysis in a large population of active rotators with mean-field coupling. *Progr. Theoret. Phys.*, 79(3):600–607, 1988.
- [79] G. R. Sell and Y. You. Dynamics of evolutionary equations, volume 143 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002.
- [80] T. Shiga and H. Tanaka. Central limit theorem for a system of Markovian particles with mean field interactions. Z. Wahrsch. Verw. Gebiete, 69(3):439–459, 1985.
- [81] S. Shinomoto and Y. Kuramoto. Phase transitions in active rotator systems. Progress of Theoretical Physics, 75(5):1105–1110, 1986.
- [82] R. E. Showalter. Monotone operators in Banach space and nonlinear partial differential equations, volume 49 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1997.
- [83] S. H. Strogatz. From Kuramoto to Crawford: exploring the onset of synchronization in populations of coupled oscillators. *Phys. D*, 143(1-4):1–20, 2000. Bifurcations, patterns and symmetry.
- [84] S. H. Strogatz and R. E. Mirollo. Collective synchronisation in lattices of nonlinear oscillators with randomness. J. Phys. A, 21(13):L699–L705, 1988.
- [85] S. H. Strogatz and R. E. Mirollo. Phase-locking and critical phenomena in lattices of coupled nonlinear oscillators with random intrinsic frequencies. *Phys. D*, 31(2):143– 168, 1988.
- [86] S. H. Strogatz and R. E. Mirollo. Stability of incoherence in a population of coupled oscillators. J. Statist. Phys., 63(3-4):613–635, 1991.
- [87] S. H. Strogatz, R. E. Mirollo, and P. C. Matthews. Coupled nonlinear oscillators below the synchronization threshold: Relaxation by generalized landau damping. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 68:2730–2733, May 1992.
- [88] A.-S. Sznitman. Nonlinear reflecting diffusion process, and the propagation of chaos and fluctuations associated. J. Funct. Anal., 56(3):311–336, 1984.

- [89] A.-S. Sznitman. Topics in propagation of chaos. In École d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XIX—1989, volume 1464 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 165–251. Springer, Berlin, 1991.
- [90] D. Talay and O. Vaillant. Vitesse de convergence d'une méthode particulaire stochastique avec poids d'interaction aléatoires. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 330(9):821–824, 2000.
- [91] D. Talay and O. Vaillant. A stochastic particle method with random weights for the computation of statistical solutions of McKean-Vlasov equations. Ann. Appl. Probab., 13(1):140–180, 2003.
- [92] T.-L. To, M. A. Henson, E. D. Herzog, and F. J. D. III. A molecular model for intercellular synchronization in the mammalian circadian clock. *Biophysical Journal*, 92(11):3792 – 3803, 2007.
- [93] G. Wainrib. Randomness in neurons : a multiscale probabilistic analysis. PhD thesis, École Polytechnique, 2010.
- [94] T. J. Walker. Acoustic synchrony: Two mechanisms in the snowy tree cricket. Science, 166(3907):891–894, 1969.
- [95] M. K. S. Yeung and S. H. Strogatz. Time delay in the Kuramoto model of coupled oscillators. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 82:648–651, Jan 1999.
- [96] O. Zeitouni. Random walks in random environment. In Lectures on probability theory and statistics, volume 1837 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 189–312. Springer, Berlin, 2004.